# Vitamin D and non-melanoma skin cancer

# Natalie Nemazannikova

A thesis submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy In Medical Physiology

> College of Health and Biomedicine VICTORIA UNIVERSITY

> > September 2016

# DECLARATION

Doctor of Philosophy Declaration

"I, Natalie Nemazannikova, declare that the PhD thesis entitled [title of thesis] is no more than 100,000 words in length including quotes and exclusive of tables, figures, appendices, bibliography, references and footnotes. This thesis contains no material that has been submitted previously, in whole or in part, for the award of any other academic degree or diploma. Except where otherwise indicated, this thesis is my own work".



Signature

Date 15.09.16

# **Table of Contents**

DECLARATION	ii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	ix
ABBREVIATIONS	. xii
ABSTRACT	1
IUBMB Enzyme Nomenclature	3
CHAPTER 1	7
LITERATURE REVIEW, HYPOTHESIS, AIMS AND OBJECTIVES	7
1.1 Non-melanoma skin cancers: an increasing cause of morbidity and mortality Australia	/ in 7
1.2 Vitamin D	9
1.3 The role of vitamin D in skin cancer development	. 11
1.4 Vitamin D metabolism	. 16
1.4.1 25-hydroxylation of vitamin D	. 19
1.4.2 Renal and extra-renal calcidiol 1-monooxygenase (CYP27B1)	. 20
1.4.3 Vitamin D catabolism and vitamin D3 24-hydroxylase (CYP24A1)	. 21
1.4.4 Vitamin D binding protein	. 22
1.5 Vitamin D receptor	. 23
1.5.1 VDR genomic and non-genomic responses	. 25
1.5.2 VDR transcriptional activation by calcitriol	. 28
1.5.3 VDR transcriptional repression by calcitriol	. 28
1.5.4 Hypercalcaemia and vitamin D toxicity	. 29
1.6 Antitumour activity of calcitriol and calcidiol	. 33
1.6.1 Vitamin D effects on tumour microenvironment, angiogenesis and metastasis	. 35
1.6.2 Vitamin D effects on ErbB receptor tyrosine kinases	. 36
1.6.3 Vitamin D effects on fibroblast growth factor receptor 3 (FGFR3)	. 38
1.6.4 Vitamin D effects on vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF)	. 39

1.6.5 Vitamin D and proliferating cell nuclear antigen (PCNA)	0
1.7 The role of vitamin D in NMSC 40	0
1.7.1 Actinic keratosis	1
1.7.2 Basal cell carcinoma	2
1.7.3 Squamous cell carcinoma	3
1.7.4 Squamous cell carcinoma in situ 44	4
1.8 Vitamin D regulation of signalling pathways	4
1.8.1 Vitamin D regulation of the MAPK cascade	4
1.8.2 The role of vitamin D in other signalling pathways	5
1.9 Vitamin D signalling pathways in skin cancer	9
1.10 Clinical studies using vitamin D and its analogues in skin cancer	4
1.11 Research aims	7
1.11.1 Knowledge gap	7
1.11.2 Hypothesis	7
1.11.3 Overall aims	8
1.11.4 Specific aims	8
1.12 Summary	8
CHAPTER 2	9
EFFECTS OF CALCIDIOL ON MIGRATION AND PROLIFERATION OF	F
SQUAMOUS CELL CARCINOMA CELLS (SCC-4)	9
2.1 Introduction	9
2.2 Materials and methods	1
2.2.1 SCC-4 cell line	1
2.2.2 Materials	1
2.2.3 Methods	2
2.2.4 Statistical analysis	4
2.3 Results	4
2.3.1 Calcidiol and calcitriol inhibits proliferation of SCC-4 cells	4

2.3.2 Calcidiol inhibits SCC-4 cell migration
2.4 Discussion
2.5 Conclusion
CHAPTER 3
VITAMIN D REGULATION OF PROTEIN EXPRESSION IN PRIMARY AND
MALIGNANT KERATINOCYTES
3.1 Introduction
3.2.1 Cell culture
3.2.3 Cell culture conditions
3.2.4 Harvesting cells for expression analysis
3.2.5 Western blot reagents
3.2.6 SDS-PAGE gels
3.2.7 Chemiluminescence-based Western blot analysis
3.2.8 Statistical analysis
3.3 Results
3.3.1 Effects of calcidiol and calcitriol on CYP27A1 expression in primary and malignant
keratinocytes 81
3.3.2 Effects of calcidiol and calcitriol on CYP27B1 expression in primary and malignant
keratinocytes
3.3.3 Effects of calcidiol and calcitriol on CYP24A1 protein expression in primary and
malignant keratinocytes
3.3.4 Effects of calcidiol and calcitriol on vitamin D receptor (VDR) expression in
primary and malignant keratinocytes
3.3.5 Effects of calcidiol and calcitriol on epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR)
protein expression in primary and malignant keratinocytes
3.3.6 Effects of calcidiol and calcitriol on fibroblast growth factor receptor 3 (FGFR3)
protein expression in primary and malignant keratinocytes
3.3.7 Effects of calcidiol and calcitriol on proliferating cell nuclear antigen (PCNA)
protein expression in primary and malignant keratinocytes
3.4 Discussion

3.4.1. The effects of calcidiol and calcitriol on the expression of VDR in human primary
keratinocytes and SCC-4 cells
3.4.2 The effects of calcidiol and calcitriol on the expression of CYP27A1 in human
primary keratinocytes and SCC-4 cells 102
3.4.3. The effects of calcidiol and calcitriol on the expression of CYP27B1 in human
primary keratinocytes and SCC-4 cells 103
3.4.4. The effects of calcidiol and calcitriol on the expression of CYP24A1 in human
primary keratinocytes and SCC-4 cells 104
3.4.5. The effects of calcidiol and calcitriol on the expression of FGFR3, EGFR and
PCNA in human primary keratinocytes and SCC-4 cells 105
3.5 Conclusions 107
CHAPTER 4
VITAMIN D METABOLIC ENZYMES AND RECEPTOR IN NON-MELANOMA
SKIN CANCERS: A ROLE IN THE DERMAL–EPIDERMAL RELATIONSHIP 108
4.1 Introduction
4.2 Materials and methods 110
4.2.1 Tissue samples
4.2.2 Reagents
4.2.3 Tissue preparation
4.2.4 Immunohistochemical detection of vitamin D metabolic enzymes and receptor
expression in human BCC, SCC, SCCIS, AK and normal tissues
4.2.5 Assessment of immunostaining and statistical justification
4.2.6 Statistical justification
4.3 Results
4.3.1 Evaluation of vitamin D metabolic enzymes and VDR expression in human tissue
samples of AK, BCC, SCC, SCCIS and normal skin 115
4.3.2 Evaluation of EGFR and FGFR3 expression in human tissue samples of AK, BCC,
SCC, SCCIS and normal skin 127
SCC, SCCIS and normal skin

CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS	. 166
6.1 Concluding remarks	. 166
6.1 Future directions	. 167
CHAPTER 7	. 169
BIBLIOGRAPHY	. 169
APPENDIX A. CELL MIGRATION PROTOCOL	. 202
APPENDIX B. CELL PROLIFERATION PROTOCOL	. 208
APPENDIX C. MORPHOLOGY AND GROWTH OF SCC-4 CULTURES	. 214
APPENDIX D. STATISTICS	. 219

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express sincere gratitude to my supervisors, in whom I found great mentors who helped me through the challenges of my research journey and led me to the completion of this degree: Prof. Vasso Apostolopoulos, Prof. Crispin Dass and Prof. Gregory Blatch. I have learned a lot from them – far more than science. Without their guidance, it would not have been possible to complete this work and overcome numerous research obstacles.

I would not be able to develop this project if I had not met Prof. Dass, whose involvement in my work made my research extremely interesting. Over the period of my PhD enrolment I have been through many changes, both good and bad, and from the moment of Prof. Dass' involvement in my project I saw differences. Thank you for keeping this project alive and being so motivational about my research. Prof. Dass is one of those people who works so hard, does so much for his students and expects so little in return. I feel very lucky to have worked under his supervision and I am very grateful and appreciative for everything that he has done. Prof. Dass involvement at the earlier stages of my PhD will always be remembered.

Of equal importance, I would like to thank Prof. Blatch, who has provided a significant intellectual input in my work over the past years. I have noticed over the time of my work with Prof. Blatch that he is one of those rare people who have a natural instinct to care about their students and who puts the student's needs ahead of their own. Prof. Blatch always listened, had a constructive and critical approach and, despite a very busy schedule, would make time to assist his students. A simple 'thank you' is not really enough for the support provided by Prof. Blatch to me. In many ways Prof.Blatch has broadened my research views. Thank you very much for being there for me over the past years, for your remarkable tolerance for my (some-times less practical) propositions and for endlessly supporting my project.

And finally, I would like to express my gratitude to Prof. Apostolopoulos, who provided help to my project when needed the most and guided me all the way through to the completion this work. Prof. Apostolopoulos has showed me how to overcome many research hurdles. I have been very fortunate to meet Prof. Apostolopoulos and very thankful for her endless support, attention to detail and her comprehensive and critical scientific advice. A simple thank you would not be sufficient enough to thank Prof.Apostolopoulos for all her always limitless help. The completion of this work would not be possible without Prof. Apostolopoulos involvement.

I thank you all for your generousity of sharing your knowledge and expertise with me.

Moreover, I would like to thank Prof. Sinclair, Head of the Department of Dermatology at St Vincent's Hospital, for generously providing assistance with the collection of human tissue samples, for providing access to archival samples and for his contribution to my knowledge on dermatopathological research. Without his aid, I would not have been able to conduct research on human non-melanoma skin cancers, which is a significant portion of my thesis. I also would like to thank, for the remarkable help they provided, the team of registrar doctors from the Department of Dermatology at St Vincent's Hospital, who assisted me with the original tissue collection. They created an extremely supportive environment during the tissue and blood collection from NMSC patients.

I cannot disregard and must acknowledge the help of those people who generously agreed to become a part of my study and allowed me to collect their blood and skin excisions. I owe them a very big thank you.

I also would like to thank laboratory manager Nikola Popovich, for the unlimited help provided over the years and his consistent support of research matters. I am very grateful to all the technical support members at the Victoria University St Albans and Werribee campuses, for always being available for my research needs and always being ready for just a friendly chat.

Over the years of this research I came across many people who directly or indirectly influenced my work. I thank, with sincere gratitude, the following people who provided advice and support: A/Prof. Charlse Lawoko, Prof. Alan Hayes, Dr Christos Stathis, Prof. Todor Vasiljecic, Prof. Chris Perera, Dr Anthony Zulli, Dr Swati Baindur-Hudson, Prof. Lily Stojanovska, Prof. Terence McCann and A/Prof. John Price.

I would like to thank my husband Lloyd for being so patient and supportive throughout the past years; I would not be able to do it without his support this work would not have been possible.

I thank my adorable daughter Luisa Aleksandra, for being such an inspiration in completing my work. After all the years invested into my PhD research, I would finally like to thank my family in St-Petersburg, Russia and the USA for their unlimited and ongoing support, which gave me strength to keep my spirit up and to conduct my PhD research on a full-time basis. I dedicate this dissertation to them with gratitude from the bottom of my heart.

# Acknowledgement of funding

Funding was provided by an Australian Postgraduate Award scholarship.

# **ABBREVIATIONS**

- calcitriol dihydroxycholecalciferol
- calcidiol-hydroxycholecalciferol
- 7-DHC 7-dehydrocholesterol
- AK actinic keratosis
- AP-1 activating protein-1
- Apaf apoptotic protease activating factor 1
- BCC basal cell carcinoma
- bFGF basic fibroblast growth factor
- BSA bovine serum albumin
- C-24 carbon 24
- C-25 carbon 25
- CYP24A1 -vitamin D3 24-hydroxylase gene
- CYP27A1 vitamin D 25-hydroxylase gene
- CYP27B1 calcidiol 1-monooxygenase gene
- CYP450 cytochrome P450
- DAB-diaminobenzidine
- DRIP vitamin D receptor interacting protein
- EGF -- endothelial growth factor
- EGFR EGF receptor
- ERK1/2 extracellular-signal-regulated kinases 1/2
- FBS fetal bovine serum
- FGF3 fibroblast growth factor 3
- FGFR3 FGF receptor 3
- GLI zinc finger protein GLI
- HR hairless protein
- HRP horseradish peroxidase
- HSP70 70 kDa heat shock protein
- kDa-kiloDalton
- LSAB labelled streptavidin biotin
- MAPK mitogen-activated protein kinase
- MEK mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase
- MMP-1 matrix metalloproteinase-1

- MF malignant fibroblasts
- MK malignant keratinocytes
- NF-κB nuclear factor kappa B
- NMSC non-melanoma skin cancer
- PCNA proliferating cell nuclear antigen
- PBS phosphate-buffered saline
- PF primary fibroblasts
- PK primary keratinocytes
- PTCH tumour suppressor protein patched
- PTH parathyroid hormone
- PVDF polyvinylidene difluoride
- ROS reactive oxygen species
- RXR retinoid X receptor
- SCC squamous cell carcinoma
- SCCIS squamous cell carcinoma in situ
- SDS-PAGE sodium dodecyl sulphate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
- SHH sonic hedgehog
- SMO-smoothened
- SOD superoxide dismutase
- SRC steroid receptor activator
- TBS Tris-buffered saline
- TBST Tris-buffered saline/Tween-20
- TGF-transforming growth factor
- TKI-tyrosine kinase inhibitor
- UV ultraviolet
- VDBP vitamin D binding protein
- VDR vitamin D receptor
- VDRE vitamin D response element
- VEGF vascular endothelial growth factor
- VEGFR vascular endothelial growth factor receptor

## **PUBLICATIONS**

Alcantara MB, **Nemazannikova N**, Elahy M, Dass CR. Pigment epithelium-derived factor upregulates collagen I and downregulates matrix metalloproteinase 2 in osteosarcoma cells, and colocalises to collagen I and heat shock protein 47 in fetal and adult bone. J Pharm Pharmacol. 2014 Aug 31. doi: 10.1111/jphp.12289 [Epub ahead of print].

Nemazannikova N, Antonas K, Dass CR. Vitamin D: metabolism, molecular mechanisms, and mutations to malignancies. Mol Carcinog. 2014 Jun; 53(6): 421–431. doi: 10.1002/mc.21999.

Nemazannikova N, Antonas K, Dass CR. Role of vitamin D metabolism in cutaneous tumour formation and progression. J Pharm Pharmacol. 2013 Jan; 65(1): 2–10. doi: 10.1111/j.2042-7158.2012.01527.x.

**Nemazannikova** N, Stojanovska L, G.L.Blatch., Apostolopoulos, V. To B or not to B: Is there a causal link between vitamin B and Multiple Sclerosis? Medicinal Chemistry, In Press, 2016 – Special issue on Multiple Sclerosis

3 research papers in preparation

## ABSTRACT

Limited information is available on the direct role of vitamin D metabolites (calcidiol and calcitriol) in skin carcinogenesis. For most individuals, skin cancer can be readily managed with surgery; however, some patients may face life-threatening neoplasia. Sun exposure, specifically ultraviolet radiation, is a causative agent for development of skin cancer, though, somewhat ironically, sunlight through the endogenous production of vitamin D may have a protective effect against some skin cancers.

To gain insights into the role of vitamin D metabolites in progression of non-melanoma skin cancers (NMSC), the effects of calcidiol and calcitriol on malignant human keratinocyte (SCC4 cells) proliferation and migration was assessed. It was shown that calcidiol (100,000 nM) and calcitriol (100 nM) exerted partial inhibition of SCC-4 cell proliferation, whilst lower doses had no obvious inhibitory effects. Interestingly, calcidiol at lower concetrations (250 nM) inhibited cell migration; in contrast to calcitriol (10 nM), which appeared to have a stimulatory effect on migration of metastatic SCC-4 cells.

To determine whether vitamin D metabolites have an influence on the expression of vitamin D hydroxylases (CYP27A1, CYP27B1 and CYP24A1) and tumour promoting markers (EGFR and FGFR3) in NMSC, the expression of these proteins were assessed in response to various doses of calcidiol (and calcitriol) in cultured malignant SCC-4 keratinocytes.

In addition, the status of vitamin D enzymes and receptor were studied in human NMSC and normal skin tissues. Immunohistochemical analysis of human NMSC tissues [actinic keratosis (AK), squamous cell carcinoma (SCC), basal cell carcinoma (BCC) and squamous cell carcinoma in situ (SCCIS)] revealed diminished expression of the anabolic vitamin D metabolic enzyme, CYP27B1, compared to normal skin. The lack of CYP27B1 expression has been associated with neoplastic skin lesion progression. Futhermore, the status of intratumoural expression of CYP24A1 and CYP27A1 and vitamin D receptor (VDR) showed that in neoplastic skin the expression of hydroxylases is altered compared to normal skin and pre-cancerous AK lesions. In fact, expression of VDR was similar in AK, BCC, SCCIS, but not in SCC (where poor to moderate expression was noted). CYP24A1 was found to be highly elevated in all tumours, contrastingly to normal skin. Interestingly, CYP27B1 immunoreactivity was noted to have prominent staining in normal skin. In addition, intratumoural expression of EGF, FGF, VEGF, PCNA, FGFR3 and EGFR was demonstrated within the same study for the first time.

It was demonstrated that SCC-4 cells and normal keratinocytes have differential response in expression of CYP27A1, CYP27B1 and CYP24A1 to antiproliferative doses of calcidiol and calcitriol, which appears not to be VDR-dependent. Furthermore, SCC-4 cells appear to be dose dependent, where FGFR3 inhibition was noted only in response to calcidiol at higher doses (> 100,000 nM).

Cumulative results of immunohistochemical and immunoblot studies suggest that vitamin D enzymes, CYP27B1 and CYP24A1 may be involved in the regulation of neoplastic growth. In conclusion, it was demonstrated that calcidiol has an inhibitory role in neoplastic keratinocytes proliferation and migration of metastatic SCC-4 keratinocytes. Hence, calcidiol appears to have an inhibitory effect on NMSC and has an influencial effect on FGFR3.

## **IUBMB Enzyme Nomenclature**

# EC 1.14.13.13

Accepted name: calcidiol 1-monooxygenase

Reaction: calcidiol + NADPH +  $H^+$  +  $O_2$  = calcitriol + NADP<sup>+</sup> +  $H_2O$ 

## **Glossary**:

calcidiol = 25-hydroxyvitamin D3 = (3S,5Z,7E)-9,10-seco-5,7,10(19)-cholestatriene-3,25-diol

calcitriol =  $1\alpha$ ,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 = (1S,3R,5Z,7E)-9,10-seco-5,7,10(19)-cholestatriene-1,3,25-triol

**Other name(s):** 25-hydroxycholecalciferol 1-hydroxylase; 25-hydroxycholecalciferol 1monooxygenase; 1-hydroxylase-25-hydroxyvitamin D3; 25-hydroxy D3-1α-hydroxylase; 25hydroxycholecalciferol 1α-hydroxylase; 25-hydroxyvitamin D3 1α-hydroxylase

Systematic name: calcidiol, NADPH: oxygen oxidoreductase (1-hydroxylating)

Links to other databases: BRENDA, EXPASY, KEGG, Metacyc, CAS registry number: 9081-36-1

## **References:**

 Gray, R.W., Omdahl, J.L., Ghazarian, J.G. and De Luca, H.F. 25-Hydroxycholecalciferol-1-hydroxylase. Subcellular location and properties. J. Biol. Chem. 247 (1972) 7528-7532.
 [PMID: 4404596]

#### EC 1.14.13.159

Accepted name: vitamin D 25-hydroxylase Reaction: calciol +  $O_2$  + NADPH + H<sup>+</sup> = calcidiol + NADP<sup>+</sup> + H<sub>2</sub>O

**Glossary**: calciol = cholecalciferol = (3S,5Z,7E)-9,10-seco-5,7,10(19)-cholestatriene-3-ol = vitamin D3 calcidiol = 25-hydroxyvitamin D3 = (3S,5Z,7E)-9,10-seco-5,7,10(19)-cholestatriene-3,25-diol

**Other name(s):** vitamin D2 25-hydroxylase; vitamin D3 25-hydroxylase; CYP2R1 Systematic name: calciol,NADPH:oxygen oxidoreductase (25-hydroxylating)

**Comments:** A microsomal enzyme isolated from human and mouse liver which bioactivates vitamin D3.

While multiple isoforms (CYP27A1, CYP2J2/3, CYP3A4, CYP2D25 and CYP2C11) are able to catalyse the reaction in vitro, only CYP2R1 is thought to catalyse the reaction in humans in vivo [4].

Links to other databases: BRENDA, EXPASY, KEGG, Metacyc, PDB, CAS registry number:

### **References:**

1. Cheng, J.B., Motola, D.L., Mangelsdorf, D.J. and Russell, D.W. De-orphanization of cytochrome P450 2R1: a microsomal vitamin D 25-hydroxilase. J. Biol. Chem. 278 (2003) 38084-38093. [PMID: 12867411]

2. Shinkyo, R., Sakaki, T., Kamakura, M., Ohta, M. and Inouye, K. Metabolism of vitamin D by human microsomal CYP2R1. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 324 (2004) 451-457. [PMID: 15465040]

Strushkevich, N., Usanov, S.A., Plotnikov, A.N., Jones, G. and Park, H.W. Structural analysis of CYP2R1 in complex with vitamin D3. J. Mol. Biol. 380 (2008) 95-106. [PMID: 18511070]
 Zhu, J. and Deluca, H.F. Vitamin D 25-hydroxylase - Four decades of searching, are we there

yet ? Arch. Biochem. Biophys. (2012) . [PMID: 22310641]

### EC 1.14.13.126

Accepted name: vitamin D3 24-hydroxylase Reaction: (1) calcitriol + NADPH + H<sup>+</sup> + O<sub>2</sub> = calcitetrol + NADP<sup>+</sup> + H<sub>2</sub>O (2) calcidiol + NADPH + H<sup>+</sup> + O<sub>2</sub> = secalciferol + NADP<sup>+</sup> + H<sub>2</sub>O

**Glossary:** calcidiol = 25-hydroxyvitamin D3 calcitriol =  $1\alpha$ ,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 calcitetrol =  $1\alpha$ ,24R,25-trihydroxyvitamin D3 secalciferol = (24R)-24,25-dihydroxycalciol = 24R,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3

#### Other name(s): CYP24A1

Systematic name: calcitriol,NADPH:oxygen oxidoreductase (24-hydroxylating) Comments: A heme-thiolate enzyme (P-450). The second donor, NADPH, donates electrons through EC 1.18.1.2, ferredoxinÑNADP+ reductase and a [2Fe-2S] ferredoxin. The enzyme can perform up to 6 rounds of hydroxylation of the substrate calcitriol leading to calcitroic acid. The human enzyme also shows 23-hydroxylating activity leading to 1,25 dihydroxyvitamin D3-26,23lactone as end product while the mouse and rat enzymes do not.

Links to other databases: BRENDA, EXPASY, KEGG, Metacyc, PDB, CAS registry number:

#### **References:**

1. Masuda, S., Strugnell, S.A., Knutson, J.C., St-Arnaud, R. and Jones, G. Evidence for the activation of 1 $\alpha$ -hydroxyvitamin D2 by 25-hydroxyvitamin D-24-hydroxylase: delineation of pathways involving 1 $\alpha$ ,24-dihydroxyvitamin D2 and 1 $\alpha$ ,25-dihydroxyvitamin D2. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1761 (2006) 221-234. [PMID: 16516540]

2. Hamamoto, H., Kusudo, T., Urushino, N., Masuno, H., Yamamoto, K., Yamada, S., Kamakura, M., Ohta, M., Inouye, K. and Sakaki, T. Structure-function analysis of vitamin D 24-hydroxylase (CYP24A1) by site-directed mutagenesis: amino acid residues responsible for species-based difference of CYP24A1 between humans and rats. Mol. Pharmacol. 70 (2006) 120-128. [PMID: 16617161]

3. Sakaki, T., Kagawa, N., Yamamoto, K. and Inouye, K. Metabolism of vitamin D3 by cytochromes P450. Front. Biosci. 10 (2005) 119-134. [PMID: 15574355]

4. Prosser, D.E., Kaufmann, M., O'Leary, B., Byford, V. and Jones, G. Single A326G mutation converts human CYP24A1 from 25-OH-D3-24-hydroxylase into -23-hydroxylase, generating 1α,25-(OH)2D3-26,23-lactone. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 104 (2007) 12673-12678. [PMID: 17646648]

5. Kusudo, T., Sakaki, T., Abe, D., Fujishima, T., Kittaka, A., Takayama, H., Hatakeyama, S., Ohta, M. and Inouye, K. Metabolism of A-ring diastereomers of 1α,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 by CYP24A1. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 321 (2004) 774-782. [PMID: 15358094]

6. Sawada, N., Kusudo, T., Sakaki, T., Hatakeyama, S., Hanada, M., Abe, D., Kamao, M., Okano, T., Ohta, M. and Inouye, K. Novel metabolism of 1  $\alpha$ ,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 with C24-C25 bond cleavage catalyzed by human CYP24A1. Biochemistry 43 (2004) 4530-4537. [PMID: 15078099]

7. Prosser, D.E. and Jones, G. Enzymes involved in the activation and inactivation of vitamin D. Trends Biochem. Sci. 29 (2004) 664-673. [PMID: 15544953]

#### **CHAPTER 1.**

#### LITERATURE REVIEW, HYPOTHESIS, AIMS AND OBJECTIVES

#### 1.1 Non-melanoma skin cancers: an increasing cause of morbidity and mortality in Australia

Australia has the highest incidence of skin cancer in the world and the mortality is steadily increasing (Statistics, ABo 2012, Australian Bureau of Statistics, ABS; <a href="http://www.abs.gov.au/Ausstats/abs>">http://www.abs.gov.au/Ausstats/abs></a>, viewed 12 December 2015).

There are different types of skin cancers originating in the epidermis and/or the dermis of the skin, which can be classified as melanoma or as non-melanoma skin cancers (NMSCs). While there were more than 800,000 NMSCs treated in Australia in 2011, 543 Australians died from NMSCs that year (Sinclair, 2013). Cancer Council Victoria's national household surveys have estimated NMSC to be three times more prevalent than all other forms of cancers diagnosed in Australia. Indeed, 118,000 Australians were treated for squamous cell carcinoma (SCC) in 2002, with a further 256.000 treated for basal cell carcinoma (BCC) (http://www.skincancer.gov.au/internet/skincancer), (viewed 10 April 2015).

Ultraviolet (UV) radiation is the most significant contributing factor for these cancers. Numerous studies have shown a direct association between solar radiation and an increased risk of skin cancers (Bachelor & Bowen, 2004; Oberyszyn, 2008; Godar et.al., 2009). This association is of major importance, as the incidence of NMSC in Australia is amongst the highest in the world. In 2002, almost 2 % of the Australian population were treated for NMSC. These numbers are expected to rise in the future (Staples et.al., 2006). Intensive UVB exposure in childhood and adolescence is causative for the initiation of basal cell carcinoma (BCC), whereas the major cause of squamous cell carcinoma (SCC) development is chronic UVA exposure (Bachelor & Bowden, 2004; Situm et.al., 2008). Epidemiological studies convincingly suggest that the majority of all melanoma cases are caused by excessive exposure to sunlight. In contrast to SCC, melanoma risk seems not to be associated with cumulative exposure, but instead with intermittent exposure to sunlight.

Undeniably, the exposure to solar UVB radiation may lead to a number of harmful effects, including sunburn, genetic mutations, melanoma, NMSC, cataracts and photoaging of the skin (Afaq et.al., 2005). The avoidance of sun overexposure, frequent use of sun-screens and protective clothing should be made compulsory. Indeed, the development of skin cancer can be avoided by adequate skin protection from solar irradiance. However, the minimal solar exposure (approximately 12 minutes full body exposure per day) is essential for allowing adequate vitamin

D synthesis in the skin, which is vital for human health and prevention of diseases, including cancer (Garland et.al., 2007; Garland et.al., 2011). UVB is known as the main etiological cause for BCC and SCC initiation and the major factor for endogenous vitamin D synthesis. It is hard to resolve the vitamin D dilemma and firmly conclude that UVB exposure leads to detrimental effects, such as carcinogenesis. Epidemiological studies are conflicting on the beneficial role of vitamin D in skin cancer. In fact, in an earlier published study conducted in 73,366 women with 4 years follow up, the oral supplementation of vitamin D intake had no association between vitamin D and NMSC risk (such as BCC) (Hunter et.al., 1992). Another study investigated calcidiol and calcitriol serum levels in 88 Brazilian breast cancer patients (with 35 healthy controls) submitted for mammoplasties or resection of benign lesions. No difference was noted between plasma calcidiol levels in breast cancer patients and control groups, however, low calcitriol serum concentrations were associated with increased risk of breast cancer (Lindelöf et.al., 2012). In contrast, the antiproliferative activity of calcitriol is shown in human androgen-sensitive non-

metastatic prostate cancer cells (LNCaP). Inhibition of cellular growth and proliferation by calcitriol has synergistic effects to 20(S)-protopanaxadiol (aPPD) treatment. Moreover, the effect combined with calcitriol therapy has amplified antiprolifertive effect, hence demonstrating calcitriol as a promising therapeutic. In skin carcinogenesis the influence of vitamin D was shown in 1,608 randomly selected elderly males, where a correlation between higher calcidiol levels (above 30 ng/mL) was associated with decreased NMSC (Tang et.al., 2010).

The anticancer properties of vitamin D have been well acknowledged (World Health Organisation International Agency for Research on Cancer, 2008). Oral supplementation of cholecalciferol – vitamin D precursor, (compound that converts to active vitamin D hormone), may benefit patients with prostate cancer, by lowering prostate specific antigen and stabilising overall plasma parathyroid hormone (PTH) level (Marshall et.al., 2012). The supplementation with 4000 IU/d over the period of one year resulted in elevated circulating calcidiol (25(OH)D) (Marshall et.al., 2012) to a range recently recommended by The Endocrine Society practice guidelines (Holick et.al., 2011). These guidelines, are in agreement with the Food and Nutritional Board (IOM, The Institute of Medicine) on vitamin D a recommended intake, with tolerable upper intake level of 10000 IU/d. However these recommendations of the IOM are not always supported by others authors. For example, an inverse correlation between the expression of Ki67 (proliferation marker) and calcitriol levels in prostate tissue has been reported without adverse toxic effects even at doses as high as 40000 IU daily (Wagner et.al., 2013). Serum calcidiol and calcitriol levels are also increased with high oral supplementation, whilst plasma and urinary

8

calcium levels are unaffected (Wagner et.al., 2013). Interestingly, the anticancer effects of calcidiol on prostate cells suggests, that the biological effects of calcidiol are via binding directly to vitamin D receptor (VDR) (Munetsuna et.al., 2014). It is not unreasonable to suspect similar mechanism of calcidiol actions in the epidermal keratinocytes. Furthermore, vitamin D analog inhibits breast cancer cell proliferation. In particular, calcitriol and its anologue (with 21-methyl group replacement with a 5,5,5-trifluoro-4-hydroxy-4-(trifluoromethyl)-2-pentynyl group), BXL0124, exerts anti-proliferative and suppressive actions on the expression of putative stem cell markers (including PCNA, proliferative cancer antigen) in mammary gland in situ ductal carcinoma cell line (Wahler et.al., 2015). A relationship between serum calcidiol and risk of breast cancer is evident, where 50 % reduction in risk of breast cancer occurs when circulatory levels of vitamin D (calcidiol) is above 50 ng/ml compared to patients with calcidiol serum levels < 13 ng/ml (Garland et.al., 2007).

Whilst there is evidence suggesting the clinical benefits of vitamin D supplementation in some cancers, clinical justification is required for skin cancers. The effects of calcidiol and calcitriol in the development and progression of non melanoma skin cancer is not well understood. Interestingly, epidemiological studies in a subtropical Australian community indicated no association between vitamin D status and skin cancer incidence. The findings suggest that skin carcinogenesis as a result of high sun exposure cannot be counteracted by high vitamin D status (van der Pols et.al., 2013). Thus, it is logical to suggest that high sun exposure should be avoided in order to achieve optimal vitamin D status.

Numerous publicity campaigns are in place to reduce sun exposure, with the goal of reducing the incidence of skin cancers, and so affecting overall health and predisposition to oncogenic conditions in the future. It would be interesting to see the outcomes of the comprehensive Australian SunSmart program – which involves covering exposed body parts with sunscreen, wearing hats and sunglasses, and minimising sun exposure, in the prevention of skin cancer incidence in the next few decades.

### 1.2 Vitamin D

Vitamin D relates to fat-soluble secosteroids, responsible for enhancing intestinal absorption of calcium and phosphate. Vitamin D is involved in ionic homeostasis essential for bone maintanance and plays a crucial role in skeletal and muscular health (Leyssens et.al., 2014; Mostafa & Hegazy, 2014). Most commonly referred vitamin D metabolites in this thesis are calcidiol and calcitriol. Although of interest, vitamin D<sub>2</sub>, or ergocalciferol, synthesised by fungi and yeasts, will not be

further discussed in this thesis. The structural characteristics of these compounds are shown in Table 1.1 and described in section 1.4.

Vitamin D is a fat-soluble vitamin responsible for ionic homeostasis and intestinal absorption of calcium, iron, magnesium, phosphate and zinc. As the nomenclature of vitamin D compounds can be confusing, it was decide to use the terminoloty of International Union of Pure and Applied Chemistry (IUPAC) accepted names, such as calcidiol and calcitriol (http://www.chem.qmul.ac.uk/iupac/misc/D.html>, viewed 20 August 2014). In this thesis the names of vitamin D compounds are used in accordance to IUPAC nomenclature recommendations. Even though the trivial names calcidiol (for 25-hydroxyvitamin D, 25OHD) and calcitriol (1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D, 1,25(OH)2D), have not come into widespread use, it was decided to refer to both compounds using their IUPAC recommended nomenclature.

Vitamin D synthesis is initiated in the skin by sunlight; however, overexposure to sunlight is the main cause of skin cancer. Calcitriol promotes calcium absorption in the gut, and maintains and regulates serum calcium and phosphate balance for bone mineralisation (Lips, 2006). Calcitriol is required for bone growth and remodelling via osteoblasts and osteoclasts (Haussler et.al., 2010). Its deficiency leads to thin and brittle bones, causing significant health impact. Vitamin D is known to prevent rickets in children and osteomalacia in adults (Stamp, 1980; Holick, 2006a; Pettifor and Prentice, 2011).

The active form of vitamin D is categorised as one of the most important biomolecules maintaining calcium levels (Armbrecht et.al., 1996). Calcitriol indirectly stimulates ionic absorption in the small intestine. The major regulator of this process is parathyroid hormone (PTH), which is part of a negative feedback loop to maintain calcium levels in the extracellular fluid. PTH secretion is stimulated by hypocalcaemia, and it works to simulate mechanisms to increase calcium ion levels. PTH stimulates the release of calcium ions from bone, in part by stimulating bone resorption (Carpenter, 1989). Calcitriol renal synthesis is also stimulated by PTH.

It is understood that circulating calcidiol insufficiency is associated with numerous diseases involving the skeleton. For instance, in rickets development in children, a primary outcome is the failure to maintain normal calcium homeostasis, which leads to no mineralisation of the growth plate of growing bones (Pettifor and Prentice, 2011). Interestingly, maternal vitamin D deficiency, which is usually measured by circulatory calcidiol, is a causative factor for vitamin D status in infants, and their risk of developing infantile nutritional rickets (Thandrayen & Pettifor, 2010). The age-associated decrease in mass and quality of bone (osteoporosis) and muscle (sarcopenia) leads to an exponential increase in risk for osteoporosis-related fracture, which are associated with lower vitamin D levels observed with advancing age (Binkley, 2012). When combined with calcium supplementation, vitamin D has preventative functions against osteoporosis (Haussler et.al., 2011). In addition, low vitamin D levels have been linked to an increased risk of diabetes, some cancers, cardiovascular disease, multiple sclerosis, mental health problems and altered immunity (Ma et.al., 2004; Pérez-López et.al., 2009; Krishnan et.al., 2010; Grant, 2010; Gröschel et.al., 2012).

### 1.3 The role of vitamin D in skin cancer development

The skin is composed of epidermal, dermal and hypodermal layers, which assist in mechanical and biochemical protection (Garland et.al., 2009). The epidermis comprises layers of keratinocytes, which undergo a process of continual self-replacement that declines with age. During differentiation, keratinocytes undergo desquamation as they move towards the epidermal surface (Staiano-Coico & Higgins, 1992). The basal layer (stratum basale) forms the basal lamina at the border of the epidermis with the dermis (Figure 1.1). Keratinocytes of the basal layer can proliferate readily when required, furnishing newly formed cells for the upper differentiating layers (Clausen & Potten, 1990). Renewal of epidermal cells via cell division is tightly controlled by two sub-populations of basal epidermal cells: stem cells and transit amplifying cells (Luderer & Demay, 2010). Transit keratinocytes have limited proliferative capacity, whereas epidermal stem cells have an unlimited capacity for self-renewal (Clausen & Potten, 1990). Neoplastic keratinocytes, which can result in tumour formation. It has been shown that the absence of a functional vitamin D receptor (VDR) leads to impaired function of keratinocyte stem cells by causing a defect in keratinocyte differentiation, both in vitro and in vivo (Luderer & Demay, 2010).

UV rays (both, UVA and UVB) penetrate the skin epidermis, causing photolesions and cellular damage (Sarkany, 2011). The exposure of the skin to solar radiation is a stressful event and triggers cutaneous defence mechanisms, such as alterations in proteins responsible for differentiation, as well as growth factors, and protection from DNA damage, to counter this threat (Norris et.al., 1997; Wong et.al., 2004). The protective response of epidermal keratinocytes against photocarcinogenesis is activation of DNA repair or pro-apoptotic mechanisms (Mason et.al., 2010).



#### Schematic diagram of the epidermis

#### Figure 1.1. Epidermal architecture.

Schematic representation of epidermal keratinocytes. The basal cells change, through differentiation, into flat horny skin cells that are without nuclei. During the differentiation process, keratinocytes permanently withdraw from the cell cycle, initiate expression of epidermal differentiation markers, and move suprabasally to become part of the stratum spinosum (prickle-cell layer), then the stratum granulosum (granular layer), and eventually become corneocytes in the stratum corneum (horny layer), which are shed. Human keratinocyte turnover, from epidermal stem cells of basal layer to desquamation and shedding, occurs every 40–56 days. Keratinocytes that have completed their differentiation program and have lost their nucleus and cytoplasmic organelles will eventually be shed through desquamation, as new cells keep proliferating and progressing towards the outer epidermal layer.

Adapted from (Halprin, 1972; Koster, 2009);

<http://www.intranet.tdmu.edu.ua/data/kafedra/internal/lik\_tex/classes\_stud/en/pharm/prov\_pharm/ptn/Technology %20of%20cosmetic%20products/5/practical%201.htm>, viewed 5 May 2014.

Epidermal keratinocytes are also known to express various antioxidant enzymes such as superoxide dismutase (SOD), which protect cells against oxidative insult (Haruna et.al., 2008). The intracrine (within a cell) synthesis of vitamin D in human epidermal keratinocytes activates multiple signal transduction pathways that have protective effects against DNA damage caused by solar exposure (De Haes et.al., 2005). Solar irradiance is a major source of DNA damage and free radical production in keratinocytes (De Haes et.al., 2005). Interestingly, it was reported that UV-exposed cutaneous nerve cells are capable of expressing neuroglobin, a protein that scavenges free

radicals (Gruber & Holtz, 2009). The fundamental living cells of the skin exhibit synergistic responses towards the detrimental events of solar exposure (Figure 1.2). It is not well understood how various cells within cutaneous layers communicate following damage.

Keratinocytes are known to produce mitochondrial antioxidant enzymes, such as SOD, glutathione peroxidase, glutathione reductase, copper- and zinc-dependent superoxide dismutase (CuZnSOD), catalase and manganese-dependent superoxide dismutase (MnSOD), when exposed to UV radiation. The optimal dose of solar exposure is yet to be determined, but there is no doubt that there is an essential requirement for endogenous calcidiol and calcitriol synthesis in this process. In addition, calcitriol inhibits UVB-induced damage of human keratinocytes, and possibly reduces accumulation of reactive nitrogen species and subsequently reduces oxidative and nitrosative damage (De Haes et.al., 2005; Song et.al., 2013a). Furthermore, calcidiol regulates the expression of antimicrobial and pro-inflammatory peptides such as cathelicidin (Schrumpf et.al., 2012). This regulation requires local conversion of calcidiol into the active hormone calcitriol by renal enzyme, CYP27B1 (Schrumpf et.al., 2012). Moreover, pretreatment of ex vivo cultured human skin cells with high physiological concentrations of calcitriol (1 nM), prior to irradiation, results in decreased thymine dimer accumulation, hence reduction in DNA damage (Song et.al., 2013a). While some reports suggest photoprotective actions of calcitriol, further studies are required to determine the efficacy of vitamin D metabolites against solar irradiance.



#### Figure 1.2. Vitamin D protective effects against NMSC.

A) Vitamin D modulation of cutaneous carcinogenesis. Activation of cutaneous vitamin D synthesis via UVB; subsequent protection from DNA mutations and damage from free radicals.

B) Vitamin D deficiency and NMSC recurrence. Vitamin D deficiency (calcidiol and calcitriol) can be associated with NMSC, as DNA damage by solar irradiation triggers formation of premalignant lesions such as AK and SCC in situ; most NMSC patients prevent further damage to the skin by avoiding sun exposure. The result of this avoidance is vitamin D deficiency and recurrence of NMSC.

AK, actinic keratosis; BCC, basal cell carcinoma; NMSC, non-melanoma skin cancer; SCC; squamous cell carcinoma; SCC in situ, squamous cell carcinoma in situ; UVA, ultraviolet A; UVB, ultraviolet B.

Accumulation of genetic alterations over a lifetime of excessive sun exposure, viral infections and immune-compromised conditions are the major risk factors in the development of NMSC (Afaq et.al., 2005; Arora & Attwood, 2009; Bachelor & Bowden, 2004; Holick, 2006b; Moan et.al., 2007; Schauber & Gallo, 2008). Sun exposure has been linked to pathological conditions of the skin, including sunburn, skin aging, melanomas and NMSC (Reichrath, 2006). Studies have shown that UVA (320-400 nm) exposure can cause oxidative stress (Basu-Modak et.al., 2003; Song et.al., 2013a). Skin acts as a first line of defence against oxidative stress (i.e. damage via free radicals; Gruber & Holtz, 2009).

The endogenous synthesis of vitamin D and its role in the prevention of cutaneous carcinogenesis is still poorly understood. It is suggested that vitamin D synthesis in the epidermis has several protective qualities. Low physiological dose (10<sup>-8</sup> M) of calcitriol (active vitamin D) inhibits keratinocyte proliferation and differentiation (Smith et.al., 1986). It was also demonstrated that calcitriol at concentrations of 10<sup>-7</sup> M inhibits proliferation of human keratinocyte cell line (HaCaT) (Reichrath et.al., 2010).

The effect of calcitriol is versatile and depends on the cell type origin (as well as whether it is a primary, cancerous or immortalised cell lines), applied dose and duration of the exposure. Studies show inhibitory effects of calcitriol action on primary epidermal keratinocytes, melanocytes, facial sebocytes and some types of squamous cell carcinoma cell lines, at concentrations much greater than physiological (range of  $10^{-6} - 10^{-9}$  M) (Koizumi et.al., 1997; Reichrath et.al., 2004; Krämer et.al., 2009; Chiang et.al., 2013; Reichrath et.al., 2010). However, very low physiological concentrations ( $10^{-11}$  M) calcitriol stimulates proliferation of keratinocytes (Lehmann, 2005). Interestingly, the stimulatory effect of calcitriol has been shown at quite high physiological doses ( $10^{-5} - 10^{-7}$  M) in normal human fibroblasts (Gruber & Anuszewska, 2002).

It has been suggested that some of the genetic alterations that are induced by chronic sun exposure in individuals with pre-malignant skin lesions can be reverted by well-balanced and maintained vitamin D supplementation (or its endogenous accumulation) (Baeke et.al., 2008; Nürnberg & Reichrath, 2009).

Interestingly, newly diagnosed patients with melanocytic skin cancers (MSCs) are less prone to subsequently developing malignant melanoma if they have sufficient levels of calcidiol (Baeke et.al., 2008; Nürnberg & Reichrath, 2009). An inverse relationship exists between 25(OH)D levels and risk of malignant melanoma (Field & Newton-Bishop, 2011). Similarly in NMSC patients, higher serum levels of 25(OH)D are associated with a decreased risk of having a history of NMSC. Further, the beneficial role of calcidiol against various cancers is apparent in numerous studies (Banerjee & Chatterjee, 2003; Giovannucci et.al., 2005; Bouillonet et.al., 2006; Holick, 2006b; Deeb et.al., 2007; Dixon et.al., 2007; Moan et.al., 2007; Lehmann, 1997; Krishnan et.al., 2010; Mason et.al., 2010; Vinceti et.al., 2011). Higher serum 25(OH)D levels are associated with better survival and reduced risk of metastasis (Garland et.al., 2009; Grant & Mohr, 2009; Ng et.al., 2009). Moreover, an inverse relationship between VDR and tumour growth has been noted in animal models, where VDR deficient mice are predisposed to benign and malignant neoplasm formation (Teichert et.al., 2011).

Whilst these reports agree on an inverse association between vitamin D and risk of skin cancer, some epidemiological studies state otherwise. Increased levels of circulatory 25(OH)D are associated with increased risk of non-melanoma and melanoma skin cancers (Liang et.al., 2012; Afzal et.al., 2013). It was reported in over 28 year follow-up study plasma 25(OH)D levels were measured in 10,060 individuals. Of these individuals, 590 individuals developed non-melanoma skin cancer while 78 individuals developed melanoma skin cancer (Afzal et.al., 2013). It was apparent that there was a correlation between high 25(OH)D levels with the incidence of non-melanoma skin cancers. However, it is acceptable that association can not prove causation. Hence, it is imperative to understand the complex relationship between vitamin D and NMSC, and whether vitamin D contributes to skin cancer or acts as a preventative agent.

#### 1.4 Vitamin D metabolism

Vitamin D can be obtained from dietary sources, including fish, dairy, egg yolk and mushrooms. However, the major source of vitamin D is exposure to sunlight. 7-dehydrocholesterol (7-DHC) absorbs solar UVB radiation and results in the production of pre-vitamin D3 which is thermally isomerised to vitamin D3 (Tian & Holick, 1995). This isomerisation is a reversible process, and able to interconvert pre-vitamin D back to cholecalciferol.

IUPAC recommended	Compound structure	Alternative names
name		
Ergocalciferol	HO	Vitamin D <sub>2</sub> , D <sub>2</sub>
7-dehydrocholecalciferol	HO ( ) HI H H	Provitamin D, 7-DHC
Cholecalciferol	HO <sup>11</sup>	Calciol; an inactive, unhydroxylated form of vitamin D, previtamin D, (6Z)- Tacalciol
Calcidiol	НО"	Hydroxyvitamin D, , 25- hydroxycholecalciferol, 25- hydroxyvitamin D
Calcitriol	HO CH	Calfediol, dihydroxyvitamin D, 1,25-dihydroxycholecalciferol, 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D; active vitamin D <sub>3</sub> hormone
(24R)-Hydroxycalcidiol	HO <sup>11</sup>	24,25-Dihydroxycholecalciferol, 24,25-dihydroxyvitamin D, inactive vitamin D

 Table 1.1. Nomenclature of vitamin D compounds.

Adapted from (Norman et.al., 2008); <a href="http://www.chem.qmul.ac.uk/iupac/misc/D.html">http://www.chem.qmul.ac.uk/iupac/misc/D.html</a>, viewed 24 July 2014.



#### Figure 1.3. Physiology of vitamin D metabolism

Vitamin D synthesis is initiated in the skin in response to UVB exposure, or it is absorbed from the diet. The previtamin D is preferentially transported by vitamin D binding protein (DBP) to the liver, and finally to the kidneys, where it undergoes sequential hydroxylation step to yield the hormonally active form, calcitriol (by calcidiolmonooxygenase, or CYP27B1). Calcidiol and calcitriol may induce the expression of vitamin D3 24-hydroxylase (CYP24A1), which is involved further in metabolism Adapted its and excretion. from <http://arayofhealth.wordpress.com/2011/01/09/vitamin-d-metabolism/>, viewed 1 July 2015

Vitamin D is not strictly classified as a vitamin, as it is not an essential dietary compound, but rather an endogenous pre-hormone produced by sequential metabolic steps. The molecular structure of vitamin D compounds consists of a cyclopentanoperhydrophenanthrene ring, which is closely related to that of classic steroid hormones such as oestradiol, cortisol and aldosterone (Norman, 2008). In this respect, cacitriol has the same root as all other steroid hormones; however, it is often known as а secosteroid because one of the rings of its cyclopentanoperhydrophenanthrene structure has a broken carbon-carbon bond, as shown in Table 1.1.

It has been shown in the past that the classic vitamin D endocrine function occurs via regulation of the circulating levels of calcitriol, whose synthesis is dependent on ionic homeostasis and other endocrine requirements (Banerjee & Chatterjee, 2003). Decreases in endogenous levels of calcitriol are known to regulate its own production via activation of PTH, which stimulates renal production of calcitriol and controls serum concentrations of calcium and phosphate. When the circulating concentration of calcitriol reaches a threshold level, renal synthesis of calcitriol declines rapidly (Norman, 2008). Interestingly, current research has shown that in some people with the clinical symptoms of a mild hypercalcemia, with circulatory 25(OH)D is in the range 51-100 ng/mL, had no association with low PTH levels, which would expected to be suppressed, and lack of other clinical symptoms (Dudenkov et.al., 2015)

#### 1.4.1 25-hydroxylation of vitamin D

Calcidiol synthesis is regulated by the hepatic microsomal and mitochondrial cytochrome P450 monooxygenase, vitamin D 25-hydroxylases, encoded by the microsomal (*CYP2R1, CYP2J2/3, CYP3A4, CYP2D25* and *CYP2C11* and mitochondrial (*CYP27A1*) genes (Vantieghem, 2006; Zhu & DeLuca, 2012). It seems as CYP27A1 is no longer considered to be a principal hydroxylase resulting in calcidiol formation in knockout mice, where deletion of CYP2R1 led to 50 % reduction in calcidiol serum levels, compared to wild type (Zhu & DeLuca, 2012). Interestingly, in CYP27A1 knockout mice, the loss of CYP27A1 does not cause rickets or bone abnormalities associated with vitamin D deficiency, instead CYP271 knockout mice exhibit very high serum calcidiol levels and a significant reduction in bile acid production, with large impact on lipid metabolism (Rosen et.al., 1998). Hence, CYP27A1 has minimal contribution in calcidiol production in mice. However, later findings suggest that only mitochondrial CYP27A1 is involved in hydroxylation of vitamin D precursor, dehydrocholesterol (DHC), resulting in the formation of 25-Hydroxy-7-DHC (Endo-Umeda et.al., 2014). Interestingly, 25-Hydroxy-7-DHC activates VDR, whilst 7-DHC and 26/27-hydroxy-7-DHC does not. Moreover, the only product of

CYP27A1 hydroxylation (but not CYP2R1), 25-Hydroxy-7-DHC, activates VDR and modulates transactivation of liver X receptor (LXR) (Endo-Umeda et.al., 2014).

Hence, CYP27A1 is the key enzyme in the conversion of cholecalciferol to calcidiol in the process of mitochondrial (CYP27A1) and microsomal (CYP2R1) hydroxylation at carbon-25 of vitamin D (Nürnberg & Reichrath, 2009). An inherited mutation in the CYP2R1 gene can lead to low circulating levels of calcidiol and classic symptoms of vitamin D deficiency, as the substitution of a proline for a leucine at amino acid 99 eliminates the enzymatic activity of CYP27A1 (Cheng et.al., 2004).

The plasma level of calcidiol is commonly used as an indicator of endogenous vitamin D status (Schuster, 2011). The complex mechanism of VDR activation and numerous contributing factors in endogenous synthesis of vitamin D metabolites warrants further studies.

#### 1.4.2 Renal and extra-renal calcidiol 1-monooxygenase (CYP27B1)

Calcidiol 1-monooxygenase, (from now on referred to CYP27B1), encoded by the gene *CYP27B1*, is a member of the mitochondrial cytochrome P450 enzyme family (Schuster, 2011). CYP27B1 (often referred as 25-hydroxycholecalciferol 1-hydroxylase; 25-hydroxycholecalciferol 1-monooxygenase; 1-hydroxylase-25-hydroxyvitamin D<sub>3</sub>; 25-hydroxy D<sub>3</sub>-1 $\alpha$ -hydroxylase; 25-hydroxycholecalciferol 1 $\alpha$ -hydroxylase; and 25-hydroxyvitamin D<sub>3</sub> 1 $\alpha$ -hydroxylase) produces hormonally active vitamin D – ( calcitriol) – from the precursor hormone calcidiol in the kidney (Lips 2006). The expression of this enzyme has also been detected in a number of tissues, including the skin (Krishnan et.al., 2010; Bachelor & Bowden, 2004; Holick, 2006a). CYP27B1 is a critical enzyme in calcium homeostasis; however, its role in other human tissues is not completely clear (Zehdner et.al., 2000).

Numerous studies describe CYP27B1 role in cancer cells, including those from colon, prostate, mammary gland and skin (Tangpricha et.al., 2001; Hewison et.al., 2004; Deeb et.al., 2007). These studies indicate the significance of CYP27B1 in neoplastic formation and progression (Brożyna et.al., 2013; Diesel et.al., 2004). Polymorphisms observed in genes encoding proteins involved in calcitriol homeostasis are associated with tumour growth and cancer progression. It was shown in colon cancer cells that CYP27B1 proteins containing single-nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) had reduced enzymatic activity compared to the wild-type protein (Jacobs et.al., 2013). Deregulation of CYP27B1 during cancer development contributes to abrogation of tumour suppressive effects triggered by calcitriol (Jacobs et.al., 2013).

It was believed that calcitriol would carry out the functions of an endocrine hormone only (Lips, 2006). However, calcitriol performs an array of functions including maintenance of serum

calcium and phosphorus levels, it is required for skeletal mineralisation, has roles in the cell cycle and differentiation, and acts as a tumour regulatory factor (Bikle et.al., 2011b; Oda et.al., 2004; Garland et.al., 2011; Deeb et.al., 2007; Wu et.al., 1996; Ebert et.al., 2006).

The antitumourigenic functions of calcidiol have received significant attention in recent years (Lou et.al., 2004; Geng et.al., 2011; Krishnan et. al., 2013). The malfunction of vitamin D metabolism observed in malignant cells is an indicator for an inverse correlation between serum calcidiol status and cancer development (Friedrich et.al., 2005). 25-hydroxylation plays an important role in maintaining normal tissue homeostasis, and dysregulation of this mechanism may contribute to tumour development and aggressiveness (Diesel et.al., 2004; Cross et.al., 2011).

Vitamin D enzymatic activity plays a significant role in the pathogenesis and progression of melanoma skin cancers (Brożyna et.al., 2013; Reichrath, 2006). The expression of CYP27B1 in melanocytic skin cancers is directly correlated with tumour behaviour and overall survival (Brożyna et.al., 2013). Although most patients with NMSC can be considered to be at lower risk of morbidity or mortality compared to melanoma, each year an increasing number of patients are diagnosed with advanced NMSC, including SCC and BCC (Australian Bureau of Statistics, ABS; <a href="http://www.abs.gov.au/Ausstats/abs>">http://www.abs.gov.au/Ausstats/abs></a>, viewed 12 April 2016).

The cellular loss of CYP27B1 activity has been shown in human melanocytic skin cancers to correlate with tumour phenotype and behaviour, and its lack affects the survival of melanoma patients, suggesting a role in the pathogenesis and progression of cancer (Egan, 2009; Field & Newton-Bishop, 2011; Vinceti et.al., 2011; Brożyna et.al., 2013). However, it is less clear, whether CYP27B1 has similar effects in the pathogenesis of NMSC.

#### 1.4.3 Vitamin D catabolism and vitamin D3 24-hydroxylase (CYP24A1)

Mitochondrial vitamin D3 24-hydroxylase (encoded by the gene *CYP24A1*), (from now on referred as CYP24A1) is responsible for the hydroxylation at carbon-24 of calcitriol and calcidiol (Luo et.al., 2012). This hydroxylation contributes to calcitriol degradation, resulting in its transformation into short-lived water-soluble products, such as calcitroic acid (Figure 1.3), which have reduced biological activity and are excreted in bile (Jones, 1999; Luo et.al., 2012). 24-hydroxylation is an important enzymatic process that contributes to terminating excess calcidiol and calcitriol (Annalora et.al., 2010). Vitamin D signaling and antitumour activity appears to be dependent on the expression of CYP24A1 as predominantly catabolic inactivator of the active vitamin D hormone, calcitriol, in the vast majority of normal tissues (Luo et.al., 2012). The catalysis by CYP24A1 results in several reactions with the final production of inactive, watersoluble vitamin D by-product in bile. In addition, CYP24A1 expression becomes deregulated in

numerous human tumours (Chen et.al., 2011; Luo et.al., 2012). Although elevated CYP24A1 expression has been reported in some skin cancers, the evidence that it plays a causative role in neoplasia is still not clear (Brożyna et.al., 2014).

CYP24A1 enzymatic expression is broadly distributed in the target tissues, including kidney, intestine, bone, and skin (Bouillon et.al., 2006). In target cells, calcitriol triggers its own degradation by up-regulation of CYP24A1 expression, to attenuate the action of calcitriol. CYP24A1 overexpression is noted in many cancers, such as colorectal and lung, and has been associated with tumorigenesis and metastasis (Chen et.al., 2011; Luo et.al., 2012; Peehl et.al., 2004).

#### 1.4.4 Vitamin D binding protein

The primary carrier of vitamin D in the circulation is vitamin D binding protein (VDBP), which regulates the bioavailability of calcitriol (White & Cooke, 2000). Calcidiol can enter renal cells (and possibly keratinocytes, which expresses megalin receptor (Adly et.al., 2010)) via the VDBP transport system, where it is converted to the active hormone, which has modulatory functions that influence gene expression. Conversely, calcitriol has low affinity for the transport protein VDBP and high affinity for VDR, principal receptor regulating the transcription of several target genes in vitamin D target cells (Alshahrani & Aljohani, 2013).

The relationship between alterations in VDBP and the risk of vitamin D-associated diseases (such as malfunction in transportation of vitamin D metabolites and immune disorders) has been reported in numerous studies (Christakos et.al., 2003; Noya, 2012; White & Cooke, 2000). Circulatory VDBP, also known as GC-globulin, is well known for its role in the transport of vitamin metabolites. VDBP is an abundant protein in plasma. It is the primary transporter of calcidiol, and therefore has a role in regulating its circulatory levels (Christiansen et.al., 2007; Speeckaert et.al., 2006). It regulates free (unbound) calcidiol, and has tissue and cell type specific utilisation (White & Cooke, 2000). Other roles include actin scavenging and fatty acid binding. In addition, VDBP has a role in diabetes mellitus, early-stage breast cancer, oral squamous cell carcinoma, aggressive periodontitis, idiopathic temporal lobe epilepsy, Alzheimer's and Parkinson's diseases, and myopia (Malik et.al., 2013). It has been shown to be downregulated in patients with sepsis, neuromyelitis optica, cutaneous malignant melanoma, hepatocellular carcinoma and breast cancer (Malik et.al., 2013). Further studies are required to determine the relationship of VDBP, calcidiol status and skin cancers.
## 1.5 Vitamin D receptor

Vitamin D receptor (VDR) belongs to the large superfamily of transcriptional regulatory factors, which includes the steroid and thyroid hormone receptors, the retinoid X receptors and retinoic acid receptors. VDR is encoded by a relatively large gene located on chromosome 12q13. It consists of the noncoding 5' promoter region that is encoded by exons 1A, 1B and 1C, exons 2 and 3, which encode the DNA binding domain, and exons 6 to 7, which encode the ligand-binding region (Pike et.al., 2011). Different domains of VDR are involved in different functions, including DNA binding, receptor dimerisation, gene transactivation and cofactor activation (Mizwicki & Norman, 2011).

VDR has a similar domain structure as other nuclear receptors. It comprises 427 amino acids encompassing a short amino-terminal activation function 1 (AF1) domain, a DNA binding domain (DBD) containing two zinc fingers, a flexible hinge region that includes nuclear localisation signals, a ligand binding domain (E1) and a carboxyl-terminal transcriptional activation domain (AF2; Figure 1.4) (Pike & Meyer, 2012; Ondková et.al., 2006). Upon calcitriol binding to the ligand binding domain, VDR is stabilised by phosphorylation in the DNA binding domain. VDR associates with the retinoid X receptor (RXR) through dimerisation domains in E/F (Carlberg & Campbell, 2013).

VDR is known to mediate the activity of numerous antiproliferative genes and plays a role in the regulation of the cell cycle in many cancers (van Leeuwen & Pols, 2005; Bouillon et.al., 2006; Spina et.al., 2007; Guan et.al., 2013; Welsh, 2011). The binding of calcitriol to the nuclear VDR is vital for VDR-mediated regulation of various transcriptional factors (Guan et.al., 2013; Li et.al., 2007; Spina et.al., 2007; Srinivasan et.al., 2011). Altered expression of VDR can affect the expression of cytochrome P450 hydroxylases (Brown et.al., 1999; Banerjee & Chatterjee, 2003). Indeed, VDR knockout mice exhibit extremely high rates of skin cancer development (Bikle et.al., 2013).

In addition, vitamin D deficient (diet induced) VDR knockout mice lack vitamin D calcemic effects, and have extremely high serum levels of calcitriol (Nakagawa et.al., 2004). The overexpression of *CYP27B1* gene that is responsible for calcitriol synthesis inhibits metastatic growth of lewis lung carcinoma cells (Nakagawa et.al., 2004). These findings establish a critical role for calcitriol, in lung metastasis (Nakagawa et.al., 2004). Furthermore, studies indicate that VDR ablation contributes to diminished production of calcidiol and calcitriol in skin cancer in both animal models and in humans (Banerjee & Chatterjee, 2003; Campbell et.al., 2009 ; Jiang et.al., 2013; Correa et.al., 2002). VDR acts as an important determinant of cellular sensitivity to

the actions of calcitriol and calcidiol. It remains unclear, however, whether all types of skin cancers have alterations in VDR and if these alterations contribute to cancer progression. These are important points, as vitamin D pathways are able to modulate carcinogenesis only if cells express and maintain functional VDR (Chung et.al., 2009; Keisala et.al., 2009; Whitfield et.al., 2001; Savkur et.al., 2005).

The anti-proliferative actions of calcitriol have been shown to be mediated by VDR in mice (Chung et.al., 2009). Treatment with calcitriol results in tumour growth inhibition in wild type mice expressing VDR compared to VDR knockout mice. This study demonstrated that tumours from VDR knockout mice were relatively resistant, suggesting that calcitriol-mediated growth inhibition is VDR-dependent and loss of VDR can lead to abnormal tumour growth (Chung et.al., 2009). Moreover, VDR mediated mechanism of protection against skin cancer formation was shown in keratinocytes lacking VDR (Jiang et.al., 2014). VDR deficient keratinocytes have increased expression of oncogenes and decreased expression of tumor suppressor genes, an ideal predisposition to skin cancer formation in mice (Jiang et.al., 2013). In addition, VDR knockout mice have poorer survival, early alopecia, thickened skin, enlarged sebaceous glands and development of epidermal cysts and premature ageing (Keisala et.al., 2009). Futhermore, it was established that the common polymorphisms in human VDR have an impact on receptor function and its transactivational potency (Whitfield et.al., 2001).

Calcitriol is produced within keratinocytes and other tissues, which also express VDR. Most of the biological actions of calcitriol are mediated through VDR, which is a member of the nuclear receptor superfamily and acts as a ligand-dependent transcription factor with co-activators (Haussler et.al., 2011). After renal hydroxylation, calcitriol is released into the circulatory system, where it binds to its carrier protein, VDBP. Delivered to target cells, calcitriol dissociates from VDBP, presumably enters the cell by diffusion, and binds to nuclear VDR to regulate gene transcription (Lips 2006). VDR is expressed in most tissues; it is known to regulate over 900 genes and has a broad range of biological actions, including ionic homeostasis, modulation of cellular proliferation, differentiation, migration and inhibition of angiogenesis (Schuster, 2011).



# Human VDR domain structure

### Figure 1.4. Schematic representation of the human VDR gene domain structure.

VDR encompasses an AF1 domain (A/B), a DNA binding domain containing (C), a flexible hinge region (D) containing nuclear localisation signals, a ligand binding domain (E1) and an AF2 domain. Adapted from (Carlberg & Campbell, 2013).

VDR requires heterodimerisation with co-regulatory proteins for effective DNA interaction (Mizwicki & Norman, 2011). Following binding of calcitriol to VDR and heterodimerisation with RXR, the calcitriol–VDR–RXR complex binds to vitamin D response elements (VDREs) in the promoter regions of specific genes, thus initiating target gene transactivation (Oda et.al., 2004). Several co-regulatory (or cofactor) proteins have been identified: RXR, steroid receptor activator complex (SRC), as well as numerous co-activator and co-suppressor protein complexes.

# 1.5.1 VDR genomic and non-genomic responses

VDR mediates the regulation of gene expression controlling tumour cell growth and development (Palmer et.al., 2008). The wide expression of VDR among various tissues (including epithelial lining, muscular-skeletal system, endocrine glands, blood cells and neurons) indicates that its actions are not restricted to classical vitamin D target tissues and suggest that ligand mediated VDR genomic and nongenomic regulation occurs by endocrine, paracrine, and autocrine mechanisms (Scolletta et.al., 2013). Following binding to its nuclear receptor, calcitriol heterodimerises with one of the RXRs: RXR- $\alpha$ , RXR- $\beta$  or RXR- $\gamma$  (Yang et.al., 2012). The genomic pathway is illustrated in Figure 1.5. Numerous proteins form complexes with the activated VDR–RXR heterodimers to promote (or inhibit) transcriptional activity (Lefebvre et.al., 2010; Marshall et.al., 2012).

The complex network of VDR-regulated genes encompasses cellular events such as cell cycle and apoptosis regulation, differentiation, oncogenesis, and immune and metabolic responses.

The rapid responses (Figure 1.5) mediated by calcitriol bound to its receptor occurs within minutes (1–2 min to 15–45 min) (Haussler et.al., 2011; Norman et.al., 2002; Norman et.al., 2004). This is in contrast with genomic responses, which generally take several hours to days to be fully apparent, and which can be blocked by inhibitors of transcription and translation (Norman et.al., 2004). Rapid responses include transcaltachia, insulin secretion, endothelial cell and smooth muscle cell migration, and osteoblast  $Cl^-$  and  $Ca^{2+}$  regulation (via endocytosis and exocytosis) (Huhtakangas et.al., 2004).



#### Figure 1.5. Schematic representation of vitamin D pathways.

Cutaneous cholecalciferol undergoes 25-hydroxylation, converting it to calcidiol. Rapid response pathway: serum calcidiol binds to VDBP (DBP) to reach the kidneys, for hydroxylation to calcitriol by CYP27B1. Genomic pathway: renal and non-renal (tissue specific) 1α-hydroxylation by calcidiol 1-monooxygenase (CYP27B1) and formation of calcitriol. Liganded VDR influences genetic mediators of transcriptional activity with involvement of VDRE. Calcitriol; calcidiol; RXR, 9-cis retinoid X receptor; DBP, vitamin D binding protein; VDR, vitamin D receptor; mVDR, membrane VDR; nVDR, nuclear VDR; VDRE, vitamin D response element.

### **1.5.2 VDR transcriptional activation by calcitriol**

Two major co-activator complexes have been identified: the steroid receptor activator complex (SRC), consisting of the p160 family of SRC1, SRC2 and SRC3 co-activators; and the vitamin D receptor interacting protein (DRIP) mediator complex (Sebag et.al., 1992). To form a VDR-mediating protein complex (the major VDR binding complex in proliferating keratinocytes), VDR is required to bind to calcitriol to enable formation of DRIP and SRC complex. SRC coordinates VDR-mediated regulation of keratinocytes differentiation, whereas DRIP facilitates the ability of VDR to regulate cellular proliferation (Bikle et.al., 2010). Calcitriol regulates keratinocyte proliferation and differentiation via the DRIP mediator complex (Oda et.al., 2007). In addition, vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), a vascular permeability factor that is involved in the regulation of angiogenic activity, was reported to be VDR dependant. Alterations in VEGF expression have effects in cancer development and metastasis. Calcitriol regulates VEGF production via the VEGF–VDR–RXR promoter complex (Cardus et.al., 2009).

VDR regulation of transcription is directed by an orchestra of transcription factors, receptors, bound ligands and DNA response elements, which work together towards inhibition or stimulation of gene expression (Marshall et.al., 2012). VDR expression has been identified in most tissues in humans, although its expression is altered in cancer tissues. The underlining mechanism resulting in these changes in VDR expression is not clear.

### 1.5.3 VDR transcriptional repression by calcitriol

VDR-dependent suppression of gene transcription by VDR–RXR regulates multiple pathways. One of the VDR-inhibitory pathways involve nuclear receptor co-repressor(s), which alters the architecture of chromatin in the vicinity of the target gene to heterochromatin (Carlberg & Campbell, 2013). As a repression regulator, liganded VDR binds to co-repressor rather than co-activator (Bikle et.al., 2010).

Studies have identified a protein that acts as a suppressor of VDR in the skin, known as hairless (HR) (Thompson & Beaudoin, 2006). The structure and function of this protein were studied in unpigmented and immunocompetent hairless mice. These mice are a good animal model, as they allow for manipulation of the skin by application of topical agents and easy visualisation of the cutaneous response to UV rays, acute photobiological responses and skin carcinogenesis (Benavides et.al., 2009). Loss of, or mutations in, HR in a cycling hair follicle are responsible for the phenotypic development of hairless mice, and also result in baldness in humans. Interestingly, the *HR* gene was found to inhibit calcitriol-mediated transcription, by binding to and repressing VDR action, as described in keratinocytes (Bikle et.al., 2007). The

region of VDR interaction with HR overlaps the DNA sites responsible for interaction with other steroid hormone receptors, although the precise amino acids involved in the interaction of HR with VDR have not been determined (Hsieh et.al., 2003). HR is also known to suppress VDR activity both in the absence and presence of vitamin D (Thompson & Beaudoin, 2006). There is mounting evidence that HR is a co-suppressor of VDR in animals and humans (Thompson et.al., 2006; Benavides et.al., 2009; Hsieh et.al., 2003). Similar to co-activators, the co-suppressors can be very specific for different genes in different tissues.

### 1.5.4 Hypercalcaemia and vitamin D toxicity

Excessive supplementation of vitamin D can cause toxicity (Alshahrani & Aljohani, 2013). Importantly, calcitriol has low affinity for the transport of protein VDBP and high affinity for VDR (Alshahrani & Aljohani, 2013). Conversely, calcidiol can enter the cell via the VDBP transport system, where it is converted to active hormone resulting in modulatory functions that influence signal transduction.

Vitamin D supplementation has a positive association, in particular in asthma, diabetes, stroke, multiple sclerosis, cognitive decline, dermatopathlogical conditions and influenza infection (Grant et.al., 2009; Kesby, 2011). Vitamin D deficiency is a very common condition amongst patients with infectious diseases (both bacterial and viral, especially respiratory infections), falls and fractures, cardiovascular disease, autoimmune diseases and cancers (Grant et.al., 2009, Grant, 2012). However, in some conditions, such as cardiovascular diseases and infectious diseases, the role of vitamin D requires further investigation. While some documented literature suggests intoxication as a result of high doses of vitamin D (156,000 to 2,604,000 IU of vitamin D daily), the Endocrine Society recommendation is 4000 IU daily uptake for everyone over 8 years old (Holick et. al., 2011). Furthermore, in Crohn's disease low levels of vitamin D is associated with the disease (Suibhne et.al., 2012). However, it was reported in 2 Crohn's disease patients that excessive serum  $1\alpha$ ,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D levels, corresponded to tissue-specific enhanced expression of CYP27B1, whilst 25(OH)D levels remained unchanged, suggesting that calcidiol has nothing to do with calcitriol toxicity, known to be a direct precursor of calcitriol (Bosch, 1998).

Numerous clinical studies are currently in progress: VITAL, 2000 IU (International Units (IU) of vitamin D) daily (USA) and FIND, 1600-3200IU daily (Finland) to determine the effects of vitamin D in cancer and cardiovascular disease; ViDA, 100,000-200,000 IU monthly (NZ) and its effects in cardiovascular disease, respiratory disease and fractures; VIDAL, 60,000 IU monthly (UK) to assess it role in longevity (Kupferschmidt, 2012). The aim of these studies is to evaluate the efficacy of vitamin D therapy in oncological conditions, cardiovascular disease, diabetes,

cognitive function and longevity. The outcome of these trials will be available after 2017 (Kupferschmidt, 2012). At present, there is great amount of controversy regarding the appropriate concentration of vitamin D to be used, the effects of vitamin D deficiency and its potential toxic effects.

Meanwhile, it was suggested, that calcidiol toxicity may occur with circulatory concentrations beyond 500 nM (Vieth, 2006). It was also suggested that vitamin D daily prolonged intake of 250 µg (10,000 IU) likely poses no risk of adverse effects in almost all individuals in the general population (Vieth, 2007). On average, vitamin D intake of 5,000 IU/day achieves serum calcidiol (or 25(OH)D) concentrations between 100–150 nM (NIH, Department of Health and Human services, FDA: <a href="http://ods.od.nih.gov/factsheets/VitaminD-HealthProfessional//>">http://ods.od.nih.gov/factsheets/VitaminD-HealthProfessional//></a>, July 2015). Most recent population-based study, involving over 20,000 people, measured 25(OH)D. This study found the levels of circulatory calcidiol in some people 1714 (8.4%), 123 (0.6%), and 37 (0.2%) over 50, 80, and 100 ng/mL, respectively. Where serum 25(OH)D values were not significantly related with serum calcium values or with the risk of hypercalcemia. This study reports that the incidence of circulatory 25(OH)D values over 50 ng/mL increased significantly between 2002 and 2011, without a corresponding increase in acute clinical toxicity (Dudenkov et.al., 2015).

With no hypercalcaemic effects observed for calcidiol at the highest dose of 40,000 IU/day (Garland et.al. 2011), it may provide health beneficial effects (Finamor et.al., 2013). In addition, the risks of vitamin D toxicity shown in a longitudal study (1985-1991), were of over-fortified vitamin D in milk that was supplied to 11,000 households. According to hospital discharge records and laboratory data, there were identified cases of clinical hypervitaminosis D (ranging 56-696 ng/ml) in the affected communities during that period (Blank et.al., 1995). High circulatory vitamin D levels are associated with anorexia, weight loss, weakness, fatigue, disorientation, vomiting, dehydration, polyuria, constipation and in severe cases, death. However, it was suggested that this could be the cause of a pre-existing susceptibility for the development of hypervitaminosis D following exposure to overfortified milk (Blank et.al., 1995). It is well accepted that vitamin D toxicity to be associated with varying degrees of hypercalcaemia, hypercalciuria and some additional complications (Alshahrani & Aljohani, 2013). However, circulatory 25(OH)D as high as 125 nM in some individuals was noted without clinical signs of intotoxicication (Dudenkov et.al., 2015). Solar exposure itself does not lead to toxicicity as the excessively generated vitamin D metabolites are very sensitive to sunlight and undergo photolysis upon excessive exposure. The excess formed vitamin D undergoes photodegradation to a variety of photoproducts, such as 5,6-transvitamin D, suprasterol I, and suprasterol II (Webb, et.al., 1989). It does not come as a surprise, that excessive and unprotected sun exposure can result in sunburn and/or various types of skin cancers. Due to limited clinical studies it is difficult to establish firm conclusions on vitamin D toxic dose, optimal daily dose required for health maintenance, and its cancer preventative or therapeutic dose. While the optimal circulatory vitamin D range is unclear, it is difficult to accurately identify its toxic levels. Interestingly, epidemiological studies, involving 3,667 participants, demonstrated a dose–response relationship between oral intake of vitamin D (as cholecalciferol) and corresponding endogenous concentrations of calcidiol (Garland et.al., 2011). The increases in circulatory calcidiol levels were found were associated with decreases in its absorbtion, hence, it was suggested that doses the amount of 40000 IU were not toxic (Garland et.al., 2011). Moreover, safe serum calcidiol concentrations within the range of 75–220 nM have been reported and with suggestions that plasma calcidiol concentration must rise above 750 nM to produce toxic effects (Vieth, 1999; Jones, 2008).

In 1977 a study of 39 patients, diagnosed with metabolic bone disease or hypoparathyroidism, were treated with high cholecalciferol doses for 12 weeks. Interestingly, hypercalcaemia due to vitamin D intoxication was associated with levels greater than 1000-1250 nM (Gertner & Domenech, 1977). Patients with plasma calcidiol levels below 250 nM had treatment failure (Gertner & Domenech, 1977). Moreover, in human cultured immortalised keratinocytes (oral epithelial cells line OKF6-TERT2) minor cytotoxicity of calcidiol is noted, while higher calcidiol doses (10000 and 20000 nM) inhibited cellular viability (Wang et.al., 2013). Indeed, high doses of calcidiol inhibit cellular proliferation in vitro. Moreover, significant reduction in cellular proliferation (70 and 50 % respectively) is noted in cultured human immortalised prostate cells with varying concentrations of calcitriol (0.01-10 nM) and calcidiol (1-100 nM) (Munetsuna, 2014). It was determined that concentrations of the intracellularly accumulated calcitriol are approximately 0.01-0.1 nM following treatment with 10-100 nM of calcidiol (Munetsuna, 2014). Interestingly, it was shown that cell derived calcitriol has much lower inhibitory effects on cellular growth and CYP24A1 mRNA expression than calcidiol supplementation. Conversely, vitamin D therapy could represent "danger", as noted in a large scope study, in patients of a large integrated healthcare organisation without prior diagnosis of atrial fibrillation. It was noted that 260 of 130,000 evaluated patients had calcidiol levels in the amount greater than 100 ng/dL and was associated with an increase in atrial fibrillation (Smith et.al., 2011). However, there was no greater risk of incidence of atrial fibrillation at vitamin D concentrations between 21-40 ng/dL; althought there were associations with high prevalence of comorbidities (i.e., hypertension, heart failure, diabetes, and renal failure). Perhaps, vitamin D at high concentrations have health beneficial effects to counteract the pre-existing comorbidities (Smith et.al., 2011). Likewise, latest sudy conducted over 12 years at Rotterdam, Netherlands (with recruitment of 3,395 people) have found no connection between cuirculatory 25(OH)D levels and atrial fibrillation. This study considered D deficiency at circulatory 25(OH)D levels below 50nM, insufficiency between 50nM and 75nM, while serum 25(OH)D concentrations equal to and above 75nM were considered as adequate average (Vitezova et.al., 2015).

Interestingly, the relationship between vitamin D and cardiovascular health, indicates that vitamin D reduces inflammation (specifically, C–reactive protein, CRP) (Amer and Qayyum, 2012). In the study of asymptomatic adults the relation between serum calcidiol and C-reactive protein (CRP) was examined. It was demonstrated independently amongst traditional cardiovascular risk factors, an inverse relation between calcidiol circulatory levels (<21 ng/ml) and CRP. It was also shown that calcidiol at levels >=21 ng/ml was associated with increased serum CRP, suggesting the possible role of vitamin D supplementation to reduce inflammation is beneficial only among those with lower serum calcidiol (Amer and Qayyum, 2012). This is indicative that antiinflamatory vitamin D effects may occur only among patients with a lower serum calcidiol. Further investigations are required to support these observations. Indeed, the existing suggested guidelines are not very clear on what is considered deficient, optimal, therapeutic and excessive vitamin D dose. Accepted recommendations are summarised in Table 1.2.

Circulatory vitamin D levels				
Deficiency dose	Optimal dose	To promote health effects	Toxic	
<30 nM	50-75nM	75-100 nM	> 220 nM	

 Table 1.2 Circulatory vitamin D levels in health and disease conditions

Adapted from Balvers et.al., 2015.

In order to apply the optimal therapeutic dose against skin carcinogenesis, it is important to establish that vitamin D deficiency has an impact on the development of skin cancers leading to decreased risk of development and progression of disease. More defined understanding on vitamin D metabolism warrants further investigations to accurately evaluate vitamin D deficiency, toxicity and optimal dose that is required for sustainability of human health.

## 1.6 Antitumour activity of calcitriol and calcidiol

Results of clinical and epidemiological studies suggest that calcidiol deficiency is associated with increased risk of various cancers (Gröschel, 2016; Shannan et.al., 2007; Leyssens et.al., 2013; Garland et.al., 2009). Increased serum levels of circulating calcidiol are correlated with decreased incidence and aggressiveness of metastasis in prostate, breast, colon and other cancers (Shannan et.al., 2007; Leyssens et.al., 2013). Calcidiol and calcitriol have well-recognised properties that allow it to be used for the prevention and management of various cancers. It has been shown that mice lacking VDR are predisposed to developing skin tumours after chronic ultraviolet (UV) exposure. Such studies suggest that vitamin D production, and subsequent signalling through VDR in the skin, may have evolved in part as a protective mechanism against epidermal cancer formation (Bikle et.al., 2013).

It is clear that vitamin D metabolism is connected to the molecular pathways involved in the development and prevention of skin cancer. Mice with metabolic alterations (in particular, deficiency in VDR) display hyperproliferation in the hair follicle and epidermis, and decreased epidermal differentiation.

Cutaneous vitamin D pathways have been extensively described (Bikle et.al., 2011a; Bikle et.al., 2013; De Haes et.al., 2005; Olds et.al., 2008; Reichrath, 2006; Reichrath, 2010). In UV-exposed epidermis, 7-DHC may impact the amount of cholecalciferol, that is produced (Olds, 2008). It was shown that 7-DHC undergoes transformation to pre-vitamin D under the influence of solar irradiation. The first step of this process requires UVB (290-315 nm) induced formation of pre-vitamin D, via opening the electrocyclic ring between carbon 9 and 10. Once pre-vitamin D is formed, it begins to thermally isomerise to cholecalciferol (Tian & Holick, 1995). The thermal formation of cholecalciferol from pre-vitamin D is an intramolecular reversible process, and due to this reason cholecalciferol and its precursor, pre-vitamin D, always interconvert. This contrasts markedly with all other known steroids (Tian & Holick, 1995). The formation of active hormone calcitriol is required transformation of pre-vitamin D to cholecalciferol, following by formation of calcidiol and via renal CYP27B hydroxylation synthesis of calcitriol, that is known to have an influence on many genes, hence influence cellular growth and development.

Decreases in serum calcitriol concentration is reported to have an association with carcinogenesis, in particular breast cancer progression (de Lyra et.al., 2006). There is evidence that calcitriol plays a protective role against solar exposure and provides genetic stability to exposed epidermal cells (Reichrath, 2006; Trémezaygues et.al., 2010; Tang et.al., 2012; Bikle et.al., 2013). Calcidiol and calcitriol signalling pathways contribute to prevention of skin cancer

formation by regulating keratinocyte proliferation and differentiation, and promoting DNA recovery and repair following solar exposure-mediated damage (Chatterjee, 2001; Bikle, 2004; Dowd et.al., 2005; Bikle et.al., 2013; Carlberg & Campbell, 2013). While calcitriol and calcidiol trigger various effects in normal and neoplastic cell signalling, it is clearly involved in the regulation of cellular fate. Table 1.3 shows the effects of vitamin D in normal and neoplastic cutaneous cells.

Compound	Applied dose	Human cell type	Effects	References
calcidiol	10 <sup>-5</sup> –10 <sup>-7</sup> M	Normal fibroblasts	Stimulates cell growth	(Gruber & Anuszewska, 2002)
calcitriol	10 <sup>-5</sup> –10 <sup>-7</sup> M	Normal fibroblasts	Stimulates cell growth	(Gruber & Anuszewska, 2002)
calcitriol	10 <sup>-6</sup> -10 <sup>-10</sup> M	Normal fibroblasts	Inhibits cell growth in dose dependent manner	(Clemens et.al., 1982)
calcidiol	$10^{-7} \mathrm{M}$	Immortalised facial sebocytes	Moderate suppression of cell proliferation	(Krämer et.al., 2009)
calcitriol	10 <sup>-7</sup> -10 <sup>-9</sup> M	Immortalised human facial sebocytes	Dose-dependent and significant stimulation of cell proliferation	(Krämer et.al., 2009)
calcitriol	$10^{-6} - 10^{-9} \mathrm{M}$	Tongue cancer cell line (SCC-25)	Inhibits cell growth	(Chiang et.al., 2013)
calcitriol	10 <sup>-7</sup> M	Cutaneous squamous cell carcinoma cells (SCL-1)	Inhibits cell growth and proliferation	(Reichrath et.al., 2010)
calcitriol	10 <sup>-7</sup> M	Spontaneously immortalised ('normal') human keratinocytes (HaCaT)	Mild suppression of cell proliferation	(Reichrath et.al., 2010)
calcitriol	10 <sup>-8</sup> - 10 <sup>-7</sup> M	Spontaneously immortalised ('normal') human keratinocytes (HaCat)	Stimulation of cell growth was noted at dose 10 <sup>-8</sup> M, while inhibition were required 10 <sup>-7</sup> M	(Hill et.al., 2015)
calcitriol	10 <sup>-7</sup> M	Human melanoma cell lines	Inhibits cell proliferation	(Reichrath et.al., 2004)
calcitriol	10 <sup>-6</sup> -10 <sup>-8</sup> M	Primary epidermal keratinocytes	Inhibits cell proliferation	(Koizumi et.al., 1997)

Table 1.3. Effect of vitamin D metabolites on cutaneous cell proliferation, migration and growth.

calcitriol	10 <sup>-8</sup> -10 <sup>-10</sup> M	Primary epidermal	Inhibits	cell	(Smith	et.al.,
		keratinocytes	density	and	1986)	
			influences			
			keratinocytes			
			differentiation	I		

Both vitamin D metbolites have been shown to affect to some degree epidermal and dermal cells. Interestingly, most studies used a high dose of these compounds to achieve the observed effects on cutaneous cells.

## 1.6.1 Vitamin D effects on tumour microenvironment, angiogenesis and metastasis

Keratinocytes are the predominant cell type in the epidermis. They play a central and unique role in cutaneous vitamin D metabolism. Epidermal health largely relies on cutaneous vitamin D status (intracellulat production of both, calcidiol and calcitriol) and regulatory growth factors that control cellular proliferation, differentiation and death. The molecular interactions that occur between epithelial and stromal cells to drive tumour growth and 'invasive' behaviour illustrate the roles of vitamin D metabolites (calcidiol and calcitriol) as anticancer agents (Fleet, 2008; Geng et.al., 2011).

Calcidiol plays a regulatory role in prostatic tumour stromal development (Lou et.al., 2003). This occurs via regulation of cellular migration, proliferation and extracellular matrix (ECM) degradation (You et.al., 2003; Lippens et.al., 2004; Pampalakis & Sotiropoulou, 2007; Puccinelli et.al., 2010). Calcitriol inhibits proteolytic degradation of the surrounding stroma, inhibiting the mobility of mutated cells and their adhesion to the ECM (Bachelor & Bowden, 2004). Tumour stroma formation is also driven by the differentiation of fibroblasts into endothelial cells (Kon & Fujiwara, 1994). Fibroblasts play a role to play in angiogenesis (the formation of new blood vessels from pre-existing vessels) by being able to act as endothelial cell precursors in newly formed blood vessels (Kon & Fujiwara, 1994). The new blood vessels deliver vital nutrients for tumour growth and development and create pathways from local to systemic circulations.

The progression of mutated lesions into BCC or SCC largely relies on structural and vascular support for tumour growth that leads to overall tissue rearrangement. Some NMSCs, such as BCCs, rarely metastasise due to limitations in neovascularisation that are imposed by the local stroma (Reichrath et.al., 1999; Nguyen, 2004; Sidoroff & Thaler, 2010). The angiogenic mechanism is tightly regulated by cellular signals that can be inhibited by calcitriol (Ben-Shoshan et.al., 2007). The angiogenic switch is crucial for cutaneous tumour metastasis.

Studies have shown that calcitriol inhibits tumour angiogenesis and prevents metastasis. Calcitriol acts on freshly sprouting and immature blood vessels by inhibiting the production of angiogenic factors and disrupting the ECM (Fratzl-Zelman et.al., 2003; Boyan et.al., 2007; Pampalakis & Sotiropoulou, 2007). Calcitriol has the ability to interrupt stromal signals in the skin tumour microenvironment, and hence can influence the development of cutaneous cancers. The regulatory activity of calcitriol may have an inhibitory effect on the tumour microenvironment and certain growth factors (Smola et.al., 1993; Gabison et.al., 2009).

VEGF receptor (VEGFR) and epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) both have a synergistic effect on neoplastic cells (Smola et.al., 1993; Ben-Shoshan et.al., 2007; Lichtenberger et.al., 2009; Mackenzie et.al., 2011). Calcitriol has been shown to inhibit EGFR expression through VDR in vitro using human ovarian cancer cells (Shen et.al., 2011). It was also demonstrated that calcitriol treatment triggers growth arrest of hyperplastic thyroid cells by suppressing EGFR growth-promoting signals (Dusso et.al., 2004). Crosstalk may occur between these pathways, where VDREs in VEGFR and EGFR promoters inhibit the expression of these genes, thereby suppressing tumour growth and development (Lichtenberger et.al., 2009).

# 1.6.2 Vitamin D effects on ErbB receptor tyrosine kinases

The EGFR is a 170 kDa transmembrane glycoprotein with intrinsic tyrosine kinase activity. The receptor tyrosine kinase is activated by binding with EGF, transforming growth factor- $\alpha$  (TGF- $\alpha$ ) and several other ligands. Upon ligand binding, EGFR undergoes autophosphorylation and initiates multiple intracellular signalling pathways, leading to induction of cellular growth.

The EGFR family has four members: EGFR (or ErbB1), ErbB2, ErbB3 and ErbB4 (Bondzi & Allison, 2013). The four receptor tyrosine kinases are widely expressed in epithelial, mesenchymal and neuronal tissues, and play critical roles during development and growth (Roskoski, 2014). EGFR is involved in a variety of intracellular signalling cascades and has been shown to have regulatory functions in many human cancer cells (Akca et.al., 2006; Lafky et.al., 2008; Runkle et.al., 2012; Bondzi & Allison, 2013). The actions of the ErbB receptors are complex and most of their functions are related to a large family of ligands, EGF-related peptides. By binding the extracellular domain of the receptors, EGF-related peptides form heterodimers with other cell cycle regulatory proteins, which affect cell growth and division (Puccinelli et.al., 2010; Zheng et.al., 1993).

The ErbB receptors consist of a glycosylated extracellular domain, a single hydrophobic transmembrane segment and an intracellular protein tyrosine kinase domain (Roskoski, 2014). Seven ligands bind to EGFR, including EGF and TGF- $\alpha$ , whereas none of these ligands bind to ErbB2, two ligands bind to ErbB3 and all seven ligands bind to ErbB4 (Roskoski, 2014).

*EGFR* is a target gene of calcitriol, with its expression suppressed in some human cancers. Calcitriol is able to inhibit *EGFR* mRNA and protein expression as well as EGFR function (Shen et.al., 2011). Mitogens such as EGF are known to exert their effects on cell growth by regulating cell cycle progression through the G1/S checkpoint. Calcitriol was shown to impair EGF-induced EGFR nuclear translocation (Cordero et.al., 2002). Vitamin D interacts with activation of the RAS–RAF–mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway to modulate transcription factor activation and cell mitogenesis (Luangdilok et.al., 2011). Cutaneous tumours are known to exhibit elevated expression of tumour-promoting proteins such as EGF and its receptor (EGFR).

EGFR is the most intensively studied and well-understood driver of cell proliferation. However, the mechanism of calcitriol and calcidiol regulation of EGFR – a protein that boosts the development of skin cancer and an important target for cancer therapy – is not completely understood. EGFR is an essential protein promoting cell growth and division while simultaneously inhibiting cell differentiation (Puccinelli et.al., 2010; Runkle et.al., 2012).

Calcitriol is a potent modulator of EGF–EGFR activity in primary and malignant keratinocytes, to regulate cell growth, division and differentiation (Segaert et.al., 2000; Cordero et.al., 2002; De Haes et.al., 2005). Calcitriol is known to inhibit the expression of EGFR (Zheng et.al., 1993; Dusso et.al., 2004; Shen et.al., 2011). Furthermore, cancer cell survival is fundamentally depending on cell growth; EGFR activation in neoplastic keratinocytes could represent cellular effort to promote survival in the face of the apoptotic vitamin D stimulus (Zheng et.al., 1993; Segaert et.al., 2000; Cordero et.al., 2002).

It is well established that EGFR signalling regulates the proliferative phases of the epidermis, ensuring constant self-renewal whilst controlling differentiation (Fraguas et.al., 2011). Abrogation of ErbB signalling in malignant keratinocytes induced hyperproliferation and uncontrolled cell division (Runkle et.al., 2012). The effect of vitamin D on malignant keratinocyte function involves the activation of multiple pathways that promote differentiation and apoptosis.

Activated EGFR undergoes a transition from an inactive monomeric form to an active homodimer. In addition to forming homodimers, EGFR may pair with other members of the ErbB receptor family, such as ErbB2 (also known as HER2), to create an activated heterodimer (Fraguas et.al., 2011; Mehra et.al., 2011; Roskoski, 2014). EGFR dimerisation stimulates its intrinsic intracellular tyrosine kinase activity, resulting in autophosphorylation of several tyrosine (Y) residues in the carboxyl-terminal domain of EGFR. This autophosphorylation causes downstream activation and initiates several signal transduction cascades, principally the MAPK and associated AKT and JNK pathways, leading to DNA synthesis and cell proliferation (Luangdilok et.al., 2011; Uribe & Gonzalez, 2011). These proteins are known to be major regulators of cell migration, adhesion and proliferation.

The role of calcidiol and calcitriol on the expression of EGF and EGFR in NMSCs requires a deeper understanding as it may contribute to NMSC prevention and treatment.

### 1.6.3 Vitamin D effects on fibroblast growth factor receptor 3 (FGFR3)

Members of the fibroblast growth factor (FGF) family possess broad mitogenic and cell survival activities. They are involved in a variety of biological processes, including embryonic development, cell growth, morphogenesis and tissue repair, as well as tumour growth and invasion. The *FGF*-encoding gene was identified as a proto-oncogene, activated in virally induced mammary tumours in the mouse. Frequent overexpression of this gene has been observed in a variety of human cancers, suggesting that it may be important for neoplastic transformation and tumour progression.

Currently, 22 FGF family members have been identified. FGF3, also known as int-2, is a proto-oncogene that has homology with angiogenesis-promoting FGF, and it plays an important role in various cancer types (Mansour et.al., 1993; Copigny et.al., 1995; Schuuring, 1995; Chaffer et.al., 2007; Hu et.al., 2007; Weisinger et.al., 2010). The *FGF3* gene was identified as a proto-oncogene activated in virally induced mammary tumours in the mouse (Antoine et.al., 2005). Overexpression of this gene is noted in human cancers, which may be important for cutaneous neoplastic transformation and tumour progression (Copigny et.al., 1995; Javle et.al., 2014). The evidence suggests that this proto-oncogene may also play a role in human breast and lung cancers (Copigny et.al., 1995; Arao et.al., 2013).

FGFs signal through four high-affinity transmembrane protein tyrosine kinases, FGF receptors 1–4 (FGFR1–4). FGFR binding to its ligands results in receptor dimerisation and autophosphorylation of the intracellular region, resulting in receptor activation. Genetic alterations of FGFR3 were detected in human cancers such as multiple myeloma and urothelial carcinoma, breast and skin cancers (Oers 2002). These mutations occur somatically and drive the tumourigenetic process of the mutant cells. FGFR3 mutations have been identified in keratinocytes origination from seborrheic keratosis, epidermal nevus and solar lentigo, which are all benign skin lesions (Hafner & Hartmann, 2010).

FGF3 and its receptor may play a role in skin cancers; however, this needs to be further investigated. The functional effects of FGFR3 signalling in keratinocytes that lead to benign skin tumours seem to progress from hyperplasia to low-grade non-invasive superficial tumours. In low-grade skin tumours, FGFR signalling has been recognised by activation of the receptor tyrosine kinase–RAS pathway (Weisinger et.al., 2010). The best-characterised signalling pathway downstream of FGFR is the MAPK pathway (Weisinger et.al., 2010). It has been reported that

FGFR3 is linked to activation of MAPK signalling in conferring resistance to the melanoma suppressing agent, vemurafenib (PLX4032), in melanoma cells (Yadav et.al., 2012). The level of expression of FGF3 and FGFR in NMSCs could be associated with tumour aggressiveness and metastatic potential. It is not clear whether vitamin D metabolites (both, calcidiol and calcitriol) have any influence on FGF3/FGFR3 signalling. However, it has been noted that calcitriol modulates the MAPK pathway and causes cell cycle arrest, inhibits proliferation and triggers cell death. The metabolic pathways of calcidiol and calcitriol and its involvement in the regulation of FGF3 and FGFR3 in cutaneous carcinogenesis warrants further examination. The crosstalk of vitamin D and FGF3/FGFR3 pathway may have inhibitory effects on tumour progression and metastatic spread.

### **1.6.4 Vitamin D effects on vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF)**

Angiogenesis is tightly regulated by cellular signals that can be inhibited by calcitriol (Ben-Shoshan et.al., 2007). The angiogenic switch is crucial for cutaneous tumour metastasis. Studies have shown that calcitriol inhibits tumour angiogenesis and prevents metastasis, as outlined below.

Calcitriol and calcidiol may have an inhibitory effect on growth factors in the tumour microenvironment of skin cancers (Gabison et.al., 2009; Smola et.al., 1993). For instance, calcitriol suppresses VEGF expression in human colon cancer cells, epidermal keratinocytes and vascular smooth muscle cells by inhibiting its transcriptional activity (Bachelor & Bowden, 2004; Ben-Shoshan et.al., 2007; Cardus et.al., 2009; Micali et.al., 2010).

VEGF overexpression is a hallmark of malignant tumours and has a strong association with angiogenesis and tumour metastasis (Mueller & Fusenig, 2002). Suppression of VEGF signalling causes inhibition of tumour angiogenic capacity and results in a dramatic decrease in malignant tumours (Bachelor & Bowden, 2004; Ben-Shoshan et.al., 2007; Cardus et.al., 2009; Lichtenberger et.al., 2009; Micali et.al., 2010). Moreover, in mice tumour cell-derived VEGF promotes angiogenesis and tumour growth (Lichtenberger et.al., 2009). Deletion of epidermis-specific VEGF in mice results in inhibition of tumourigenesis and impairment of cell proliferation (Lichtenberger et.al., 2009). These stromal–epithelial interactions play an important role in the development, proliferation and metastasis of skin tumours, as well as driving tumour neovascularisation (Lou et.al., 2003; Micke & Ostman, 2004; Koivisto et.al., 2006; Ramirez, et.al., 2009; Bremnes et.al., 2011). Studies have shown that malignant cutaneous keratinocytes undergo accelerated epidermal cell turnover, where VEGF protein overexpression is a major source of pro-angiogenic cytokines (Mackenzie et.al., 2011).

VEGFR and EGFR have a synergistic effect on neoplastic cells (Smola et.al., 1993; Ben-Shoshan et.al., 2007; Lichtenberger et.al., 2009; Mackenzie et.al., 2011). The inhibitory effect of calcitriol on EGFR expression via VDR was shown in human ovarian cancer cells (Shen et.al., 2011). In addition, vitamin D treatment triggers growth arrest of hyperplastic thyroid cells by suppressing EGFR growth-promoting signals (Dusso et.al., 2004). Crosstalk can occur between the three pathways, as activation of VDREs in the VEGFR and EGFR promoters can suppress tumour growth and development (Lichtenberger et.al., 2009).

Regulation of angiogenesis is one method used in cancer therapy; therefore, vitamin D regulation of the molecular interactions between epithelial and stromal cells that drive tumour stromal growth and invasive behaviour should be further investigated.

# 1.6.5 Vitamin D and proliferating cell nuclear antigen (PCNA)

Proliferating cell nuclear antigen (PCNA) is involved in DNA replication, playing a role in the cell cycle late G1 and S phases and therefore influencing cellular proliferation. It is suggested that PCNA is involved in neutralisation of inhibitors of DNA synthesis. PCNA expression has an association with poor survival and advanced stages in cervical cancer and gliomas, hence, representing an interest as a diagnostic biomarker (Lv et.al., 2015). Interestingly, intratumoral PCNA expression is greater in VDR knockout mice compared to wild type mice (Mordan-McCombs et.al., 2010). The inhibitory effects of calcitriol on PCNA expression in mouse mesenchymal multipotent cells has been demonstrated (Artaza et.al., 2010). In contrast, in a human randomised controlled trial there was no effect of calcitriol (0.5 µg/kg) in surgically excised early stage prostate cancer patients (Beer et.al., 2004). However, at high calcitriol doses, there was clear inhibition of VDR expression (Beer et.al., 2004). This suggests that PCNA expression has VDR-dependent regulation. In studies using human squamous carcinoma cell lines, a reduction of PCNA expression was noted in response to vitamin D analog EB1089 (Akutsu et.al., 2001). In contrast, calcitriol is synergystic with 17β-estradiol-induced and has dose dependent effects on PCNA mRNA expression, as well as on proliferation and differentiation of osteoblastic MC3T3-E1 (Song et.al., 2011). The relationship between vitamin D enzymes and receptor and PCNA needs to be assessed in non melanoma skin cancers. The mechanism of potential VDR regulatory actions on PCNA in skin tumours requires further investigations.

# 1.7 The role of vitamin D in NMSC

The high prevalence of NMSC in Australia makes it imperative to focus research on its detection and prevention. Early detection of lesions significantly contributes to minimising morbidity, cost of treatment and mortality. The role of vitamin calcitriol and calcidiol in keratinocyte-derived tumours requires further studies, as the possible role of vitamin D in the prevention of skin cancer could result in a significant improvement in NMSC patient morbidity and mortality.

### 1.7.1 Actinic keratosis

Solar irradiance causes DNA damage and malfunction in apoptotic pathways in cultured human keratinocytes (Assefa et.al., 2005). However, some apoptosis-resistant keratinocytes are able to undergo clonal expansion, which eventually leads to the formation of actinic keratosis (AK). In the past, the management of AK was frequently taken for granted, due to the simplicity and ease of treatment (Torsten & Cockerell, 2005). However, the association of SCC with AK has directed a great degree of focus on this disease. AK is an indicator of cumulative solar exposure, which gives rise to initial photodamaged skin lesions that may progress to invasive cutaneous SCC (Feldman, 2011). At least 20 % of AK will undergo transformation into invasive SCC (Aroni et.al., 2007).

Normal human skin exposed to UV radiation develops apoptotic nuclei in suprabasal keratinocytes and within two days of continued exposure, apoptotic cells are identified in the middle to upper epidermal layers (Norris et.al., 1997). However, most keratinocytes are resistant to UV-induced apoptosis, and apoptosis is not observed in basal cells. Human keratinocytes cultured in full growth factor-supplemented medium are completely resistant to UV-induced apoptosis (Norris et.al., 1997). Conversely, withdrawal of growth factors from keratinocytes rapidly decreases cell survival following irradiation and increases the induction of apoptosis (Norris et.al., 1997). This suggests that AK lesions are dependent on the availability of growth factors, and that formation of AK is subject to the clonal expansion and survival of apoptosis-resistant keratinocytes. In support of these findings, phosphorylation of tyrosine kinase family members has been detected in photodamaged skin, as well as mutations in EGFRs, with consequent activation of RAS and RAF that results in expedited proliferation, leading to AK (Zheng et.al., 1993; Ratushny et.al., 2012).

Detailed examination of AK lesions is required to establish whether the progression of these neoplastic cells to more advanced forms of skin cancer is due to epidermal–dermal pathway interactions. Also, it has yet to be determined whether apoptotic resistance occurs only due to epidermal signalling or whether the signals for further alteration of neoplastic cells derives from epidermal–dermal cell crosstalk.

Apoptotic resistance in cultured keratinocytes is dependent on the presence of growth factors. Keratinocyte defences against apoptosis within the epidermis are altered when growth factors are withdrawn or when cells undergo differentiation (Norris et.al., 1997). AK lesions prior

to transformation to SCC have a high component of inflammatory cells (Stockfleth & Kerl, 2006). The inflammatory processes in AK lesions are associated with increases in T lymphocytes (Berman & Cockerell, 2013). Vitamin D is recognised as an important immunomodulatory agent (Peelen et.al., 2011). It is not surprising that vitamin D metabolic enzymes and VDR are found to be broadly expressed in cells of the immune system (Gottfried et.al., 2006; Peelen et.al., 2011). Further research will shed light on the biological and protective roles of immune cells in various forms of skin neoplasms. It is also crucial to establish if the prevalence of AK and the predisposition to sunburn are vitamin D-dependent.

# 1.7.2 Basal cell carcinoma

Cancer of the skin is the most common cancer in Caucasians and BCCs account for 90 % of all skin cancers. The vast majority of BCC cases are sporadic, although there is a rare familial syndrome, basal cell nevus syndrome (or Gorlin syndrome), which predisposes to development of BCC (Greenlee & Joshi, 2004). In addition, there is strong epidemiological and genetic evidence that UV exposure is a risk factor of prime importance. The development of BCC is associated with constitutive activation of sonic hedgehog (SHH) signalling (Daya-Grosjean & Couve-Privat, 2005). The SHH signalling pathway is highly conserved in vertebrates and invertebrates. Mutations in the SHH pathway proteins smoothened (SMO), patched 1 (PTCH1) and SHH in BCCs result in continuous activation of target genes (Teichert et.al., 2011). At a cellular level, SHH signalling promotes cell proliferation. VDR plays an essential role in activation of the SHH pathway (Teichert et.al., 2011). Mutations in TP53 are also found with high frequency (> 50%) in sporadic BCC (Kim et.al., 2002).

The mutated clones of cells that survive apoptosis and progress further as AKs often convert to cutaneous tumours in the form of BCC. The name of this disease is purportedly derived from its perceived origin: the cells found in the basal areas of the epidermis and epidermal appendages, such as hair follicles and sebaceous glands (Carr et.al., 2007; Sidoroff & Thaler, 2010). While BCC is rarely a life-threatening disease, deeply invasive, infiltrative or morphea subtypes can progress to malignancy via the lymphatic system or the circulation (Seo et.al., 2011). Less than 300 cases of metastatic BCC have been reported worldwide (von Domarus & Stevens, 1984; Sidoroff & Thaler, 2010). The risk factors for the development of aggressive metastatic BCC include extensive tumour size (> 2 cm), long-standing duration, histological composition and patient's unresponsiveness to treatment (Sidoroff & Thaler, 2010). Other factors may also influence the progression from AK to BCC.

### 1.7.3 Squamous cell carcinoma

SCC arises in the squamous cells in the epidermis, and is predominantly caused by cumulative UV exposure. SCC can occur on all areas of the body, but it is most common in areas frequently exposed to the sun. SCC is typically characterised by overexpression of the tumour suppressor gene p53 (*TP53*), which is believed to be the most frequently mutated gene in human oncological conditions. p53 negatively regulates the cell cycle by causing cell cycle arrest at the G1 phase (Nijhof et.al., 2007). p53 protein accumulation is common in sun-exposed cutaneous SCC, thus it is hypothesised that the nature of the mutagenic environment in which SCC develops directly affects the incidence of immunohistochemically-detectable p53-positive cells (Coulter et.al., 1995).

In UV-induced initiation and progression of SCC, the following events take place: DNA damage is induced by solar irradiance; aberrant molecular signalling ensues, culminating in apoptotic cell death. Damaged DNA fragments that fail to repair are passed on to progeny cells, and if there is mutation of the *TP53* gene, this leads to apoptotic resistance. *p53* mutations are common in SCC and are almost always associated with tumour aggressiveness. The inhibition of *p53* function in the epidermis leads to the spontaneous development of SCCs (Chanchal et.al., 2010; Seraj et.al., 2011).

UV light triggers the inhibition of nuclear factor kappa B (NF-κB) (Bharti & Aggarwal, 2002; Vicentini et.al., 2011; Gonzalez-Pardo et.al., 2012; Hwang et.al., 2012). The NF-κB family consists of transcription factors that play an important regulatory role in inflammation (Caicedo-Granados et.al., 2012). It has been reported that nuclear activity of NF-κB is inhibited by the inhibitor of NF-κB  $\alpha$  (IκB $\alpha$ ). IκB $\alpha$  binds to NF-κB and blocks its signalling (Wu et.al., 2010). Interestingly, VDR interacts directly with NF-κB in human osteoblasts and mouse embryonic fibroblasts (Wu et.al., 2010). In human airway smooth muscle cells treated with calcitriol, IκB $\alpha$ 1 inhibits NF-κB and thereby cell proliferation (Song et.al., 2013b). Calcitriol also increased the IκB $\alpha$ 1-mediated down-regulation of NF-κB in endothelial cells (Gonzalez-Pardo et.al., 2012).

The addition of vitamin D (particularly calcitriol) to cultured SCC cells inhibits proliferation, induces apoptosis and cell cycle arrest, and down-regulates several angiogenic and apoptotic factors (p21, p53, Bax, survivin, VEGF and basic fibroblast growth factor) (Satake et.al., 2003). A study that tested the efficacy of vitamin D in patients diagnosed with head and neck SCC demonstrated that patients treated with calcitriol had a longer time-to-tumour recurrence compared to those who were not treated before surgery (Walsh et.al., 2010). In addition, clinical study found that the circulatory calcidiol plays a role in pathogenesis and progression of SCC (Gugatschka

et.al., 2011). Disease-free survival and overall survival times were strongly associated with serum calcidiol levels (Gugatschka et.al., 2011). Thus, the incidence and further progression of SCC, as well as mortality, seem to be dependent on calcidiol status.

# 1.7.4 Squamous cell carcinoma in situ

AK is usually a precursor for SCC in situ (SCCIS), and invasive SCC (Zalaudek et.al., 2012). From a histopathological standpoint, AK, SCCIS and SCC are indistinguishable in the epidermal layer. These tumours consist of atypical keratinocytes with nuclear pleomorphism, poor differentiation and a high mitotic index (Stockfleth & Kerl, 2006). SCCIS typically is a slow-growing, scaly plaque, while invasive SCC is a fast-growing, tender, indurated papule or nodule, where differentiation of early lesions from AK on clinical grounds alone can be difficult (Stockfleth & Kerl, 2006). SCCIS, also known as intra-epidermal carcinoma or Bowen's disease, is a cutaneous malignancy found in the most commonly sun-exposed areas of the skin (such as head, neck, and extremities) (Veness 2006). The risk factors for Bowen's disease include fair skin, long-term sun damage, radiation exposure, immunocompromised status and human papillomavirus infection.

SCCIS is characterised by hyperkeratotic lesions confined to the epidermis, with abnormal keratinocytes replacing the full thickness of the epidermis (Böer-Auer et.al., 2012). The severe dysplasia, with the loss of structural organisation and stratification, occurs through epidermal layers without invasion to the dermis. A lack of large-scale dermatological clinical trials places limitations in finding the cause and hence, cure, for numerous dermatopathological conditions, including skin-based neoplasms.

While it is not clear whether calcidiol and calcitriol are involved in cutaneous neoplasm formation and progression, all roads appear to lead to VDR regulation of gene expression via the MAPK pathway, which is a potential target of calcidiol and calcitriol.

## **1.8 Vitamin D regulation of signalling pathways**

# 1.8.1 Vitamin D regulation of the MAPK cascade

MAPK activation is achieved through multistep kinase cascades, which include a MAPK kinase (MAPKK or MEK) and a MAPKK kinase/MEK kinase (MAPKKK/MEKK). These cascades modulate numerous transcription factors and cellular regulatory proteins, thus allowing extracellular signals to influence the expression of tumour regulatory genes. Biochemical and genetic analyses have revealed that VDR is an important factor in the regulation of the activities of MAPKs. The existing studies do not completely elucidate the complex mechanism of VDR regulation of the MAPK pathway. However, some of these interactions may involve the

calcitriol/VDR (or calcidiol/VDR) complex rapid response activation of the MAPK pathway, which results in genomic and non-genomic crosstalk regulating tumour behaviour (Pardo et.al., 2006; Rosso et.al., 2012; Tse et.al., 2007b). For example, the antiproliferative effect of calcitriol treatment on osteosarcoma cells suggested the involvement of MAPK/AP-1/p21<sup>waf1</sup> pathways via non-genomic VDR-dependent regulation (Wu et.al., 2007). In malignant keratinocytes, both endogenous and exogenous EGFR activation was found to induce VEGF expression, which led to activation of the MAPK signalling pathway (Luangdilok et.al., 2011).

# 1.8.2 The role of vitamin D in other signalling pathways

VDRE and VDR binding sites are responsible for the control of vitamin D target gene expression, whereas many other sites could be temporary anchorage places for unligated/inactivate VDR. From the classical point of view, VDR binds DNA as a heterodimer with a retinoid X receptor (RXR- $\alpha$ , - $\beta$ , or - $\gamma$ ) and upon ligand binding, changes the transcriptional fate of neighbouring genes (Figure 1.6). Calcitriol alters the expression of many genes that do not contain *VDREs* (Larriba et.al., 2014). In addition, calcitriol can also regulate genes via changes in protein stability or modifications in the phosphorylation process (Lin et.al., 2003; Li et.al., 2004).

Calcitriol activity modulates signalling pathways triggered by other agents at the plasma membrane. Several studies have reported regulatory actions of calcitriol on growth factors and cytokines by altering their intracellular signalling pathways. Wnt signalling pathways play crucial roles during development and are also critical for many tumourigenic processes. There are two main Wnt signalling pathways: the canonical or Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin pathway, and the non-canonical or  $\beta$ -catenin–independent pathways (Clevers and Nusse, 2012).

Several studies have reported that calcitriol antagonises Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signalling in colon cancer cells by reducing  $\beta$ -catenin transcriptional activity and the induction of its relocation from the nucleus to the plasma membrane (Bernard et.al., 2009; González-Sancho et.al., 2011, Larriba et.al., 2011). The activation of  $\beta$ -catenin target genes is attenuated by calcitriol, which indicates the importance of vitamin D in the regulation of  $\beta$ -catenin, a hallmark of malignant cancers. It was shown that calcitriol inhibits  $\beta$ -catenin/TCF transcriptional activity in colon and other cancer cells (Luderer et.al., 2011). The up-regulation of the Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin pathway by unligated VDR has been described in keratinocytes, where ligand-activated VDR, in contrast to unligated VDR, associated with inhibitory actions on the cellular fate. It was shown that liganded VDR promotes cell differentiation (Shah et.al., 2006; Jiang et.al., 2013; Bikle, 2004). However, further studies are required, as there are some controversial points: whilst VDR enhanced Wnt signalling through direct binding to lymphocyte enhancer-binding factor (LEF) independently of ligand and  $\beta$ -catenin

(Luderer et.al., 2011), ligand-activated VDR is believed to inhibit Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signalling (Bikle et.al., 2011a; Jiang et.al., 2013; Larriba et.al, 2013). Interestingly, it has been shown that high levels of  $\beta$ -catenin can potentiate calcitriol transcriptional activity via interactions of activator function (AF-2) domain of the VDR and C terminus of  $\beta$ -catenin (Shah et.al., 2006). The ability of calcitriol to inhibit  $\beta$ -catenin is largely dependent on AF-2 domain and not dependent on a specific promoter (Shah et.al., 2006).

Vitamin D also has inhibitory effects on proliferation and the Sonic Hedgehog (SHH) pathway through inactivation of the Smoothened (SMO) receptor in cultured mouse pancreatic adenocarcinoma cells, but failed to exert its anti-carcinogenic functions in vivo (Brüggemann et.al., 2010).

Vitamin D metabolites may involve in intracellular signalling important for cutaneous tumours growth, mechanism of which is shown in Figure 1.6.



### Figure 1.6. Vitamin D regulation of intracellular signalling.

A simplified diagram of molecular signalling in UV-exposed keratinocytes. Vitamin D (calcitriol, and possibly, calcidiol) has an inhibitory effect on the SHH, HR and Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signalling pathways. Genetically altered Sonic Hedgehog (SHH) protein binding to its receptor Patched1 (PTCH) triggers Smoothened (SMO) protein signalling, which results in GLI transcriptional mediation and the activation of downstream modulators associated with cell proliferation (*p53, PTCH1, NF-\kappa B*). HR protein repression of VDR activity results in transcriptional activation of genes (*c-jun, c-fos, c-myc*). Wnt binding to its transmembrane receptors (Frizzleds) transmits signalling through a cytoplasmic protein network to cytoplasmic and nuclear  $\beta$ -catenin. Activated VDR prevents  $\beta$ -catenin transcriptional regulation of oncogenes and inhibits proliferation.

Mice with metabolic alterations (in particular, VDR deficiency) display hyperproliferation in the hair follicle and epidermis and decreased epidermal differentiation (Teichert et.al., 2011). In addition, VDR-deficient mice have an increased expression of oncogenes that promote cutaneous tumour development (Teichert et.al., 2011). Several genes that modulate cutaneous malignancies such as BCC and AK were found to be up-regulated in skin cancers, including *SHH*, tumour suppressor protein *PTCH*, transmembrane signalling protein *SMO* and its transcriptional modulator *GLI1*, which regulates *SHH* signalling from the cytoplasm to nucleus (Ohki et.al., 2004; Teichert et.al., 2011). VDR plays an essential role in activation of the SHH pathway in mouse keratinocytes, predisposing the skin to the development of both malignant and benign epidermal neoplasms (Teichert et.al., 2011).

The most common mutation in skin tumours occurs in the Patched (*PTCH*) gene, one of the downstream mediators belonging to the SHH pathway (Daya-Grosjean & Couve-Privat, 2005; Kim et.al., 2002). Binding of SHH to PTCH triggers release of SMO. Genetic alterations in the *PTCH* and *SMO* genes cause activation of the SHH signalling pathway, which influences the genes that control the cell cycle and differentiation (Teichert et.al., 2011). It has been demonstrated in animal models and in humans that calcitriol can inhibit the SHH signalling pathway by binding to SMO (Yu et.al, 2011; Banerjee et.al, 2012).

In keratinocytes of VDR-deficient mice, overexpression of the SHH gene was noted. VDR expression in wild-type mice was detected in the outer root sheath, sebaceous glands and basal layer of the interfollicular epidermis, corresponding to the location of BCCs. VDR deficiency causes a significant hyperproliferative response in keratinocytes and decreased epidermal differentiation (Teichert et.al., 2011). This study also indicated that the increased susceptibility of the epidermis to malignant transformation in VDR-deficient mice is due to a loss of calcitriol and/or VDR regulation of SHH signalling (Teichert et.al., 2011).

Vitamin D metabolic hydroxylases belong to the mitochondrial and microsomal CYP450 family (Guzey et.al., 2002). It was shown that mitochondrial CYP27B1 (encoded by the gene *CYP27B1*) expression correlated with skin tumour phenotype and behaviour, and prognosis in melanoma patients (Brożyna et.al., 2013). Furthermore, calcitriol stimulate cytochrome c release in various cancer models in animals and humans (Narvaez & Welsh, 2001; Guzey et.al., 2002). Released into the cytosol from the mitochondrial intermembrane space during apoptosis, cytochrome c binds and activates *Apaf1*, forming the apoptosome complex responsible for activating pro-caspase-9. This triggers a cascade of proteolytic events, culminating in the activation of caspase-3 and full-blown apoptosis (Guzey et.al., 2002; Robertson et.al., 2012).

In studies of dermal alteration, efforts have generally been focused on dermal fibroblasts. There are limited studies demonstrating the contribution of epidermis and keratinocytes to dermal alteration (Baba et.al., 2005). Fibroblasts are the major component of the dermis, significantly contributing to skin cancer development. The progression of skin carcinogenesis is largely dependent on the epidermal-dermal relationship, as was demonstrated in a number of studies (summarised in Figure 1.8). UV light exposure causes an alteration in the dermal matrix and is a major causative agent for genetic alterations in the skin (Obayashi et.al., 2008). Matrix metalloproteinase-1 (MMP-1) plays a central role in epidermal health and its activity as a collagenolytic enzyme in the dermis is up-regulated upon UV exposure. Fibroblasts cultured in conditioned medium from UVB-irradiated cultured keratinocytes had increased MMP-1 mRNA levels. Moreover, when fibroblast cultures were irradiated, increased activity of MMP-1 was noted (Obayashi et.al., 2008). This study suggested that the signalling pathways associated with aging and carcinogenesis may be initiated from irradiated keratinocytes, causing changes to cells in the deeper layers of the skin. Calcitriol is shown to have a regulatory effect on the expression of MMP-1 and numerous other proteins involved in epidermal homeostasis (Kobayashi et.al., 2005). The molecular crosstalk of the epidermal cells and the mechanism of vitamin D interactions with MMP-1 is shown in figure 1.8.

# 1.9 Vitamin D signalling pathways in skin cancer

Vitamin D (both calcidiol and calcitriol), as determined from in vivo and in vitro studies, is associated with the prevention and treatment of various types of malignancies, such as breast, lung and skin cancers (Narvaez & Welsh, 2001; Tang et.al., 2010; Krishnan et.al., 2013; Zhang et.al., 2013). Indeed, vitamin D has a protective role against cutaneous carcinogenesis (Dixon et.al., 2011; Bikle et.al., 2013; Krishnan et.al., 2013). It is clear that vitamin D metabolism is connected to the molecular pathways in the development and prevention of skin cancer. The effects of both vitamin D metabolites on cutaneous cells is shown in Figure 1.7.



#### Figure 1.7. Proposed role of vitamin D in skin cancer prevention.

UV light induction of photodamage to cutaneous cells depends on the dose and wavelength of the UV. This can lead to DNA damage, inflammatory responses, cell death, skin ageing and oncogenesis. Several studies have demonstrated photoprotective effects, when calcitriol was used topically prior to irradiation. Documented effects of vitamin D metabolites in the skin cells include decreased DNA damage, reduced apoptosis and increased cell survival. Calcidiol may have a protective effect on keratinocytes and dermal tissue. CYP27B1 is down-regulated in the dermis; Calcidiol supplementation will result in local and systemic synthesis of calcitriol, which could consequently result in photoprotection.

7DHC - 7-dehydrocholesterol

(Adapted from Nemazannikova et.al., 2014; Munetsuna et.al., 2014; Gugatschka et.al, 2011)



#### Figure 1.8. Molecular crosstalk between epidermal cells.

UV exposure stimulates endogenous vitamin D synthesis in keratinocytes. The rapid response generated by calcitriol (via nuclear VDR) and calcidiol (via membrane VDR) enhances mitochondrial SOD activity and reduces accumulation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) through mitochondrial CYP450. Numerous CYP450 enzymes (as well as those encoded by the genes CYP27A1 and CYP27B1) enzymes stimulates cytochrome c release, which results in inactivation of *Apaf1* and consequential events culminating in apoptosis. Calcitriol regulation of biological responses occurs via both VDR nuclear and membrane receptors, which signal rapidly through cross-talk of modulatory proteins in the cytosol and the nucleus. Calcitriol, and possibly calcidiol, take part in crosstalk between epidermal keratinocytes and fibroblasts while inhibiting the expression of the UV-induced collagenolytic MMP-1 (matrix metalloproteinase-1).

Epidemiological and laboratory studies suggest that cutaneous carcinogenesis depends on the individual's genetic makeup and their exposure to environmental risk factors (van der Pols et.al., 2013; Bikle et.al.; 2013). Hormones, cytokines, local and systemic immune responses, congenital, genetic as well as environmental factors are predispositions for the development of cutaneous neoplasm (Lee & Miller, 2009). Some individuals have genetic predisposition towards increased risk of skin cancer, while in others an increased risk of ultraviolet exposure causing the mutations accumulation. These factors share some similar elements in initiation and propagation pathways of skin cancer formation with differences in disease progression.

Calcidiol has increasingly been associated with cancer prevention in epidemiological, laboratory, animal and clinical studies. The evidence for calcidiol levels association with prevention of cancer is strongest for colorectal, prostate and breast cancer, but cancers of the skin have a smaller amount of available clinical findings. It is unknown whether calcidiol exerts anticancer effects in its inactivated form, or, perhaps, the conversion to the active secosteroid hormone calcitriol, results in these effects. Whilst calcitriol is known as a global regulator of gene expression and signal transduction in the vast majority of tissues, in cutaneous cells VDR and its ligand contribute to maintenance of the differentiated phenotype and promote pathways that defend cells against endogenous and exogenous stresses – actions that translate to reduced risk for carcinogenic transformation.

Despite the cumulative evidence linking calcidiol to a reduction in cancer development and progression, large randomised studies are required to identify its influence on NMSC. In addition, studies to determine anticancer protective effects of calcidiol levels are still not clear.

The established calcitriol influence on carcinogenesis occurs via regulation of various genes that are involved in differentiation, cell cycling and migration, as presented in Table 1.4.

NMSC is closely linked to abnormalities in epidermal and dermal cell differentiation, and accompanied by aberrations in intercellular communication and apoptosis (Fusenig et.al., 1994; Haug et.al., 1998). The roles of vitamin D pathways in cell differentiation have been demonstrated in animal and human studies for this neoplasia (Christakos et.al. 2003; Lips 2006; Dixon et.al., 2007; Haussler et.al., 2011).

Gene(s) involved	Alteration in gene expression	References	
c-fos/c-jun/c-myc	Calcitriol down-regulates activity of proto-oncogenes, inducing differentiation and antiproliferative effects in keratinocytes in animals and humans	(Sebag et.al., 1992; Chatterjee, 2001; Deeb et.al., 2007)	
Transforming growth factor- beta ( $TGF$ - $\beta$ )	Calcitriol up-regulates expression of $TGF-\beta$ , which suppresses tumour formation in animal models and humans	(Jung et.al., 1999)	
<i>p</i> 21	Increases expression in animal models and humans; involved in cell cycle regulation	(Hager et.al., 2001; Zenmyo et.al., 2001)	
Insulin-like growth factor I ( <i>IGF-I</i> )	Calcitriol and its analogues inhibit <i>IGF-I</i> signalling pathways to promote apoptosis in breast cancer cells	(Xie et.al., 1999)	
Peroxisome proliferator- activated receptor gamma $(PPAR-\gamma)$	Calcitriol up-regulated <i>PPAR-y</i> in in vitro and in vivo models in animals and humans promotes differentiation of malignant cells and/or regression of tumours	(Nicol et.al., 2004; Sertznig et.al., 2010)	
p120	Strong inhibition of protein expression in in vitro models by cholecalciferol and calcitriol leading to disruption of cell adhesion and cellular communication	(Stahl et.al., 1994; Clairmont et.al., 1996; Luegmayr et.al., 2000)	
Nuclear factor kappa B ( <i>NF-κB</i> )	Calcitriol inhibits transcriptional activity of $NF$ - $\kappa B$ in breast cancer cells, resulting in suppression of cell proliferation	(Tse et.al., 2007b)	
B-cell lymphoma-2 (BCL-2)	Calcitriol blocks gene expression in animal models and humans, thereby increasing apoptotic cell death	(Biauer et.al., 2009; Sharan et.al., 2011)	
<i>p53</i>	Calcitriol increases gene expression after irradiation, which may favour DNA repair over apoptosis in human keratinocytes	(Dixon et.al., 2005; Mason et.al., 2010)	
Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF)	Calcitriol regulates <i>VEGF</i> expression in various human cancer cells and its transcriptional activity via <i>VDREs</i>	(Ben-Shoshan et.al., 2007; Cardus et.al., 2009)	

 Table 1.4. Vitamin D regulation of gene expression in cancer.

Epidermal growth factor (EGF)	EGF-treated HaCaT keratinocytes amplified the production of calcitriol when calcidiol was used as a substrate; antiproliferative activity of calcitriol in cultured normal human keratinocytes are greatly enhanced by EGF	(Chen et.al., 1995; Lehmann, 1997)
Epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR)	Calcitriol suppresses EGFR growth signals in rats, resulting in inhibition of parathyroid hyperplasia	(Dusso et.al., 2004)

# 1.10 Clinical studies using vitamin D and its analogues in skin cancer

The pharmaceutical industry has a considerable interest in the development and production of compounds that mimic some of the biological actions of calcitriol that operate via VDR-mediated mechanisms (Carlberg & Campbell, 2013). This has been particularly true of the class of molecules known as low-calcaemic vitamin D analogues, which supposedly have reduced calcaemic actions and enhanced antiproliferative activity. Analogues of calcitriol are known to inhibit the growth of cancer cell lines in vitro and cancer cell growth in vivo. Some vitamin D analogues have inhibitory effects in SCC carcinogenesis. For example, analogue EB1089 treatment causes cell growth arrest, induces cell cycle regulation and expression of DNA damage gene *GADD45a* (Akutsu, 2001). The biochemical structure of this compound is shown in Figure 1.9. In addition, 22-oxa-1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D<sub>3</sub> (22-oxacalcitriol; see Figure 1.9) has antiproliferative effects on malignant epidermal cells (Koike et.al., 1998).

Calcitriol is used clinically in various applications, including treatment of calcium metabolism disorders, renal osteodystrophy and dermatological applications (Hsu, 1997; Goodman, 2002; Ortonne et.al., 2003). However, hypercalcaemic side effects are often associated with the therapeutic applications of vitamin D in the form of calcitriol (Bechtel et.al., 1995). Vitamin D is a highly flexible molecule, allowing the design of multiple analogues to provide similar anticancer effects but with low calcaemic activity. In addition to naturally occurring metabolites, many synthetic vitamin D analogues have been developed. These analogues have included chemical modifications in the A-ring, central CD-ring region or side chain of calcitriol structure calcitriol, to counteract the adverse hypercalcaemic side effect (Leyssens et.al., 2013; Brown & Slatopolsky, 2008).

Some vitamin D analogues are clinically approved in conditions such as osteoporosis or secondary hyperparathyroidism. Yet none of the existing vitamin D analogues are used in

anticancer treatment. The effects of 22-oxa-1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D<sub>3</sub> were demonstrated on basal human keratinocytes (KB), where was found that the KB cell line is deficient in retinoic acid receptor- $\beta$  (RAR- $\beta$ ) (Satake et.al., 2003). It was shown in a different study that binding of *RXR/VDR* heterodimers to a single promoter region can give different transcriptional outcomes, demonstrating the complexity and flexibility of vitamin D–triggerred responses (Jimnez-Lara & Aranda, 1999). The lack of RAR- $\beta$  observed in KB cells could be explained by this flexible VDR response.

Moreover, studies of prostatic stromal and epithelial cells demonstrated that the inhibitory effect of vitamin D metabolites (calcitriol and calcidiol) exerted via RAR- $\alpha$  but not by RAR- $\beta$ . Moreover, this study demonstrated that in combination RAR- $\alpha$  and calcitriol have strong growth suppressive effects (Lou, 2005). In difficult and treatment resistant cancers, vitamin D meabolites have shown to be effective when applied alone or in combination with another therapeutic agent. For example study of human hepatocytes carcinoma cells (HepG2) and (HepG2-*CYP27B1* cells with CYP27B1 knockout) were found to be responsive to calcidiol treatment when treated at concentrations ranging from 0.001 – 10  $\mu$ M. This data suggests that calcidiol could be used as a therapeutic agent in hepatic carcinomas (Chiang et.al., 2015). The development of vitamin analogues with aniproliferative, apoptic and promoting differentiation attributes represents an interest in anticancer research, and some of the analogues are presented in figure 1.9.



**Figure 1.9. Representative vitamin D analogues.** Adapted from Leyssens et.al. (2014) and Brown & Slatopolsky (2008).

22-oxa-1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D<sub>3</sub>, an active hormone analogue, when used at a high concentration, suppressed cell proliferation, and induced apoptosis and cell cycle arrest (Jimnez-Lara & Aranda, 1999). While the analogue was more inhibitory than an equivalent dose of calcitriol on cell growth, these result are not conclusive due to the lack of solvent controls in this study (Jimnez-Lara & Aranda, 1999). However, if adequate controls were applied, the implications of these findings are that vitamin D and its derivatives are useful for preventing and/or treating patients with the most aggressive and highly metastatic type of NMSC, SCC. Moreover, it was shown that vitamin D analogues can be used in human skin inflammatory conditions, such as psoriasis (Lippens et.al., 2004; Reichrath et.al., 1997). Other studies show successful use of vitamin D analogues in other cancer types, such as breast, prostate and parathyroid cancers (Garland et.al., 2007; Leyssens et.al., 2013; Golovko et.al., 2005). For instance, synthetic vitamin D analogue, CB1093, has been shown to control cell proliferation with reduced calcemic effects and high capacity to inhibit leukaemic, breast and prostate cancer cell growth with apparent apoptotic results in cancer cells (Golovko et.al., 2005).

However, despite the development of synthetic vitamin D analogues to overcome hypercalcaemic effects, knowledge of their secondary effects and therapeutic efficacy remains limited. Furthermore, the efficacy of calcidiol has not yet been explored in primary and malignant keratinocytes, despite its tumour-suppressive effect at high physiological concentrations on other cancer cell types. Exploration of VDR regulation of skin cancers may aid in the treatment of difficult forms of cancer, which may prevent tumour progression and spread.

# 1.11 Research aims

# 1.11.1 Knowledge gap

Solar ultraviolet exposure is an essential factor for adequate circulatory vitamin D levels, however excessive solar ultraviolet exposure initiates melanoma and NMSC. There is little information available on the effects of calcidiol on NMSC in relation to its most metastatic and lethal type, SSC.

A large body of evidence exists for the involvement of vitamin D metabolic enzymes and its receptor in the regulation of cancer-induced pathways; however, their role in NMSC is not clear. The role of the principal metabolic vitamin D enzymes and receptors (CYP27A1, CYP27B1, CYP24A1 and VDR) in primary and malignant epidermal cells is also not fully characterised. The effect of calcidiol on regulatory tumour proteins has not been tested in human highly metastatic keratinocytes, despite its tumour suppressive effect in other cancers (Lou et.al., 2003; Grant and Mohr, 2009; Herranz and Hernández, 2015).

The exact role of vitamin D (calcidiol and calcitriol) in skin carcinogenesis is still to be elucidated. This thesis highlights the need for further research into the role of vitamin D in the development and progression of NMSC. It is unknown whether vitamin D metabolites have anticancer benefits in inhibiting tumour progression and thereby, decreasing the risk of malignancy in NMSC. The molecular pathways involved in vitamin D regulation of tumour microenvironment and tumour regulatory proteins, including, epidermal growth factor and its receptor (EGF/EGFR), fibroblast growth factor 3 and its receptor (FGF3/FGFR3) and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) need to be further studied. Clarifying the role of vitamin D in the regulation of cutaneous cancers and its role in the improvement to skin cancer recovery and survival may lead to the development of new drugs to prevent or minimise the occurrence of NMSC. The effects of calcidiol and calcitriol in SSC-4 cell line were investigated.

# 1.11.2 Hypothesis

- 1. Calcidiol inhibits neoplastic cell proliferation and migration, and the activity of tumourigenic proteins EGFR and FGFR3, via VDR-mediated activities.
- 2. The level of expression of vitamin D metabolic enzymes and VDR in neoplastic cells are altered.

# 1.11.3 Overall aims

- 1. To determine whether vitamin D metabolites, calcidiol and calcitriol, have an effect on tumour progression into malignant neoplastic lesions in NMSC.
- 2. In particular: To investigate the relationship between vitamin D metabolic key players (anabolic and catabolic vitamin D hydroxylases: CYP27A1, CYP27B1, CYP24A1 and VDR) and the expression of tumour regulatory proteins EGF/EGFR, FGF3/FGFR3 and VEGF, in healthy and malignant cultured cutaneous cell lines and in human NMSC tissues.

# 1.11.4 Specific aims

- 1. To determine the effects of calcitriol and calcidiol on malignant keratinocyte proliferation and migration, using cultured SCC-4 cells (Chapter 2)
- To determine the effect of calcidiol and calcitriol on the expression of vitamin D hydroxylases (CYP27A1, CYP27B1 and CYP24A1) and VDR, as well as the tumour regulatory proteins EGFR and FGFR3, in cultured primary and malignant epidermal cells (Chapter 3)
- 3. To determine the expression of vitamin D hydroxylases (CYP27A1, CYP27B1 and CYP24A1) and VDR, as well as EGFR, FGFR3 and VEGF, in NMSC human tissue samples (Chapter 4).

# 1.12 Summary

- 1. The elucidation of calcidiol effects on vitamin D hydroxylases and VDR in primary and malignant epidermal cells will add significantly to its role in anti-neoplastic effects in SSC.
- 2. The investigation of vitamin D metabolic enzyme interactions in healthy and malignant cells will provide insights into vitamin D metabolism in pathological conditions. It will also lead to understanding its potential role in the prevention of cutaneous neoplasm and contribute to a better understanding of the development and progression of NMSC.
## **CHAPTER 2.**

# EFFECTS OF CALCIDIOL ON MIGRATION AND PROLIFERATION OF SQUAMOUS CELL CARCINOMA CELLS (SCC-4)

# **2.1 Introduction**

Epidermal neoplastic growth involves dysregulation in the cell cycle and growth of keratinocytes (Afaq et.al., 2005). Epithelial cells in the skin are present in the interfollicular epidermis, in hair follicles and in sebaceous and sweat glands (Smola et.al., 1993). Conditions such as BCC, SCC, SCC in situ and AK involve mutations in keratinocytes; the extent of these mutations are associated with the degree of malignant transformation. Calcitriol and its analogues have antiproliferative properties when cultured with keratinocytes (as shown in Table 1.3, Chapter 1) (Chen et.al., 1995; Jung et.al., 1999; Rossi et.al., 2004; Shannan et.al., 2007; Wu et.al., 2007; Chung et.al., 2009; Geng et.al., 2011). For example, human normal (HPKIA) and malignant keratinocytes (HPKIA-ras cells transfected with a plasmid carrying an activated H-ras oncogene) incubated with calcitriol, shows inhibition of cell growth in a dose-dependent manner (Sebag et.al., 1992). Calcitriol at a dose of 10 nM was inhibitory to HPKIA cells at 72 h, whilst higher concentrations of calcitriol (100 nM) were required to inhibit HPKIA-ras cells (Sebag et.al., 1992). Likewise, the prostate cancer cell line (LNCaP), transfected with an empty vector (LN/C) or transfected with an over-expressing clusterin (protein that protects cells against apoptosis) (LNT-1), the antiproliferative effects of calcitriol was evident at doses of 1000 nM (53 % and 40 % respectively) and 100 nM (36 % and 2 % respectively); lower dose 0.1 nM had no obvious effect in LNT-1 cell proliferation (Shannan et.al., 2007).

Furthermore, inhibition of SCC cell lines (including SCC-4) expressing a functional VDR (Ratnam et.al., 1996), was not apparent at 10 nM calcitriol dose. It was also suggested that SCC cells partially resistant to calcitriol may occur due to an inability of VDR to bind to vitamin D response elements in some genes (Ratnam et.al., 1996). Hence, SCC-4 cell line has a malfunction in the vitamin D pathway regulating cell differentiation and growth (Ratnam et.al., 1996).

Interestingly, the inhibitory effect of calcitriol analogue (EB1089) in the human myeloid leukemia cell line HL-60 was more potent at much lower concentrations of the analogue (0.1 nM) compared to calcitriol 13 nM. The inhibition was dose-dependent only after the addition of TGF- $\beta$ 1 to calcitriol treated HL-60 cells (Jung et.al., 1999). In addition, the vitamin D analogue SM-10193 inhibits growth and differentiation 0.01 nM – 1,000 nM in primary keratinocytes and is more effective than calcitriol (Kobayashi et.al., 1994). Furthermore, calcitriol and its analogues

(EB1089 and CB1093) showed inhibition of insulin growth factor 1 (IGF-1) dependent stimulatory growth of breast cancer cell line (MCF-7) via activation of apoptotic pathways (Xie et.al., 1999).

Increased levels of plasma calcidiol have been reported to have an inverse association with "all cancers risk", including prostate, breast, colon and non-melanoma skin cancers (NMSC) (Lappe et.al., 2007; Grant, 2010; Tang et.al., 2010). Hence, calcidiol may have an inhibitory effect in vivo on malignant cells. However, data is limited on the effects of calcidiol on NMSC as an antitumourigenic agent. Whilst most studies use calcitriol and its analogues, calcidiol represents an interesting metabolite in anticancer research. Importantly, calcidiol status is associated with disease-free survival and overall survival time in patients with head and neck SCC (such as oral cavity, tongue, tonsils, mouth floor, larynx and hypopharynx) (Gugatschka et.al., 2011). In 88 newly diagnosed patients with head and neck SCC higher levels of circulatory calcidiol were associated with disease free survival; with an apparent association between tumour size and disease-free survival (Gugatschka et.al., 2011).

Furthermore, raising blood levels of calcidiol through dietary cholecalciferol uptake enhances local production of calcitriol that exerts inhibitory effects on breast tumours in mice (Krishnan et.al., 2013). Where cholecalciferol (5,000 IU/kg), precursor of calcidiol, given to MMTV-nude mice (MMTV - mouse mammary tumour virus) bearing MCF-7 breast cancer xenografts (in the flanks) resulted in over 50 % tumour size reduction, when fed a standard diet supplemented with 1,000 IU cholecalciferol/kg (Krishnan et.al., 2013). Elevated circulatory calcidiol in these mice had similar tumour suppressive effects as in parallel mice treated intraperitoneally with calcitriol (50 ng/mouse, three times a week). Hence, calcidiol precursor, cholecalciferol, has tumour inhibiting properties in mice (Krishnan et.al., 2013). Whether similar effects can be achieved in skin cancers is not clear.

Interestingly, a clinical study using high-dose (35,000 IU daily for six months) vitamin D therapy in patients with vitiligo and psoriasis showed improved re-pigmentation (25-75 %) and PASI (Psoriasis Area and Severity Index) score (Finamor et.al., 2013). In another nested case– control study involving 5,995 community-residing men, 65 years or older, showed reduced incidence of NMSC and high circulatory calcidiol levels amongst subjects (Tang et.al., 2010).

Since several studies indicate the connection between inhibitory effects of calcidiol on various tumour cells, it is important to investigate the effect of calcidiol on cultured malignant keratinocytes (Lou et.al., 2003; Garland et.al., 2007; Gugatschka et.al., 2011; Krishnan et.al., 2013). As reviewed in Chapter 1 (section 1.5.1), the non-genomic vitamin D complex pathways

could involve the membranous VDR activation pathway, regulation of malignant keratinocyte migration and proliferation and cellular responsiveness to calcidiol. Calcidiol has an inhibitory effect on cell proliferation in human marrow stromal cells by triggering cell cycle arrest, whereas the action of calcitriol involves increased apoptosis (Geng et.al., 2011). Indeed, the inhibitory effect of calcitriol on cell proliferation in a number of malignant cells is cell cycle dependent, with triggering of G0/G1 phase arrest and is mediated by the VDR (Gedlicka et.al., 2006; Geng et.al., 2011). The metastatic capacity and potential of neoplastic cell reflected in their migration abilities.

Herein, the effects of calcidiol *in vitro* on cell proliferation and migration using SCC-4 malignant keratinocyte cell line was determined. The effect of calcitriol was also assessed and compared to calcidiol.

## 2.2 Materials and methods

#### 2.2.1 SCC-4 cell line

Human SSC cell line SCC-4 (CRL-1628) was obtained from American Type Culture Collection (ATCC), USA. SSC-4 was established from fresh tumour tissue as described previously (Beckett & Rheinwald, 1981). SCC-4 is a progressive squamous carcinoma cell line, derived from the tongue of a 55-year-old male who had radiation and methotrexate treatment for the tumour for 16 months before a biopsy was taken (Beckett & Rheinwald, 1981). SCC-4 cells contain a network of keratin filament bundles in a pattern similar to that found in normal keratinocytes (Beckett & Rheinwald, 1981). Thus, this keratinised epithelial cell line was used as a model for malignant keratinocytes investigation. Primary human neonatal keratinocytes were purchased from American Type Culture Collection (ATCC), USA.

# 2.2.2 Materials

General tissue culture reagents were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich, USA: Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM; D6429), Ham's F12 nutrient mixture (51651C), fetal bovine serum (FBS; F2442), antibiotic/antimycotic solution (10,000 units/mL penicillin, 10 mg/mL streptomycin and 25 µg/mL amphotericin B), calcidiol (H-1440), calcitriol (D1530), trypsin-EDTA (59417C) and 10x phosphate-buffered saline (PBS; 051M8422). CellTiter-Blue<sup>TM</sup> (G3580) was obtained from Promega, Australia; Thiazolyl Blue Tetrazolium Bromide (M5655-5X1G) and N,N-Dimethylformamide (D4551-500ML) was purchased from Sigma-Aldrich, Australia.

### 2.2.3 Methods

#### 2.2.3.1 Proliferation assay

Rapid colorimetric assay for cellular growth and survival, Thiazolyl Blue Tetrazolium Bromide (MTT):

MTT (3-(4,5-Dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide, a tetrazole) forms purple formazan in the mitochondria of living cells in the reduction reaction, which takes place only when mitochondrial enzymes are active, and therefore conversion can be directly related to the number of viable cells. The absorbance of the purple solution can be quantified by measuring a wavelength by a spectrophotometer. The amount of purple formazan produced by cells treated with calcidiol or calcitriol is compared with the amount of formazan produced by untreated cells, to determine the amount of cell death. Higher number of viable cells, similarly to CT Blue assay (based also on mitochondrial enzymatic conversion of resazurin to resofurin), results in greater amount of MTT formazan formation which triggers an increase in absorbance.  $3 \times 10^4$  cells/well were seeded in 96 well plates. Cultures were grown in humidified incubator 5 % CO<sub>2</sub> and 95 % air atmosphere at 37 °C. Cellular density was optimised and shown in appendix B – (MTT assay optimisation). SCC-4 cells were allowed to attach for 24 h, and then treated with varying concentrations of calcidiol and calcitriol over 24 - 96 h: calcidiol at 100 nM, 1,000 nM, 10,000 nM, 100,000 nM, 1,000,000 nM and 10,000,000 nM) or calcitriol (at 10 nM, 100 nM, 1000 nM and 10,000 nM). Untreated cells and corresponding to each dose ethanol controls for calcidiol (0.000004 % - 0.004 %) and calcitriol - (0.0004 % - 0.4 %) treatment were also applied. Cellular proliferation was assessed via spectrophotometry (Biorad microplate reader, 6.0) using wavelength 570 nm. Three independent experiments were conducted in triplicates.

To be consistent with the earlier investigations, it was decided to conduct the assessment of proliferation using the MTT assay. MTT assay is robust and reliable benchtop test that can be readily adapted for a wide range of instruments and platforms to acquire the signal of mitochondrial performances, hence cellular viability. The advantage of MTT assay instead of other methods (such as <sup>3</sup>H-thymidine) have been shown previously (Gieni et.al., 1995). The use of <sup>3</sup>H-thymidine, similarly to BrdU test, would be helpful in the assessment of DNA damage in response to the treatment, however not easily comparable to previously acquired data with lower doses of calcidiol and calcitriol, as cellular viability measured by a different cellular features (DNA damage vs mitochondrial enzymatic performances). The experiments with calcidiol and calcitriol at lower concentrations were conducted using Cell-Titer Blue Cell viability detection method. The protocol of this method is also based on the mitochondrial biogenesis and described in Appendix B.

# 2.2.3.2. Migration assay

SCC-4 cells were cultured at 37 °C in a humidified 5 % CO<sub>2</sub> incubator, in DMEM/F12 (1:1) media containing 10 % FBS and supplemented with 1 % penicillin–streptomycin (Lu et.al., 2008). Cells were maintained in 175 cm<sup>2</sup> tissue culture flasks. The optimal seeding density for 24-well plates was optimised. SCC-4 cells at 5 x  $10^5$  cells per well were plated in 24-well plates for 24 h. Cells in individual wells were wounded by scratching with a 1000 µl size pipette tip, washed with 1x PBS three times and incubated with DMEM/F12 medium containing FBS and antimicrobial solutions.

The cells were allowed to attach for 24 h, prior to treatment with varying concentrations of calcidiol (16 nM - 100,000 nM) or calcitriol (0.1 nM - 100 nM) for 1 h, 4 h, 24 h, 48 h and 72 h. Untreated cells and corresponding to each dose ethanol controls for calcidiol (0.000004 % - 0.004 %) and calcitriol - (0.0004 % - 0.4 %) treatment were also applied. All experiments were conducted 3 times in triplicates. Higher (calcidiol at 1,000,000 nM and calcitriol at 1,000 nM) concentrations were also investigated. Images were taken at all concentrations (data not shown). To create working solutions, both calcidiol and calcitriol were dissolved in 100 % ethanol as per the manufacturer's instructions. The SCC-4 cells were grown as a monolayer. Ethanol-treated (equivalent to the volume of calcidiol or calcitriol) SCC-4 cells were used as a vehicle control and untreated cells were used as a negative control. The cells were photographed using phase-contrast microscopy (20x magnification). The distance of closure was measured using Carl Zeiss, Axio-Vision, LE 54 software (Carl Zeiss, Germany). The experiment was conducted three times in triplicate. See Appendix A for the method used to calculate scratch closure.

# 2.2.3.3 Light microscopy imaging and growth pattern of cell cultures

SCC-4 cells were seeded at concentration of 10,000 cells per well in 24 wells plates. SCC-4 cells were cultured in DMEM/F12 (1:1) media supplemented with 10 % FBS and 1 % penicillin–streptomycin (Lu et.al., 2008). Cells were allowed to adhere for 24 h prior treatment with the calcidiol or calcitriol. The cell growth and colony formation was monitored and images of the calcidiol and calcitriol treated SCC-4 were captured using phase contrast microscopy at high magnification (100X) at different time points (24 – 72 h). The experiment was conducted three times in triplicates. See Appendix C for the images of all doses and timepoints of representative experiments.

# 2.2.4 Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis of proliferation and migration assays was performed using Student's t-test. The mean of three independent experiments was considered significantly different when compared to vehicle control groups if p<0.05 in proliferation and migration assays.

# 2.3 Results

### 2.3.1 Calcidiol and calcitriol inhibits proliferation of SCC-4 cells

Antiproliferative attributes of calcitriol and calcidiol on different cell lines has been shown, however their effects on SCC-4 cells is not clear (Munetsuna et.al., 2014; Geng et.al., 2011; Biauer et.al., 2009; Sharan et.al., 2011).

The effect of calcidiol on SCC-4 cell proliferation was evaluated at various concentrations (100-10,000,000 nM) and time (24, 48, 72 and 96 h). Ethanol treated SCC-4 cells were used as vehicle control at the appropriate concentration (0.004 % - 0.000004 %) (Figure 2.1).

Using calcidiol at 100-10,000,000 nM range no antiproliferative effects were apparent within 24 h. However, partial inhibition of proliferation was noted at 48 h. A dose response was evident with 100,000 nM and above being statistically significant (p<0.005 at 100,000 nM and p<0.0005 at 10,000,000 nM). The dose dependent inhibition was more evident at 72 h with statistical significance at all doses above 100,000 nM (p<0.05 at 100,000 nM; p<0.005 at 1,000,000 nM; p<0.005 at 10,000,000 nM). Inhibition of proliferation subsided at 96 h with no significant difference (Figure 2.1). These data agree with reports on the antiproliferative effects of calcidiol in immortalised prostate cells, however the inhibition of prostate cell line was observed at much lower concentrations (10-100 nM), where significant reduction in cell numbers were noted (Munetsunaa et.al., 2014). The hazardous effect of calcidiol was shown in oral human immortalised OKF6/TERT2 cells by MTT assay (Wang et.al., 2013). The incubation over 24-48 h with calcidiol at concentrations of 10,000-20,000 nM had detrimental effects on cellular survival, whereas at lower doses (1,000 nM and below) cytotoxic effects were not detected (Wang et.al., 2013).

The inhibitory effects of calcitriol treatment was noted in SCC-4 cell cultures when compared to corresponding ethanol controls (dashed line). In particular this is obvious at 48-72 h at doses 100 nM and above. However, at 96 h the antiproliferative effects of calcitriol was noted only at high doses 1,000 nM (p<0.005) and 10,000 nM (p<0.05) (Figure 2.2). Although calcitriol only partially inhibits cell proliferation when compared to the corresponding ethanol controls a dose response is apparent at 72 h (10,000 nM) compared to 10-1,000 nM (p<0.005). The data are supported by a number of studies where calcitriol partially inhibits cell proliferation. Calcitriol (at

doses below 10 nM) appear to stimulate HaCaT cell proliferation (Hill et.al., 2015). Interestingly, the resistance to calcitriol was reported in retinoid resistant HL-60 leukemia cell line, where 100 nM failed to inhibit cell proliferation up to 120 h (Atkins and Troen, 1995). Likewise, partial resistance of SCC-4 cells to calcitriol treatment (1-100 nM) was only noted after an incubation period of 10 days (Akutsu et.al, 2001). Our data is supportive towards calcitriol inhibitory doses in resistant SCC-4 cells. We demonstrate that with elevated concentrations, calcitriol exerts partial suppression of proliferation at 72 h. In studies conducted up to 240 h (data not shown) no further inhibition was observed.





SCC-4 cells were treated with calcidiol (100 – 10,000,000 nM) for 24 - 96 h. Ethanol treated SCC-4 cells were used as vehicle control at the corresponding concentrations. Cell proliferation was measured using MTT assay and read at 570 nm. The data represents the mean  $\pm$  standard deviation (SD). Statistically significant differences were determined using Student's t-test. All results are representative of at least three independent experiments conducted in triplicate. Data was considered significant when p values were below 0.05. \* denotes p<0.05, \*\* p<0.005, \*\*\* p<0.0005. P values at each point are shown in Appendix B, Table 2.1.



### Figure 2.2 Effect of calcitriol on SCC-4 cell proliferation.

SCC-4 cells were treated with 10 - 10,000 nM calcitriol for 24 - 96 h. Ethanol treated SCC-4 cells were used as vehicle control at the corresponding concentrations. Cell proliferation was measured using MTT assay and read at 570 nm. The data represents the mean ± standard deviation (SD). Statistically significant differences were determined using Student's t-test. All results are representative of at least three independent experiments conducted in triplicate. Data was considered significant when p values were below 0.05. \* denotes p<0.05, \*\* p<0.005, \*\*\* p<0.0005. P values at each point are shown in the Appendix B, Table 2.2.

## 2.3.2 Calcidiol inhibits SCC-4 cell migration

Growth patterns of SCC-4 cell cultures indicated that the initial cell number of 5 x  $10^5$  cells is an optimal seeding density (optimisation process is shown in Appendix B), allowing cellular movement within a short timeframe at low concentrations of calcidiol (16-250 nM) and calcitriol (0.01-10 nM). The effect of calcidiol on malignant SCC-4 cell migration abilities have not been investigated. Calcitriol was used to compare the effects of calcidiol. The effects of lower concentrations of calcidiol and calcitriol were examined in migration assays and shown in Appendix A, Figure A.2.a and Figure A.2.b. When calcidiol treated cells were compared to the corresponding ethanol controls as a ratio, inhibitory effect in dose and time dependent manner were obvious at all calcidiol concentrations. In calcidiol treated cells dose response was apparent, where noticeable inhibition of wound closure was observed as calcidiol concentration increased. At 16 nM calcidiol the percentage of wound openness was less than 250 nM concentration (p<0.05), suggesting an inhibitory trend in the presence of calcidiol (Figure 2.3).

Conversely, in calcitriol treated SCC-4 cells (0.1 and 10 nM) a stimulatory effect of the wound closure was apparent at 24 h when compared to corresponding ethanol controls (p<0.05). However, at 48 and 72 h rapid wound closure was clearly noticable at all doses (Figure 2.4) with no clear dose response effect. The effect of calcitriol and calcidiol, however, was investigated further and its influence on cellular motility at higher concentrations is shown in Appendix C.



#### Figure 2.3 Effect of calcidiol on SCC-4 cell migration.

The wound openness of SCC-4 cells treated with calcidiol at 16 nM, 100 nM or 250 nM was measured in three independent experiments at 1, 24, 48 and 72 h in triplicates. At each time point the ratio between the wounded area of calcidiol treated SCC-4 cells to the corresponding ethanol controls were compared to the ratio at time 1 h (taken as 100 % wound openness). Statistically all data points are significant when compared to initial 100 % wound opening. Statistical significance was calculated by comparing calcidiol treated cells to corresponding ethanol controls using student t-test. Statistical comparison also was performed between different time points and doses (p<0.05). Data was considered significant when p values were below 0.05. \* denotes p<0.05, \*\* p<0.005, \*\*\* p<0.0005. P values at each point are shown in Appendix B, Table 2.1.



#### Figure 2.4. Effect of calcitriol on SCC-4 cell migration.

The wound openness of SCC-4 cells treated with calcitriol at 0.1 nM, 1 nM or 10 nM was measured in three independent experiments at 1, 24, 48 and 72 h in triplicates. At each time point the ratio between the wounded area of calcitriol treated SCC-4 cells to corresponding ethanol controls were compared to the ratio at time 1 h (taken as 100 % wound openness). Statistically all data points are significant when compared to initial 100 % wound opening. Statistical significance was calculated by comparing calcitriol treated cells to corresponding ethanol controls using student t-test. Statistical comparison also was performed between different time points and doses (p<0.05). Data was considered significant when p values were below 0.05. \* denotes p<0.05, \*\* p<0.005, \*\*\* p<0.0005. P values at each point are shown in Appendix B, Table 2.2.

### 2.4 Discussion

Cutaneous cells are clearly the primary target of vitamin D metabolites (calcidiol and calcitriol) (Bikle et.al., 2013), however, their effects in vitamin D resistant neoplastic keratinocytes is not very well understood.

Tumour suppressive effects of calcitriol and calcidiol have been reported in a number of cell types (Sharan et.al., 2011; Lou et.al., 2013; Hill et.al., 2015; Chiang et.al., 2013; Bhatia and Falzon, 2015). Recently, it was demonstrated that proliferation of immortalised human keratinocytes HaCaT cells, was inhibited at 100 nM calcitriol, but not at 10 nM (Hill et.al., 2015). In SCC-25 cells, calcitriol suppressed growth of cultured keratinocytes via cell cycle arrest at G0/G1 phase and inhibition of proliferation marker, ki-67, expression (Chiang et.al., 2013). Conversely, lack of inhibitory calcitriol effects on migration and proliferation was evident in colon cancer cells. Calcitriol at dose ranging 1 - 100 nM had no effects in vitamin D resistant colon 70

silibinin (plant extract), restored vitamin D responsiveness, whereas silibinin treatment alone did not (Bhatia and Falzon, 2015). Here, it was shown that antiproliferative qualities of cacitriol and calcidiol in SCC-4 cells were apparent at high concentrations (at 100 nM and 100,000 nM, respectively). In proliferation assays, treatment of SSC-4 cells with low concentrations of both metabolites (calcitriol and calcidiol), had no statistically significant inhibitory effects, when compared to corresponding ethanol controls (Appendix B). However, dose dependent inhibition of SCC-4 cell proliferation was evident at much higher concentrations for calcitriol and calcidiol in our study. Similarly, calcitriol antiproliferative effects were also shownin in uterine fibroid cells only at 10 nM, while lower calcitriol doses had no effect (Halder et.al., 2013). Calcitriol dosage differentially affects SCC-4 cell migration and proliferation: calcitriol dose dependent antiproliferative effects at 72 h was apparent, while in the migration assay a lack of inhibitory effect is noted. In fact, there was stimulation of migration. This is with agreement with a previous report (Hill et.al., 2015), which showed that at lower concentrations of calcitriol the inhibition of SCC cells is not obvious (Hill et.al., 2015), whereas at higher concentrations inhibitory effects were apparent. The effects of lower doses of calcitriol and calcidiol on proliferation are shown in Appendix B.

Antiproliferative effects of calcidiol in some cell types has been shown (Munetsuna, et.al., 2014; Lou et.al., 2003; Geng et.al.2011). Dose dependent growth-inhibitory actions of calcidiol in concentration (1-100 nM) of prostate epithelial cells (PZ-HPV-7) depends on calcidiol itself, regardless of intracellular calcitriol synthesis (Munetsuna, et.al., 2014). Where transfection of VDR siRNA blocked the calcidiol-induced inhibition of proliferation. Hence, it was suggested that calcidiol promoted VDR-ligand cell growth inhibition directly (Munetsuna, et.al., 2014). Furthermore, the inhibitory effect of calcidiol in human marrow stromal cell proliferation was found to be dependent on CYP27B1, where the lack of CYP27B1 expression had no inhibitory responses to calcidiol (at concentrations of 1-100 nM) (Geng et.al., 2011). We note that the inhibitory effect of calcidiol on SCC-4 cells at concentration of 100,000 nM at 48 and 72 h was The results of calcidiol effect on vitamin D resistant SCC-4 cell most apparent (Figure 2.1). proliferation is supported by the data on cultured oral human keratinocyte cell line (OKF6/TERT2), where inhibitory effect of calcidiol can be seen only at substantially high doses (10,000 nM – 20,000 nM); lower concentrations had no effect on cytotoxicity (Wang et.al., 2013). The absence of calcitriol inhibitory effects in proliferation assays at low concentrations is supportive towards earlier published literature on SCC-4 cells (Akutsu et.al., 2001; Ratnam et.al., 1996). Our data demonstrates inhibitory effects of SCC-4 cells at higher calcidiol and calcitriol doses (100,000 nM and 100 nM, respectively); at lower concentrations the inhibitory effects were not as apparent (Figure 2.3 and 2.4). This observation is supported by other published literature (Wang et.al., 2013).

Correspondingly, the lack of inhibitory effect of lower calcidiol doses (10 nM and 100 nM) was demonstrated in myometrial and leiomyoma cultures, whilst treatment at higher dose (1,000 nM) inhibited the growth of both cell types (Biauer et.al., 2009; Wang et.al., 2013). In addition, we show that statistically significant inhibition of SCC-4 cell proliferation was detected only post 24 h incubation with calcidiol and calcitriol. Interestingly, the inhibition of primary keratinocyte proliferation by calcitriol at much lower doses 0.1-10 nM requires longer period of incubation (14 days) (Smith et.al., 1986). Whilst the inhibitory effects of calcitriol on cell migration have been reported in a number of cancer cell lines (Chen & Holick, 2003; Leyssens et.al., 2013). The SCC cell lines have been reported to have partial resistant to inhibitory actions of calcitriol (Bikle et.al., 1991). However, herein, at high concentrations of calcitriol and calcidiol treatment, inhibition of cell proliferation was noticeable in SCC-4 cultures.

We demonstrated inhibition of highly metastatic SCC-4 keratinocytes proliferative and migrative abilities by calcidiol when compared to untreated and ethanol treated SCC-4 cells. As time progressed the inhibition was more apparent. Contrastingly, stimulation of the wound openness in calcitriol treated cultures was detected only at some doses at 24h. This indicates that calcitriol treated SCC-4 had mild stimulation in migration: although, inhibitory effects on cell proliferation were noted. These findings are in agreement with the latest report on calcitriol effect in HaCaT keratinocytes (Hill et.al., 2015).

Taking together the results of proliferation and migration assays indicate that keratinocyte response to vitamin D (both calcidiol and calcitriol) are dose-time and cell type dependent (normal vs mutated cells). Further studies are required to determine calcidiol and calcitriol signaling mechanism in tumour cells. The lack of effect of both vitamin D metabolites at lower concentration in proliferation assays lead to further investigations of the cellular growth with the presence of calcidiol and calcitriol at high doses. Only high doses of calcidiol and calcitriol exerted inhibitory effects of SCC-4 cell proliferation.

# **2.5 Conclusion**

Treatment of SCC-4 cells with both vitamin D metabolites (calcidiol and calcitriol) have inhibitory effects on cell proliferation at high doses. To our knowledge this is the first report demonstrating

efficacy of calcidiol in inhibition of SCC-4 cell migration and proliferation. The mechanism of this inhibition needs to be further investigated to assist in possible development of tumour inhibitory treatment using calcidiol or analogues thereof.

## CHAPTER 3.

# VITAMIN D REGULATION OF PROTEIN EXPRESSION IN PRIMARY AND MALIGNANT KERATINOCYTES

#### **3.1 Introduction**

It was shown in chapter 2 that calcidiol (100,000 nM) and calcitriol (100 nM) partially inhibited malignant SCC-4 cell proliferation. The supplementation of these metabolites at lower concentration had no obvious inhibitory effects on SCC-4 cell proliferation. Interestingly, at lower calcidiol concentration (250 nM) antimigrative effects were noted despite no antiproliferative effects. Given the inhibitory effects of calcidiol and calcitriol, it was important to assess the levels of vitamin D enzymes and receptor expression in SCC-4 cells and primary keratinocytes in response to calcidiol and calcitriol. Interestingly, failure of calcitriol and calcidiol to completely inhibit SCC-4 cell proliferation may be associated with poor functionality of VDR (Ratnam et.al., 1996). However, studies using other cell lines and human immortalised keratinocytes (HaCaT) showed antiproliferative actions at high pharmacological calcitriol concentrations (Hager et.al., 2001; Hill et.al., 2015). This suggests that calcitriol and calcidiol may influence cell proliferation via VDR-mediated mechanisms (Hager et.al., 2001). Resistance to calcium, for instance, in SCC-4 cells was shown to be dependent on the availability of the VDR/DRIP complex at VDREs (Bikle et.al., 2010). Earlier reports suggested that proliferation of SCC cells induced by vitamin D was mediated by VDR via VDREs (Köstner et.al., 2012; Walsh et.al., 2010). Interestingly, the major tumour drivers appear to be mediated via VDR-controlled signalling (Cardus 2009). The connection between VDR and tumour growth regulation, as well as progression into invasive metastatic forms of skin cancer need to be established. Therefore, it is important to gain insights into the mechanism of SCC-4 cell inhibition and the expression of VDR in vitamin D treated SCC-4 cells (Figure 3.1).

Intracellular vitamin D metabolism is tightly controlled by anabolic and catabolic hydroxylases (CYP17A1, CYP27B1 and CYP24A1, encoded by the corresponding genes *CYP27A1, CYP27B1, CYP24A1*) and vitamin D receptor (*VDR*) (Bikle et.al., 2011a). Herein, the expression of mitochondrial vitamin D enzymes (CYP27A1, CYP27B1 and CYP24A1) were analysed in order to ascertain whether they play a role in intratumoural vitamin D signalling and in tumour inhibition.

In addition, calcidiol and calcitriol may influence MAPK pathway. In fact, inhibition of MAPK activity with specific ERK1/2 inhibitors is enhanced by calcitriol in acute myeloid leukemia cells (Wang at al, 2013). Conversely, calcitriol has been shown to have inhibitory

activity on the MAPK pathway, with suppression of ERK-1 and ERK-2 MAP kinases in breast cancer cells (Rossi et.al., 2004).

The inhibition of SCC-4 cell migration and proliferation by calcidiol and inhibiton of proliferation by calcitriol (Chapter 2) could have an impact on MAPK VDR-mediated signalling. This inhibition is suggested to be a result of VDR modulatory activity (Figure 3.1) (Rossi et.al., 2004). Currently, the mechanism of MAPK pathway inhibition by vitamin D is unknown. The effects of calcidiol on the expression of vitamin D metabolic mitochondrial hydroxylases and VDR, as well as on MAPK pathway proteins, in primary and malignant human keratinocytes requires testing. Furthermore, VDR-mediated crosstalk between non-genomic and genomic signalling pathways at the level of MAPK activation was suggested to be responsible for inhibition of cell migration and proliferation in osteosarcoma cells (Wu et.al., 2007). VDR signalling mechanism that regulates the expression of tumour promoting proteins in keratinocytes, is most likely responsible for inhibitory effects observed in proliferation and migration of primary and malignant keratinocytes.

The crosstalk of vitamin D metabolites, calcidiol and calcitriol, mediated pathways, results in inhibition of cell proliferation and invasive capacity of malignant cells, and involves major tumour driving proteins, such as, epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) and fibroblast growth factor receptor 3 (FGFR3) (Wang 2013; Weisinger 2010). The activity of EGFR and FGFR3 is regulated by the MAPK pathway (Weisinger et.al., 2010; Luangdilok et.al., 2011). In stromal cells that are involved in tumour formation, such as neoplastic keratinocytes and fibroblasts, these proteins may have VDR-mediated expression. It is not known whether vitamin D CYP450 oxidoreductases are involved in tumour cell development, or whether the anabolic CYP27A1 has a role in inhibiting carcinogenic transformation. However, it has been demonstrated that expression CYP27A1, in particular, is responsible for VDR activation in human keratinocytes (Endo-Umeda et.al., 2014). In fact, CYP27A1 plays an important role in catabolism of 7DHC and further VDR transcriptional activity via modulatory liver X receptor (LXR) actions (Endo-Umeda et.al., 2014). Moreover, the synthesis of intracellular calcidiol in keratinocytes appears to be CYP27A1-dependent (Schuster, 2011). The role of CYP27A1 in malignant keratinocytes and its influence on NMSC is not clear. The expression of other mitochondrial vitamin D hydroxylases CYP27B1 and CYP24A1 in neoplastic keratinocytes may aid in a better understanding in the process of neoplastic cell transformation.

To better understand the data from chapter 2, it is also important to determine the expression of proliferative cancer antigen protein PCNA in calcidiol and calcitriol treated primary and malignant keratinocytes, which may aid in mechanistic insights of how vitamin D metabolites influence keratinocyte proliferation.

To evaluate the involvement of vitamin D metabolic enzymes expression in NMSC, the protein expression of VDR, CYP27A1, CYP27B1, CYP24B1, EGFR, FGFR3 and PCNA were evaluated in primary and malignant keratinocytes, following incubation with calcitriol or calcidiol; primary keratinocytes were used as a control.



#### Figure 3.1. Proposed activation by calcidiol mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) cascade.

Calcidiol-mediated VDR-activated MAPK cascade influences incoming signals that regulate proliferation, differentiation and apoptosis. Pathway regulation is mediated by available serum calcidiol, following its conversion to the active hormone, calcitriol. The regulatory activity of VDR results in signal transmission via RAS, RAF1, MEK and ERK, and the regulation of downstream genes/proteins: *c-Myc, c-Fos, c-Jun, Apaf1, p21* and *p53*, which are MAPK pathway dependent. The progression of neoplastic transformation and further tumour growth appear to be regulated by calcidiol (with or without its transformation to calcitriol) via VDR–MAPK pathway signalling. Adapted from (Balasubramanian 2007); and KEGG Pathway Database (<a href="http://www.kegg.jp/kegg-bin">http://www.kegg.jp/kegg-bin</a>, viewed 30 April 2011

# 3.2 Materials and methods

# 3.2.1 Cell culture

Human SSC cell line SCC-4 (CRL-1628) was obtained from American Type Culture Collection (ATCC), neonatal keratinocytes were purchased from (102-05-N) Sigma-Aldrich, Australia. Normal adult human primary epidermal keratinocytes (PCS-200-011) were obtained from ATCC. Primary keratinocyte cultures were used as an additional control.

# **3.2.2 Cell culture reagents**

Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM; D6429), Ham's F12 nutrient mixture (51651C), Foetal Bovine Serum (FBS; F2442), antibiotic/antimycotic solution (10,000 units/mL penicillin, 10 mg/mL streptomycin and 25 µg/mL amphotericin B), calcidiol (H-1440), calcitriol (D1530) trypsin-EDTA (59417C) and 10X phosphate-buffered saline (PBS; 051M8422).

Normal keratinocytes were grown in HAMS/DMEM (50/50), supplemented with 10 % FBS, and 0.5 % Penicillin–Streptomycin–Amphotericin Solution. Primary keratinocytes were grown in Dermal Cell Basal Medium (ATCC; PCS-200-030) supplemented with Growth Kit reagents (bovine pituitary extract, 0.4 %; recombinant human (rh) TGF- $\alpha$ , 0.5 ng/mL; L-glutamine, 6 mM; hydrocortisone, 100 ng/mL; insulin, 5 µg/mL; epinephrine, 1 µM; apotransferrin, 5 µg/mL; ATCC, PCS-200-040) and Penicillin–Streptomycin–Amphotericin B Solution (penicillin 10,000 units/mL, streptomycin 10 mg/mL, amphotericin B 25 µg/mL; ATCC, PCS-999-002).

# 3.2.3 Cell culture conditions

All cultures were grown at 37 °C in a humidified 5 % CO<sub>2</sub> incubator in 175 cm<sup>2</sup> tissue culture flasks. The cultured SCC-4 cells and primary keratinocytes were treated with 100,000 nM calcidiol and 100 nM calcitriol, over 72 h period. As calcidiol and calcitriol were dissolved in ethanol, treated cells were compared with corresponding ethanol controls at concentrations of 0.000004 % and 0.004 %, correspondingly. For protein analysis, cultured primary and malignant keratinocytes were used only as exponentially growing cells, below passage number 5. Primary human normal keratinocytes and SCC-4 cells were grown until they reached total confluency.

# 3.2.4 Harvesting cells for expression analysis

Normal human keratinocytes and malignant squamous keratinocytes (SCC-4) were treated with calcidiol (100,000 nM) and calcitriol (100 nM) for 72 h, where the antiproliferative effects were mostly noted. Cells were harvested and total cellular proteins extracted using modified RIPA buffer with protease inhibitor cocktail, pH 7.4.

# 3.2.5 Western blot reagents

Trypsin-EDTA (59417C), 10x PBS (051M8422) and RIPA lysis buffer (R0278) were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich.

Western Blot reagents were obtained from Life Technologies: MOPS Novex SDS running buffer (NP0001), NuPAGE Novex 10 % Bis-Tris gels (NP0316Box), NuPAGE Novex transfer buffer (NP00061), Novex prestained protein standard (LC5800), NuPAGE Sample Reducing Agent (NP0009).

Protease inhibitor cocktail was obtained from Roche Diagnostics, Australia. Clarity Western ECL Substrate (170-5060) was obtained from Bio-Rad, Australia. Polyvinylidene diflouride (PVDF) transfer membrane (0.45µm; 88518) and filter paper (0.83 mm thick; PIE88600) were purchased from Thermo Scientific, Australia.

The primary unconjugated antibodies were obtained from Santa Cruz Biotechnology, USA and used at the optimised dilutions (1:1,000). The antibodies were supplied at the amount of 200  $\mu$ g and with the specifications as described in Table 3.1

Primary antibody	Size of	Specificity	Cross-	Product code
	protein	1 0	reactivity	Manufacturer
Polyclonal	60 kDa	Recognises epitope	Human,	(P-17; sc-14835),
goat anti-human		mapping near the N-	mouse, rat	Santa Cruz
CYP27A1 (IgG)		terminus of CYP27A1		Biotechnology,
				USA
polyclonal	56 kDa	Recognises amino	Human,	(H-90; sc-67261),
rabbit anti-human		acids 221-310	mouse,	Santa Cruz
CYP27B1(IgG)		mapping within an	and to a	Biotechnology,
_		internal region of	lesser	USA
		CYP27B1	extent rat,	
			porcine	
polyclonal	65 kDa	Recognises amino	Human,	(H-87; sc-66851),
rabbit anti-human		acids 351-437	mouse, rat	Santa Cruz
CYP24A1 (IgG)		mapping near the C-		Biotechnology,
		terminus of CYP24		USA
polyclonal	53 kDa	Recognises amino	Human,	(H-81; sc-9164),
rabbit anti-human		acids 344-424 of	mouse, rat	SantaCruz
VDR (IgG)		VDR		Biotechnology,
				USA
polyclonal	170 kDa	Recognises a peptide	Human,	(1005; sc-03),
rabbit anti-human		mapping at the C-	mouse, rat	SantaCruz
EGFR (IgG)		terminus of EGFR		Biotechnology,
				USA

Table 3.1 Specificity of primary antibodies

polyclonal	97 kDa	Recognises an	Human,	(C-15,sc-123),
rabbit anti-human		epitope mapping at	mouse, rat	SantaCruz
FGFR3		the C-terminus of		Biotechnology,
		FGFR3		USA
monoclonal mouse	36 kDa	Rat PCNA protein A	Human	(PC10; M0879)
anti-human PCNA		fusion protein was		Dako, Australia
(IgG2a)		produced in pC2T		
		bacterial vector and		
		used to generate the		
		antibody. The		
		antibody recognises		
		a polypeptide within		
		the PCNA sequence,		
		although the exact		
		epitope is not clear.		
polyclonal rabbit anti-	50 kDa	Recognises C-	Human	(OAEC01862)
human α-tubulin		terminus of human		Aviva Systems
antibody (IgG)		tubulin $\alpha$ protein		Biology,
				Australia

The secondary antibodies: polyclonal rabbit anti-goat Ig-horseradish peroxidase (HRP), polyclonal goat anti-rabbit Ig-HRP (1:2,000) and polyclonal rabbit anti-mouse Ig-HRP (1:2,000) were obtained from Dako, Australia.

# 3.2.6 SDS-PAGE gels

Separation of proteins from cell lysates was performed using NuPAGE Novex 10 % Bis-Tris SDS-PAGE gels, as per the manufacturer's instructions (NuPAGE Bis-Tris Acetate Gel Protocol; Life Technologies). The approximate molecular weight of proteins was estimated using Novex prestained protein standards.

# 3.2.7 Chemiluminescence-based Western blot analysis

Western blot analysis was performed according to (Filiz & Dass, 2012). Proteins were separated by electrophoresis on SDS-PAGE gels. The gel, PVDF membrane and pre-cut filter paper were pre-activated in ice-cold transfer buffer containing methanol. The gel and PVDF membrane were placed between filter papers, placed in a cassette and transferred using the Bio-Rad Western transfer system at 150 V for 1 h. The PVDF membrane was blocked for 1 h at room temperature in blocking solution (5 % (w/v) skim milk powder in Tris-buffered saline/0.05 % Tween-20 (TBST), pH 7.5) and incubated with specified primary antibodies diluted in TBST according to the manufacturer's recommendations. The PVDF membrane was washed in TBST three times for 20 min each and incubated with HRP-conjugated secondary antibody, according to the manufacturer's recommendations, in 5 % skim milk/TBST solution for 1 h at room temperature

with gentle rocking. PVDF membrane was washed three times for 20 min each and proteins were detected using Clarity Western ECL Substrate on a Chemidoc (Bio-Rad).

PVDF membranes were stripped in a modified mild antibody removal solution, pH 2.2, at room temperature for 30 min and re-probed with alpha-tubulin for protein loading normalisation. Densitometric analysis was performed in triplicates of each sample using ImageJ analysis software, to compare each of the samples. The methods used for cell lysate preparation and Western blot analysis were as described previously (G. Filiz 2012; Tan et.al. 2014), and are shown in full in Appendix F.

# 3.2.8 Statistical analysis

Results are expressed as mean  $\pm$  standard error of the mean (SEM). Data representative of 3 experiments conducted in triplicate. The data represents mean  $\pm$  SEM of triplicate blots. Differences were determined by an independent Student's t-test and results were considered statistically significant if p-values were < 0.05.

# 3.3 Results

As calcidiol and calcitriol were dissolved in ethanol, ethanol-treated SCC-4 cells were used as a control at the appropriate concentration (amount equivalent to ethanol-diluted calcidiol or calcitriol). The experiments were conducted using 100,000 nM calcidiol and 100 nM calcitriol, as these concentrations showed antiproliferative effects at 72 h. In addition, at lower calcidiol concentration (250 nM) antimigrative effects were noted, hence this dose was also included. Primary keratinocytes were also used for comparison.

The difference between calcidiol (or calcitriol) treated cells and ethanol was obtained from each triplicate of three independent experiments conducted under the same experimental conditions.

# **3.3.1 Effects of calcidiol and calcitriol on CYP27A1 expression in primary and malignant** keratinocytes

Mitochondrial CYP27A1 is a cytochrome P450 member that hydroxylates vitamin D at <sup>25</sup>-carbon (Chatterjee 2001; Tieu et.al., 2012). CYP27A1 activity is important for metabolic and endocrine homeostasis in humans (Chatterjee 2001). Determination of its function has been investigated in various cell types, mostly due to its involvement in bile acid metabolism. CYP27A1 is also a crucial factor for catabolism of 7-DHC that results in activation of VDR, via selective LXR modulation in human keratinocytes (Endo-Umeda et.al, 2014).

CYP27A1 acts as an active anabolic enzyme in epidermal keratinocytes and is critical in cutaneous vitamin D metabolism (Wong et.al., 2004). It was demonstrated that calcitriol had no effect on the expression of CYP27A1 in human dermal fibroblasts (Lehmann, 1997). Interestingly, CYP27A1 expression was up-regulated in human prostate epithelial cell lines treated with calcidiol precursor, cholecalciferol (Tokar & Webber, 2005a). Obviously, the regulation of this enzyme is very specific for cell and tissue type. In the experiments presented here, no statistically significant differences between CYP27A1 expression in primary and malignant keratinocytes were noted, when treated with calcidiol (100,000 nM) or calcitriol (100 nM) (Figure 3.2.a,b; Table 3.2). Interestingly, at lower calcidiol dose (250 nM) there was no difference between calcidiol treated SCC-4 cells and corresponding ethanol control (Figure 3.2.c), however upregulation of CYP27A1 was detected in primary keratinocytes in response to 250 nM calcidiol (p<0.05) (Figure 3.2.c; Table 3.2).



# Figure 3.2(a, b) The effect of high dose calcidiol or calcitriol on CYP27A1 levels in SCC-4 cells and primary keratinocytes.

a) SCC-4 and b) primary keratinocytes (PK) were treated with 100,000 nM calcidiol or 100 nM calcitriol for 72 h. Total protein ran on SDS page gel electrophoresis and transferred to PVDF membrane. Isolated protein was probed with anti CYP27A1 antibody, following incubation with corresponding HRP-conjugated secondary antibody. Proteins were visualised using Clarity Western ECL Substrate. Protein bands from western blots were assessed by densitometric scanning of the bands and by statistical analysis of the resulting band intensities. Protein levels were normalised using  $\alpha$ -tubulin control. Comparisons between data sets were made using Student's t-test. Data presented as a graph is from a representative of 3 experiments conducted in triplicate. The data represents mean  $\pm$  SEM of triplicate blots. \* indicates *p*<0.05. +, with calcidiol or calcitriol; -, corresponding ethanol control.



Figure 3.2(c) The effect of calcidiol (250 nM) on CYP27A1 levels in SCC-4 cells and primary keratinocytes. SCC-4 and primary keratinocytes (PK) were treated with 250 nM calcidiol for 72 h. Total protein ran on SDS page gel electrophoresis and transferred to PVDF membrane. Isolated protein was probed with anti CYP27A1 antibody, following incubation with corresponding HRP-conjugated secondary antibody. Proteins were visualised using Clarity Western ECL Substrate. Protein bands from western blots were assessed by densitometric scanning of the bands and by statistical analysis of the resulting band intensities. Protein levels were normalised using  $\alpha$ -tubulin control. Comparisons between data sets were made using Student's t-test. Data presented as a graph is from a representative of 3 experiments conducted in triplicate. The data represents mean ± SEM of triplicate blots. \* indicates *p*<0.05. +, with calcidiol; -, corresponding ethanol control.

# **3.3.2 Effects of calcidiol and calcitriol on CYP27B1 expression in primary and malignant keratinocytes**

CYP27B1 expression has been associated with nuclear VDR activity (Geng et.al., 2011). Low levels of CYP27B1 have been noted in colorectal cancer and melanoma (Tangpricha et.al., 2001; Brożyna et.al., 2013; Jacobs et.al., 2013). In addition, in melanoma tissue samples, no obvious increase in CYP27B1 was reported (Reichrath et.al., 2004). Similarly, in cultured primary keratinocytes and SCC-4 treated cells with high dose of calcidiol (100,000 nM), there were no noticeable effects on CYP27B1 expression. However, calcitriol treatment caused significant downregulation in CYP27B1 in SCC-4 cultures (p<0.005) (Figure 3.3a). Surprisingly, no statistical differences were noted in response to calcitriol treatment in primary keratinocytes (Figure 3.3b).

Interestingly, using lower concentration of calcidiol (250 nM) on SCC-4 cells, the expression of CYP27B1 was significantly increased compared to its corresponding ethanol control (p<0.005). Likewise, the expression of CYP27B1 in primary keratinocytes was also increased (p<0.05) (Figure 3.3.c; Table 3.2).



# Figure 3.3(a, b) The effect of high dose calcidiol or calcitriol on CYP27B1 levels in SCC-4 cells and primary keratinocytes.

a) SCC-4 and b) primary keratinocytes (PK) were treated with 100,000 nM calcidiol or 100 nM calcitriol for 72 h. Total protein ran on SDS page gel electrophoresis and transferred to PVDF membrane. Isolated protein was probed with anti CYP27B1 antibody, following incubation with corresponding HRP-conjugated secondary antibody. Proteins were visualised using Clarity Western ECL Substrate. Protein bands from western blots were assessed by densitometric scanning of the bands and by statistical analysis of the resulting band intensities. Protein levels were normalised using  $\alpha$ -tubulin control. Comparisons between data sets were made using Student's t-test. Data presented as a graph is from a representative of 3 experiments conducted in triplicate. The data represents mean  $\pm$  SEM of triplicate blots. \* indicates *p*<0.05. +, with calcidiol or calcitriol; -, corresponding ethanol control.



Figure 3.3(c) The effect of calcidiol (250 nM) on CYP27B1 levels in SCC-4 cells and primary keratinocytes.

SCC-4 and primary keratinocytes (PK) were treated with 250 nM calcidiol for 72 h. Total protein ran on SDS page gel electrophoresis and transferred to PVDF membrane. Isolated protein was probed with anti CYP27B1 antibody, following incubation with corresponding HRP-conjugated secondary antibody. Proteins were visualised using Clarity Western ECL Substrate. Protein bands from western blots were assessed by densitometric scanning of the bands and by statistical analysis of the resulting band intensities. Protein levels were normalised using  $\alpha$ -tubulin control. Comparisons between data sets were made using Student's t-test. Data presented as a graph is from a representative of 3 experiments conducted in triplicate. The data represents mean  $\pm$  SEM of triplicate blots. \* indicates *p*<0.05. +, with calcidiol; -, corresponding ethanol control.

# **3.3.3 Effects of calcidiol and calcitriol on CYP24A1 protein expression in primary and malignant keratinocytes**

CYP24A1 catalyses the side-chain oxidation of calcitriol (Annalora et.al., 2010). Up-regulated expression of CYP24A1 attenuates vitamin D signalling associated with calcium homeostasis and cellular growth regulation (Annalora et.al., 2010). The development of therapeutics for some oncological conditions have focussed on CYP24A1, as it has been proposed as a predicative marker in several malignancies (Chen et.al., 2011; Luo et.al., 2012). Overexpression of CYP24A1 has been described in melanoma and in colon and lung carcinomas (Seifert et.al., 2004; Chen et.al., 2011; Cross et.al., 2011; Luo et.al., 2012; Yao & Ambrosone, 2012; Jacobs et.al., 2013).

SCC-4 cells treated with calcidiol (100,000 nM) significantly increased CYP24A1 expression compared to its corresponding ethanol control (p<0.05) (Figure 3.4.a). Similarly, calcitriol (100 nM) treated SCC-4 cells increased expression of CYP24A1 (p<0.05) (Figure 3.4.a; Table 3.2). In primary keratinocytes an increased expression trend was apparent but was not statistically significant (Figure 3.4.b). Similar trend was observed in SCC-4 cells and primary keratinocytes treated with 250 nM calcidiol although not significant (Figure 3.4.c).



# Figure 3.4(a, b) The effect of high dose calcidiol or calcitriol on CYP24A1 levels in SCC-4 cells and primary keratinocytes.

a) SCC-4 and b) primary keratinocytes (PK) were treated with 100,000 nM calcidiol or 100 nM calcitriol for 72 h. Total protein ran on SDS page gel electrophoresis and transferred to PVDF membrane. Isolated protein was probed with anti CYP24A1 antibody, following incubation with corresponding HRP-conjugated secondary antibody. Proteins were visualised using Clarity Western ECL Substrate. Protein bands from western blots were assessed by densitometric scanning of the bands and by statistical analysis of the resulting band intensities. Protein levels were normalised using  $\alpha$ -tubulin control. Comparisons between data sets were made using Student's t-test. Data presented as a graph is from a representative of 3 experiments conducted in triplicate. The data represents mean  $\pm$  SEM of triplicate blots. \* indicates *p*<0.05. +, with calcidiol or calcitriol; -, corresponding ethanol control.



Figure 3.4(c) The effect of calcidiol (250 nM) on CYP24A1 levels in SCC-4 cells and primary keratinocytes SCC-4 and primary keratinocytes (PK) were treated with 250 nM calcidiol for 72 h. Total protein ran on SDS page gel electrophoresis and transferred to PVDF membrane. Isolated protein was probed with anti CYP24A1 antibody, following incubation with corresponding HRP-conjugated secondary antibody. Proteins were visualised using Clarity Western ECL Substrate. Protein bands from western blots were assessed by densitometric scanning of the bands and by statistical analysis of the resulting band intensities. Protein levels were normalised using  $\alpha$ -tubulin control. Comparisons between data sets were made using Student's t-test. Data presented as a graph is from a representative of 3 experiments conducted in triplicate. The data represents mean ± SEM of triplicate blots. \* indicates *p*<0.05. +, with calcidiol; -, corresponding ethanol control.

# **3.3.4** Effects of calcidiol and calcitriol on vitamin D receptor (VDR) expression in primary and malignant keratinocytes

The principal function of VDR, which belongs to the same family of hormone receptors as the steroid and thyroid hormone receptors, is as a vitamin D-inducible transcription factor (Ondková et.al., 2006). Full functionality of VDR in the form of a heterodimer with retinoid X receptor is essential for biological effects of calcitriol (Ondková et.al., 2006). The role of VDR has been extensively studied in malignant cells and its function is to modulate downstream gene expression (Rehan et.al., 2002; Ramirez et.al., 2009; Guan et.al., 2013; Jiang et.al., 2013). The effects of calcidiol on epidermal cells is not clear. VDR expression has been detected in mutated and normal keratinocytes (Midorikawa et.al., 1999). The regulation of neoplastic transformation has been linked to VDR signalling (Ramirez et.al., 2009).

SCC-4 cells and primary keratinocytes treated with either calcidiol (100,000 nM) or calcitriol (100 nM) showed no statistically significant difference in VDR expression compared to their corresponding ethanol controls (Figure 3.5a,b). However, in SCC-4 cells treated with calcidiol at lower concentration (250 nM), the expression of VDR was significantly increased compared to the corresponding ethanol treated cells (p<0.05); no effect was noted in primary keratinocytes (Figure 3.5.c; Table 3.2).



# Figure 3.5(a, b) The effect of high dose calcidiol or calcitriol on vitamin D receptor (VDR) protein levels in SCC-4 cells and primary keratinocytes.

a) SCC-4 and b) primary keratinocytes (PK) were treated with 100,000 nM calcidiol or 100 nM calcitriol for 72 h. Total protein ran on SDS page gel electrophoresis and transferred to PVDF membrane. Isolated protein was probed with anti VDR antibody, following incubation with corresponding HRP-conjugated secondary antibody. Proteins were visualised using Clarity Western ECL Substrate. Protein bands from western blots were assessed by densitometric scanning of the bands and by statistical analysis of the resulting band intensities. Protein levels were normalised using  $\alpha$ -tubulin control. Comparisons between data sets were made using Student's t-test. Data presented as a graph is from a representative of 3 experiments conducted in triplicate. The data represents mean  $\pm$  SEM of triplicate blots. \* indicates *p*<0.05. +, with calcidiol or calcitriol; -, corresponding ethanol control.



Figure 3.5 (c) The effect of calcidiol (250 nM) on VDR protein levels in SCC-4 cells and primary keratinocytes SCC-4 and primary keratinocytes (PK) were treated with 250 nM calcidiol for 72 h. Total protein ran on SDS page gel electrophoresis and transferred to PVDF membrane. Isolated protein was probed with anti VDR antibody, following incubation with corresponding HRP-conjugated secondary antibody. Proteins were visualised using Clarity Western ECL Substrate. Protein bands from western blots were assessed by densitometric scanning of the bands and by statistical analysis of the resulting band intensities. Protein levels were normalised using  $\alpha$ -tubulin control. Comparisons between data sets were made using Student's t-test. Data presented as a graph is from a representative of 3 experiments conducted in triplicate. The data represents mean  $\pm$  SEM of triplicate blots. \* indicates p<0.05. +, with calcidiol; -, corresponding ethanol control.

# **3.3.5 Effects of calcidiol and calcitriol on epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) protein** expression in primary and malignant keratinocytes

Epidermal regeneration involves a complex process of cell proliferation that is regulated by EGF family members. EGFR plays a critical role in cell proliferation and differentiation (Roskoski, 2014). Elevated EGFR protein expression has been detected in the majority of aggressive NMSCs, and, is associated with reduced survival, radiotherapy resistance and localised tissue-specific failure (Mehra et.al., 2011). EGFR has been consistently reported as a target of VDR regulation (Cordero et.al., 2002; Lafky et.al., 2008; Fraguas et.al., 2011; Zhang et.al., 2013). VDR–EGFR heterodimerisation and control of intracellular trafficking may depend on the availability of calcidiol (Dusso et.al., 2004).

Induction of keratinocyte migration is conveyed through EGFR (Koivisto et.al., 2006). Calcitriol inhibition of EGFR protein expression has been noted in human epidermoid carcinoma cells (Cordero et.al., 2002). The overexpression of EGFR was recognised as a major mitogenic signal that was inhibited by calcitriol (Cordero et.al., 2002). Furthermore, calcitriol changed the cell localisation of EGFR. These results demonstrated that calcitriol alters EGFR membrane trafficking and down-regulates EGFR proliferation signalling (Cordero et.al., 2002).

However, it is shown herein, that primary keratinocytes and SCC-4 cells treated with calcidiol (250 nM or 100,000 nM) or calcitriol (100 nM), had no effect on the expression of EGFR (Figure 3.6; Table 3.2).



Figure 3.6(a, b). The effect of high dose calcidiol or calcitriol on epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) protein levels in SCC-4 cells and primary keratinocytes.

a) SCC-4 and b) primary keratinocytes (PK) were treated with 100,000 nM calcidiol or 100 nM calcitriol for 72 h. Total protein ran on SDS page gel electrophoresis and transferred to PVDF membrane. Isolated protein was probed with anti EGFR antibody, following incubation with corresponding HRP-conjugated secondary antibody. Proteins were visualised using Clarity Western ECL Substrate. Protein bands from western blots were assessed by densitometric scanning of the bands and by statistical analysis of the resulting band intensities. Protein levels were normalised using  $\alpha$ -tubulin control. Comparisons between data sets were made using Student's t-test. Data presented as a graph is from a representative of 3 experiments conducted in triplicate. The data represents mean  $\pm$  SEM of triplicate blots. \* indicates *p*<0.05. +, with calcidiol or calcitriol; -, corresponding ethanol control.


Figure 3.6(c) The effect of calcidiol (250 nM) on EGFR protein levels in SCC-4 cells and primary keratinocytes SCC-4 and primary keratinocytes (PK) were treated with 250 nM calcidiol for 72 h. Total protein ran on SDS page gel electrophoresis and transferred to PVDF membrane. Isolated protein was probed with anti EGFR antibody, following incubation with corresponding HRP-conjugated secondary antibody. Proteins were visualised using Clarity Western ECL Substrate. Protein bands from western blots were assessed by densitometric scanning of the bands and by statistical analysis of the resulting band intensities. Protein levels were normalised using  $\alpha$ -tubulin control. Comparisons between data sets were made using Student's t-test. Data presented as a graph is from a representative of 3 experiments conducted in triplicate. The data represents mean ± SEM of triplicate blots. \* indicates *p*<0.05, \*\* *p*<0.005. +, with calcidiol; -, corresponding ethanol control.

## **3.3.6** Effects of calcidiol and calcitriol on fibroblast growth factor receptor **3** (FGFR3) protein expression in primary and malignant keratinocytes

FGF3 was originally identified as a proto-oncogene in virally-induced mouse mammary tumours (Antoine et.al., 2005). FGFR3 overexpression has been detected in breast cancer tissue when compared to normal tissue samples (Valladares et.al. 2006). FGFR3 overexpressed in metastatic hepatocellular carcinoma is associated with disease recurrence (Hu et.al., 2007). Furthermore, FGFR3 protein plays a role in melanoma, and, its overexpression has been associated with regulation of the MAPK pathway via inhibition of MEK activities (Yadav et.al., 2012). Targeting the FGFR3/RAS pathway was proposed for the development of new therapeutic agents to improve the outcome of melanoma patients (Yadav et.al., 2012). Hence, as FGFR3 is activated by MAPK signalling and VDR is known to have an impact on MAPK activity, the study of calcidiol-treated keratinocytes would be valuable in NMSC prevention and treatment.

SCC-4 cells and primary keratinocytes showed no effect in FGFR3 protein expression in the presence of calcidiol (100,000 nM) and calcitriol (100 nM) (Figure 3.7.a). However, significant inhibition of FGFR3 expression was noted in primary keratinocytes treated with calcidiol (100,000 nM) (p<0.05) when compared to corresponding ethanol control (Figure 3.7.b; Table 2). However, at lower calcidiol concentration (250 nM) the expression of FGFR3 was significantly increased in both SCC-4 cells and primary keratinocytes, compared to corresponding ethanol controls (p<0.05) (Figure 3.7c; Table 3.2). The inhibitory effects of calcidiol (100,000 nM) on FGFR3 expression in primary keratinocytes indicates that, antiproliferative effects (noted in Chapter 2) involve inhibition of FGFR3, whereas lower concentration (250 nM) promote the expression of FGFR3 (in both, primary keratinocytes and SCC-4 cells), which modulates cellular replication, growth and survival.



Figure 3.7(a, b) The effect of high dose calcidiol or calcitriol on fibroblast growth factor receptor 3 (FGFR3) protein levels in SCC-4 cells and primary keratinocytes.

a) SCC-4 and b) primary keratinocytes (PK) were treated with 100,000 nM calcidiol or 100 nM calcitriol for 72 h. Total protein ran on SDS page gel electrophoresis and transferred to PVDF membrane. Isolated protein was probed with anti FGFR3 antibody, following incubation with corresponding HRP-conjugated secondary antibody. Proteins were visualised using Clarity Western ECL Substrate. Protein bands from western blots were assessed by densitometric scanning of the bands and by statistical analysis of the resulting band intensities. Protein levels were normalised using  $\alpha$ -tubulin control. Comparisons between data sets were made using Student's t-test. Data presented as a graph is from a representative of 3 experiments conducted in triplicate. The data represents mean  $\pm$  SEM of triplicate blots. \* indicates *p*<0.05. +, with calcidiol or calcitriol; -, corresponding ethanol control.



Figure 3.7(c) The effect of calcidiol (250 nM) on FGFR3 protein levels in SCC-4 cells and primary keratinocytes SCC-4 and primary keratinocytes (PK) were treated with 250 nM calcidiol for 72 h. Total protein ran on SDS page gel electrophoresis and transferred to PVDF membrane. Isolated protein was probed with anti FGFR3 antibody, following incubation with corresponding HRP-conjugated secondary antibody. Proteins were visualised using Clarity Western ECL Substrate. Protein bands from western blots were assessed by densitometric scanning of the bands and by statistical analysis of the resulting band intensities. Protein levels were normalised using  $\alpha$ -tubulin control. Comparisons between data sets were made using Student's t-test. Data presented as a graph is from a representative of 3 experiments conducted in triplicate. The data represents mean ± SEM of triplicate blots. \* indicates *p*<0.05. +, with calcidiol; -, corresponding ethanol control.

# **3.3.7 Effects of calcidiol and calcitriol on proliferating cell nuclear antigen (PCNA) protein** expression in primary and malignant keratinocytes

Proliferating cell nuclear antigen (PCNA) systematic name derived due to its discovery, as a protein was initially detected in the nucleus of dividing cells (Miyachi et.al, 1978; Essers et.al., 2005). PCNA is very well known for its role in DNA replication, particularly in PCNA tethers the polymerase catalytic unit to the DNA template for rapid DNA synthesis (Kelman, 1997). Whilst regulation of PCNA expression by vitamin D metabolites is largely dependent to the cell type and specifications, PCNA protein expression in response to calcidiol and calcitriol in malignant keratinocytes is not clear.

Herein, it is demonstrated that SCC-4 cells and primary keratinocytes treated with calcidiol (100,000 nM) or calcitriol (100 nM) showed no statistically significant difference in PCNA expression compared to their corresponding ethanol controls (Figure 3.8.a,b; Table 3.2).





a) SCC-4 and b) primary keratinocytes (PK) were treated with 100,000 nM calcidiol or 100 nM calcitriol for 72 h. Total protein ran on SDS page gel electrophoresis and transferred to PVDF membrane. Isolated protein was probed with anti PCNA antibody, following incubation with corresponding HRP-conjugated secondary antibody. Proteins were visualised using Clarity Western ECL Substrate. Protein bands from western blots were assessed by densitometric scanning of the bands and by statistical analysis of the resulting band intensities. Protein levels were normalised using  $\alpha$ -tubulin control. Comparisons between data sets were made using Student's t-test. Data presented as a graph is from a representative of 3 experiments conducted in triplicate. The data represents mean  $\pm$  SEM of triplicate blots. \* indicates *p*<0.05. +, with calcidiol or calcitriol; -, corresponding ethanol control.

### **3.4 Discussion**

The immunoblotting studies demonstrated that calcidiol (and calcitriol) effects on the expression of vitamin D metabolic enzymes is largely dependent on the metabolite concentration as well as cell specificity (malignant vs normal keratinocytes). Our results also show that these effects are not exclusively controlled via VDR-mediated manner. The effects of calcidiol and calcitriol on the expression of vitamin D metabolic enzymes (CYP27A1, CY27B1, CYP24A1), VDR and tumour driving proteins (EGFR, FGFR3, PCNA) in primary and malignant keratinocytes are summarised in Table 3.2.

keratmocytes and SCC-4 cens.							
	Calcitriol 100 nM		Calcidiol 100,000 nM	М	Calcidiol 250 nM		
	SCC-4	РК	SCC-4	РК	SCC-4	РК	
CYP27A1	-	-	-	-	-	<b>↑</b>	
<b>CYP27B1</b>	$\downarrow\downarrow$	-	-	-	$\uparrow\uparrow$	<b>↑</b>	
CYP24A1	1	-	↑	-	-	-	
VDR	-	-	-	-	$\uparrow$	-	
EGFR	-	-	-	-	-	-	
FGFR3	-	-	-	$\downarrow$	$\uparrow$	$\uparrow$	
PCNA	_	_	_	_	N	/A	

Table 3.2.Summary of calcidiol and calcitriol treatments in primary<br/>keratinocytes and SCC-4 cells.

PK, primary keratinocytes; SCC-4, malignant keratinocytes; (-) no effect observed; ( $\uparrow$ ) protein upregulation (p<0.05); ( $\uparrow\uparrow$ ) protein upregulation (p<0.05); ( $\downarrow$ ) protein downregulation (p<0.05); N/A, not available

# **3.4.1.** The effects of calcidiol and calcitriol on the expression of VDR in human primary keratinocytes and SCC-4 cells.

The results from the immunoblot assays indicate that in cultured human keratinocytes the effects of calcidiol (or calcitriol) are not exclusively modulated via VDR-dependent manner. It was noted that VDR expression is changed only in SCC-4 cells in response to 250 nM calcidiol; without obvious changes in protein expression in primary keratinocytes and SCC-4 cells when treated at higher doses of calcitriol (100 nM) and calcidiol (100,000 nM). It appears that this regulation in response to high concentrations of metabolites may be bypassing VDR-related pathways and may exert antiproliferative effects via alternative molecular signalling. Further studies however are required to confirm this.

These findings did not come as a total surprise, as it was suggested earlier that calcitriol inhibitory effect on cultured keratinocytes is independent of the VDR regulation (Tang et.al., 2011). Similarly, the observed effects of calcidiol and calcitriol may not involve VDR mediated

signal transduction in normal keratinocytes. Whilst the responsiveness of SCC-4 cells in VDR expression could simply be due to malfunction in VDR signalling.

These lower doses showed absence of an antiproliferative effect in malignant SCC-4 cells. Perhaps, this finding may be explained in parts by the alternative mechanism of calcidiol cell entry, such as via heat shock 70kDa protein (HSP70) that was shown in lymphoblastoid cell line (Adams, 1998). It was demonstrated that the affinity of calcidiol for HSP70 is much higher than for VDR (Adams & Gacad, 1998). HSP70 is a member of the molecular chaperone protein family that is present in all eukaryotic cells (Kiang et.al., 1998). In vivo and in vitro studies have shown that various stressors increase production of HSPs as a protection against harmful insults (Kiang et.al., 1998). Increased levels of HSP70 in neoplastic keratinocytes may occur after exposure to calcidiol. Interestingly, it has been reported that cellular uptake of calcidiol requires vitamin D binding protein which may only be true for the kidney, which expresses megalin. Megalin mediated uptake of calcidiol has not been demonstrated in keratinocytes, however in mammary-derived cells megalin (and cubilin) contributes to the cellular calcidiol uptake and activation of the VDR pathway (Rowling et.al., 2006). Since megalin was detected in human keratinocytes of the scalp and hair follicles (Adly et.al., 2010), its may have a role in calcidiol uptake in keratinocytes. The molecular mechanism of calcidiol uptake in keratinocytes should be further investigated as megalin mediated endocytosis occurs in verity of cells and could be useful in better understanding cutaneous vitamin D pathways. These mechanisms of vitamin D metabolic interactions most likely occur in vitro, when cells are treated without the addition of vitamin D binding protein as a vehicle for intracellular delivery of calcidiol, as illustrated in Figure 1.3.

The VDR involvement in inhibitory effects observed in proliferation and migration need to be investigated further, as the results of immunoblot showed the lack of VDR mediatory activity.

# **3.4.2** The effects of calcidiol and calcitriol on the expression of CYP27A1 in human primary keratinocytes and SCC-4 cells.

In immunoblotting experiments the expression of mitochondrial CYP27A1 was investigated. In primary keratinocytes and SCC-4 cells treated with high concentrations of calcidiol and calcitriol no obvious effects in expression of CYP27A1 were noted; whilst stimulatory cellular responsiveness to 250 nM calcidiol was evident in primary (p<0.05), but not malignant keratinocytes. This finding is in agreement with other studies where the expression of CYP27A1 had no effect in human gingival fibroblast cells treated with 1,000 nM calcidiol precursor, cholecalciferol (Liu et.al., 2012). The lack of effect on CYP27A1 expression at higher calcidiol concentrations, could be triggered by the lack in demand in enzymatic activity in both (primary

and malignant keratinocytes) where the abundance of calcidiol substrate results in no effect on cellular expression of CYP27A1.

The effect of calcidiol on CYP27A1 expression is demonstrated for the first time in malignant SCC-4 keratinocytes. These findings suggest that in neoplastic keratinocytes cellular responsiveness in CYP27A1 protein expression to calcidiol and calcitriol treatment is altered. Whilst normal keratinocytes are only responsive at lower calcidiol dose (250 nM), this suggests that higher calcidiol concentration does not affect CYP27A1 expression in keratinocytes.

This lack of effects at high doses was expected due to our earlier findings of VDR protein expression in response to calcidiol and calcitriol. Moreover, it was difficult to predict the CYP27A1 expression in SCC-4 cells due to the aberrant cellular nature in response to vitamin D treatment (Ratnam et.al., 1996).

Meanwhile, it is well known that CYP27A1 plays an important role in catalysis of multiple oxidation reactions in bile acid synthesis in converting dietary vitamin D to active metabolite, mostly microsomal and mitochondrial hydroxylation by several CYP450 hydroxylases (CYP2C11, CYP2D25, CYP3A4, CYP2J1, CYP27A1, and CYP2R1). Whilst, microsomal CYP2R1 was identified to be an important hydroxylase that regulates the process of calcidiol synthesis in human keratinocytes (Cheng et.al., 2004), it was reported that mitochondrial hydroxylation by CYP27A1 represents a driving role in vitamin D metabolism (Endo-Umeda et.al., 2014); where via CYP27A1 activity catabolism of 7-DHC into metabolites that activate nuclear receptor signaling. Interestingly, it was demonstrated that knock down of CYP27A1 in human gingival fibroblasts cells, calcidiol synthesis was significantly decreased, when compared to control cells. However, knock down of CYP2R1 had no effect on calcidiol production (Liu et.al., 2012).

CYP27A1 is an interesting molecular target that may help to establish vitamin D efficacy in cutaneous neoplasm prevention and treatment.

# **3.4.3.** The effects of calcidiol and calcitriol on the expression of CYP27B1 in human primary keratinocytes and SCC-4 cells.

A statistically significant increase in CYP27B1 expression in response to calcidiol (250 nM) treatment in primary and malignant SCC-4 cells was noted; the same effect was not observed in both cells with higher calcidiol concentration (100,000 nM). Therefore, the lack of this negative feedback regulation may explain the increased CYP27B1 protein expression observed in keratinocytes when treated with calcidiol (250 nM), with unexpected withdrawal of apparent effect at higher dose (100,000 nM). The lack of effect in response to higher concentrations may be due to oversaturation of the substrate-enzyme complex and subsequent lack of responsiveness in

CYP27B1 protein expression. Whilst, CYP27B1 expression in human keratinocytes was shown not to be regulated by calcitriol 0.01 - 10 nM concentrations (Xie et.al., 2002). However, decreases in CYP27B1 expression (p<0.005) was noted in malignant keratinocytes in response to 100 nM calcitriol treatment, surprisingly without noticeable effects in primary keratinocytes. Inhibition of CYP27B1 expression by 100 nM calcitriol, is supported by earlier observations reported by (Lechner et.al., 2006), where similar effects on expression of *CYP27B1* mRNA in colon, prostate and mammary gland-derived cells were demonstrated.

Although, further studies are required to assess the CYP27B1enzyme kinetic in response to calcidiol in malignant SCC-4 keratinocytes. Extra-renal CYP27B1 protein expression (in both normal and cancer cells) appear not to be regulated by endocrine mediators, such as, parathyroid hormone (PTH) (Young et.al., 2004). Hence, in cultured keratinocytes, the extent of calcidiol conversion to calcitriol was not regulated by the normal feedback system mediated by renal CYP27B1 (Haussler t al., 2010).

## **3.4.4.** The effects of calcidiol and calcitriol on the expression of CYP24A1 in human primary keratinocytes and SCC-4 cells.

As expected, immunoblotting studies demonstrated that expression of CYP24A1 is significantly upregulated in neoplastic SCC-4 cells in response to high concentrations of calcidiol and calcitriol, but not in primary keratinocytes. Hence, calcidiol and calcitriol may exert influence on CYP24A1 protein expression in malignant keratinocytes. It was indicated that CYP24A1 is strongly induced by calcitriol and often serves as a marker of cellular responsiveness to calcitriol (Bikle, 2014).

Moreover, the transcriptional activation of *CYP24A1* mRNA levels induced by calcidiol and calcitriol were shown to be very similar in prostate cells (Munetsuna et.al., 2014). The upregulation of CYP24A1 was reported to be VDR-mediated and dependent on VDR translocation (Munetsuna et.al., 2014). This is indicative of decreases in bioavailable calcidiol degradation by CYP24A1. In SCC-4 cells, higher levels of CYP24A1 could represent a compensatory cellular response to calcidiol and calcitriol treatment, in order to catabolise the potentially toxic substances to neoplastic cells (Jones et.al., 2012).

Surprisingly, upregulation in CYP24A1 expression in response to high concentrations of calcidiol (100,000 nM) in SCC-4 cells, appears not to be dependent on VDR; whilst at lower calcidiol concentration (250 nM), no effects on CYP24A1 expression were apparent. These results indicate that catabolic CYP24A1 may be required in the regulation of malignant keratinocytes and may further contribute to cancer progression by degradation of vitamin D metabolites.

The mechanism of this process remains elusive, as it has not been established whether calcidiol exerts its actions via nuclear, membrane or cytoplasmic VDR actions, or via alternative pathways (Figure 3.9) (Srinivasan et.al., 2011).

# 3.4.5. The effects of calcidiol and calcitriol on the expression of FGFR3, EGFR and PCNA in human primary keratinocytes and SCC-4 cells.

The results of immunoblot experiments demonstrate that FGFR3 expression is stimulated following calcidiol (250 nM) treatment of primary keratinocytes and SCC-4 cells. Contrastingly, the lack of responsiveness to calcidiol at higher concentrations was noted in SCC-4 cells. However, inhibition of tumour promoting protein FGFR3 expression was observed in primary keratinocytes treated with 100,000 nM calcidiol. This suggests that in primary keratinocytes calcidiol exerts its actions via molecular mechanism that is impaired in SCC-4 cells.

Interestingly, calcitriol 100 nM had no effect on FGFR3 expression in primary or malignant keratinocytes. This is indicative that calcidiol (100,000 nM) inhibition of FGFR3 expression in primary keratinocytes mediated via a different pathway compare to SCC-4 cells (possibly, without involvement MAPK classical signalling). However, this needs to be further investigated. To the student's knowledge, the effects of calcidiol on FGFR3 have not been previously described in highly metastatic SCC-4 keratinocytes and compared to primary epidermal keratinocytes.

FGFR3 is well recognised for its involvement in underlying mechanisms of tumour initiation, growth and migration in number of cancers (Zhou et.al., 2015). Paradoxically, it was suggested that low FGRR3 expression has an association with better survival in patients with urothelial bladder cancer (UBC) (Amaral et.al., 2012). Where it was suggested, that mutations in FGFR3 have been identified as a positive factor in cancer survival, it is not surprising that increases in mutated FGFR3 expression led to decreased tumour survival. However, this study also indicated that the overexpression and FGFR3 mutation also associated with better patient outcome, and low levels of circulatory calcidiol are indicative of a high risk of more aggressive forms of UBC. Conversely, in pancreatic cancer it was found that high FGFR3 nuclear expression is associated with poor overall and disease-free survival (Zhou et.al., 2015).

Furthermore, the influence of calcidiol and calcitriol on tumour modulatory markers EGFR and PCNA were also examined. It was apparent that both metabolites (calcidiol and calcitriol) had no influence on the EGFR and PCNA protein expression in primary and malignant keratinocytes. This is indicative that vitamin D mediated pathways may have alternative mechanisms of action.

Moreover, using an animal model (Sprague-Dawley rats) of advanced renal failure the mechanisms parathyroid hyperplasia, combined calcitriol/anti-EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitors

(TKI) therapy showed effectively to inhibit parathyroid hyperplasia (Dusso et.al., 2004). Where 100 nM calcitriol (as well as non-antiproliferative calcitriol doses) was shown to potentiate anti-EGFR TKI therapy. It was also demonstrated that calcitriol-induced decreased proliferation was corresponding to decreases in PCNA protein expression in these cells. In contrast, PCNA protein expression examination has shown lack of apparent changes in primary and malignant keratinocytes. This corresponds to other published literature, suggesting the lack of PCNA responsiveness to calcitriol in keratinocytes (Penneys et.al., 1994; Einspahr et.al., 1999; Moor et.al., 2004).

All together, these finding warrants further investigations of the molecular events associated with calcidiol and calcitriol interactions with MAPK signalling pathways and its influence on EGFR, FGFR3 and PCNA.





Calcidiol or calcitriol enters the cell via HSP70 (or via the classical pathway via VDR) following mitochondrial multistep CYP450 hydroxylation. The conversion of calcidiol to the active hormone, calcitriol resulting in antiproliferative, apoptotic and anti-migratory actions in neoplastic cells via modulation of oncogene expression (c-Myc, c-Fos, c-Jun), resulting in activation of p21, which regulates the cell cycle, and Apaf1, which controls cell death. Calcidiol and calcitriol also play a role in the regulation of extracellular communication. Calcidiol regulates the MAPK pathway via direct cytosolic signalling. Three cellular VDRs are expressed in keratinocytes: cytosolic, peripheral and nuclear receptors. The mechanism of VDR activation in neoplastic keratinocytes has never been established experimentally. HSP70 appears to be another channel for calcidiol intracellular delivery (Bachelor & Bowen, 2004; Barsony et.al., 1997; Huhtakangas 2004; Rossi et.al., 2004; Yadav et.al., 2012); KEGGS Pathway Database (<http://www.genome.jp/kegg/pathway>, viewed January 2016).

### **3.5 Conclusions**

In summary, the findings demonstrate:

- For the first time in one study the effects of vitamin D metabolites (calcidiol and calcitriol) on expression of vitamin D metabolic enzymes, VDR and tumour driving proteins in primary and malignant SCC-4 keratinocytes
- It was shown that primary and neoplastic cells exhibit selective sensitivity to alteration in vitamin D enzymes (particularly, CYP27B1 and CYP24A1) in response calcidiol and calcitriol treatment. To the authors knowledge this is the first time the changes in CYP27B1 and CYP24A1 protein expression are shown in response to calcidiol in SCC-4 cells.
- 3. It was evident that EGFR and PCNA expression are not affected by calcidiol or calcitriol.
- 4. We demonstrate calcidiol dose dependent effects in primary and malignant keratinocytes, where at lower concentration (250 nM) stimulation in FGFR3 expression was noted in both cell types. Whilst at higher calcidiol dose (100, 000 nM) an inhibitory effects was observed only in primary keratinocytes. This finding suggests that calcidiol may exert a suppressive effects on tumour promoting markers at high concentrations and the mechanism of this inhibition can have a role in development of therapeutic agents against neoplastic formation.
- 5. These data may indicate that antiproliferative effects of calcidiol in SCC-4 keratinocytes do not involve EGFR/FGFR3 modulation in MAPK pathway signalling. The antiproliferative effects (observed in chapter 2) could have an alternative molecular mechanism excluding MAPK. Further investigations are required to understand the molecular interactions of vitamin D metabolites in neoplastic and primary keratinocytes

#### **CHAPTER 4.**

### VITAMIN D METABOLIC ENZYMES AND RECEPTOR IN NON-MELANOMA SKIN CANCERS: A ROLE IN THE DERMAL–EPIDERMAL RELATIONSHIP

#### **4.1 Introduction**

The relationship between intacrine vitamin D metabolic enzymes status and non-melanoma skin cancers (NMSCs) is not entirely clear. There are some inconsistencies and contradictory reports regarding circulatory calcidiol levels and NMSC: whilst some studies show beneficial effects of high circulatory calcidiol levels, others present contrary observations (Tang et.al., 2010; Afzal et.al., 2013). Limited clinical studies and several in vitro reports indicate a connection between vitamin D metabolic key players and NMSC by demonstrating inhibitory effects on tumour cells and positive effects of higher circulatiory vitamin D (calcidiol) in skin cancer prevention (Satake et.al., 2003; Akutsu et.al., 2001; Gibson et.al., 1998; Gedlicka et.al., 2006; Tang et.al., 2010; Köstner et.al., 2012; Liang et.al., 2012).

The role of vitamin D metabolites and its tumour suppressive effects has been shown in a number of cancer types, such as breast, colorectal, endometrial and lung cancers (de Lyra et.al., 2006; Spina et.al., 2007; Zhang et.al., 2007; Ramirez et.al., 2009; Guan et.al., 2013; Bergada et.al., 2014). Limited reports on the relationship between some types of skin cancers and vitamin D metabolites, indicate a need for further investigation of vitamin D metabolic enzymes and their receptor expression in NMSC (Köstner et.al., 2012; Tang et.al., 2010). It was reported that decreased circulatory calcidiol inversely associated with the risk of NMSC (Tang et.al., 2010). In addition, CYP27B1 expression is reduced in more advanced melanoma skin lesions, and there is an inverse association with proliferative marker Ki-67 expression. It was shown that lack of CYP27B1 is linked to decreased melanoma aggressiveness in humans and plays a role in disease pathogenesis and progression (Brożyna et.al., 2014a). Surpisingly, authors also report a positive correlation between CYP27B1 expression with that of CYP24A1 and VDR (Brożyna et.al., 2014b). This may be explained, in part, by upregulation of CYP24A1 by calcitriol (the product of CYP27B1 activity) via VDR activation (Jones et.al., 2011). However, if this is so, the lack of both (CYP27B and CYP24A1) expression with decreased free survival is hard to comprehend. Hence, the role of vitamin D metabolism in cutaneous carcinogenesis is still poorly understood. There is a clear demand for further studies to examine the expression of vitamin D metabolic enzymes in NMSC.

Vitamin D synthesis is mediated via mitochondrial cytochrome P450 family hydroxylase enzymatic reactions: anabolic and catabolic hydroxylases (CYP27A1, CYP27B1 or CYP24A1).

There have been reports showing the importance of vitamin D enzymes and their receptors, however their role in NMSC is limited (Bergada et.al., 2014; de Lyra et.al., 2006; Spina et.al., 2007; Jiang et.al., 2014, Zhang et.al., 2007; Ramirez et.al., 2009; Guan et.al., 2013). Low circularoty calcidiol levels have been linked to decreases in VDR acivity in endometrial cancers. Increase of intratumoural calcidiol was proposed to be due to an increase in CYP27A1 expression and increased VDR-antiproliferative actions (Bergada et.al., 2014). Interestingly, it was shown that lower circulatory calcitriol (but not calcidiol), was found in breast cancer patients (de Lyra et.al., 2006). It was also shown that CYP27B1, CYP24A1 and VDR mRNA were found to have the same level of expression of mRNA in breast tumours and normal mammary tissue (de Lyra et.al., 2006). Futhermore, the importance of VDR in skin cancer development was demonstrated in mouse keratinocytes. Deletion of VDR resulted in decreased tumor suppressor genes (H19, HOTTIP and Nespas, Kcnqlotl, lincRNA-p21, Foxn2-as, Gtl2-as, H19-as) and increased expression of oncogenes (mHOTAIR, Malat1 and SRA) (Jiang et.al., 2014). As discussed in Chapter 3, VDR and vitamin D metabolic enzymes interact with tumour regulatory proteins in malignant cells thereby influencing tumour formation, growth and preventing angiogenic spread (Garland et.al., 2009; Vanoirbeek et.al., 2011). Tumour promotion and progression is strongly connected to VDR and its metabolic enzymes.

Vitamin D hydroxylases may play an important role in tumourigenesis. Their functions are expanded far beyond vitamin D synthesis and degradation. CYP27A1 induction has been observed in human prostate epithelial cell lines in response to the vitamin D precursor, cholecalcifrol, treatment, where inhibition of the cellular changes associated with malignant transformation and invasion was detected (Tokar and Webber, 2005). Reduced enzymatic activity of activating the vitamin D enzyme, CYP27B1 (encoded by *CYP27B1*) is noted in aggressive types of melanomas (Brożyna et.al., 2013). More recently the crucial role of CYP27A1 in modulation of VDR activation suggest that CYP27A1 plays a vital role in cancinogenesis (Endo-Umeda et.al., 2014).

NMSCs can be seen as a spectrum of skin pathologies, with neoplastic formation with or without signs of inflammation (Emoto & Nakamura, 2008). Human skin consists of two tissue layers, namely a keratinised stratified epidermis and an underlying thick layer of collagen-rich dermal connective tissue. The dermal layer is mainly composed of an extracellular connective tissue matrix, and plays an important role in tumour formation (Staiano-Coico & Higgins, 1992; Teichert et.al., 2011). The initiation of skin tumours is associated with low serum levels of calcidiol (Oberyszyn, 2008; Tang et.al., 2010). Furthermore, calcitriol has inhibitory effects on

tumour promoting genes in various cells, including keratinocyes (Chantalvan et.al., 2004; Palmer et.al., 2008; Tokar & Webber 2005a).

Indeed, calcitriol can inhibit growth of malignant cells both in vitro and in vivo (Xie et.al., 1999; Ben-Shoshan et.al., 2007; Biauer et.al., 2009; Vinceti et.al., 2011; Song et.al., 2013a). Interestingly, treatment with calcitriol is able to protect keratinocytes against solar UV radiation-induced mutagenesis, which is considered to be the principal cause of cutaneous neoplasm formation (Trémezaygues et.al., 2010).

The preventative effects of high endogenous vitamin D levels on the development of neoplastic growth and its aggressiveness has been suggeted by several studies (Tang et.al., 2010; Gugatschka et.al., 2011). Vitamin D receptor regulatory role in cancer is shown in numerous reports, including suppression of oncogenes, induction of tumour suppressor genes, inhibition of proliferation and migration of malignant cells, prevention of metastasis and angiogenesis (Jiang et.al., 2013; Köstner et.al., 2012; Haussler et.al., 2011; Lopes et.al., 2010; Essa et.al., 2010; Chung et.al., 2009; Leyssens, 2013).

It is hypothesised that VDR and vitamin D metabolic enzymes that are involved in synthesis and degradation of vitamin D may be involved in the regulation of the pathophysiological progression of cutaneous tumourigenesis.

The main goal of this study was to analyse vitamin D metabolic enzymes (CYP27A1, CYP27B1 and CYP24A1) expression and VDR in AK, BCC, SCC, SCCIS and normal human skin. In addition, the expression of tumour-driving proteins, such as EGFR, FGFR3, EGF, FGF3, VEGF and PCNA was examined.

#### 4.2 Materials and methods

#### 4.2.1 Tissue samples

NMSC (actinic keratosis (AK), basal cell carcinoma (BCC), squamous cell carcinoma (SCC) and squamous cell carcinoma in situ (SCCIS)) specimens were provided from the archival collection of the Department of Dermatology, St Vincent's Hospital, Fitzroy, Australia, with the support of Professor Rod Sinclair. Specimens were prepared at the HistoLab Laboratory, Melbourne, Australia, with the assistance of a certified pathologist, Dr Andrew Ryan. Normal skin tissue sections were obtained from commercial sources with consideration of age and skin colour (Resolving Images Pty Ltd., Victoria, Australia). Ethics approval was obtained from Department of Dermatology, St Vincent Hospital and Victoria University, Melbourne, Australia.

The characteristics of the tumour specimens and patient demographics are shown in Table 4.1: 20 BCCs (n = 14), 15 AKs (n = 12), 12 SCCIS (n = 9), 8 SCCs (n = 8) and normal skin (n=5) from patients aged 41–93 years.

 Table 4.1. Specimen characteristics.

	AK		SCCIS		BCC		SCC		Normal skin	
	Male	Fem	Male	Fem	Male	Fem	Male	Fem	Male	Fem
Tumour specimens (number)	1	5	1	2	2	0	8			5
Patients (number)	6	6	4	5	13	1	7	1	3	2
Patient mean age (years)	62	68	72	73	68	72	60	64	51	39

The original dermatopathology reports were reviewed to verify the diagnosis. All tumours were coded; the patient's age and sex were provided after immunohistochemical analysis of the sections. The patient number does not always match the tumour specimen number, as some tumours were obtained as a result of multiple excisions from the same patient. Tumour tissue sections were compared to sections of AK, a condition well known as a precursor for BCC and SCC. Additionally, protein expression of normal skin tissue samples were used as a secondary control in these experiments.

#### 4.2.2 Reagents

Biotinylated universal antibody streptavidin–biotin (LSAB+) System–HRP (K4063) and diaminobenzidine (DAB) were purchased from Dako, Australia.

Xylene, histological grade (FSBX 0250/17), Myer's Haematoxylin Solution (FNNII007) and DePex mountant (FNII023) were obtained from Lomb Scientific, Australia.

The primary unconjugated antibodies were obtained from Santa Cruz Biotechnology, USA and used at the optimised dilutions (1:1,000). The antibodies were supplied at the amount of 200  $\mu$ g and with the specifications as described in Table 4.2

Table 4.2	Specificity	of primary	antibodies
-----------	-------------	------------	------------

Primary	Size of	Dilution	Specificity	Cross-	Product code
antibody	protein	Factor		reactivity	Manufacturer
Polyclonal	60 kDa	1:100	Recognises epitope	Human,	(P-17; sc-14835),
goat anti-human			mapping near the N-	mouse, rat	Santa Cruz
CYP27A1 (IgG)			terminus of CYP27A1		Biotechnology, USA
polyclonal	56 kDa	1:100	Recognises amino acids	Human,	(H-90; sc-67261),
rabbit anti-			221-310 mapping within	mouse,	Santa Cruz
human			an internal region of	and to a	Biotechnology,
CYP27B1(IgG)			CYP27B1	lesser	USA
				extent rat,	
				porcine	
polyclonal	65 kDa	1:100	Recognises amino acids	Human,	(H-87; sc-66851),
rabbit anti-			351-437 mapping near	mouse, rat	Santa Cruz
human			the C-terminus of		Biotechnology, USA
CYP24A1 (IgG)			CYP24		
polyclonal	53 kDa	1:50	Recognises amino acids	Human,	(H-81; sc-9164),
rabbit anti-			344-424 of VDR	mouse, rat	SantaCruz
human VDR					Biotechnology, USA
(IgG)					
polyclonal	170 kDa	1:50	Recognises a peptide	Human,	(1005; sc-03),
rabbit anti-			mapping at the C-	mouse, rat	SantaCruz
human EGFR			terminus of EGFR		Biotechnology, USA
(lgG)		1 1 0 0			
polyclonal goat	6 kDa	1:100	Recognises a peptide	Human,	(sc-1343),
anti-human			mapping at the C-	mouse, rat	SantaCruz
EGF	0710	1.50	terminus of EGF		Biotechnology, USA
polyclonal	97 kDa	1:50	Recognises an epitope	Human,	(C-15,sc-123),
rabbit anti-			mapping at the C-	mouse, rat	SantaCruz
numan FGFR3	2110	1 100	terminus of FGFR3	TT	Biotechnology, USA
polycional goat	31 KDa	1:100	Recognises an epitope	Human,	(sc-33962),
anti-numan			mapping at the N-	mouse, rat	SantaCruz Diotochnology USA
FGF3	42 kDa	1.100	Desegnizes a partide	Human	biotechnology, USA
polycional goat	42 KDa	1:100	monning at the N	Huillall,	(SC-152),
VECE(A, 20)			torminus of VECE A	mouse, rat	SamaCruz Diotochnology USA
VEGF (A-20)	26 kDa	1.100	<sup>35S</sup> -mothioning labelled	Humon	(DC10, M0970)
mouso enti	50 KDa	1.100	avtract of CV 1 colls	Tuman	(FC10, M0079) Dako Australia
human PCNA			(an immortalised cell		Dako, Australia
$(I_{\alpha}C^{2}a)$			line of monkey kidney		
(IgG2a)			epithelial		
			cells) reacts primarily		
			with a polypoptido		
			corresponding to $PCN\Delta$		

The secondary antibodies: polyclonal rabbit anti-goat Ig (1:500) and polyclonal goat antirabbit Ig (1:500) polyclonal were obtained from Dako, Australia.

#### **4.2.3 Tissue preparation**

10 % formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded block specimens of AK, BCC, SCC, SCCIS and normal skin tissue were sectioned using a rotary microtome at 3  $\mu$ m. The tissue sections were transferred to a flotation bath of distilled water (dH<sub>2</sub>O) at 50 °C, followed by fixation onto glass slides (Superfrost (+); Thermo Scientific, Australia). Tissue sections were affixed to the slides by further incubation overnight at 60 °C.

Tissue samples were dewaxed using organic solvent (xylene) and a series of graded ethanol incubations (100 %, 70 % and 30 %).

## 4.2.4 Immunohistochemical detection of vitamin D metabolic enzymes and receptor expression in human BCC, SCC, SCCIS, AK and normal tissues

Antigen retrieval was performed with 10 mM sodium citrate buffer, pH 6.0, for 10 min at 95 °C. Tissue endogenous peroxidase activity was blocked using 3 % hydrogen peroxide and sections were blocked with 10 % bovine serum albumin (BSA) for 1 h at room temperature. Samples were incubated with the primary antibody diluted in 10% BSA/PBS. For negative control sections, the primary antibody step was omitted. Biotinylated universal antibody (Labelled Streptavidin Biotin (LSAB) + System– Horseradish Peroxidase (HRP)) was used as a secondary antibody. Subsequently, samples were treated with streptavidin conjugated to HRP at room temperature. To visualise staining, sections were incubated with the substrate-chromogen solution 3, 3 – diaminobenzidine (DAB). Tissues were counterstained in haematoxylin, followed by a series of washes with ethanol (30 %, 70 %, 100 %) and xylene. Slides were coverslipped with DePex mountant.

#### 4.2.5 Assessment of immunostaining and statistical justification

All stained sections were reviewed independently by 2-3 investigators. Staining intensity was graded as poor, moderate or strong. This scoring system was adapted as previously described (Table 4.2) (Atkins et.al., 2004; Zhou et.al., 2014).

In the optimisation experiments for immunohistochemical (IHC) detection of VDR protein, use of the monoclonal antibody sc-13133 was not very successful. The decision was made to use a broader spectrum polyclonal antibody that would provide a better signal of the target protein, even though on occasion there was some non-specific labelling.

It is important to establish here the definitions of tumour and tumour stroma. As in many tissues, the stromal cells in tumours are non-malignant cells, including fibroblasts and numerous types of immune cells, which are intermixed with tumour cells. In the past century, the seed and the soil hypothesis has given rise to a more comprehensive current understanding of the malignant

tumour cell (seed) and the surrounding microenvironment (soil) (Bremnes et.al., 2011). The stromal environment affects the progression of tumours and helps determine the aggressiveness of malignant cancers. It was shown that stromal fibroblasts can enhance tumour cell motility by stimulating the NF-kB pathway and activating MMP-9 (Ikebe et.al., 2004). Hence, the stroma is made up of the non-malignant cells surrounding the tumour, such as carcinoma-associated fibroblasts, epidermal mesenchymal cells, innate and adaptive immune cells and vascular endothelial cells, as well as the extracellular matrix structural proteins: collagen, fibrillin, fibronectin, elastin and proteoglycans (Bremnes et.al., 2011).

 Table 4.2. Protein intensity evaluation, according to the score of DAB development in tissue sections.

Level of protein expression							
Negative control	Poor (low)	Moderate	High				
(Not expressed)							
No staining (less	Less than 5 % of	Approximately	More than 10% of				
than 0.5% ) visible	cells in the tissue	5–10% of the tissue	the tissue stained				
section	stained	stained	very extensively				
A)	B)	C)	D)				

The neoplastic skin lesions are representatives of the staining intensity scoring system for protein expression:

A) Negative control or non-specific staining, where the DAB stain was not developed due to an absence of primary antibody. B) Poor/low staining intensity, where less than 5 % of tissue took up the stain, and staining is weak and incomplete.

C) Moderate staining intensity, where 5 - 10 % of tissue is stained.

D) High staining intensity, where more than 10% of tissue is stained.

DAB reagent was applied to all experimental tissues, resulting in various degrees substrate-chromogen development. (As per protocol of IHC detection by the immunoperoxidase/DAB system; see Appendix G for details.)

#### 4.2.6 Statistical justification

The relationship between vitamin D metabolic proteins and tumour modulatory protein expression in tumour sections and normal skin was determined by IBM Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) Statistics software using Multivariable Cross-tabulation Chi-Square test. The correlation was considered statistically significant with p<0.05. Only the key correlative data was included in the thesis. Extensive analysis of this data has been calculate and will be available on request.

#### 4.3 Results

## 4.3.1 Evaluation of vitamin D metabolic enzymes and VDR expression in human tissue samples of AK, BCC, SCC, SCCIS and normal skin

The immunohistochemical experiments were conducted using cancerous and normal skin tissues. Of note, donor' age and gender of the commercially prepared normal tissues were matched to human tumour tissues. Unfortunately, some of the normal tissue were lost during the staining process during the multiple serial washes, leading to reduction in the sample numbers. Despite a decrease in the sample numbers the normal tissue immunoreactivity of vitamin D metabolic enzymes and receptor was compared to precancerous and cancerous skin lesions.

Staining of NMSC sections showed the expression of vitamin D enzymes (CYP27A1, CYP27B1 and CYP24A1) and VDR protein dependent on the cell location (predominantly in epidermal keratinocytes) and type in normal, precancerous and cancerous human skin.

CYP27A1 detection in human NMSC demonstrated differential staining intensity in epidermal keratinocytes and dermal fibroblasts. More intense staining was observed in keratinised layers, with moderate (AK and SCCIS) to high (SCC and BCC) expression observed in epidermal keratinocytes (Figure 4.2). Interestingly, high staining intensity of CYP27A1 was also observed in normal skin. Similarly, IHC detection of vitamin CYP27A1, has been shown in colon cancer (Matusiak & Benya, 2007), endometrial carcinomas and normal endometrial tissues (Bergada et.al., 2014).

The detection of CYP27B1 (CYP27B1) cutaneous tumours revealed minimal staining intensity in the tissues, indicating decreased level of expression of CYP27B1 in the majority of NMSC (Figure 4.3). In contrast, CYP27B was highly expressed in normal skin (Figure 4.3).

The expression of catabolic CYP24A1 expression in normal skin samples was limited. It has been shown that normal skin has limited expression of the catabolic CYP24A1. Contrary, CYP24A1 is up-regulated in all neoplastic skin lesions. Protein expression is observed predominantly in epidermal keratinocytes, with strong expression in neoplastic cells (Figure 4.4). Weaker 24-hydroxylase expression was noted in AK. These observations are supported that in melanoma tissues, where normal skin has diminished CYP24A1 expression, compared to melanoma affected skin (Brożyna et.al., 2014). In these studies there was no correlation amongst staining intensity and melanoma aggressiveness, however it was shown that elevated levels of CYP24A1 are associated with melanoma progression at early stages of disease. VDR expression was detected in all cutaneous tumours and normal skin (Figure 4.5). This supports earlier reports on VDR detection in some types of skin tumours (BCC and SCC) (Mitschele et.al., 2004; Reichrath et.al., 2004).

Interestingly, the infiltration with immunoregulatory cells was clearly observed in the areas of neoplastic keratinocyte localisation in SCC, and around blood vessels in SSC, BCC and SCCIS, which is shown in the presented images, where applicable. This is well documented and an expected feature of cutaneous tumours (Freeman et.al., 2014). Lower amount of immune cell infiltration in SCC was compared with abundant infiltration of the immune markers of intra epidermal carcinomas (Freeman et.al., 2014). Abundant immune cell infiltrates are involved in critical contribution in tumour responsiveness to treatment. It was indicated that the infiltrative immune markers (particularly, ratio of CD4+ T-cells to CD8+ T-cells) can be used as an indicator of invasive tumors, such as SCC, development and further SCC progression (Freeman et.al., 2014).

Prior to highlighting details of neoplastic cutaneous tissue, it is important to display the quality of normal skin. The definition of the epidermis and dermis, with clearly intact basal membrane without poorly differentiated keratinocytes. The normal skin tissue is demonstrated in Figure 4.1.a).



Figure 4.1(a) Representative image of normal human skin

Keratinocytes of the epidermal layer can be seen within the border of stratum basale (basal membrane); the progeny keratinocytes (or epidermal mesenchymal cells) that reside in the basal membrane of the epidermis have essential regenerative qualities, that keeps epidermal layer regeneration from the bottom of the basal membrane, while the top layer of epidermal cells are constantly being 'sloughed' off the body.

It is also important to establish the tumour structural characteristics, so that the detection of abnormal structural features will be possible. In healthy skin, the keratinocytes of the basal membrane do not invade the dermal structural compartments, but reside strictly in the epidermal layer (Koster, 2009). When apoptosis-resistant keratinocytes invade the dermal layer by disrupting the basal membrane, the formation of a tumour can be seen in the various tissue samples (Melnikova, 2005). The image shown in Figure 4.1(b) is representative of this process.



#### Figure 4.1(b) Representative image of an invasive SCC tumour.

Highly proliferative keratinocytes can be seen in the dermal layer; the progeny keratinocytes (or epidermal mesenchymal cells) that reside in the basal membrane of the epidermis have essential regenerative qualities. The nucleus of basal membrane keratinocytes appears enlarged due to cell division, and these cells are quite prominent along the stratum basale. This keeps the epidermis regenerating from the bottom epidermal basal membrane, while the top layer of epidermal cells are constantly being 'sloughed' off the body. However, mutated apoptosis-resistant keratinocytes can invade the dermal layer and form a cluster of uncontrollably dividing cells (a tumour) in any cutaneous area that is not specifically for epidermal regeneration, and in cases of malignant SCC extend beyond cutaneous tissue. The tumour stroma (circled area) requires a mixture of cells that may include healthy and mutated cells, as well as lymphocytes, neutrophils, macrophages, and many other immune regulators. The stromal cells of the dermal layer are adjacent to the epidermal layers of the skin, and produce a range of growth factors that stimulate tumour cell division.

A) NSK



B) AK





C) BCC





### D) SCC





E) SCCIS



### Figure 4.2. Immunohistological detection of vitamin D CYP27A1 expression in human AK, BCC, SCC, SCCIS and normal skin.

The left panel shows IHC detection of vitamin D CYP27A1 in human A) NSK (normal skin), B) AK, C) BCC, D) SCC and E) SCCIS. The right panel is a negative control that was stained without the primary antibody and corresponds to the tumour shown in the left panel. Disruptions of the basal membrane by neoplastic keratinocytes are indicated with 'diamond-ended' arrows. Immune cell infiltration is shown with 'circled-ended' arrows. The positively stained neoplastic, premalignant and normal keratinocytes are shown with solid black arrows and are indicative of the tissue staining intensity described in Table 4.2. Poorly differentiated keratinocytes are shown with black dashed arrows, where applicable. Scale bars: 20 µm.

E, epidermal layer; D, dermal layer.

Stromal keratinocytes showed lower expression of CYP27A1 in BCC and SCCIS sections, whereas SCC had high levels of CYP27A1 protein expression. Due to the use of polyclonal antibodies that have a wider binding capacity, some negative control tissue developed negligible non-specific staining.

A) NSK





C) BCC





D) SCC









121

### Figure 4.3. Immunohistological detection of CYP27B1 expression in human AK, BCC, SCC, SCCIS and normal skin.

The left panel shows IHC detection of CYP27B1 in human A) NSK (normal skin), B) AK, C) BCC, D) SCC and E) SCCIS. The right panel is a negative control that was stained without the primary antibody, and corresponds to the tumour shown in the left panel. Disruptions of the basal membrane by neoplastic keratinocytes are indicated with 'diamond-ended' arrows. Immune cell infiltration is shown with 'circled-ended' arrows. The positively stained neoplastic, premalignant and normal keratinocytes are shown with solid black arrows and are indicative of the tissue staining intensity described in Table 4.2. Poorly differentiated keratinocytes are shown with black dashed arrows, where applicable. Scale bars: 20 µm. E, epidermal layer; D, dermal layer.

CYP27B1 detection shows poor levels of expression throughout all the epidermal layers and extending down to stratum basale.

A) NSK



B) AK





C) BCC





D) SCC



### E) SCCIS







### Figure 4.4. Immunohistological detection of CYP24A1 expression in human AK, BCC, SCC, SCCIS and normal skin.

The left panel shows IHC detection of CYP24A1 in human A) NSK (normal skin), B) AK, C) BCC, D) SCC and E) SCCIS. The right panel is a negative control that was stained without the primary antibody, and corresponds to the tumour shown in the left panel. Disruptions of the basal membrane by neoplastic keratinocytes are indicated with 'diamond-ended' arrows. Immune cell infiltration is shown with 'circled-ended' arrows. The positively stained neoplastic, premalignant and normal keratinocytes are shown with solid black arrows and are indicative of the tissue staining intensity described in Table 4.2. Poorly differentiated keratinocytes are shown with black dashed arrows, where applicable. Scale bars: 20 µm. E, epidermal layer; D, dermal layer.

CYP24A1 staining showed prominent expression in BCC, SCC and SCCIS, with less staining observed in AK.

A)NSK



B) AK



C) BCC



D) SCC



E) SCCIS







### Figure 4.5. Immunohistological detection of VDR expression in human AK, BCC, SCC, SCCIS and normal skin.

The left panel shows IHC detection of VDR in human A) NSK (normal skin), B) AK, C) BCC, D) SCC and E) SCCIS. The right panel is a negative control that was stained without the primary antibody, and corresponds to the tumour shown in the left panel. Disruptions of the basal membrane by neoplastic keratinocytes are indicated with 'diamond-ended' arrows. Immune cell infiltration is shown with 'circled-ended' arrows. The positively stained neoplastic, premalignant and normal keratinocytes are shown with solid black arrows and are indicative of the tissue staining intensity described in Table 4.2. Poorly differentiated keratinocytes are shown with black dashed arrows, where applicable. Scale bars: 20 µm. E, epidermal layer; D, dermal layer.

VDR - vitamin D receptor

## 4.3.2 Evaluation of EGFR and FGFR3 expression in human tissue samples of AK, BCC, SCCIS and normal skin.

The epidermal growth factor (EGF) family is known to regulate keratinocyte regeneration, differentiation and apoptosis (Puccinelli et.al., 2010). Numerous reports suggest a regulatory role for EGF in neoplastic transformation in different cancers (Lafky et.al., 2008; Lichtenberger et.al., 2009; Luangdilok et.al., 2011; Roskoski, 2014). The activity of EGF in epidermal cells regulates cell cycle progression, and plays a vital role in mid to late G1 phase cell cycle activation in animal models (Santiskulvong et.al., 2001). Interestingly, it was reported that UVB has an inhibitory effect on EGF activity in human keratinocytes, by decreasing EGF binding abilities to prevent the expression of downstream regulatory genes (Zheng et.al., 1993).

EGFR functions as a survival factor in oncogenic transformation and plays an important role in normal epidermal homeostasis (Sibilia et.al., 2000). EGFR studies in human SCCs show abnormalities in the expression of EGFR. However, vitamin D effects on the expression of EGFR in human NMSCs has not been reported.

Fibroblast growth factor (FGF) proteins are required for maintaining skin homeostasis, and when dysregulated they play a role in tumourigenesis (Eswarakumar et.al., 2005). FGFR3 has been shown to play a tumour promoting role in many cancers, including breast, prostate, bladder and bone (Sanak et.al., 1997; Chaffer et.al., 2007; Hu et.al., 2007; Naumov et.al., 2012). In addition, FGFR3 activation is a major cause of benign epidermal tumours in mice. Overexpression of FGFR3 is associated with epidermal neoplastic formation in animal models and in humans (Logié et.al., 2005; Yadav et.al., 2012). Furthermore, studies have demonstrated that pharmacological or genetic inhibition of *FGFR3* expression restores the sensitivity of vemurafenib-resistant human melanocytic cells. The underlying mechanism of FGFR3 action against vemurafenib, which is used clinically for the treatment of melanoma, is that the enhanced activation of FGFR3 is linked to RAS and MAPK activation, therefore conferring vemurafenib resistance (Yadav et.al., 2012).

IHC experiments showed that EGFR protein was expressed in NMSC and normal skin. The majority of skin tumours displayed increased expression of EGFR in constantly regenerated keratinocytes. Interestingly, EGFR inteinsive staining was found in the areas where the inflammatory processes and infiltrating immune cells were noted (Figure 4.6). In normal skin sections, EGFR expression was prominent in keratinocytes, as EGFR plays a vital role in epidermal regeneration. Amplified EGFR staining intensity was also detected in keratinocytes of AK, BCC, SCC and SCCIS (Figure 4.6).

IHC detection of FGFR3 showed strong tissue staining of malignant and premalignant and normal keratinocytes, with a large amount of infiltrating immune cells at the stromal sites (Figure 4.7).

NSK



B) AK





C) BCC



D) SCC



E) SCCIS







### Figure 4.6. Immunohistological detection of EGFR expression in human AK, BCC, SCC, SCCIS and normal skin.

The left panel shows IHC detection of EGFR in human A) NSK (normal skin), B) AK, C) BCC, D) SCC and E) SCCIS. The right panel is a negative control that was stained without the primary antibody, and corresponds to the tumour shown in the left panel. Disruptions of the basal membrane by neoplastic keratinocytes are indicated with 'diamond-ended' arrows. Immune cell infiltration is shown with 'circled-ended' arrows. The positively stained neoplastic, premalignant and normal keratinocytes are shown with solid black arrows and are indicative of the tissue staining intensity described in Table 4.2. Poorly differentiated keratinocytes are shown with black dashed arrows, where applicable. Scale bars: 20 µm. E, epidermal layer; D, dermal layer.
A) NSK



B) AK









D) SCC









### Figure 4.7. Immunohistological detection of FGFR3 expression in human AK, BCC, SCC, SCCIS and normal skin.

The left panel shows IHC detection of FGFR3 in human A) NSK (normal skin), B) AK, C) BCC, D) SCC and E) SCCIS. The right panel is a negative control that was stained without the primary antibody, and corresponds to the tumour shown in the left panel. Disruptions of the basal membrane by neoplastic keratinocytes are indicated with 'diamond-ended' arrows. Immune cell infiltration is shown with 'circled-ended' arrows. The positively stained neoplastic, premalignant and normal keratinocytes are shown with solid black arrows and are indicative of the tissue staining intensity described in Table 4.2. Poorly differentiated keratinocytes are shown with black dashed arrows, where applicable. Scale bars: 20 µm. E, epidermal layer; D, dermal layer.

# 4.3.3 Evaluation of growth factor expression (EGF, FGF3 and VEGF) in human tissue samples of AK, BCC, SCC, SCCIS and normal skin.

To determine the role of growth factors in NMSC, the expression of EGF, FGF3 and VEGF in the cutaneous lesions was investigated. The importance of growth factor binding to its receptor in ligand-activated phosphorylation was reviewed earlier (see section 1.6.2). However, the possibility of ligand activation via a different molecular pathway was not considered. These immunohistological investigations provided an overview of the major tumour-promoting growth factors.

Immunohistochemical investigation of EGF expression in human NMSCs has shown that EGF has a moderate to high level of expression in the epidermal layer of all the tumours (Figure 4.8). The immunolabelling of FGF3 showed high level of expression among neoplastic and premalignant lesions. It was noted that in normal skin, AK lesions and surprisingly, in BCC tumours, FGF3 expression was predominantly found in epidermal keratinocytes (Figure 4.9). SCC and SCCIS tumours had scattered FGF3 protein expression amongst epidermal–dermal cells.

Overexpression of VEGF was noted in all the tumour types. Staining was observed in dermal areas around the blood vessels and sebaceous glands, as well as in epidermal keratinocytes and tumour keratinocytes (Figure 4.10).

Evaluation of the staining for vitamin D metabolic enzymes, growth factors and growth factor receptors in normal skin and all the NMSC tumours is shown in Table 4.3.

A) NSK



B) AK



C) BCC















#### 4.8. Immunohistological detection of EGF expression in human AK, BCC, SCC, SCCIS and normal skin.

The left panel shows IHC detection of EGF in human A) NSK (normal skin), B) AK, C) BCC, D) SCC and E) SCCIS. The right panel is a negative control that was stained without the primary antibody, and corresponds to the tumour shown in the left panel. Disruptions of the basal membrane by neoplastic keratinocytes are indicated with 'diamond-ended' arrows. Immune cell infiltration is shown with 'circled-ended' arrows. The positively stained neoplastic, premalignant and normal keratinocytes are shown with solid black arrows and are indicative of the tissue staining intensity described in Table 4.2. Poorly differentiated keratinocytes are shown with black dashed arrows, where applicable. Scale bars: 20 µm. E, epidermal layer; D, dermal layer.

A) NSK



B) AK





D) SCC



E) SCCIS













### Figure 4.9. Immunohistological detection of FGF3 expression in human AK, BCC, SCC, SCCIS and normal skin.

The left panel shows IHC detection of FGF3 in human A) NSK (normal skin), B) AK, C) BCC, D) SCC and E) SCCIS. The right panel is a negative control that was stained without the primary antibody, and corresponds to the tumour shown in the left panel. Disruptions of the basal membrane by neoplastic keratinocytes are indicated with 'diamond-ended' arrows. Immune cell infiltration is shown with 'circled-ended' arrows. The positively stained neoplastic, premalignant and normal keratinocytes are shown with solid black arrows and are indicative of the tissue staining intensity described in Table 4.2. Poorly differentiated keratinocytes are shown with black dashed arrows, where applicable. Scale bars: 20 µm. E, epidermal layer; D, dermal layer.

A) NSK



B) AK





C) BCC





D) SCC





E) SCCIS





### Figure 4.10. Immunohistological detection of VEGF expression in human AK, BCC, SCC, SCCIS and normal skin.

The left panel is IHC detection of VEGF in human A) NSK (normal skin), B) AK, C) BCC, D) SCC and E) SCCIS. The right panel is a negative control that was stained without the primary antibody, and corresponds to the tumour shown in the left panel. Disruptions of the basal membrane by neoplastic keratinocytes are indicated with 'diamond-ended' arrows. Immune cell infiltration is shown with 'circled-ended' arrows. The positively stained neoplastic, premalignant and normal keratinocytes are shown with solid black arrows and are indicative of the tissue staining intensity described in Table 4.2. Poorly differentiated keratinocytes are shown with black dashed arrows, where applicable. Scale bars: 20 µm. E, epidermal layer; D, dermal layer.

# 4.3.4 Evaluation of Proliferating Cell Nuclear Antigen (PCNA) in human tissue samples of AK, BCC, SCC, SCCIS and normal skin.

To better understand intratumoural proliferative capacities of neoplastic lesions, analysis of PCNA expression was assessed in human tissues. PCNA expression is associated with actively proliferative cells and is indicative of DNA replication. The prominent detection of PCNA expression was found in highly regenerative epidermal keratinocytes of all tumours and normal skin. Interestingly, poorly differentiated keratinocytes had lower staining intensity, while mutated and migrated beyond the basal membrane keratinocytes with well differentiated morphology had extensive staining. PCNA protein expression in normal skin was predominantly in the epidermal layer, whilst keratinocytes of neoplastic tissues showed intensive staining in various dermal and epidermal locations. Epidermal layers encompasses stem cells within stratum basale that enable tissue regeneration. Due to high regenerative abilities of the normal epidermal cells the moderate to high level of PCNA expression was detected in normal human skin. Interestingly, poorly differentiated keratinocytes of SCC had diminished level of PCNA expression, whereas well differentiated keratinocytes of other types of neoplastic tissues displayed quite high intensity staining in suprabasal layers and in the perturbed basal membrane (Figure 4.11). This observation agrees with the literature on PCNA expression in keratinocyte, and may suggest that PCNA has a function in keratinocyte proliferation and may not be involved in differentiation (Penneys et.al., 1994; Einspahr et.al., 1999; Moor et.al., 2004).

#### A) NSK



B) AK







D) SCC





D) SCCIS





### Figure 4.11 Immunohistological detection of PCNA expression in human AK, BCC, SCC, SCCIS and normal skin.

The left panel is IHC detection of PCNA in human A) NSK (normal skin), B) AK, C) BCC, D) SCC and E) SCCIS. The right panel is a negative control that was stained without the primary antibody, and corresponds to the tumour shown in the left panel. Disruptions of the basal membrane by neoplastic keratinocytes are indicated with 'diamond-ended' arrows. Immune cell infiltration is shown with 'circled-ended' arrows. The positively stained neoplastic, premalignant and normal keratinocytes are shown with solid black arrows and are indicative of the tissue staining intensity described in Table 4.2. Poorly differentiated keratinocytes are shown with black dashed arrows, where applicable. Scale bars: 20 µm. E, epidermal layer; D, dermal layer.

Protein	Low levels of expression* (0- 5%)	Moderate levels of expression* (5- 10%)	High levels of expression* (more than 10%)						
Normal skin									
Vitamin D CYP27A1	0	0	5						
(CYP27A1)									
CYP27B1 (CYP27B1)	1	1	3						
Vitamin D3 24-	3	1	1						
hydroxylase (CYP24A1)									
VDR	0	0	5						
EGFR	1	2	1						
EGF	2	3	0						
FGFR3	1	2	2						
FGF3	1	1	2						
VEGF	1	1	2						
PCNA	0	1	3						
Actinic keratosis neoplastic	elesions								
Vitamin D CYP27A1	0	2	13						
(CYP27A1)									
CYP27B1 (CYP27B1)	9	2	4						
Vitamin D3 24-hydroxylase	0	0	15						
(CYP24A1)									
VDR	1	2	12						
EGFR	1	2	12						
EGF	1	5	9						
FGFR3	1	1	13						
FGF3	1	4	10						
VEGF	0	3	12						
PCNA	0	1	4						
Basal cell carcinoma	l	ļ							

Vitamin D CYP27A1	5	6	10			
(CYP27A1)						
CYP27B1	12	5	4			
(CYP27B1)						
Vitamin D3 24-hydroxylase	1	3	17			
(CYP24A1)						
VDR	1	2	18			
EGFR	1	2	18			
EGF	2	3	16			
FGFR3	1	1	19			
FGF3	1	3	17			
VEGF	1	2	18			
PCNA	0	1	4			
Squamous cell carcinoma						
Vitamin D CYP27A1	2	4	2			
(CYP27A1)						
CYP27B1 (CYP27B1)	4	4	0			
Vitamin D3 24-hydroxylase	1	2	5			
(CYP24A1)						
VDR	1	4	3			
EGFR	1	2	5			
EGF	1	6	1			
FGFR3	0	4	4			
FGF3	2	2	4			
VEGF	1	1	6			
PCNA	0	0	4			
Squamous cell carcinoma in situ						
Vitamin D CYP27A1	2	2	8			
(CYP27A1)						
CYP27B1 (CYP27B1)	3	9	0			
Vitamin D3 24-hydroxylase	1	2	9			
(CYP24A1)						

VDR	2	2	8
EGFR	2	1	9
EGF	0	2	10
FGFR3	1	1	10
FGF3	2	1	9
VEGF	0	2	10
PCNA	1	2	2

\* Number of tissue samples analysed. See Table 4.1 for tumour specimen characteristics and Table 4.2 for determination of staining intensity. Staining intensity was evaluated by 3 independent (blinded) scoring.

#### 4.4 Discussion

The cancer inhibitory effects of vitamin D has been consistently reported in breast, prostate, lung, colon and endometrial cancers (Chen & Holick 2003; Grant 2010; Peehl 2004; Zeleniuch-Jacquotte, Gallicchio & Hartmuller 2010; Zhang et.al. 2013). As such, we determined whether there is an association between vitamin D metabolic enzymes and VDR expression with skin cancer progression, in BCC, SCC, SCCIS, AK and normal skin. In addition, we assessed the relationship between vitamin D metabolism and tumour-promoting proteins, EGFR, FGFR3, EGF, FGF3, VEGF and PCNA.

CYP27A1, CYP27A1, is a well conserved enzyme that also expresses 27-hydroxylase activity toward cholesterol and is involved in cholestrerol hydroxylation and bile acid biosynthetic pathways (Prosser et.al. 2006). Recent studies have shown the importance of microsomal hydroxylation in activation of nuclear VDR in human keratinocytes (Endo-Umeda et.al. 2014). In particular, CYP27A1 is involved in the formation of calcidiol that activates VDR, whilst cholecalciferol itself does not. Calcidiol is a 25-hydroxy metabolite of vitamin D metabolism produced via CYP27A1 hydroxylation. Calcidiol has a lower affinity for VDR, however has agonistic action in cells by a mechanism independent from its conversion to the active hormone (Endo-Umeda et.al. 2014). Importantly, there is VDR-dependent inhibition of numerous cancers and oncogenes (Chung et.al. 2009; Guan et.al. 2013; S. Ondková 2006; Wu 2007). We demonstrated that anabolic CYP27A1 expression was highly expressed in normal skin. By comparison to normal skin, there was moderate staining in most SCC, and reduced CYP27A1 expression in AK and SCCIS tissues. This data may suggest that patients with decreased enzymatic expression of CYP27A1 may have, as a consequence, lower circulatory levels of endogenous

calcidiol. Similar findings have been noted in colon cancer (Matusiak & Benya, 2007), endometrial carcinomas and normal endometrial tissues (Bergada et.al., 2014).

CYP27B1 is one of the key enzymes regulating both systemic and tissue levels of calcitriol; it appears to be greatly down-regulated in most tumours. Levels of serum calcitriol largely relies on the enzymatic activity of CYP27B1 (or hydroxyvitamin D 1a-hydroxylase) (Jones, 2008). CYP27B1 in normal skin was highly expressed, however, there was minimal staining intensity in poorly differentiated tissues, as well as decreased expression in AK, BCC, SCC and SCCIS. The low expression of CYP27B1 has been reported in melanoma cells (Brożyna et.al., 2013) and in normal and malignant breast tissues (Suetani et.al., 2012). The diminished staining of CYP27B1 throughout the entire epidermis, extending down to the basal layer, in all tumours. This finding is indicative that the synthesis of CYP27B1 is diminished in neoplastic skin lesions; this was confirmed by the detection of intensive expression of CYP27B1 in the normal skin (Figure 4.3). CYP27B1 hydroxylation plays an important role in anticancer activities of dietary vitamin D in the form of cholecalciferol. It has been demonstrated that dietary supplementation of cholecalciferol (calcidiol precursor) significantly inhibits breast tumour growth in mice (Krishnan et.al., 2013). Perhaps, the mechanism of neoplastic cell survival involves downregulation of CYP27B1 activity and is associated with its intracrine accumulation of calcitriol. This finding provides evidence of the concept that intracrine vitamin D metabolic enzymes, including CYP27B1, may regulate growth characteristics of cutaneous carcinomas.

CYP24A1 is the key enzyme which converts calcitriol to calcitroic acid, hence contributes to acidic intratumoural environment (Gröschel, et.al., 2015; Luo et.al., 2012). It was shown that normal skin had limited expression of catabolic CYP24A1, and, was upregulated in all neoplastic skin lesions. It was noted that in neoplastic tissues CYP24A1 expression was distributed amongst the epidermal cutaneous layers and also was detected in dermal fibroblasts. The level of CYP24A1 expression in SCCIS was elevated, mainly in neoplastic keratinocytes and in AK skin lesions there is low levels of CYP24A1 expression in well-differentiated keratinocytes. The intense and broad distribution of CYP24A1 staining observed in all four tumour types suggests that extensive degradation of both vitamin D metabolites (calcidiol and calcitriol) take place in these tumours. CYP24A1 has a positive correlation (p<0.05) with the levels of expression of other vitamin D metabolic enzymes and VDR, but not with the expression of CYP27B1 (Table 4.3). Decreased CYP24A1 expression in normal skin, compared to neoplasic lesions, has also been observed in melanomas (Brożyna et.al., 2014); although there was no correlation between staining intensity and melanoma aggressiveness. However, it was shown that elevated levels of CYP24A1 are associated with melanoma progression at early stages of tumor development. In our studies, there was a positive correlation (p<0.05) betwen VDR expression in SCC and expression of CYP24A1. Similarly, CYP24A1 may have a role in non melanomas and transformation of AK to more aggressive cancer type (such as an invasive and metastatic SCC). Interestingly, in in vitro studies, using calcitriol analog (Eldecalcitol, ED-71) showed induction of expression of CYP24A1 in oral cancer cell lines and in human gingival fibroblasts in a dose-dependent manner; high doses of ED-71 (0.5 µg/kg once every 4 days) significantly suppressed tumour formation in athymic nude mice, where as low doses (0.1 µg/kg) had no effect (Shintani et.al., 2015).

Vitamin D receptor (VDR) is an endocrine ligand that plays an important function in regulation of endogenous vitamin D status. VDR has versatile functions: regulation of placental development, regulation of numerous genetic pathways that involve in health and disease state and its involvement in neoplastic cells regulation (Buckberry et.al., 2015; Sherman et.al., 2014; Jiang et.al., 2013; Hibleret.al., 2010; Campbell et.al., 2010). The detection of VDR in normal skin indicated that it is highly expressed. The intensive VDR immunoreactivity was noted also in the majority of AK, BCC, SCCIS and in some SCC. In BCC, overexpression of VDR was predominantly in keratinised cells. VDR expression in epidermal layer, sebaceous glands and keratinocytes surrounding blood vessels in the normal skin were found to be quite prominent. In AK lesions, the expression of VDR was detected in granular and horny epidermal layers, as well as in the sebaceous glands and distal areas of hair follicles with reduced expression, compared to normal skin. In SCCIS, decreased expression of VDR was detected in granular and horny epidermal layers. The reported lack of metastatic ability of BCC may be associated with VDR mediation of neoplastic development and progression (Carr et.al., 2007). It was noted that VDR was distributed amongst the epidermal and dermal cutaneous layers. This supports ealier reports on VDR detection in some types of skin cancers (BCC and SCC) (Mitschele et.al., 2004; Reichrath et.al., 2004). Interestingly, it was shown that VDR polymorphisms are of importance for the development of BCCs and cutaneous SCCs (Köstner et.al., 2012).

Interestingly, there was low expression levels of CYP27A1 and CYP27B1 in AK lesions, compared to normal tissue. An inverse association was established between CYP27B1 and CYP24A1 in all tumours (p<0.05), but not in normal skin, where poor immunoreactivity for CYP24A1 was observed. These findings suggest that CYP27B1 is diminished in NMSC, compared to normal skin, whilst the enzymatic activity of the vitamin D-degrading CYP24A1 was elevated in most tumours, but not in normal skin.

The status of protein expression in non-cancerous skin surrounding the tumour was not investigated due to the limited amount of presumably normal tissue without the neoplastic infiltration. Many of the specimens used in this study were from biopsies that are very small (2 mm), which were obtained from delicate areas surrounding the eyes, nose and ears in some patients. Ostensibly normal tissue adjacent to the tumour was negligible in many samples. Due to this fact, it was impossible to use the unaffected skin from the same sample as a negative control in this study. Therefore, analysis was conducted using normal skin tissue samples and compared to precancerous and cancerous skin.

IHC studies have shown that skin cancer is a disease associated with dysregulated cell survival and death signalling pathways that contribute to neoplastic formation (Evan & Vousden 2001). Most cancers share a common pathogenesis, where DNA damage and mutagenesis triggers the initiation of tumourigenesis. In cutaneous carcinogenesis, modifications in several signalling pathways are caused by ultraviolet irradiation. The normal epidermal or dermal cells that in this way accumulate damaged or mutated DNA then amplify, and emerge as a neoplastic growth.

IHC studies of human neoplastic lesions revealed the status of intratumoural vitamin D enzymes and receptors. It was shown that expression of the vitamin D anabolic enzyme CYP27B1 was diminished in human melanoma cancers (Brożyna 2013). This reduced expression was correlated with melanoma phenotype and behaviour, and was also found to affect the survival rates in melanoma patients. These results showed the important role of vitamin D in the pathophysiological manifestation of melanoma (Brożyna 2013). Interestingly, in study of vitamin D system in squamous cell carcinoma, the mRNA expression of *CYP27B1* was detected to have an elevated expression by real time PCR (Reichrath et.al., 2004).

Various epidemiological, clinical and animal studies have suggested the involvement of vitamin D in the regulation of NMSC. IHC staining for vitamin D metabolic enzymes has been reported in different cancers. It was shown that VDR is highly expressed in human precancerous lesions and oesophageal carcinomas (Zhou et.al. 2014). Interestingly, in human endometrial cancers there was significantly higher expression of VDR in patients with cancer compared to healthy controls (Agic et.al. 2007). Herein, VDR expression was noted in all NMSCs and in precancerous AK lesions, and was found to be well defined, but not as extensive as in normal skin samples.

#### Significance of growth factors and it receptors in epidermal health

Epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) has been a hallmark of malignant phenotype of many cancers. It is often used as a diagnostic marker in histopathological examination (Roskoski, 2014). Both EGF and EGFR are involved in tumour growth, promotion and signalling (Lafky, 2008). Morever, *EGFR* shares the same domain and has synergistic mechanism of activation on tumour growth with *VEGFR*. EGFR prevents mutated cells from apoptosis, while VEGF activates VEGFR, that controling angiogenesis and promotes cellular proliferation (Lichtenberger, 2009). These proteins are therefore considered as potent growth factors in epidermal tumours.

Calcitriol inhibits ligand-dependent phosphorylation of EGFR and alters its cellular localisation. Furthermore, calcitriol has an impact on EGFR activation by EGF, resulting in transcriptional activation of the cyclin D1 promoter. In fact, vitamin D (in the form of calcitriol) has an inhibitory effect on EGFR growth signalling (Cordero et.al., 2002). Growth factors and their receptors play a vital role in regulating cancer growth and progression (Smola et.al., 1993). In the studies in this chapter, it was evident that there was strong expression of EGFR and FGFR3 in NMSCs and in normal skin. These findings agree with other reports of EGFR and FGFR3 expression in cancerous tissues (Chaffer 2007; Hu 2007; Lichtenberger 2009; Mehra 2011; Naumov 2012; Roskoski Jr 2014; Sanak 1997; Santiskulvong et.al., 2001), and, by human epidermal cells (Luangdilok et.al., 2011; Simper et.al., 2015). EGFR and FGFR3 activation results in MAPK-mediated regulation of neoplastic growth (Yadav et.al., 2012; Luangdilok et.al, 2011), suggeting that vitamin D inhibition of neoplastic cell may follow this pathway (shown earlier in chapter 3. Figure 3.1).

The studies of EGFR and FGFR3 staining showed that the overexpression of both growth factor receptors corresponded to diminished expression of the anabolic vitamin D enzymes, CYP27B1 in AK, BCC, SCC and SCCIS (p<0.05), but not in normal skin, where there was extensive expression of CYP27B1. Moreover, the high expression of CYP24A1 in neoplastic keratinocytes also corresponds to the expression of FGFR3 and EGFR in cutaneous neoplastic lesions and has an inverse association with CYP24A1 expression in normal skin (p<0.05).

The status of expression of several MAPK modulatory factors, EGF, FGF3 and VEGF, was investigated in normal, precancerous and cancerous skin. Normal skin had low to moderate EGF immunoreactivity predominately within epidermal layers. EGF is an essential factor for normal tissue regeneration, where constant cell renewal takes place. Indeed, it was noted in this study that EGF was expressed in all tumour types at moderate to high levels. Interestingly, not all tumours had EGF expression in cancer-associated fibroblasts (CAFs). In contrast, in highly regenerative epidermal keratinocytes the expression of EGF was detected in most of the cancerous samples with preserved integrity (some of the obtained tissues had only a small fraction of the epidermal layer and an extensive dermal layer).

Similarly, FGR3 immunodetection in normal skin showed moderate to high intensity staining, whereas high levels of FGF3 expression were observed in most neoplastic lesions, which suggests that this growth factor may contribute to enhancement of neoplastic growth. The expression of FGF3 was also present in CAFs in the dermal layer. Detection of VEGF expression in pre-neoplastic, neoplastic and malignant tissues has shown a high level of expression in most tissues. This suggests that VEGF plays an important role in neoplastic growth. The growth factor expression findings support earlier reports that neoplastic growth utilises all possible mechanisms for its survival, including growth factor signalling and overexpression of CYP24A1, to promote a suitable microenvironment for neoplastic growth (Smola et.al., 1993; Mueller 2002; Johnson et.al., 2010).

The neoplastic keratinocyte disruption of the basal membrane allows spread of malignant cells into distal tissues with the assistance of tumour-promoting factors (Mueller 2002; Smola et.al., 1993; Staiano-Coico 1992). It is well-established that growth factor activation of its cognate receptor triggers the activation of the MAPK pathway, which mediates downstream signalling (Luangdilok 2011; Weisinger 2010). The MAPK pathway has been reported to be dependent on VDR (Daniel 2004; Luangdilok 2011; Rossi et.al., 2004; Rosso et.al., 2012; Wang et.al., 2009; Wang et.al., 2013; Wu et.al., 2007).

PCNA expression showed that keratinocytes of normal and neoplastic skin have similarly high proliferative qualities, with the exception of SCC. In SCC, differentiated keratinocytes have extensive level of immunoreactivity for PCNA, whereas in poorly differentiated keratinocytes observed decline in staining intensity. PCNA expression significantly correlated with VDR and CYP24A1 expression in BCC (p<0.05), with VDR expression in SCC and CYP24A1 in AK tissues. Interestinly, PCNA in normal skin had statistically significant correlation with EGF and FGF3 in AK lesions (p<0.05)

Vitamin D metabolic enzymes and VDR expression in human NMSC were found to have statistical significant correlation amongst CYP27A1, CYP24A1 and VDR, with, EGFR, FGFR3 (p<0.05), but not CYP27B1.

#### 4.5 Conclusions

The main goal of this chapter was to determine the expression in vitamin D metabolic enzymes and VDR expression in BCC, SCC, SCCIS, AK. In addition, to determine the status of intratumoural expression of growth-promoting proteins: EGFR, FGFR3, EGF, FGF3, VEGF and PCNA.

The major finding of this study is the immunohistochemical appearance of the enzyme (CYP27B1) that relates to vitamin D metabolism. The expression of CYP27B1 was found to have a significant inverse correlation with the tumour-promoting proteins, FGFR3 and EGFR expression. In addition, for the first time in a single study, we demonstrate the expression status of VDR and key vitamin D metabolic enzymes (CYP27A1, CYP27B1 and CYP24A1), as well as tumour regulatory proteins (FGFR3 and EGFR) in human NMSC (AK, BCC, SCC and SCCIS) and normal skin. These findings may contribute to a better understanding of vitamin D metabolism in cutaneous carcinogenesis and possibly be used as an aid in management of NMSC.

#### **CHAPTER 5.**

#### **GENERAL DISCUSSION**

#### 5.1 The effects of calcidiol and calcitriol on keratinocyte proliferation and migration

Calcitriol (<10 nM) has been shown to decrease proliferation in a number of tumours, such as breast, colon, prostate (Leyssens, 2013). However, at low concentrations (<10 nM) of calcitriol the inhibitory effects are not always seen. For example, higher doses (100 nM) of calcitriol were required to inhibit immortalised human keratinocytes (HaCaT) and cutaneous squamous cell carcinoma cells (SCL-1) (Trémezaygues et.al., 2010). Likewise, calcitriol only partially inhibited SCC-4 cell line at the same dose (Akutsu et.al., 2001). In addition, squamous cells have been reported to develop strong multidrug resistance, which is a major challenge for the clinical treatment of epithelial cancers (Zhu et.al. 2014). For instance, it has been shown that prostate and glioblastoma cells exhibit resistance to calcitriol treatment (Bao et.al., 2010; Reichrath et.al., 2010). Various mechanisms of this resistance have been proposed in different cells, but no clear signalling mechanism has been confirmed. In SCC cells, the proposed mechanism of resistance to vitamin D signalling involves DRIP protein subunits. DRIP205 directly binds to VDR; silencing DRIP (steroid receptor co-activator) leads to keratinocyte hyperproliferation (Oda et.al., 2004). Moreover, DRIP localisation is mostly present in basal and suprabasal epidermal layers, where keratinocytes undergo constant regeneration (Oda et.al., 2004). However, the mediation of vitamin D activity associated with DRIP complex may also involve other protein influence on tumour regulation. Aberrant nuclear expression of tumour suppressor p53 protein and cytoplasmic expression of Bcl-2 are noted in cervical lesion biopsies, compared to normal tissue (Grace et.al., 2003).

In resistant melanoma cell lines, dose and time dependent antiproliferative properties are apparently stimulated by both calcidiol and calcitriol (Gruber & Anuszewska, 2002). In addition, the effects of calcitriol in various cancer cells have been studied in vitro. Malignant and non-malignant cultured cholangiocytes, incubated with calcitriol (100 nM) results in decreased cell proliferation (Kennedy et.al., 2013). Indeed, calcitriol dependent effects seems to be dependent on the culture conditions, incubation time and dose, to provoke calcitriol-modulatory effects of cell proliferation, cell cycle regulation, lipid content and interleukin (IL)-6/IL-8 secretion in vitro (Krämera et.al., 2008). These conditions were also considered in proliferation and migration assays and immunoblotting experiments in this thesis using primary and neoplastic keratinocytes.

It was demonstrated that calcitriol was able to exert partial inhibitory effects, when used in high concentrations (100,000 nM and 100 nM respectively) especially after 72 h (Kennedy et.al., 2013). Interestingly, higher calcitriol dose (100 nM) had to be used in achieving inhibition of MCF-7 cells (Narvaez & Welsh, 2001). Correspondingly, it was noted in chapter 2, that in partially resistant SCC-4 malignant keratinocytes, calcitriol inhibitory effects occured using similar concentrations (>100 nM) and time (72 h). However, calcidiol and calcitriol had differential effects on cell migration, where calcidiol (16 - 10,000,000 nM) suppressed malignant keratinocyte movement, whilst calcitriol showed stimulatory effect at low doses (0.01 - 10 nM); at higher dose (>100 nM), inhibition of migration was noted (Chapter 2, Appendix 2.B, Table 5.1). Interestingly, both calcidiol and calcitriol at higher concentrations showed partial antiproliferative effects to SCC-4 cells in a dose dependent manner.

Table 5.1Summary of proliferation and migration of SCC4 cells in the presence<br/>of calcidiol or calcitriol

	Calcitriol 10 nM	Calcitriol 100 nM	Calcidiol 250 nM	Calcidiol 100,000 nM
Proliferation	↑ Mild stimulatory	↓ Partial Inhibitory	·	↓ Partial inhibitory
Migration	↑ Mild stimulatory	Ļ	↓ Partial Inhibitory	Ļ

 $\downarrow$  - significant inhibitory effects, Partial  $\downarrow$  - partial inhibitory effects,  $\uparrow$  Mild Stimulatory effect – the stimulatory trend with some significance were noted, (-) no apparent effects were seen.

These findings provoked further questions, on whether these effects were VDR dependent. Additionally, the effects of calcidiol and calcitriol on tumour promoting proteins that may influence cellular proliferation and migration were tested in primary and neoplastic keratinocytes. Hence, protein expression analysis were investigated in immunobloting experiments in response to calcidiol and calcitriol treatment. The expression of these proteins were also evaluated in human tissue samples from patients with NMSC.

# 5.2 The effects of calcidiol and calcitriol on expression of vitamin D enzymes and receptor in human primary keratinocytes and SCC-4 cells; expression in human neoplastic skin tissues.

Vitamin D enzymes and receptor expression in human skin tissue samples and in cultured neoplastic and normal keratinocytes were determined. In immunoblots of primary keratinocytes and SCC-4 cells (cultured with calcitriol (100 nM) or calcidiol (100,000 nM)) and expression of vitamin D metabolic enzymes (CYP27A1, CYP27B1 and CYP24A1) and its receptor (VDR) were evaluated. In addition, expression of CYP27A1, CYP27B1, CYP24A1 and VDR were analysed using human tissues of normal, precancerous (AK) and neoplastic (BCC, SCC and SCCIS) skin.

Calcidiol and calcitriol effects on the expression profile of CYP27A1, CYP27B1 and CYP24A1 in cultured keratinocytes (malignant and primary) appears not to be VDR-dependent. Supportive to the in vitro findings, it was noted that the expression of CYP27B1 appears not to have a connection with VDR in advanced neoplastic tissues (such as SCC) (Table 5.2). Understanding the influence of vitamin D metabolites on the expression of its metabolic enzymes in malignant and non-malignant cells may aid in a better understanding of cutaneous neoplasms.

n	ormal skin	NM	SC tissu	es					_		
	Calcitriol 100 nM		Calcidiol 100,000 nM		Calcidiol 250 nM		Normal skin (NS) and NMSC				
	SCC-4	PK	SCC-4	РК	SCC-4	PK	NS	AK	BCC	SCC	SCCIS
CYP27A1	-	-	_	-	-	<b>↑</b>	<b>↑</b>	↑	↑	↓↑	↑
CYP27B1	ĻĻ	-	-	-	↑↑	↑	Ť	↓	Ļ	↓	↓and ↑mild
CYP24A1	1	-	↑	-	-	-	↓	1	↓	1	1
VDR	-	-	-	-	1	-	1	1	1	1	1
EGFR	-	-	-	-	-	-	J↑	Î	1	1	1
FGFR3	-	-	_		↑	<b>↑</b>	1	1	1	1	1

Table 5.2Summary of the expression of vitamin D enzymes and receptor in human<br/>keratinocytes treated with calcidiol or calcitriol and expression in human<br/>normal skip NMSC tissues

PK, primary keratinocytes; SCC-4, malignant keratinocytes; (-) no effect observed; ( $\uparrow$ ) protein upregulation (p<0.05); ( $\uparrow\uparrow$ ) protein upregulation (p<0.05); ( $\downarrow$ ) protein downregulation (p<0.05); N/A – not available Normal skin and NMSC:  $\uparrow$  - intensive DAB staining intensity was detected in majority of tissue,  $\downarrow$  - poor 3,3'- Diaminobenzidine (DAB) staining intensity was detected in majority of tissues,  $\downarrow\uparrow$  - variable staining intensity was detected in the given samples,  $\downarrow$  and  $\uparrow$ mild – low to mild staining intensity was detected.

N/A

**PCNA** 

It is apparent that vitamin D plays a role in NMSC by influencing the proliferation and migration of malignant cells. However, a wider array of the target genes need to be examined to understand the molecular mechanism of action. It is also apparent that these effects do not involve VDR mediatory activities in SCC-4 cells. The details of the influence of calcidiol and calcitriol on vitamin D enzymes and receptor and its involvement in tumour regulation are discussed below.

5.2.1. The effects of calcidiol and calcitriol on vitamin D receptor (VDR) expression in cultured neoplastic (SCC-4) and primary keratinocytes; expression levels in normal human skin and NMSC tissues

VDR is a well-recognised mediator of oncogenic processes (Golovko et.al., 2005; Tse et.al., 2007b; Wang et.al., 2009). It is involved in the regulation of cell proliferation, differentiation, apoptosis, cell cycle, migration and cell communication. Hence, the expression levels of VDR in cancer cells is of great interest (Segaert et.al., 2000; Golovko et.al., 2005). It has been

demonstrated in a number of studies that calcitriol-dependent regulation in tumours occurs via nuclear VDR–ligand transcriptional regulation (Haussler et.al., 2010; Srinivasan et.al., 2011; Jiang et.al., 2013).

Protein expression levels by IHC analysis tissue specimens showed an increase in VDR in normal skin, precancerous AK lesions and BCC (that are known to very rarely undergo metastatic spread). Interestingly, VDR expression was not restricted to the epidermal keratinocyte layer, but was also present in dermal layers, particularly in sebocytes, dermal papillae, blood vessels and proliferating keratinocytes (Chapter 4). In addition, a noticeable decline in VDR expression of stromal keratinocytes in SCC, but not in BCC may be one reason for the low metastatic capacities of BCCs. Similarly, VDR expression in malignant melanoma is decreased (Chen et.al., 2009). The proposed mechanism of reduced VDR signalling was reported to be related to melanogenesis (synthesis of pigment intermediates), which affects cellular responsiveness to vitamin D and thus VDR signalling in melanomas (Brożyna et.al., 2013). Furthermore, successively increased levels of VDR expression from normal tissue to precancerous lesions to well-differentiated colonic tumours, and decreased expression in poorly differentiated tumours is established (Murillo et.al., 2007). Similar findings were noted in NMSC tissues, where in well-differentiated AK, BCC, SCC and SCCIS epidermal keratinocytes, prominent levels of VDR immunoreactivity was detected. Additionally, staining of the normal skin showed noticeably high immunoreactivity in VDR.

Moreover, the effects of calcidiol and calcitriol on VDR expression in cultured primary or malignant keratinocytes has been found to have no modulatory activity at high doses calcidiol and calcitriol, whilst at lower calcidiol dose (250 nM) stimulation of VDR was noted only in SCC-4 cells. This is indicative that VDR-modulatory activity had stimulatory effects on proliferation at low doses of calcidiol (< 250 nM). Interestingly, nuclear VDR translocation in calcidiol (100 nM) treated immortilised prostate cells appears to depend on calcidiol but not calcitriol, where nuclear import of VDR is closely linked to the transcriptional activation (Munetsuna et.al., 2014). Moreover, in MCF-7 breast cancer cells vitamin D resistance has been shown not to be dependent on VDR expression (Ooi et.al., 2010). Where vitamin D-resistant MCF-7 cells did not have apoptotic morphology, DNA fragmentation or up-regulation of apoptosis-related proteins after treatment with calcitriol, they did express VDR (Ooi et.al., 2010). Furthermore, vitamin D resistance in malignant melanocytes was shown to be associated with poor VDR expression (Seifert et.al., 2004). Indeed, VDR plays an important role in cancer; however, the mechanism of its effects remains elusive, especially in NMSC. More studies are needed to establish its mode of

action and interactions with other cell signalling pathways in various cancers, including cutaneous malignancies, such as NMSC.

**5.2.2** The effects of calcidiol and calcitriol on CYP27A1 expression in cultured neoplastic (SCC-4) and primary keratinocytes; expression levels normal huan skin and NMSCtisssues. As a P450 enzyme, CYP27A1 is known as a cholesterol-metabolising molecule (Holick, 2010). The CYP27A1-knockout mice, which have normal serum cholesterol levels, show alterations in various tissues (ocular organs, lungs, liver and spleen) with activation of macrophages and high levels of oxidative stress markers (Saadane et.al., 2014). Cholesterol metabolism is tissue specific, and its significance has not yet been established in many tissues, in which CYP27A1 may also be

homeostasis, and has been proposed to have important effects in cancer (Bergada et.al., 2014). It has been shown that vitamin D has a positive regulatory influence on immune responses (Orgaz-Molina et.al., 2012). It was reported that the availability of calcidiol to immune cells in

expressed and may involve in calcidiol synthesis. Hence, CYP27A1 plays a role in cholesterol

patients with psoriasis may be the primary determinant of the amount of calcitriol produced for intracrine and paracrine effects at sites of cutaneous inflammation (Finamor et.al., 2013). In mice, it has been reported that topical application of calcitriol induced atopic dermatitis-like syndrome in the epidermal keratinocytes of transgenic RXR- $\alpha$ /- $\beta$  mice (Li et.al., 2006). These finding also may indicate the possible vitamin D signalling mechanisms in which VDR/RXR signalling could be involved in the pathogenesis of cutaneous inflammation (Li et.al., 2006).

The principal function of CYP27A1 in cancers has been poorly understood. In endometrial cancer tissues elevated CYP27A1 levels, suggest potential defensive effects by cells through increased intratumoural calcidiol synthesis by CYP27A1. This in turn enhances autocrine/paracrine antiproliferative actions (Bergada et.al., 2014). Another theory is that during intracellular synthesis of calcidiol, pathways that mediate tumour regulation are de-activated, hence directing the fate of mutated neoplastic cells to decrease proliferation. This mechanism of CYP27A1 regulatory antitumour activity was shown (Bergada et.al., 2014).

Moreover, it was suggested that CYP27A1 may be involved in a regulatory role in human prostate cancer, where prostate epithelial cells produce appreciable levels of CYP27A1 when treated with cholecalciferol (a derivative of 7-DHC), which was suggested to act by blocking or reversing premalignant changes (Tokar & Webber 2005a). Further, in vitro findings showed the effects of CYP27A1 enzymatic activity in neoplastic prostate cells treated with cholecalciferol, via production of inhibitory intracrine calcidiol and calcitriol that subsequently lead to tumour suppression (Tokar & Webber, 2005b).

Expression CYP27A1 was examined in both in vitro experiments and in human tissues derived from normal, precancerous and neoplastic skin. Protein expression of CYP27A1 in malignant SCC-4 cells and primary keratinocytes were analysed by western blot. Elevated levels of CYP27A1 expression were noted in primary keratinocytes, when cells were treated with 250 nM calcidiol, whilst effects of calcidiol at higher concentrations on CYP27A1 expression were not detected in malignant SCC-4 cells; calcitriol had no effect. This is suggestive that at higher concentrations of calcidiol and calcitriol the responsiveness of CYP27A1 is diminished.

Interestingly, IHC analysis demonstrated high CYP27A1 staining intensity in human AK, BCC, SCC and SCCIS neoplastic skin lesions. However, CYP27A1 detection showed low staining intensity in tumour stromal cells, which may indicate a malfunction of vitamin D associated signalling in the tumour stroma itself. Interestingly, in some SCC tissues the expression of CYP27A1 was found to be low, compare to normal skin. This triggers the question of whether CYP27A1 has other (non-metabolic) functions in metastatic skin tumours (such as SCC).

Increased CYP27A1 levels in cancer tissues are believed to be a possible compensatory mechanism for its low levels of CYP27B1 expression (Bergada et.al., 2014). However, the results can, perhaps, be explained by another theory that was suggested previously: that CYP27A1 overexpression in neoplastic tissues is a cellular attempt to compensate for low systemic calcidiol levels that possibly directly (or indirectly, via calcitriol conversion) exerts antitumourigenic effects (Tokar & Webber 2005a; Sharan et.al., 2011; Bergada et.al., 2014).

Indeed, clinical reports on circulatory calcidiol status in NMSC are limited and contradictory (Tang et al., 2010; Liang et.al., 2012). Interestingly, some identified mutations of CYP27A1 have been associated with coronary heart disease, haemoglobin binding defects, cerebrotendinous xanthomatosis (a lipid storage disorder), abnormal synthesis of bile acids, development of cataracts, tendon xanthomas and progressive neurologic deterioration (Guptaet.al., 2007; Inanloorahatloo et.al., 2013; Prosser et.al., 2006). It is not known whether mutations of CYP27A1 are associated with skin cancer, and if so, the effects they may have on the development of NMSC.

Whilst, CYP27A1 appears to be not regulated by high doses of calcidiol or calcitriol, in most human skin (including neoplastic lesions) it certainly has elevated expression, with exception to stromal keratinocytes. CYP27A1 involvement in tumour growth and progression requires further investigations.

Hence, the activity of CYP27A1 and its link to cancer progression requires further studies. There is a lack of clinical studies reporting the level of circulatory and localised synthesis of calcidiol, suggesting a need for further investigations to determine whether CYP27A1 reflects the progression of cutaneous carcinogenesis.

### 5.2.3 The effects of calcidiol on CYP27B1 in cultured neoplastic (SCC-4) and primary keratinocytes; expression levels in normal skin and tumours from NMSC patients

CYP27B1 is an enzyme that is involved in the synthesises of the active vitamin D hormone calcitriol. The activity of this protein is associated with the intracellular and systemic levels of calcitriol. It has been shown in enzymatic studies of the substrate specificity of CYP27B1 that vitamin D 25-hydroxyl group is essential for CYP27B1 function (Inouye & Sakaki, 2001). Numerous reports have shown that CYP27B1 is expressed in human non-malignant and malignant cells in different tissues (Zehdner et.al., 2000; Diesel et.al., 2004; Young et.al., 2004; Tokar & Webber 2005a; Bergada et.al., 2014).

It has been shown that disruption or deficiency of CYP27B1 is associated with longer recovery from infection, greater susceptibility to disease and lower immune responses in CYP27B1-knockout mice with chlamydial infections (He et.al., 2013). In addition, mice lacking CYP27B1 results in decreased epidermal differentiation and barrier function (Bikle et.al., 2004). Hence, epidermal CYP27B1 enzyme activity is required for normal differentiation of keratinocytes in vivo (Bikle et.al., 2004). Interestingly, extra-renal CYP27B1 activity, has been reported to cause excessive serum calcitriol (Jones, 2013). Calcitriol has been reported to have a major regulatory role in calcium homeostasis in differentiated keratinocytes in vivo (Bikle et.al., 2004).

It was shown in human endometrial carcinomas elevated levels of CYP27B1 expression is present in the early stages of neoplastic development, and decreased with cancer progression (Bergada et.al., 2014). In colon cancers, CYP27B1 is strongly expressed in normal, premalignant and malignant colonic epithelial cells, irrespective of tumour cell differentiation (Murillo et.al., 2007). Of interest, calcitriol antiproliferative properties (at high concentration, 100 nM) in cholangiocarcinoma patients demonstrated that CYP27B1 expression is similar in non-malignant versus malignant tumours (Kennedy et.al., 2013).

Interestingly, reduced expression of CYP27B1 was noted in malignant keratinocytes in response to 100 nM calcitriol treatment, without noticeable effects in primary keratinocytes (Chapter 3). This is supportive towards published literature showing similar CYP27B1 reduction (Bikle et.al., 2002). In contrast, calcidiol (250 nM) exerted stimulatory effects on CYP27B1 levels in primary and malignant keratinocytes. The lack of antiproliferative effects noted in SCC-4 cells

treated with 250 nM, suggests that elevated CYP27B1 expression may have a regulatory role in SCC-4 cell survival.

These findings were confirmed by IHC evaluation of CYP27B1 expression in normal skin and NMSC tissues. It was demonstrated that CYP27B1 ranging from poor to moderate expression in cancer tissue, however, decreased CYP27B1 expression was noted in advanced stages of cutaneous neoplastic leisions (such as SCC), where only minimal CYP27B1 expression was detected. Contrastingly, in normal skin, expression of CYP27B1 was prominent. This is indicative of the importance of CYP27B1 involvement in normal skin homeostasis and its involvement in regulation of neoplastic progression.

Whilst it is not established whether the inhibitory effects on cancer cells occur via VDR/CYP27B1 pathways, studies have demonstrated that SCC-4 cells treated with a berberinederived compound showed antitumour activity via inhibition of NF- $\kappa$ B activation (Ho et.al., 2009). This decrease in *NFKB1* gene expression suggests that anticancer activity may be due to ERK1/2 MAPK and NF- $\kappa$ B signalling pathways. This is indicative that the antiproliferative effects observed in SCC-4 cells could also recruit alternative modulators when treated with calcidiol or calcitriol and requires further investigations.

# 5.2.4 The effects of calcidiol and calcitriol on CYP24A1 in cultured neoplastic (SCC-4) and primary keratinocytes; expression levels in normal human skin and NMSC tissues

CYP24A1 is a cytochrome P450 enzyme, and is known to catalyse hydroxylation reactions at C-23 and C-24 of the side chain of both calcidiol and its hormonal form, calcitriol (Jones et.al., 2012). The principal role of CYP24A1 is not only the 24-oxidation of vitamin D to produce calcitroic acid, also known as biliary catabolite, but also the catalyst is of a similar pathway that is initiated from 23-hydroxylation and culminates in the production of calcitriol–26,23-lactone (Ramsay et.al., 2008). The degradation of calcidiol and calcitriol by CYP24A1 results in by-product formation (lactone and calcitrolic acid) that alters the tumour microenvironment to create more favourable environment for neoplastic cell growth conditions. It is important not to underestimate the significance of CYP24A1, as it is involved in homeostatic regulation of vitamin D in normal cells and has an altered activity in neoplastic cells (Guoan et.al., 2011; Luo et.al., 2012). It is unclear, whether the neoplastic cell attempts to compensate for the inhibitory actions of vitamin D (calcidiol and calcitriol) by overexpressing CYP24A1, that produces inactive intermediates (1,24,25-trihydroxyvitamin D3, 24-oxo-1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3, 24-oxo-1,23-dihydroxyvitamin D3) of C24-oxidation pathway and calcitriolic acid that are easily excreted (Tieu et.al., 2014). Moreover, lactone overexpression

is associated with increased malignant progression and altered pH of the tumour microenvironment (Ramsay et.al., 2008). Interestingly, it was demonstrated that 24-hydroxylation metabolic product 24R,24,25-(OH),D when used at high concentrations in chicks, was capable of minor stimulation of intestinal calcium absorption. Whilst, in treated rats the effect was not noticed, in contrast to that calidiol, shown marked stimulation of intestinal calcium absorption. A comparison of the metabolism of 25-hydroxy [26,27- 3H] vitamin D3 and 24,25-dihydroxy [26,27-3H] vitamin D via HPLC, in the rat and chick shows that 24,25-dihydroxyvitamin D, and 1,24,25-trihydroxyvitamin D, disappear at least 10 times more rapidly from the blood and intestine of chicks. These results demonstrate that 24,25-dihydroxyvitamin D, is significantly less biologically active in the chick than in the rat, suggesting on more rapid metabolism and excretion (DeLuca et.al., 1976).

It has been reported that overexpression of CYP24A1 is associated with attenuation of vitamin D signalling and the more advanced stages of malignant conditions (Guoan et.al., 2011; Annalora et.al., 2010).

CYP24A1 expression has been studied in a number of cancers. For example, CYP24A1 is strongly expressed in breast carcinomas (Mimori et.al., 2004). It was suggested that overexpression of CYP24A1 may be associated with systemic and intratumoural, or local tissue specific, vitamin D metabolic status and enzymatic expression (Mimori et.al., 2004). Indeed, CYP24A1 activity has been associated with cancer progression. However, there are some inconsistencies in the expression of CYP24A1. While the published studies agree on profound overexpression of CYP24A1 in colon, ovary and lung carcinoma tissues, contrastingly, in breast tumours *CYP24A1* has decreased transcription of mRNA relative to normal analogous tissues (Anderson et.al., 2006). Furthermore, increased CYP24A1 expression has been reported in human prostate cancers (poorly differentiated and highly advanced stages), which was correlated with a parallel increase in the tumour proliferation rate (Tannour-Louet et.al., 2014). Moreover, it was shown in non-small cell lung cancer cells and primary human lung tumours that CYP24A1 has an aberrant expression that restricts transcriptional regulation and growth control by calcitriol in these cells (Zhang et.al., 2013). It could be assumed that similar mechanism of this enzyme activity may exist in malignant keratinocytes in response to calcitriol (or calcidiol).

IHC analysis of human cutaneous cancers revealed that CYP24A1 expression is significantly enhanced in most NMSC (Chapter 4). This has also been noted in colon, prostate and breast cancers (Guzey et.al.,2002; Mimori et.al., 2004; Leyssens et.al., 2013). Similar effects have also been noted in other cancer cells (Anderson et.al., 2006; Luo et.al., 2012). Intense staining for

CYP24A1 was also shown in human NMSC tissues (Chapter 4). Interestingly, the more aggressive tumours had the most intense staining for CYP24A1, whilst in normal skin CYP24A1 expression were noted to be mostly diminished. It seems that CYP24A1 has a definite role in tumour persistence and is a hallmark of most malignancies. It is not clear whether the inhibition of CYP24A1 would be associated with a better clinical outcome and hence a reduction in patient morbidity.

It was reported that in normal human keratinocytes the inhibition of CYP24A1 activity triggered an increase in and stabilisation of both vitamin D intracellular metabolites: calcidiol and calcitriol (Schuster et.al., 2001). In contrast, a significant elevation of CYP24A1 activity was observed in prostatic neoplastic cells when treated with high doses of cholecalciferol, calcidiol precursor (Tokar & Webber 2005b).

Interestingly, the immunoblotting results (Chapter 3) showed that treatment of SCC-4 with calcidiol (100,000 nM) stimulates the expression of CYP24A1 in malignant (but not in normal) keratinocytes. The stimulation of CYP24A1 expression in neoplastic cells is in agreement with published literature (Tokar & Webber 2005b). The contrasting lack of effect at selected calcidiol and calcitriol doses in normal keratinocytes in CYP24A1 expression indicates that SCC-4 cells have a higher sensitivity in CYP24A1 expression to calcidiol and calcitriol treatment. This sensitivity, perhaps, may relate to neoplastic cell survival, tumour growth and progression, that has been proposed by several studies (Guoan et.al., 2011; Luo et.al., 2012).

Our cumulative data (from IHC and in vitro studies) suggest that neoplastic keratinocytes have altered CYP24A1 expression that may contribute to further tumour progression. It is imperative to understand the role of CYP24A1 in cutaneous neoplasm and its regulation by calcidiol and calcitriol. It was indicated that development of a molecule that has antitumour effects without activating CYP24A1 may lead to positive outcomes (Luo et.al, 2012). Trying to mimic the cancer-inhibitory effects that are exerted by vitamin D metabolites has led to the development of vitamin D analogues, which have inhibitory effects with minimal activation of CYP24A1. Indeed, QW-1624F2-2, a synthetic analogue of calcitriol, was shown to suppress the invasiveness of human breast cancers by having an inhibitory effect on CYP24A1 expression (Sundaram et.al., 2006).

161

# 5.3 The effects of calcidiol and calcitriol effects on EGFR expression in cultured neoplastic (SCC-4) and primary keratinocytes; expression levels in normal human skin and NMSC tissues

The activation of EGF membrane receptor (EGFR) by serum EGF binding, is essential for physiological functions of the skin (Sibilia et.al., 2000). Epidermal keratinocyte regeneration is largely dependent on the EGFR signalling pathway (Fraguas et.al., 2011). It has been shown that EGFR is a major mitogenic signalling entity in calcitriol metabolism in keratinocytes (Garach-Jehoshua et.al., 1999). The EGFR signalling that leads to cell hyperproliferation and angiogenesis, is highly expressed in a variety of malignant tumours, and its expression has been correlated with disease progression and poor survival in many cancers (Bondzi& Allison, 2013; Han & Lo, 2012).

In IHC experiments, detection of EGFR in invasive SCC showed strong expression in welldifferentiated keratinocytes. Surprisingly, similarly high levels of EGFR staining intensity were seen in AK tissues, where EGFR expression was detected in cutaneous sebocytes. Less intense staining for EGFR was noted in poorly differentiated keratinocytes in BCC. Interestingly, in normal skin the expression of EGFR had mostly moderate staining (Chapter 4), which is obviously an essential protective factor for highly regenerative tissue (Pastore et.al., 2008).

The ability of EGFR to affect the cell cycle and differentiation has been shown to be different in healthy and neoplastic cells (Puccinelli et.al., 2010; Runkle et.al., 2012). Calcitriol shown to inhibit autocrine EGFR activation in neoplastic EGFR-overexpressing cells, which resulted in reduced phosphorylation of ERK1/2, the main growth signal of the MAPK pathway. In aggressive malignant tumours driven by enhanced EGFR expression, prevention of nuclear phosphorylated ERK1/2 translocation was used as an indicator of the efficacy of anti-EGFR therapy (Dusso et.al., 2004).

Calcitriol has been reported as an agent that regulates EGFR and related ErbB family member activities. This could represent a valuable treatment in many cancers that respond to EGFR targeted therapy. For instance, in patients with head and neck cancers, where tumour location would compromise the choice of treatment, many tumours displayed intrinsic or acquired resistance to EGFR inhibitory drugs. In metastatic SCC, EGFR inhibitory agents are currently moving through pre-clinical and clinical development (Cohen, 2014).

In the human immortalised keratinocytes HaCaT, treatment with calcitriol has been found to increase autonomous cell proliferation, in the absence of exogenous growth factors such as EGF. It was shown that this stimulation is calcitriol and EGF dependent (Garach-Jehoshua et.al., 1999). Results of immunoblot studies demonstrated that calcitriol and calcidiol at antiproliferative doses (100 nM and 100,000 nM respectively) had no significant effects on EGFR expression in keratinocytes (both, malignant and primary). Perhaps keratinocytes may have selective sensitivity to calcidiol and calcitriol in their expression of EGFR, as these metabolites may interfere with major tumour pathways and bypass the inhibition of the essential growth promoting marker in highly regenerative keratinocytes.

Interestingly, the development of drugs with the targeted suppression of EGFR has resulted in an anti-EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitor (TKI), erlotinib, which is currently in phase III trials for oral SCC prevention (Cohen, 2014). Numerous other drugs are in earlier stages of development for head and neck SCC treatment, including novel anti-EGFR monoclonal antibodies (MEHD7945A, necitumumab and RO5083945), small-molecule TKIs (vandetanib, icotinib and CUDC-101), EGFR antisense, various add-on therapies to radiation and chemotherapy (bevacizumab, interleukin-12, lenalidomide, alisertib and VTX-2337) and drugs (temsirolimus, everolimus, OSI-906, dasatinib and PX-866) intended to overcome resistance to anti-EGFR agents (Cohen, 2014).

## 5.4 The calcidiol effects on FGFR3 expression in cultured neoplastic (SCC-4) and primary keratinocytes; expression levels in normal human skin and NMSC tissues

FGFR3 plays a significant role in mouse skin carcinogenesis, where the expression of FGFR3 showed a strong correlation with neoplastic development in transgenic mice (Li et.al., 1998). Transgenic mice, with targeted activation of mutant FGFR3 in basal cells of the epidermis develop benign epidermal tumours without metastatic morphology (Logié et.al., 2005). This study also performed a screen for FGFR3 mutation in seborrheic keratosis lesions, and noted that a large proportion of tumours had FGFR3 mutations (Logié et.al., 2005). In human Kaposi's sarcoma tissues, expression of FGFR3 correlates with tumour progression. FGF3 binding to FGFR3 results in receptor activation, with consequential activation of MAPK and further potential downstream signalling (Iwata & Leung, 2012; Weisinger et.al., 2010).

In breast tumours, FGFR3 has been classified as a mammary oncogene together with Wnt1 (Hollmann et.al., 2001). Interestingly, Wnt1 signalling is involved in SHH activation of downstream mediators and has been shown to play a role in SCC and BCC tumourigenesis (Miyazaki et.al., 2005). Furthermore, it was shown in a rat chondrosarcoma cell line that FGFR3 is involved in the inhibition of cell proliferation and FGFR3 regulates bone development in rodents (Sahni et.al. 1999). Aberrant signalling of FGFR3 in neoplastic cells was associated with enhanced proliferation and cellular resistance to apoptosis (Chaffer et.al., 2007). It has also been shown that

FGFR3 can activate different signal transduction pathways, and regulates the early stages of tumourigenesis in mammary epithelial cell lines (Fioravanti et.al. 1997).

The immunoblotting results demonstrated elevated FGFR3 protein expression in responsive to calcidiol (250 nM) treatment in primary and malignant keratinocytes (Chapter 3). Interestingly, calcidiol inhibitory effects (100,000 nM) were obvious only in primary, but not in neoplastic keratinocytes (Chapter 3), whilst, lack of effect was noticed in both, primary and neoplastic keratinocytes, treated with 100 nM calcitriol (Chapter 3).

This is indicative that SCC-4 cells have dysfunction in regulation of epidermal homeostasis, where proteins responsible for tissue regeneration have aberrant responses to calcidiol, compared to normal cells. It is obvious that calcidiol is involved in the regulation of FGFR3; however, the mechanism of this signalling is not clear.

The results of IHC study showed that FGFR3 expression is an important aspect in epidermal keratinocytes. It was noted in stromal keratinocytes of SCCIS and keratinocytes of AK lesions elevated expression of FGFR3; however, the strongest levels of expression were noted in BCC and SCC (Chapter 4). Interestingly, in the majority of normal skin tissues moderate to high levels of FGFR3 expression was detected, suggesting a role of FGFR3 role in normal skin homeostasis.

Taken together, these studies suggest a connection between neoplastic formation and tissue FGFR3 expression. The possible mechanism of calcidiol and calcitriol involvement in the regulation of FGFR3 expression in human skin has not been investigated (to our knowledge). The FGFR3 expression in NMSC and in calcidiol or calcitriol treated keratinocytes is shown for the first time as per authors knowledge.

## 5.5 Determination of PCNA expression in cultured neoplastic and primary keratinocytes; expression levels in normal human skin and NMSC tisssues

The expression of proliferating cell nuclear antigen (PCNA) represents an interest for this study as PCNA is predominantly synthesised in the late G1 and S phase of the cell cycle and considered to be the a useful marker for proliferating cellular capacity. The evaluation of PCNA expression in human NMSC lesions and normal skin tissues demonstrated that PCNA is prominently expressed in highly proliferative epidermal keratinocytes of the vast majority of NMSC samples and in normal tissue. This suggests that cellular responsiveness to the growth promoting factors is similar in malignant and primary keratinocytes. This is supported by existing literature (Penneys et.al., 1994; Einspahr et.al., 1999; Moor et.al., 2004). Furthermore, the expression of PCNA was examined in response to calcidiol and calcitriol treatment in immunobot experiments.

Surprisingly, lack of differential effects were shown in primary and neoplastic keratinocytes. The results of these studies suggest that PCNA is an important protein in the epidermis, and that is not influenced by either of the vitamin D metabilotes (calcidiol or calcitriol). These findings indicate that the mechanism of calcidiol and calcitriol molecular pathways may not involve PCNA signalling in human keratinocytes.

#### **CHAPTER 6.**

#### **CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS**

#### **6.1** Concluding remarks

Whilst vitamin D metabolites are regarded as tumour inhibitory agents in some cancer types, it was shown that its intracrine metabolism is involved in the regulation of neoplastic cell growth and proliferation (Bikle et.al., 2011a; Bikle et.al., 2013). Numerous studies demonstrate the anticancer properties of calcidiol and calcitriol (Campbell et.al., 2009; Leyssens et.al., 2013; Krishnan et.al., 2013; Jiang et.al., 2013; Guan et.al., 2013).

Prior to summarising the major findings of in vitro and immunohistochemical studies, it is important to emphasise that the main focus of this thesis was to determine the effects of calcidiol on neoplastic keratinocytes in NMSC. The effect of cacitriol was investigated in order to examine whether the observed effects were due to calcidiol itself (or possibly due to its intracellular conversion to calcitriol). It was concluded that calcidiol has an independent mechanism of action from calcitriol, where calcidiol inhibitory effects on neoplastic cell migration (Chapter 2), and differential effects on protein expression (Chapter 3), are convincing evidence in support to this observation.

The major findings of the experiments are:

- Protein detection studies in cultured human cutaneous cells by immunoblotting showed for the first time in one study that CYP27B1 and FGFR3 in human primary and neoplastic epidermal cells are responsive to calcidiol, which is in agreement with the current literature (Schuster, 2011). It was noted that CYP24A1 had elevated expression in response to calcidiol and calcitriol treatment in neoplastic keratinocytes, but not in primary. The molecular mechanism of this mediation was not investigated; however, calcidiol (250 nM) treatment stimulates expression of VDR and metabolic vitamin D enzymes in SCC-4 cells, which are in agreement with CYP450 enzymatic levels detected in human NMSCs.
- 2. The effect of calcidiol on the expression FGFR3 was shown to be calcidiol (at 250 nM) dependent in cultured human primary and malignant keratinocytes
- 3. In NMSC human tissues CYP24A1 expression is greatly enhanced, which may contribute to progression of carcinogenesis and possible metastatic spread (Luo et.al., 2012).
- 4. In human tissue specimens, vitamin D enzyme (CYP27B1 and CYP24A1) expression may be involved in NMSC progression to more aggressive cancer types. Study of the growth
factors expressed in human NMSC tissues suggests that the protein expression of the vitamin D metabolic enzyme CYP27B1 has an inverse relationship with the expression of growth factors (EGF, FGF3 and VEGF). This is a crucial factor for the progression from the skin cancer precursor, AK, to malignant SCC, which also agrees with the current literature (Pietras & Östman, 2010).

- 5. Further to this, it was demonstrated that calcidiol and calctriol treatment exert partial antiproliferative effects in malignant keratinocytes (SCC-4 cells).
- Finally, FGFR3 protein expression was shown in AK, BCC, SCCIS and SCC. FGFR3 expression was found to be a critical mode of action in highly proliferative neoplastic keratinocytes of NMSC. However, the mechanism of FGFR3 regulation by calcidiol remains unclear.

These findings all together indicate that calcidiol exerts antiproliferative effects in malignant keratinocytes. These effects appear not to have VDR-mediatory regulation. Considering these findings, the development of novel calcidiol-based anti-skin cancer therapies or preventative strategies should be based on an understanding of calcidiol interactions in NMSC prevention and treatment.

### **6.1 Future directions**

The dilemma of sun exposure and skin cancer still exists. The promising prospects of supplementary sources of vitamin D have been shown in animal models (Bikle et.al., 2011). It was demonstrated that supplementation using the vitamin D precursor cholecalciferol caused the reduction and regression of skin tumours in mice (Bikle et.al., 2011). However, animal research is not always in agreement with human studies, due to the variation of genomic responses between different species to the treatment.

However, while animal research does not always agree with the human situation, NMSC remains a leading malignancy in Australia, which creates a need for futher clinical studies to aid in a better understanding whether supplementation of the 'sunshine' vitamin, or controlled solar exposure, will help reduce the incidence of NMSC and help to improve the morbidity and mortality of this disease.

1. This study attempted to determine the role of calcidiol in the development and progression of NMSC. There is a need to further investigate the influence of this

metabolite on intracrine pathways in the transformation of precancerous lesions to malignant types.

- 2. Further studies are also required in order to determine the efficacy of vitamin D and its role in skin cancer prevention, as its application alone or in combination with other tumour inhibitory compounds may improve the condition.
- 3. The particular focus should be directed in investigating the molecular mode of action of calcidiol. Herein, the high expression of CYP24A1 protein was inversely associated with low intracrine expression of the anabolic vitamin D enzyme CYP27B1. It is well known that some NMSCs, such as SCC, are classified as some of the most lethal metastatic tumours (Hoekstra, 2008; Ratushny et.al., 2012). The ablation of CYP24A1 activity in tumour cells could lead to a reduction in metastatic capacity and permit the inhibitory activity of calcidiol. Therefore, the recruitment of possible therapeutic agents that inhibit CYP24A1 activity in neoplastic cells would represent a milestone in NMSC.
- 4. Antimigrative effects of calcidiol were apparent. However, it would be interesting to explore whether similar effects would be observed in assays using boyden chambers or in automated quantification of cell migration and invasion in real time under physiological conditions. Further experiments would also include investigations of calcidiol effect with siRNA inhibition of CYP27B1 (or VDR) in malignant SCC-4 keratinocytes, to determine whether the antiproliferative effects of calcidiol are induced by calcidiol itself or whether intracellularly generated calcitriol is responsible for this effect.
- 5. In addition, confirming the expression of VDR in response to inhibitory and stimulatory doses of calcidiol and calcitriol by flow cytometry in SCC-4 cells compared to primary keratinocytes is required. This may help to determine the role of VDR in skin cancers.
- 6. Furthermore, it would be informative to evaluate the effects of calcidiol in animal studies using calcidiol (either as dietary supplementation or as intratumoural injection) and determine its antiproliferative properties in vivo.
- Moreover, future studies are required to determine the preventative effects of calcidiol and calcitriol on neoplastic transformation and progression to malignancy and in NMSC in animal models and in human clinical studies.

# CHAPTER 7.

# **BIBLIOGRAPHY**

Adams, J & Gacad, J, 1998, 'Proteins in the heat shock-70 family specifically bind 25-hydroxyvitamin D3 and 17beta-estradiol', *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, vol 83, no. 4, pp.1264-7.

Adly M, Analysis of the expression pattern of the carrier protein transthyretin and its receptor megalin in the human scalp skin and hair follicles: hair cycle-associated changes, 2010, *Histochemistry and Cell Biology, vol.* 134, no. 6, pp. 591-602.

Afaq, A, Adhami, V & Mukhtar, H 2005, 'Photochemoprevention of ultraviolet B signalling and photocarcinogenesis', *Mutation Research*, vol. 571, no. 1-2, pp. 153-73.

Afzal, S, Nordestgaard, B & Bojesen, S 2013, 'Plasma 25-hydroxyvitamin D and risk of non-melanoma and melanoma skin cancer: a prospective cohort study', *Journal of Investigative Dermatolology*, vol. 133, no. 3, pp. 629-36.

Agic, A, Hong, Xu, Altgassen, C, Noack, F, Wolfler, MM, Diedrich, K, Friedrich, M, Taylor, R & Hornung, D 2007, 'Relative expression of 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 receptor, vitamin D 1α-hydroxylase, vitamin D 24-hydroxylase, and vitamin D 25-hydroxylase in endometriosis and gynecologic cancers', *Reproductive Sciences*, vol. 14, no. 5, pp. 486-97.

Akca, H, Tani, M, Hishida, T, Matsumoto, S & Yokota, J 2006, 'Activation of the AKT and STAT3 pathways and prolonged survival by a mutant EGFR in human lung cancer cells', *Lung Cancer*, vol. 54, no. 1, pp. 25-33.

Alshahrani, F & Aljohani, N 2013, 'Vitamin D: deficiency, sufficiency and toxicity', *Nutrients*, vol. 5, no. 9, pp. 3605-16.

Akutsu, N, Lin R, Bastien, Y, Bestawros, A, Enepekides, D, Black, M & White, J, 2001, 'Regulation of gene Expression by 1alpha, 25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 and Its analog EB1089 under growth-inhibitory conditions in squamous carcinoma', *Molecular Endocrinology*, vol.15, no.7, pp.1127-39.

Amaral, A, Mendez-Pertuz, M, Munoz, A, Silverman, D, Allory, Y, Kogevinas, M, Lloreta, J, Rothman, N, Carrato, A, Rivas del Fresno, M, Real, F & Malats, N, 2012, 'Plasma 25-hydroxyvitamin D(3) and bladder cancer risk according to tumor stage and FGFR3 status: a mechanism-based epidemiological study', *Journal of National Cancer Institute*, vol. 104, no. 24, pp. 1897-904.

Anderson, M, Ruan, X, Nakane, M, Kroeger, P & Wu-Wong, 2006, 'Expression of VDR and CYP24A1 mRNA in human tumors', *Cancer Chemotherapy and Pharmacology*, vol. 57, no. 2, pp. 234-40.

Andrianifahanana, M, Wilkes, M, Repellin, C, Edens, M, Kottom, T, Rahimi, R & Leof, E 2010, 'ERBB receptor activation is required for profibrotic responses to transforming growth factor  $\beta$ ', *Cancer Research*, vol. 70, no. 19, pp. 7421-30.

Annalora, A, Goodin, D, Hong, W, Zhang, Q, Johnson, E & Stout, C 2010, 'Crystal Structure of CYP24A1, a Mitochondrial Cytochrome P450 Involved in Vitamin D Metabolism', *Journal of Molecular Biology*, vol. 396, no. 2, pp. 441-51.

Antoine, M, Reimers, K, Gressner, A, Wirz, W, Müller, R & Kiefer, P 2005, 'Fibroblast growth factor 3, a protein with a dual subcellular fate, is interacting with human ribosomal protein S2', *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, vol. 338, no. 2, pp. 1248-55.

Arao, T, Ueshima, K, Matsumoto, K, Nagai, T, Kimura, H, Hagiwara, S, Sakurai, T, Haji, S, Kanazawa, A, Hidaka, H, Iso, Y, Kubota, K, Shimada, M, Utsunomiya, T, Hirooka, M, Hiasa, Y, Toyoki, Y, Hakamada, K, Yasui, K, Kumada, T, Toyoda, H, Sato, S, Hisai, H, Kuzuya, T, Tsuchiya, K, Izumi, N, Arii, S, Nishio, K & Kudo, M 2013, 'FGF3/FGF4 amplification and multiple lung metastases in responders to sorafenib in hepatocellular carcinoma', *Hepatology*, vol. 57, no. 4, pp. 1407-15.

Armbrecht, H, Nemani, R & Wongsurawat, N 1996, 'Regulation of Calcium Metabolism by the Vitamin D Hydroxylases', *Advances in Molecular and Cell Biology*, vol. Volume 14, pp. 245-67.

Aroni, K, Mastoraki, A, Kyriazi, E, Liossi, A & Loannidis, E 2007, 'Silver-stained nucleolar organiser regions and immunoglobulins in cutaneous squamocellular tumours', *Pathology - Research and Practice*, vol. 203, no. 12, pp. 857-62.

Arora, A & Attwood, J 2009, 'Common Skin Cancers and Their Precursors', *Surgical Clinics* of North America, vol. 89, no. 3, pp. 703-12.

Assefa, Z, Garmyn, M, Van Laethem, A & Agostinis, P 2005, 'Ultraviolet radiation-induced apoptosis in keratinocytes: On the role of cytosolic factors', *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Reviews on Cancer*, vol. 1755, no. 2, pp. 90-106.

Atkins, D, Reiffen, K, Tegtmeier, C, Winther, H, Bonato, M & Störkel, S 2004, 'Immunohistochemical Detection of EGFR in Paraffin-embedded Tumor Tissues: Variation in Staining Intensity Due to Choice of Fixative and Storage Time of Tissue Sections', *Journal of Histochemistry & Cytochemistry*, vol. 52, no. 7, pp. 893-901.

Atkins, K & Troen, B 1995, 'Comparative responsiveness of HL-60, HL-60R, and HL-60R+ (LRARSN) cells to retinoic acid, calcitriol, 9 cis-retinoic acid, and sodium butyrate', *Blood*, vol. 86, no. 7, pp. 2475-80.

Baba, H, Yoshida, M, Yokota, T, Uchiwa, H & Watanabe, S 2005, 'Human epidermal basal cell responses to ultraviolet-B differ according to their location in the undulating epidermis', *Journal of Dermatological Science*, vol. 38, no. 1, pp. 41-6.

Bachelor, M & Bowden, G 2004, 'UVA-mediated activation of signalling pathways involved in skin tumour promotion and progression', *Seminars in Cancer Biology*, vol. 14, no. 2, pp. 131-8.

Baeke F, van Etten, E, Gysemans, C, Overbergh, L & Mathieu C 2008, 'Vitamin D signalling in immunemediated disorders: Evolving insights and therapeutic opportunities', *Molecular Aspects of Medicine*, vol. 29, no. 6, pp. 376-87.

Baeke, F, Takiishi, T, Korf, H, Gysemans, C & Mathieu, C 2010a, 'Vitamin D: modulator of the immune system', *Current Opinion in Pharmacology*, vol. 10, no. 4, pp. 482-96.

Baeke, F, Korf, H, Overbergh, L, van Etten, E, Verstuyf, A, Gysemans, C & Mathieu, C 2010b, 'Human T lymphocytes are direct targets of 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 in the immune system', *The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, vol. 121, no. 1-2, pp. 221-7.

Balasubramanian, S & Eckert, R 2007, 'Keratinocyte proliferation, differentiation, and apoptosis--Differential mechanisms of regulation by curcumin, EGCG and apigenin', *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, vol. 224, no. 3, pp. 214-9.

Balvers, M, Brouwer-Brolsma, E, Endenburg, S, de Groot, L, Kok, F & Gunnewiek, J 2015, 'Recommended intakes of vitamin D to optimise health, associated circulating 25-hydroxyvitamin D concentrations, and dosing regimens to treat deficiency: workshop report and overview of current literature', *Journal of Nutritional Science*, vol. 4, pp. e23.

Banerjee, P & Chatterjee, M 2003, 'Antiproliferative role of vitamin D and its analogs-a brief overview', *Molecular and Cellular Biochemistry*, vol. 253, no.1-2, pp. 247-54.

Banerjee, U, Ghosh, M & KyleHadden, M 2012, 'Evaluation of vitamin D3 A-ring analogues as Hedgehog pathway inhibitors', *Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry Letters*, vol. 22, no. 3, pp. 1330-4.

Bao, B, Ting, H, Hsu, J, Yasmin-Karim, S, Messing, E & Lee, Y 2010, 'Down-regulation of NF-kB signals is involved in loss of 1alpha,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 responsiveness', *The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, vol. 120, no. 1, pp. 11-21.

Barsony, J, Renyi, I & McKoy, W 1997 'Subcellular distribution of normal and mutant vitamin D receptors in living cells', *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, vol. 272, no. 9, pp. 5774-82.

Basu-Modak, S, Gordon, MJ, Dobson, L, Spencer, J, Rice-Evans, C & Tyrrell, R 2003, 'Epicatechin and its methylated metabolite attenuate UVA-induced oxidative damage to human skin fibroblasts', *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*, vol. 35, no. 8, pp. 910-21.

Beckett, M & Rheinwald, J 1981, 'Tumourigenic Keratinocyte Lines Requiring Anchorage and Fibroblast Support Cultured from Human Squamous Cell Carcinomas', *Cancer Research*, vol. 41, pp. 1657-63.

Beer, T, Myrthue, A, Garzotto, M, O'hara, M, Chin, R, Lowe, B, Montalto, M, Corless, C, Henner, W 2004, 'Randomized study of high-dose pulse calcitriol or placebo prior to radical prostatectomy', *Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers Prevention*, vol. 13, no. 12, p. 2225-32.

Benavides, F, Oberyszyn, T, VanBuskirk, A, Reeve, V & Kusewitt, D 2009, 'The hairless mouse in skin research', *Journal of Dermatological Science*, vol. 53, no. 1, pp. 10-8.

Ben-Shoshan, M, Amir, S, Dang, D, Dang, L, Weisman, Y & Mabjeesh, N 2007, '1alpha,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 (Calcitriol) inhibits hypoxia-inducible factor-1/vascular endothelial growth factor pathway in human cancer cells', *Molecular Cancer Therapeutics*, vol. 6, no. 4, pp. 1433-9.

Bergada, L, Pallares, J, Vittoria Arcidiacono, M, Cardus, A, Santacana, M, Valls, J, Cao, G, Fernandez, E, Dolcet, X, Dusso, AS & Matias-Guiu, X 2014, 'Role of local bioactivation of vitamin D by CYP27A1 and CYP2R1 in the control of cell growth in normal endometrium and endometrial carcinoma', *Laboratory Investigation*, vol. 94, no. 6, pp. 608-22.

Berman, B & Cockerell, C 2013, 'Pathobiology of actinic keratosis: Ultraviolet-dependent keratinocyte proliferation', *Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology*, vol. 68, no. 1, Supplement 1, pp. S10-S9.

Bharti, A & Aggarwal, B 2002, 'Nuclear factor-kappa B and cancer: its role in prevention and therapy', *Biochemical Pharmacology*, vol. 64, no. 5–6, pp. 883-8.

Biauer, M, Rovio, P, Ylikomi, T & Heinonen, P 2009, 'Vitamin D inhibits myometrial and leiomyoma cell proliferation in vitro', *Fertility and Sterility*, vol. 91, no. 5, pp. 1919-25.

Bikle, D, Pillai S, & Gee, E 1991, 'Squamous carcinoma cell lines produce 1,25 dihydroxyvitamin D, but fail to respond to its prodifferentiating effect', Journal of Investive Dermatology, vol. 97, no.3, pp. 435-41.

Bikle, D 2004, 'Vitamin D Regulated Keratinocyte Differentiation', *Journal of Cellular Biochemistry*, vol. 92, no. 3, pp. 436-44.

Bikle, D 2008, 'Vitamin D Receptor, UVR, and Skin Cancer: A Potential Protective Mechanism', *Journal of Investigative Dermatololgy*, vol. 128, no. 10, pp. 2357-61.

Bikle, D 2011a, 'Vitamin D metabolism and function in the skin', *Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology*, vol. 347, no. 1–2, pp. 80-9.

Bikle, D 2011b, 'Vitamin D: an ancient hormone.', Experimental Dermatology, vol. 1, no. 7-13.

Bikle, D, Chang, S, Crumrine, D, Elalieh, H, Man, Q, Dardenne, O, Xie, Z, Arnaud, R, Feingold, K & Elias, P 2004, 'Mice lacking 25OHD 1[alpha]-hydroxylase demonstrate decreased epidermal differentiation and barrier function', *The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, vol. 89-90, pp. 347-53.

Bikle, D, Teichert, A, Hawker, N, Xie, Z & Oda, Y 2007, 'Sequential regulation of keratinocyte differentiation by 1,25(OH)2D3, VDR, and its coregulators', *The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, vol. 103, no. 3–5, pp. 396-404.

Bikle, D, Teichert, A, Arnold, L, Uchida, Y, Elias, P & Oda, Y 2010, 'Differential regulation of epidermal function by VDR coactivators', *The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, vol. 121, no. 1–2, pp. 308-13.

Bikle, D, Elalieh, H, Welsh, J, Oh, D, Cleaver, J & Teichert, A 2013, 'Protective role of vitamin D signalling in skin cancer formation', *The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, vol. 136.

Binkley, N 2012, 'Vitamin D and osteoporosis-related fracture', *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics*, vol. 523, no. 1, pp. 115-22.

Brüggemann, L, Queiroz, K, Zamani, K, van Straaten, A, Spek, C, Bijlsma, M 2010, Assessing the efficacy of the hedgehog pathway inhibitor vitamin D3 in a murine xenograft model for pancreatic cancer', *Cancer Biology and Therapy*, vol. 10, no.1, pp. 79-88.

Blank, S, Scanlon, K, Sinks, T, Lett, S, Falk, H, Am, J 1995, 'An outbreak of hypervitaminosis D associated with the overfortification of milk from a home-delivery dairy', *Public Health*, vol. 85, no.5, pp. 656-9.

Bock, G, Prietl, B, Mader, JK, Höller, E, Wolf, M, Pilz, S, Graninger, W, Obermayer-Pietsch, B & Pieber, T 2011, 'The effect of vitamin D supplementation on peripheral regulatory T cells and  $\beta$  cell function in healthy humans: a randomised controlled trial', *Diabetes/Metabolism Research and Reviews*, vol. 27, no. 8, pp. 942-5.

Böer-Auer, A, Jones, M & Lyasnichaya, O 2012, 'Cytokeratin 10-negative nested pattern enables sure distinction of clonal seborrheic keratosis from pagetoid Bowen's disease', *Journal of Cutaneous Pathology*, vol. 39, no. 2, pp. 225-33.

Bondzi, C & Allison, L 2013, 'erbA and erbB in Human Cancer', in SH Maloy, Kelly (ed.), *Brenner's Encyclopedia of Genetics (Second Edition)*, Academic Press, San Diego, pp. 517-20,

Bosch, X 1998, 'Hypercalcemia due to endogenous overproduction of 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D in Crohn's disease', *Gastroenterology*, vol. 114, no. 5, pp. 1061-5.

Bouillon, R, Eelen, G, Verlinden, L, Mathieu, C, Carmeliet, G & Verstuyf, A 2006, 'Vitamin D and cancer', *The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, vol. 102, no. 1-5, pp. 156-62.

Boyan, B, Wong, K, Fang, M & Schwartz, Z 2007, 'lalpha,25(OH)2D3 is an autocrine regulator of extracellular matrix turnover and growth factor release via ERp60 activated matrix vesicle metalloproteinases', *The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, vol. 103, no. 3-5, pp. 467-72.

Bremnes, R, Donnem, T, Al-Saad, S, Al-Shibli, K, Andersen, S, Sirera, R, Camps, C, Marinez, I & Busundet, L 2011, 'The role of tumor stroma in cancer progression and prognosis: emphasis on carcinomaassociated fibroblasts and non-small cell lung cancer', *Journal of Thoracic Oncology*, vol, 6, n: 1, p. 209-17.

Brown, A, Dusso, A & Slatopolsky, E 1999, 'Vitamin D', American Journal of Physiology - Renal Physiology, vol. 277, no. 2, pp. 157-175

Brown, A & Slatopolsky, E 2008, 'Vitamin D analogs: Therapeutic applications and mechanisms for selectivity', *Molecular Aspects of Medicine*, vol. 29, no. 6, pp. 433-452.

Brożyna, A, Jóźwicki, W, Janjetovic, Z & Slominski, A 2013, 'Expression of the vitamin D–activating enzyme 1α-hydroxylase (CYP27B1) decreases during melanoma progression', *Human Pathology*, vol. 44, no. 3, pp. 374-87.

Buchau, A 2010, 'EGFR (Trans) activation Mediates IL-8 and Distinct Human Antimicrobial Peptide and Protein Production following Skin Injury', *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*, vol. 130, no. 4, pp. 929-32.

Caicedo-Granados, E, Wuertz, B & Ondrey, F 2012, 'Enforced expression of nuclear factor kappa B in p53 deficient keratinocytes induces cell cycle, angiogenic potential and tumourigenesis', *Oral Oncology*, vol. 48, no. 4, pp. 303-10.

Campbell, F, Xu, H, El-Tanani, M, Crowe, P & Bingham, V 2009, 'The Yin and Yang of vitamin D receptor (VDR) signalling in neoplastic progression: Operational networks and tissue-specific growth control', *Biochemical Pharmacology*, vol. 79, no. 1, pp. 1-9.

Cardus, A, Panizo, S, Encinas, M, Dolcet, X, Gallego, C, Aldea, M, Fernandez, E & Valdivielso, J 2009, '1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 regulates VEGF production through a vitamin D response element in the VEGF promoter', *Atherosclerosis*, vol. 204, no. 1, pp. 85-9.

Carlberg, C & Campbell, M 2013, 'Vitamin D receptor signalling mechanisms: Integrated actions of a well-defined transcription factor', *Steroids*, vol. 78, no. 2, pp. 127-36.

Carpenter, T 1989, 'Mineral regulation of vitamin D metabolism', *Bone and Mineral*, vol. 5, no. 3, pp. 259-69.

Carr, R, Taibjee, S & Sanders, D 2007, 'Basaloid skin tumours: Basal cell carcinoma', *Current Diagnostic Pathology*, vol. 13, no. 4, pp. 252-72.

Chaffer, C, Dopheide, B, Savagner, P, Thompson, E & Williams, E 2007, 'Aberrant fibroblast growth factor receptor signalling in bladder and other cancers', *Differentiation*, vol. 75, no. 9, pp. 831-42.

Chamulitrat, W, Schmidt, R, Chunglok, W, Kohl, A & Tomakidi, P 2003, 'Epithelium and fibroblast-like phenotypes derived from HPV16 E6/E7-immortalised human gingival keratinocytes following chronic ethanol treatment', *European Journal of Cell Biology*, vol. 82, no. 6, pp. 313-22.

Chanchal C, Chitra G & Annamalai, C 2010, P53 mutations in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma', *International Journal of Pharmaceutical and Biomedical Research*, Vol.1, no.3, pp. 117-121.

Chandramouli, A, Govindaraja, C & Chandramouli, C 2010, 'P53 mutations in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma', *International Journal of Pharmaceutical and Biomedical Research*, vol. 1, no. 3, pp. 117-21.

Chantalvan, M, Evelyne, E, Brigitte, D, Annapaula, G, Conny, G, Roger, B & Lut, O 2004, 'Vitamin D and 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 as modulators in the immune system', *The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, vol. 89-90, pp. 449-52.

Chatterjee, M 2001, 'Vitamin D and genomic stability', *Mutation Research/Fundamental and Molecular Mechanisms of Mutagenesis*, vol. 475, no. 1-2, pp. 69-87.

Chen, G, Kim, S, King, A, Zhao, L, Simpson, R, Christensen, P, Wang, Z, Thomas, D, Giordano, T, Lin, L, Brenner, D, Beer, D & Ramnath, N 2011, 'CYP24A1 Is an Independent Prognostic Marker of Survival in Patients with Lung Adenocarcinoma', *Clinical Cancer Research*, vol. 17 no. 4, pp. 817-26.

Chen, J, Lu, K, Tsai, M, Hsu, S, Kuo, C, Yang, J, Hsia, T, Yu, C, Chou, S, Kao, M, Chung, J & Wood, W 2009, 'Gypenosides induced G0/G1 arrest via CHk2 and apoptosis through endoplasmic reticulum stress and mitochondria-dependent pathways in human tongue cancer SCC-4 cells', *Oral Oncology*, vol. 45, no. 3, pp. 273-83.

Chen T, Persons, K, Liu, W, Chen, M & Holick, M 1995 'The antiproliferative and differentiative activities of 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 are potentiated by epidermal growth factor and attenuated by insulin in cultured human keratinocytes', *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*, vol. 104, no. 1, pp. 113-7.

Chen, T & Holick, M 2003, 'Vitamin D and prostate cancer prevention and treatment', Trends in Endocrinology and Metabolism, vol. 14, no. 9, pp. 423-30.

Chen, Y, Zhao, C, Zhen, Z, Wong, A, Tse, H & Yiu, K 2014, 'Association of myocardial dysfunction with vitamin D deficiency in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus', *Journal of Diabetes and its Complications*, vol. 28, no. 3, pp. 286-90.

Cheng, J, Levine, M, Bell, N, Mangelsdorf, DJ & Russell, DW 2004, 'Genetic evidence that the human CYP2R1 enzyme is a key vitamin D 25-hydroxylase', *Proceedings of the national academy of sciences*, vol. 101, no. 20 pp. 7711-5.

Chiang K, Yeh C, Hsu J, Chen L, Kuo S, Sun C, Huang C, Pang J, Flanagan J, Takano M, Kittaka A, Juang H, Yang S & Chen, T 2013, 'MART-10, a novel vitamin D analog, inhibits head and neck squamous carcinoma cells growth through cell cycle arrest at G0/G1 with upregulation of p21 and p27 and downregulation of telomerase', Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biololgy, vol. 138, pp.427-34.

Christakos, S, Dhawan, P, Liu, Y, Peng, X & Porta, A 2003, 'New insights into the mechanisms of vitamin D action', *Journal of Cellular Biochemistry*, vol. 88, no. 4, pp. 695-705.

Christiansen, M, Jorgensen, C, Laursen, I, Hirschberg, D, Højrup, P & Houen, G 2007, 'Protein chemical characterization of Gc globulin (vitamin D-binding protein) isoforms; Gc-1f, Gc-1s and Gc-2', *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Proteins and Proteomics*, vol. 1774, no. 4, pp. 481-92.

Chun, H, Kuzmickey, P, Kado, N & Rice, R 2000, 'Toxicity of Trp-P-2 to cultured human and rat keratinocytes', *Chemico-Biological Interactions*, vol. 127, no. 3, pp. 237-53.

Chung, I, Han, G, Seshadri, M, Gillard, B, Yu, W, Foster, B, Trump, D & Johnson, C 2009, 'Role of Vitamin D Receptor in the Antiproliferative Effects of Calcitriol in Tumour-Derived Endothelial Cells and Tumour Angiogenesis In vivo', *Cancer Research*, vol. 69, no. 3, pp. 967-75.

Clairmont, A, Tessman, D, Stock, A, Nicolai, S, Stahl, W & Sies, H 1996, 'Induction of gap junctional intercellular communication by vitamin D in human skin fibroblasts is dependent on the nuclear Induction of gap junctional intercellular communication by vitamin D in human skin fibroblasts is dependent on the nuclear vitamin D receptor', *Carcinogenesis*, vol. 17, no. 6, pp. 1389-91.

Clausen, O & Potten, C 1990, 'Heterogeneity of keratinocytes in the epidermal basal cell layer', *Journal of Cutaneous Pathology*, vol. 17, no. 3, pp. 129-43.

Clemens T, Adams J, Horiuchi N, Gilchrest B, Cho H, Tsuchiya Y, Matsuo N, Suda T, Holick M, 1982, 'Interaction of 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin-D3 with keratinocytes and fibroblasts from skin of normal subjects and a subject with vitamin-D-dependent rickets, type II: a model for study of the mode of action of 1,25dihydroxyvitamin D3' *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, vol. 56, no. 4, pp. 824-30.

Cohen, R 2014, 'Current challenges and clinical investigations of epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR)- and ErbB family-targeted agents in the treatment of head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (HNSCC)', *Cancer Treatment Reviews*, vol. 40, no. 4, pp. 567-77.

Copigny, F, Champeme, M, Bièche, I, Hacène, K & Lidereau, R 1995, '451b Int-2/FGF3 amplification is a better independent predictor of relapse than C-MYC and c-erbB-2/neu amplifications in primary human breast cancer', *European Journal of Cancer*, vol. 31, Supplement 6, pp. S97.

Correa, P, Segersten, U, Hellman, P, Åkerström, G & Westin, G 2002, 'Increased 25-Hydroxyvitamin D3 1{alpha}-Hydroxylase and Reduced 25-Hydroxyvitamin D3 24-Hydroxylase Expression in Parathyroid Tumours: New Prospects for Treatment of Hyperparathyroidism with Vitamin D', *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, vol. 87, pp. 5826 - 9.

Cordero, J, Cozzolino, M, Lu, Y, Vidal, M, Slatopolsky, E, Stahl, P, Barbieri, M & Dusso, A 2002, '1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D Down-regulates Cell Membrane Growth- and Nuclear Growth-promoting Signals by the Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor', *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, vol. 277, no. 41, pp. 38965-71.

Coulter, L, Wolber, R & Tron, VA 1995, 'Site-specific comparison of p53 immunostaining in squamous cell carcinomas', *Human Pathology*, vol. 26, no. 5, pp. 531-3.

Cross, H, Nittke, T, Kallay, E 2011, 'Colonic vitamin D metabolism: Implications for the pathogenesis of inflammatory bowel disease and colorectal cancer', *Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology*, vol. 347, no. 1–2, pp. 70-79.

Cross, H 2007, 'Extrarenal vitamin D hydroxylase expression and activity in normal and malignant cells: modification of expression by epigenetic mechanisms and dietary substances', *Nutrition Review*, vol. 65, no. 8(Pt 2), S108-12

Cusano, N, Thys-Jacobs, S & Bilezikian, J 2011, 'Chapter 72 - Hypercalcemia Due to Vitamin D Toxicity', in D Feldman, JW Pike & JS Adams (eds), *Vitamin D (Third Edition)*, Academic Press, San Diego, pp. 1381-402

Daniel, C, Schroder, O, Zahn, N, Gaschott, T & Stein, J 2004, 'p38 MAPK signalling pathway is involved in butyrate-induced vitamin D receptor expression', *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, vol. 324, no. 4, pp. 1220-6.

Daya-Grosjean, L & Couve-Privat, S 2005, 'Sonic hedgehog signalling in basal cell carcinomas', *Cancer Letters*, vol. 225, no. 2, pp. 181-92.

Deeb, K, Trump, D & Johnson, C 2007, 'Vitamin D signalling pathways in cancer: potential for anticancer therapeutics', *Nature Reviews Cancer*, vol. 7, no. 9, pp. 684-700.

De Haes, P, Garmyn, M, Verstuyf, A, De Clercq, P, Vandewalle, M, Degreef, H, Vantieghem, K, Bouillon, R & Segaert, S 2005, '1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 and analogues protect primary human keratinocytes against UVB-induced DNA damage', *Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology B: Biology*, vol. 78, no. 2, pp. 141-8.

de Lyra, E, da Silva, I, Katayama, M, Brentani, M, Nonogaki, S, Góes, J & Folgueira, M 2006, '25(OH)D3 and 1,25(OH)2D3 serum concentration and breast tissue expression of 1α-hydroxylase, 24-hydroxylase and Vitamin D receptor in women with and without breast cancer', *The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, vol. 100, no. 4–5, pp. 184-92.

Detmar, M, Velasco, P, Richard, L, Claffey, K, Streit, M, Riccardi, L, Skobe, M & Brown, LF 2000, 'Expression of Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor Induces an Invasive Phenotype in Human Squamous Cell Carcinomas', *American Journal of Pathology*, vol. 156, no. 1, p. 159–167.

Detmar, M, Lawrence, F, Brown, Brygida, Berse, Robert, W, Jackman, Brett, M, Elicke, Harold, F, Dvorak & Kevin, P, Claffey 1997, 'Hypoxia Regulates the Expression of Vascular Permeability Factor/Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor (VPF/VEGF) and its Receptors in Human Skin' *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*, vol. 108, pp. 263–268.

Diesel, B, Seifert, M, Radermacher, J, Fischer, U, Tilgen, W, Reichrath, J & Meese, E 2004, 'Towards a complete picture of splice variants of the gene for 25-hydroxyvitamin D31a-hydroxylase in brain and skin cancer', *The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, vol. 89–90, pp. 527-32.

Dixon, K, Deo, S, Wonga, G, Slater, M, Norman, A, Bishop, J, Posner, G, Ishizuka, S, Halliday, G, Reeve, V & Mason R 2005, 'Skin cancer prevention: A possible role of 1,25dihydroxyvitamin D3 and its analogs', *Journal of Steroid Biochemistry & Molecular Biology*, vol. 97 pp. 137-43.

Dixon, K, Deo, S, Norman, A, Bishop, J, Halliday, G, Reeve, V & Mason, R 2007, 'In vivo relevance for photoprotection by the vitamin D rapid response pathway', *The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, vol. 103, no. 3-5, pp. 451-6.

Dixon, K, Norman, A, Sequeira, V, Mohan, R, Rybchyn, M, Reeve, VE, Halliday, G & Mason, R 2011, '1α,25(OH)2-Vitamin D and a Nongenomic Vitamin D Analogue Inhibit Ultraviolet Radiation–Induced Skin Carcinogenesis', *Cancer Prevention Research*, vol. 4, no. 9, pp. 1485-94.

Dowd, D, Sutton, A, Zhang, C & MacDonald, P 2005, 'Chapter 16 - Comodulators of Vitamin D Receptor—Mediated Gene Expression', in F David, J Pike, J Francis H. Glorieux A2 - David Feldman & HG Francis (eds), *Vitamin D* (2), Academic Press, Burlington, pp. 291-304.

Dudenkov, D, Yawn, B, Oberhelman, S, Fischer, P, Singh, R, Cha, S, Maxson, J, Quigg, S & Thacher, T 2015, 'Changing Incidence of Serum 25-Hydroxyvitamin D Values Above 50 ng/mL: A 10-Year Population-Based Study', *Mayo Clinic Proceedings*, vol. 90, no. 5, pp. 577-86.

Dusso, A, Cozzolino, M, Lu, Y, Sato, T & Slatopolsky, E 2004, '1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D downregulation of TGFα/EGFR expression and growth signalling: a mechanism for the antiproliferative actions of the sterol in parathyroid hyperplasia of renal failure', *The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, vol. 89–90, pp. 507-11.

Ebert, R, Schutze, N, Adamski, J & Jakob, F 2006, 'Vitamin D signalling is modulated on multiple levels in health and disease', *Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology*, vol. 248, no. 1-2, pp. 149-59.

Egan, K 2009, 'Vitamin D and Melanoma', Annals of Epidemiology, vol. 19, no. 7, pp. 455-61.

Einspahr, J, Alberts, D, Warneke, J, Bozzo, P, Basye, J, Grogan, T, Nelson, M & Bowden, G 1999, 'Relationship of p53 mutations to epidermal cell proliferation and apoptosis in human UV-induced skin carcinogenesis', *Neoplasia*, vol. 1, no. 5, pp. 468-75.

Ellfolk, M, Norlin, M, Gyllensten, K & Wikvall, K 2009, 'Regulation of Human Vitamin D3 25-Hydroxylases in Dermal Fibroblasts and Prostate Cancer LNCaP Cells', *Molecular Pharmacology*, vol. 75, no. 6, pp. 1392-9.

Endo-Umeda, K, Yasuda, K, Sugita, K, Honda, A, Ohta, M, Ishikawa, M, Hashimoto, Y, Sakaki, T, Makishima, M 2014 Mar, '7-Dehydrocholesterol metabolites produced by sterol 27-hydroxylase (CYP27A1) modulate liver X receptor activity', *Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, vol. 140, pp. 7-16.

Essa, S, Denzer, N, Mahlknecht, U, Klein, R, Collnot, EM, Tilgen, W & Reichrath, J 2010, 'VDR microRNA expression and epigenetic silencing of vitamin D signalling in melanoma cells', *The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, vol. 121, no. 1–2, pp. 110-3.

Essers, J, Theil, A, Baldeyron, C, van Cappellen, W, Houtsmuller, A, Kanaar, R & Vermeulen, W 2005, 'Nuclear dynamics of PCNA in DNA replication and repair', *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, vol. 25, no. 21, pp. 9350-9.

Eswarakumar, V, Lax, I & Schlessinger, J 2005, 'Cellular signalling by fibroblast growth factor receptors', *Cytokine Growth Factor Reviews*, vol. 16, no. 2, pp. 139-49.

Evan, G & Vousden, K 2001, 'Proliferation, cell cycle and apoptosis in cancer', *Nature*, vol. 411, no. 6835, pp. 342-8.

Feldman, S & Fleischer, A 2011, 'Progression of actinic keratosis to squamous cell carcinoma revisited: clinical and treatment implications', *PMID:21644496 PubMed - indexed for MEDLINE*, vol. 87, no. 4, pp. 201-7.

Field, S & Newton-Bishop, J 2011, 'Melanoma and vitamin D', *Molecular Oncology*, vol. 5, no. 2, pp. 197-214.

Finamor, D, Sinigaglia-Coimbra, R, Neves, L, Gutierrez, M, Silva, J, Torres, L, Surano, F, Neto, D, Novo, N, Juliano, Y, Lopes, A & Coimbra, C. 2013, 'A pilot study assessing the effect of prolonged administration of high daily doses of vitamin D on the clinical course of vitiligo and psoriasis.', *Dermatoendocrino.logy*, vol. 5, no. 1, pp. 222-34.

Fioravanti, L, Cappelletti, V, Coradini, D, Miodini, P, Borsani, G, Daidone, M & Di Fronzo, G 1997, 'int-2 Oncogene amplification and prognosis in node-negative breast carcinoma', *International Journal of Cancer*, vol. 74, no. 6, pp. 620-4.

Fraguas, S, Barberan, S & Cebrià, F 2011, 'EGFR signalling regulates cell proliferation, differentiation and morphogenesis during planarian regeneration and homeostasis', *Developmental Biology*, vol. 354, no. 1, pp. 87-101.

Filiz, G & Dass, C 2012, 'Reduction in tumour cell invasion by pigment epithelium-derived factor is mediated by membrane type-1 matrix metalloproteinase downregulation', *Pharmazie*, vol. 67, pp. 1010-4.

Fleet, J 2008, 'Molecular actions of vitamin D contributing to cancer prevention', *Molecular Aspects of Medicine*, 2008, vol. 29, no.6, p.388-96.

Fratzl-Zelman, N, Glantschnig, H, Rumpler, M, Nader, A, Ellinger, A & Varga, F 2003, 'The expression of matrix metalloproteinase-13 and osteocalcin in mouse osteoblasts is related to osteoblastic differentiation and is modulated by 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 and thyroid hormones', *Cell Biology International*, vol. 27, no. 6, pp. 459-68.

Friedrich, M, Diesing, D, Diedrich, K, Chen, T, Flanagan, J, Holick, M & Reichrath, J 2005, 'P12 Analysis of 25-hydroxyvitamin d3-1a-hydroxylase in normal and malignant breast tissue', *The Breast*, vol. 14, Supplement 1, pp. S17-S8.

Fusenig, N, Limat, A, Stakr, H & Breitkreutz, D 1994, 'Modulation of the differentiated phenotype of keratinocytes of the hair follicle and from epidermis', *Journal of Dermatological Science*, vol. 7, Supplement 1, pp. S142-S51.

Gabison, E, Huet, E, Baudouin, C & Menashi, S 2009, 'Direct epithelial stromal interaction in corneal wound healing: Role of EMMPRIN/CD147 in MMPs induction and beyond', *Progress in Retinal and Eye Research*, vol. 28, no. 1, pp. 19-33.

Gacad, M & Adams, J 1998, 'Proteins in the Heat Shock-70 Family Specifically Bind 25-Hydroxyvitamin D3 and 17b-Estradiol', *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, vol. 83, no.4, pp.1264-7.

Garach-Jehoshua, O, Ravid, A, Liberman, UA & Koren, R 1999, '1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 Increases the Growth-Promoting Activity of Autocrine Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor Ligands in Keratinocytes', *Endocrinology*, vol. 140, no. 2, pp. 713-21.

Garland, C, French, C, Baggerly, L and Heaney, R 2011, 'Vitamin D Supplement Doses and Serum 25-Hydroxyvitamin D in the Range Associated with Cancer Prevention', *Anticancer Research*, vol. 31, no. 2, pp. 607-11.

Garland, C, Gorham, E, Mohr, S, Grant, W, Giovannucci, E, Lipkin, M, Newmark, H, Holick, M & Garland, F 2007, 'Vitamin D and prevention of breast cancer: Pooled analysis', *The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, vol. 103, no. 3-5, pp. 708-11.

Garland, C, Gorham, E, Mohr, S & Garland, F 2009, 'Vitamin D for Cancer Prevention: Global Perspective', *Annals of Epidemiology*, vol. 19, no. 7, pp. 468-83.

Gedlicka, C, Hager, G, Weissenböck, M, Gedlicka, W, Knerer, B, Kornfehl, J & Formanek, M 2006, '1,25(OH)2 Vitamin D3 induces elevated expression of the cell cycle inhibitor p18 in a squamous cell carcinoma cell line of the head and neck', *Journal of Oral Pathology & Medicine*, vol. 35, no. 8, pp. 472.

Geng, S, Zhou, S & Glowacki, J 2011, 'Effects of 25-hydroxyvitamin D3 on proliferation and osteoblast differentiation of human marrow stromal cells require CYP27B1/1α-hydroxylase', *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research*, vol. 26, no. 5, pp. 1145-53.

Gertner, J & Domenech, M 1977 Feb, 25-Hydroxyvitamin D levels in patients treated with high-dosage ergo- and cholecalciferol', *Journl of Clinical Pathology*, vol. 30, no. 2, p.144-50

Gieni, R, Li, Y, Hay Glass, K 1995, 'Comparison of [<sup>3</sup>H] thymidine incorporation with MTT and MTS based bioassays for human and murine IL-2 and IL-4 analysis. Tetrazolium assays provide markedly enhanced sensitivity', *Journal of Immunological Methods*, vol. 187, pp. 85–93

Giovannucci, E, Platz, E & Feldman, D 2005, 'Epidemiology of Cancer Risk: Vitamin D and Calcium', *in Vitamin D* (2), Academic Press, Burlington, pp. 1617-34.

Godar, D, Landry, R & Lucas, A 2009, 'Increased UVA exposures and decreased cutaneous Vitamin D3 levels may be responsible for the increasing incidence of melanoma', *Medical Hypotheses*, vol. 72, no. 4, pp. 434-43.

Golovko, O, Nazarova, N & Tuohimaa, P 2005, 'Vitamin D–induced up–regulation of tumour necrosis factor alpha (TNF– $\alpha$ ) in prostate cancer cells', *Life Sciences*, vol. 77, no. 5, pp. 562-77.

Goodman, W 2002, 'Evolving concepts in the management of renal osteodystrophy', *Hong Kong Journal of Nephrology*, vol. 4, no. 1, pp. 22-8.

Gonzalez-Pardo, V, D'Elia, N, Verstuyf, A, Boland, R & Russo de Boland, A 2012, 'NF $\kappa$ B pathway is down-regulated by 1 $\alpha$ ,25(OH)2-vitamin D3 in endothelial cells transformed by Kaposi sarcoma-associated herpes virus G protein coupled receptor', *Steroids*, vol. 77, no. 11, pp. 1025-32.

Gottfried, E, Rehli, M, Hahn, J, Holler, E, Andreesen, R & Kreutz, M 2006, 'Monocyte-derived cells express CYP27A1 and convert vitamin D3 into its active metabolite', *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, vol. 349, no. 1, pp. 209-13.

Grace, V, Shalini, J, lekha, T, Devaraj, S & Devaraj, H 2003, 'Co-overexpression of p53 and bcl-2 proteins in HPV-induced squamous cell carcinoma of the uterine cervix', *Gynecologic Oncology*, vol. 91, no. 1, pp. 51-8.

Grant, W 2010, 'Relation between prediagnostic serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D level and incidence of breast, colorectal, and other cancers', *Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology B: Biology*, vol. 101, no. 2, pp. 130-6.

Grant, W & Mohr, S 2009, 'Ecological Studies Of Ultraviolet B, Vitamin D And Cancer Since 2000', *Annals of Epidemiology*, vol. 19, no. 7, pp. 446-54.

Grant, W, Cross, H, Garlad, C, Gorham, E, Moan, J, Peterlik, M, Porojnicu, A, Reichrath, J & Zittermann, A 2009, 'Estimated benefit of increased vitamin D status in reducing the economic burden of disease in western Europe', *Progress in Biophysics and Molecular Biology*, vol. 99, no. 2-3, pp. 104-13.

Greenlee, R & Joshi, V 2004, 'The incidence of basal cell and squamous cell skin cancers: populationbased estimates from the marshfield epidemiologic study area (MESA)', *Annals of Epidemiology*, vol. 14, no. 8, pp. 595-595 Gröschel, C, Hummel, D, Nittke, T, Manhardt, T & Kállay, E 2012, 'The role of serine/threonine protein kinases in regulating expression of the vitamin D metabolizing enzyme CYP24A1 in colon cancer', *Bone*, vol. 51, no. 6, pp. S17.

Gröschel, C, Aggarwal, A, Tennakoon, S, Höbaus, J, Prinz-Wohlgenannt, M, Marian, B, Heffeter, P, Berger, W, Kállay, E 2016, 'Effect of 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 on the Wnt pathway in non-malignant colonic cells', *Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, vol.155, pp224-30.

Gruber, B & Anuszewska, E 2002, 'Influence of vitamin D3 metabolites on cell proliferation and cytotoxicity of adriamycin in human normal and neoplastic cells', *Toxicology in Vitro*, vol. 16, no. 6, pp. 663-7.

Gruber J & Holtz, R 2009, 'Examining communication between ultraviolet (UV)-damaged cutaneous nerve cells and epidermal keratinocytes in vitro.', *Toxicology and Industrial Health*, vol. 25, no. 4-5, pp. 225-30.

Guan H, Liu C, Chen Z, Wang L, Li C, Zhao J, Yu Y, Zhang P, Chen W, Jiang A 2013, *Gene*, '1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 up-regulates expression of hsa-let-7a-2 through the interaction of VDR/VDRE in human lung cancer A549 cells', *Gene*, vol. 522, no. 2, p.142-6.

Gugatschka, M, Kiesler, K, Obermayer-Pietsch, B, Groselj-Strele, A, Griesbacher, A & Friedrich, G 2011, 'Vitamin D status is associated with disease-free survival and overall survival time in patients with squamous cell carcinoma of the upper aerodigestive tract', *Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol*, vol. 268, pp. 1201-4.

Gupta, R, Patrick, K & Bell, N 2007, 'Mutational analysis of CYP27A1: assessment of 27-hydroxylation of cholesterol and 25-hydroxylation of vitamin D', *Metabolism*, vol. 56, no. 9, pp. 1248-55.

Guzey, M, Kitada, S & Reed, J 2002, 'Apoptosis Induction by 1alpha,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 in Prostate Cancer', *Molecular Cancer Therapeutics*, vol. 1, pp. 667–77.

Hafner, C & Hartmann, A 2010, 'R248C FGFR3 mutationo. Effect on cell growth, apoptosis and attachment in HaCaT keratinocytes', *Pathologe*, Suppl 2:221-4.

Hager, G, Formanek, M, Gedlicka, C, Thurnher, D, Knerer, B & Kornfehl, J 2001, '1,25(OH)2 vitamin D3 induces elevated expression of the cell cycle-regulating genes P21 and P27 in squamous carcinoma cell lines of the head and neck.', *Acta Otolaryngolog.*, vol. 121, no. 1, pp. 103-9.

Halder, S, Osteen, K & Al-Hendy, A 2013, '1,25-dihydroxyvitamin d3 reduces extracellular matrixassociated protein expression in human uterine fibroid cells', *Biology of Reproduction*, vol. 89, no. 6, p. 150.

Halprin, K 1972, 'Epidermal "turnover time"-a re-examination', *The British Journal of Dermatology*, 86 (1): 14–9.

Han, W & Lo, H-W 2012, 'Landscape of EGFR Signaling Network in Human Cancers: Biology and Therapeutic Response in Relation to Receptor Subcellular Locations', *Cancer Letters*, 318(2): 124–134.

Haruna, K, Tanida, I, Suga, Y, Mizuno, Y, Hanada, K, Ueno, T, Kominami, E & Ikeda, S 2008, 'Examining the communication between UVB damaged cutaneous nerve cells and dermal keratinocytes in vitro', *International Investigative Dermatology* 

Haug, RH, Strom, SS & Yamamura, Y. 1998, 'Epidemiology of nonmelanoma skin cancer ', *Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery*, vol. 56, no. 8, pp. 1006.

Haussler, M, Haussler, C, Whitfield, G, Hsieh, J, Thompson, P, Barthel, T, Bartik, L, Egan, J, Wu, Y, Kubicek, J, Lowmiller, C, Moffet, E, Forster, R & Jurutka, P 2010, 'The nuclear vitamin D receptor controls the expression of genes encoding factors which feed the "Fountain of Youth" to mediate healthful aging', *The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, vol. 121, no. 1-2, pp. 88-97.

Haussler, M, Jurutka, P, Mizwicki, M & Norman, A 2011, 'Vitamin D receptor (VDR)-mediated actions of 1alpha,25(OH)2vitamin D3: Genomic and non-genomic mechanisms', *Best Practice Research Clinical Endocrinology Metabolism*, vol. 25, no. 4, pp. 543-59.

He, Q, Ananaba, G, Patrickson, J, Pitts, S, Yi, Y, Yan, F, Eko, F, Lyn, D, Black, C, Igietseme, J & Thierry-Palmer, M 2013, 'Chlamydial infection in vitamin D receptor knockout mice is more intense and prolonged than in wild-type mice', *The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, vol. 135, pp. 7-14.

Heaney, R, Barger-Lux, M, Dowell, M, Chen, T & Holick, M 1997, 'Calcium Absorptive Effects of Vitamin D and Its Major Metabolites', *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, vol. 82, no. 12, pp. 4111-6.

Martin-Herranz, A & Salinas-Hernández, P 2015, 'Vitamin D supplementation review and recommendations for women diagnosed with breast or ovary cancer in the context of bone health and cancer prognosis/risk', *Critical Reviews in Oncology/Hematology*, vol. 96, no. 1, pp. 91-9

Hewison, M 2010, 'Vitamin D and the Immune System: New Perspectives on an Old Theme', *Endocrinology Metabolism Clinics of North America*, vol. 39, no. 2, pp. 365-79.

Hewison, M, Zehnder, D, Chakraverty, R & Adams, JS 2004, 'Vitamin D and barrier function: a novel role for extra-renal 1[alpha]-hydroxylase', *Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology*, vol. 215, no. 1-2, pp. 31-8.

Hill N, Zhang J, Leonard M, Lee M, Shamma H, Kadakia M1, 2015, '1 $\alpha$ , 25-Dihydroxyvitamin D<sub>3</sub> and the vitamin D receptor regulates  $\Delta$ Np63 $\alpha$  levels and keratinocyte proliferationo.' *Cell Death and Disease*. Vol 6, pp. e1781.

Ho, T, Yang, S, Li, C, Lin, J, Lin, G, Lai, C, Ma, Y, Wood, G & Chung, J 2009, 'Berberine suppresses in vitro migration and invasion of human SCC-4 tongue squamous cancer cells through the inhibitions of FAK, IKK, NF-κB, u-PA and MMP-2 and -9', *Cancer Letters*, vol. 279, no. 2, pp. 155-62.

Hoekstra, J, Kummer J, van Es R 2008, 'Late (>5 years) regional lymph node metastasis of oral squamous cell carcinoma (SCC), proven by p53 mutation analysis', *Journal of Cranio-Maxillofacial Surgery*, vol. 36, no. 7, pp. 415-418.

Holick, 2006a, 'High Prevalence of Vitamin D Inadequacy and Implications for Health', *Mayo Clinic Proceedings*, vol. 81, no. 3, pp. 353-73.

Holick, M 2006b, 'Vitamin D: Its role in cancer prevention and treatment', *Progress in Biophysics and Molecular Biology*, vol. 92, no. 1, pp. 49-59.

Holick M 2010, 'Vitamin D: Extraskeletal Health', *Endocrinology & Metabolism Clinics of North America*, vol. 39, no. 2, pp. 381-400.

Holick, M, Binkley, N, Bischoff-Ferrari, H, Gordon, C, Hanley, D, Heaney, R, Murad, M & Weaver, C 2011, Evaluation, treatment, and prevention of vitamin D deficiency: an Endocrine Society clinical practice guideline, *Journal Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, vol. 96, no. 7, pp. 1911-30

Holick, M, Lee, A, Schraufrogel, P, Tavela, T, & DeLuca, H 1976, 'Metabolism and Biological Activity of 24,25Dihydroxyvitamin D, in the Chick', *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, Vol. 251, No. Z, pp. 397-402.

Holick, M, Kleiner-Bossaller, A, Schnoes, H, Kasten, P, Boyle, I & DeLuca, H 1973, '1,24,25-Trihydroxyvitamin D3. A metabolite of vitamin D3 effective on intestine', Journal of Biological Chemistry, vol. 248, no. 19, pp. 6691-6.

Hollmann, C, Kittrell, F, Medina, D & Butel J, 2001, 'Wnt-1 and int-2 mammary oncogene effects on the beta-catenin pathway in immortalized mouse mammary epithelial cells are not sufficient for tumorigenesis', *Oncogene*, vol. 20, no. 52, pp. 7645-57.

Hsieh, J, Sisk, J, Jurutka, P, Haussler, C, Slater, S, Haussler, M & Thompson, C 2003, 'Physical and Functional Interaction between the Vitamin D Receptor and Hairless Corepressor, Two Proteins Required for Hair Cycling', *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, vol. 278, no. 40, pp. 38665-74.

Hu, L, Sham, J, Xie, D, Wen, J, Wang, W, Wang, Y & Guan, X 2007, 'Up-regulation of fibroblast growth factor 3 is associated with tumour metastasis and recurrence in human hepatocellular carcinoma', *Cancer Letters*, vol. 252, no. 1, pp. 36-42.

Huang, J & Xie, Z 2012, 'Polymorphisms in the vitamin D receptor gene and multiple sclerosis risk: A meta-analysis of case–control studies', *Journal of the Neurological Sciences*, vol. 313, no. 1–2, pp. 79-85.

Huhtakangas, J, Olivera, C, Bishop, J, Zanello, L & Norman, A 2004, 'The vitamin D receptor is present in caveolae-enriched plasma membranes and binds 1 alpha,25(OH)(2)-vitamin D-3 in vivo and in vitro', *Journal of Molecular Endocrinology*, vol. 18, no. 11, pp. 2660-71.

Hwang, Y, Choi, J, Kim, H, Choi, J, Hwang, S, Chung, Y & Jeong, H 2012, 'Cultivated ginseng suppresses ultraviolet B–induced collagenase activation via mitogen-activated protein kinases and nuclear factor  $\kappa$ B/activator protein-1–dependent signalling in human dermal fibroblasts', *Nutrition Research*, vol. 32, no. 6, pp. 428-38.

Ichwan, S & Ikeda, M 2008, 'Defect in Ser46 Phosphorylation of p53 Protein : A Resistance Mechanism against p53 Gene Transfer in Oral Squamous Cell Carcinoma Cells', *Journal of Oral Biosciences*, vol. 50, no. 2, pp. 98-106.

Ikebe, T, Nakayama H, Shinohara M, Shirasuna K 2004, 'NF-kappaB involvement in tumor-stroma interaction of squamous cell carcinoma', *Oral Oncology*, vol.40, no. 10, pp. 1048-1056.

Inanloorahatloo, K, Zand Parsa, A, Huse, K, Rasooli, P, Davaran, S, Platzer, M, Fan, J, Amini, S, Steemers, F & Elahi, E 2013, 'Mutation in CYP27A1 identified in family with coronary artery disease', *European Journal of Medical Genetics*, vol. 56, no. 12, pp. 655-60.

Inouye, K & Sakaki, T 2001, 'Enzymatic studies on the key enzymes of vitamin D metabolism; 1αhydroxylase (CYP27B1) and 24-hydroxylase (CYP24)', *in Biotechnology Annual Review*, vol. Volume 7, pp. 179-94. Jacobs, E, Van Pelt, C, Forster, R, Zaidi, W, Hibler, E, Galligan, M, Haussler, M & Jurutka, P 2013, 'CYP24A1 and CYP27B1 Polymorphisms Modulate Vitamin D Metabolism in Colon Cancer Cells', *Cancer Research.*, vol. 73, no. 8, pp. 2563-73.

Javle, M, Rashid, A, Churi, C, Kar, S, Zuo, M, Eterovic, A, Nogueras-Gonzalez, G, Janku, F, Shroff, R, Aloia, T, Vauthey, J, Curley, S, Mills, G & Roa, I 2014, 'Molecular characterization of gallbladder cancer using somatic mutation profiling', *Human Pathology*, vol. 45, no. 4, pp. 701-8.

Jiang, Y, Teichert, A, Fong, F, Oda, Y & Bikle, D 2013, ' $1\alpha$ ,25(OH)2-Dihydroxyvitamin D3/VDR protects the skin from UVB-induced tumour formation by interacting with the  $\beta$ -catenin pathway', *The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, vol. 136, pp. 229-32.

Jimnez-Lara, A & Aranda, A 1999, 'The vitamin D receptor binds in a transcriptionally inactive form and without a defined polarity on a retinoic acid response element', *The Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology Journal*, vol. 13.

Jones, G 1999, 'Metabolism and Catabolism of Vitamin D, Its Metabolites, and Clinically Relevant Analogs', in M Holick (ed.), *Vitamin D*, Humana Press, Chapter 4., pp. 57-84.

Jones, G 2008, 'Pharmacokinetics of vitamin D toxicity', *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, vol. 88, no. 2, pp. 582S-6S.

Jones, G, Prosser, D & Kaufmann, M 2012, '25-Hydroxyvitamin D-24-hydroxylase (CYP24A1): Its important role in the degradation of vitamin D', *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics*, vol. 523, no. 1, pp. 9-18.

Jones G, Prosser D & Kaufmann M, 2013, 'Cytochrome P450-mediated metabolism of vitamin D', The *Journal of Lipid Research*, vol. 55, no. 1, pp. 13-31.

Jung, C, Kim, E, Seol, J, Park, W, Lee, S, Kim, B & Lee, Y 1999, 'Antiproliferative effect of a vitamin D3 analog, EB1089, on HL-60 cells by the induction of TGF- $\beta$  receptor', *Leukemia Research*, vol. 23, no. 12, pp. 1105-12.

Keisala, T, Minasyan, A, Lou, Y, Zou, J, Kalueff, A, Pyykkö, I & Tuohimaa, P 2009, 'Premature aging in vitamin D receptor mutant mice', *The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, vol. 115, no. 3-5, pp. 91-7.

Kelman, Z 1997, 'PCNA: structure, functions and interactions', Oncogene, vol. 14, no. 6, pp. 629-40.

Kennedy, L, Baker, K, Hodges, K, Graf, A, Venter, J, Hargrove, L, Harris, R, Harnish, E, Meng, F & Francis, H 2013, 'Dysregulation of vitamin D3 synthesis leads to enhanced cholangiocarcinoma growth', *Digestive and Liver Disease*, vol. 45, no. 4, pp. 316-22.

Kiang, J, Gist, I & Tsokos G 1998, 'Cytoprotection and regulation of heat shock proteins induced by heat shock in human breast cancer T47-D cells: role of [Ca2+]i and protein kinases', *Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology Journal*, vol. 14, pp. 1571-9.

Kim, M, Park, H, Baek, S, Byun, D & Houh, D 2002, 'Mutations of the p53 and PTCH gene in basal cell carcinomas: UV mutation signature and strand bias', *Journal of Dermatological Science*, vol. 29, no. 1, pp. 1-9.

Kobayashi, T, Hashimoto, K & Yoshikawa, K. 1994, 'Effect of a vitamin D3 analogue on the growth, differentiation, cell cycle, and retinoblastoma protein of cultured normal human keratinocytes', *Journal of Dermatological Science*, vol. 8, no. 1, pp. 60.

Koike, N, Hayakawa, N, Kumaki, K & Stumpf, W 1998, 'In Vivo Dose-related Receptor Binding of the Vitamin D Analogue [3H]-1,25-dihydroxy-22-oxavitamin D3 (OCT) in Rat Parathyroid, Kidney Distal and Proximal Tubules, Duodenum and Skin, Studied by Quantitative Receptor Autoradiography', *The Journal of Histochemistry & Cytochemistry*, vol. 46, no. 12, pp. 1351-8.

Koivisto, L, Jiang, G, Häkkinen, L, Chan, B & Larjava, H 2006, 'HaCaT keratinocyte migration is dependent on epidermal growth factor receptor signaling and glycogen synthase kinase-3[alpha]', *Experimental Cell Research*, 312(15): 2791-2805.

Koizumi, H, Kaplan A, Shimizu T, Ohkawara, A 1997, '1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 and a new analogue, 22-oxacalcitriol, modulate proliferation and interleukin-8 secretion of normal human keratinocytes' *Journal of Dermatological Science*, vol. 15, no. 3, pp. 207-213.

Kon, K & Fujiwara, T 1994, 'Transformation of fibroblasts into endothelial cells during angiogenesis.', *Cell Tissue Research*, vol. 278, no. 3, pp. 625-8.

Köstner K, Koreng M, Reichrath S, Gräber S, Klein R, Tilgen W, Vogt T, Reichrath, J, 2012, 'Association of genetic variants of the vitamin D receptor (VDR) with cutaneous squamous cell carcinomas (SCC) and basal cell carcinomas (BCC): a pilot study in a German population', *Anticancer Research*, vol. 2, no.1, pp.327-333.

Koster, MI 2009, 'Making an epidermis', Annals: The New York Academy of Sciences, vol. 1170, pp. 7–10.

Kovalenko, P, Zhang, Z, Yu, J, Li, Y, Clinton, S & Fleet, J 2011, 'Dietary Vitamin D and Vitamin D Receptor Level Modulate Epithelial Cell Proliferation and Apoptosis in the Prostate', *Cancer Prevention Research*, vol. 4, no. 10, pp. 1617-25.

Kupferschmidt K 2012 Sep, 'Uncertain verdict as vitamin D goes on trial', *Science*, vol. 337, no. 6101, pp. 1476-8.

Koutkia, P, Chen, T, Holick, M, 2001, 'Vitamin D intoxication associated with an over-the-counter supplement', *The New England Journal of Medicine*, vol. 345, no. 1, pp.66-7.

Krämera, C, Seltmann, H, Seifert, M, Tilgen, W, Zouboulisb, C & Reichrathag, J 2009, 'Characterization of the vitamin D endocrine system in human sebocytes in vitro', *Journal of Steroid Biochemistry & Molecular Biology*, vol. 113, pp. 9-16.

Krishnan, A, Swami, S & Feldman, D 2013, 'Equivalent anticancer activities of dietary vitamin D and calcitriol in an animal model of breast cancer: Importance of mammary CYP27B1 for treatment and prevention', *The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, vol. 136, pp. 289-95.

Krishnan, A, Trump, D, Johnson, C & Feldman, D 2010, 'The Role of Vitamin D in Cancer Prevention and Treatment', *Endocrinology & Metabolism Clinics of North America*, vol. 39, no. 2, pp. 401-18.

Kurien, B & Scofield, R 2006, 'Western blotting', Methods, vol. 38, no. 4, pp. 283-93.

Lafky, J, Wilken, J, Baron, A & Maihle, N 2008, 'Clinical implications of the ErbB/epidermal growth factor (EGF) receptor family and its ligands in ovarian cancer', *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Reviews on Cancer*, vol. 1785, no. 2, pp. 232-65.

Lappe, J, Travers-Gustafson, D, Davies, K, Recker, R & Heaney, R 2007, 'Vitamin D and calcium supplementation reduces cancer risk: results of a randomised trial 1,2', *America Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, vol. 85, pp. 1586 -91.

Larriba, M, Ordóñez-Morán, P, Chicote, I, Martín-Fernández, G, Puig, I, Muñoz, A & Pálmer, H, 2011, 'Vitamin D Receptor Deficiency Enhances Wnt/β-Catenin Signaling and Tumor Burden in Colon Cancer', *PLoS One*, vol. 6, no.8, pp. 23524.

Larriba M, González-Sancho, J, Barbáchano, A, Niell, N, Ferrer-Mayorga, G & Muñoz, A, 2013,' Vitamin D Is a Multilevel Repressor of Wnt/β-Catenin Signaling in Cancer Cells', *Cancers (Basel)*, vol.5, no.4., pp. 1242–1260.

Larriba, M, Gonzalez-Sancho, J, Bonilla, F & Muñoz, A 2014, 'Interaction of vitamin D with membranebased signalling pathways', *Frontiers in Physiology*, vol. 5.

Lechner, D, Bajna, E, Adlercreutz, H, Cross, H 2006 Jul-Aug, 'Genistein and 17beta-estradiol, but not equol, regulate vitamin D synthesis in human colon and breast cancer cells', *Anticancer Research*, vol. 26, no. 4A, p.2597-603.

Lee, D & Miller, S 2009, 'Nonmelanoma Skin Cancer', *Facial Plastic Surgery Clinics of North America*, vol. 17, no. 3, pp. 309-24.

Lefebvre, P, Benomar, Y & Staels, B 2010, 'Retinoid X receptors: common heterodimerization partners with distinct functions', *Trends in Endocrinology & Metabolism*, vol. 21, no. 11, pp. 676-83.

Lehmann, B 1997, 'HaCaT Cell Line as a Model System for Vitamin D<sub>3</sub> Metabolism in Human Skin', *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*, vol. 108, no. 1, pp. 78-82.

Lehmann, B 2005, 'The Vitamin D3 Pathway in Human Skin and its Role for Regulation of Biological Processes', *Photochemistry and Photobiology*, vol. 81, pp. 1246-51.

Lehmann, B, Schattiger, K & Meurer, M 2010, 'Conversion of vitamin D3 to hormonally active 1a,25dihydroxyvitamin D3 in cultured keratinocytes: Relevance to cell growth and differentiation', *The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, vol. 121, no. 1–2, pp. 322-3.

Leyssens, C, Verlinden, L & Verstuyf, A 2013, 'Antineoplastic effects of 1,25(OH)2D3 and its analogs in breast, prostate and colorectal cancer', *Endocrine-Related Cancer*, vol. 20, no. 2, pp. R31-R47.

Leyssens, C, Verlinden, L & Verstuyf, A 2014, 'The future of vitamin D analogs', *Frontier in Physiology*, vol. 5 pp.122.

Liang, G, Nan, H, Qureshi, AA & Han, J 2012, 'Pre-Diagnostic Plasma 25-Hydroxyvitamin D Levels and Risk of Non-Melanoma Skin Cancer in Women', *PLoS ONE*, vol. 7, no. 4, pp. e35211.

Li, H, Stampfer, M, Hollis, J, Mucci, L, Gaziano, J, Hunter, D, Giovannucci, E & Ma, J 2007, 'A Prospective Study of Plasma Vitamin D Metabolites, Vitamin D Receptor Polymorphisms, and Prostate Cancer', *PLoS Medicine*, vol. 4, no. 3, pp. 103.

Li, J, Friedman-Kien, A, Cockerell, C, Nicolaides, A, Liang, S & Huang, Y 1998, 'Evaluation of the tumorigenic and angiogenic potential of human fibroblast growth factor FGF3 in nude mice', *Journal of Cancer Research and Clinical Oncology*, vol. 124, no. 5, pp. 259-64.

Li M, Hener P, Zhang Z, Kato S, Metzger D & Chambon P, 2006, 'Topical vitamin D3 and low-calcemic analogs induce thymic stromal lymphopoietin in mouse keratinocytes and trigger an atopic dermatitis', *Proceedings of the national academy of sciences*, vol. 103, no. 31, p. 11736-41.

Li, P, Li, C, Zhao, X, Zhang, X, Nicosia, S & Bai, W 2004, 'p27Kip1 Stabilization and G1 Arrest by 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 in Ovarian Cancer Cells Mediated through Down-regulation of Cyclin E/Cyclindependent Kinase 2 and Skp1-Cullin-F-box Protein/Skp2 Ubiquitin Ligase', *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, vol. 279, No. 24, Issue of June 11, pp. 25260–25267.

Lin, R, Wang, T, Miller, W, & White, J 2003, 'Inhibition of F-Box protein 21 p45SKP2 expression and stabilization of cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor p27KIP1 in 22 vitamin D analog-treated cancer cells', *Endocrinology*, vol. 144, pp. 749–753.

Lichtenberger, B, Tan, P, Niederleithner, H, Ferraa, N, Petzelbauer, P& Sibilia, M 2009, 'Autocrine VEGF Signalling Synergises with EGFR in Tumour Cells to Promote Epithelial Cancer Development', *Cell*, vol. 140, no. 2, pp. 268-79.

Lippens S, Kockx M, Denecker, G, Knaapen, M, Verheyen, A, Christiaen, R, Tschachler, E, Vandenabeele, P & Declercq, W 2004, 'Vitamin D3 induces caspase-14 expression in psoriatic lesions and enhances caspase-14 processing in organotypic skin cultures', Americal Journal of Pathology, vol. 165, no. 3, pp.833-41.

Lips, P 2006, 'Vitamin D physiology', *Progress in Biophysics and Molecular Biology*, vol. 92, no. 1, pp. 4-8.

Liu, W, Tretiakova, M, Kong, J, Turkyilmaz, M, Li, YC & Krausz, T 2006, 'Expression of vitamin D3 receptor in kidney tumors', *Human Pathology*, vol. 37, pp. 1268–1278.

Liu, K1, Meng, H, Hou, J 2012 Dec 12, 'Activity of 25-hydroxylase in human gingival fibroblasts and periodontal ligament cells', *PLoS One*, vol. 7, no. 12, pp. 52053.

Logié, A, Dunois-Larde, C, Rosty, C, Levrel, O, Blanche, M, Ribeiro, A, Gasc, J, Jorcano, J, Werner, S, Sastre-Garau, X, Thiery, J & Radvanyi, F 2005, 'Activating mutations of the tyrosine kinase receptor FGFR3 are associated with benign skin tumours in mice and humans', *Human Molecular Genetics*, vol. 14, no. 9, pp. 1153-60.

Lopez-Lopez, N, Gonzalez-Curiel, I, Castañeda-Delgado, J, Montoya-Rosales, A, Gandara-Jasso, B, Enciso-Moreno, J & Rivas-Santiago 2014, B 'Vitamin D supplementation promotes macrophages antimycobacterial activity in type 2 diabetes mellitus patients with low vitamin D receptor expression', *Microbes and Infection*, vol. 16, no. 9, p.755-61

Lou, Y, Laaksi, I, Syvälä, H, Bläuer, M, Tammela, T, Ylikomi, T & Tuohimaa, P 2003, '25-hydroxyvitamin D3 is an active hormone in human primary prostatic stromal cells', *Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology Journal*, vol. 18, no. 2, pp. 332-4.

Lou, Y, Miettinen, S, Kagechika, H, Gronemeyer, H & Tuohimaa, P 2005, 'Retinoic acid via RARalpha inhibits the expression of 24-hydroxylase in human prostate stromal cells', *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, vol. 338, no. 4, pp. 1973-81.

Lu, K, Tsai, M, Chen, J, Hsu, S, Hsia, T, Lindb, M, Huang, A, Chang, Y, Siu-Wan, I, Lu, H & Chung, J 2008, 'Gypenosides Inhibited Invasion and Migration of Human Tongue Cancer SCC4 Cells through Down-regulation of NFkB and Matrix Metalloproteinase-9', *Anticancer Rerarch*, vol. 28, pp. 1093-100.

Luangdilok, S, Box, C, Harrington, K, Rhŷs-Evans, P & Eccles, S 2011, 'MAPK and PI3K signalling differentially regulate angiogenic and lymphangiogenic cytokine secretion in squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck', *European Journal of Cancer*, vol. 47, no. 4, pp. 520-9.

Luderer, H & Demay, M 2010, 'The vitamin D receptor, the skin and stem cells', *The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, vol. 121, no. 1–2, pp. 314-6.

Luderer, H, Gori, F & Demay, M 2011, 'Lymphoid Enhancer-binding Factor-1 (LEF1) Interacts with the DNA-binding Domain of the Vitamin D Receptor', *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, pp. 18444-51.

Luegmayr, E, Glantschnig, H, Varga, F & Klaushofer, K 2000 'The organization of adherens junctions in mouse osteoblast-like cells (MC3T3-E1) and their modulation by triiodothyronine and 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3', *Histochemistry and Cell Biology*, vol. 113, no. 6, pp. 467-78.

Luo, W, Hershberger, P, Trump, D & Johnson, C 2012, '24-Hydroxylase in cancer: Impact on vitamin Dbased anticancer therapeutics', *The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, vol. 136, p. 252-7

Lv, Q, Zhang, J, Yi Y, Huang, Y, Wang, Y, Wang, Y, Zhang, W 2015, 'Proliferating Cell Nuclear Antigen Has an Association with Prognosis and Risks Factors of Cancer Patients: a Systematic Review', *Molecular Neurobiology*, Epub ahead of print

Ma, J, Nonn, L, Campbell, M, Hewison, M, Feldman, D & Peehl, D 2004, 'Mechanisms of decreased Vitamin D 1α-hydroxylase activity in prostate cancer cells', *Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology*, vol. 221, no. 1–2, pp. 67-74.

Mackenzie, K, Miller, A, Hock, B, Gardner, J, Simcock, J, Roake, J, Dachs, G, Robinson, B & Currie, M 2011, 'Angiogenesis and host immune response contribute to the aggressive character of non-melanoma skin cancers in renal transplant recipients.', *Histopathology*. , vol. 58, no. 6, pp. 875-85.

Malik, S, Fu, L, Juras, D, Karmali, M, Wong, B, Gozdzik, A & Cole, 2013, 'Common variants of the vitamin D binding protein gene and adverse health outcomes', *Critical Review in Clinical Laboratory Sciences.*, vol. 50, no. 1, pp. 1-22.

Mansour, S, Goddard, J & Capecchi, M 1993, 'Mice homozygous for a targeted disruption of the protooncogene int-2 have developmental defects in the tail and inner ear', *Developmental Biology*, vol. 117, pp. 13-28.

Marshall, P, Hernandez, Z, Kaneko, I, Widener, T, Tabacaru, C, Aguayo, I & Jurutka, P 2012, 'Discovery of novel vitamin D receptor interacting proteins that modulate 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 signalling', *The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, vol. 132, no. 1–2, pp. 147-59.

Mason, R, Sequeira, V, Dixon, K, Gordon-Thomson, C, Pobre, K, Dilley, A, Mizwicki, M, Norman, A, Feldman, D, Halliday, G & Reeve, V 2010, 'Photoprotection by 1[alpha],25-dihydroxyvitamin D and analogs: Further studies on mechanisms and implications for UV-damage', *The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, vol. 121, no. 1-2, pp. 164-8.

Mayr, D, Kanitz, V, Anderegg, B, Luthardt, B, Engel, J, Löhrs, U, Amann, G & Diebold, J 2006, 'Analysis of Gene Amplification and Prognostic Markers in Ovarian Cancer Using Comparative Genomic

Hybridization for Microarrays and Immunohistochemical Analysis for Tissue Microarrays', American Journal of Clinical Pathology, vol. 126, pp. 101-9.

Mehra, R, Serebriiskii, I, Dunbrack R, Robinson, M, Burtness, B & Golemis, E 2011, 'Protein-intrinsic and signalling network-based sources of resistance to EGFR- and ErbB family-targeted therapies in head and neck cancer', *Drug Resistance Updates*, vol. 14, no. 6, pp. 260-79.

Melnikova, V 2005, Cellular and molecular events leading to the development of skin cancer', *Mutation Research*, vol. 571, pp. 91-106.

Micali, G, Lacarrubba, F, Musumeci, M, Massimino, D & Nasca, M 2010, 'Cutaneous vascular patterns in psoriasis', *International Journal of Dermatology*, vol. 49, no. 3, pp. 249-256.

Micke, P & Ostman, A 2004, 'Tumour-stroma interaction: cancer-associated fibroblasts as novel targets in anti-cancer therapy?', *Lung Cancer*, vol. 45, pp. 163-75.

Midorikawa, K, Sayama, K, Shirakata, Y, Hanakawa, Y, Sun, L & Hashimoto, K 1999, 'Expression of vitamin D receptor in cultured human keratinocytes and fibroblasts is not altered by corticosteroids', *Journal of Dermatological Science*, vol. 21, no. 1, pp. 8-12.

Mimori, K, Tanaka, Y, Yoshinaga, K, Masuda, T, Yamashita, K, Okamoto, M, Inoue, H & Mori, M 2004, 'Clinical significance of the overexpression of the candidate oncogene CYP24 in esophageal cancer', *Annals of Oncology*, vol. 15, no. 2, pp. 236-41.

Miyazaki, K, Saika, S, Okada, Y, Yamanaka, O & Ohnishi, Y 2005, 'Sonic Hedghog Signaling Inhibition Suppresses the Proliferation of Induced Eyelid Tumors in XPC-/- Mice', *Investigative Ophthalmology*, vol. 46, no. 5, pp. 3416.

Miyachi, K, Fritzler, M, Tan, E 1978 Dec, 'Autoantibody to a nuclear antigen in proliferating cells', *Journal of Immunology.*, vol. 121, no. 6, pp. 2228-34.

Mitschele, T, Diesel, B, Friedrich, M, Meineke, V, Maas, R, Gartner, B, Kamradt, J, Meese, E, Tilgen, W & Reichrath, J 2004, 'Analysis of the vitamin D system in basal cell carcinomas (BCCs)', *Laboratory Investigation*, vol. 84, no. 6, pp. 693-702.

Mizwicki, M & Norman, A 2011, 'Chapter 15 - Vitamin D Sterol/VDR Conformational Dynamics and Nongenomic Actions', in D Feldman, JW Pike & JS Adams (eds), *Vitamin D (Third Edition)*, Academic Press, San Diego, pp. 271-97.

Mohr, S, Garland, C, Gorham, E, Grant, W, Garland, F 2011, 'Ultraviolet B and incidence rates of leukemia worldwide', *American Journal of Preventive Medicine, vol.* 41, no. 1, pp. 68-74.

Moan, J & Juzeniene, A 2011, 'Solar radiation and human health', *Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology B: Biology*, vol. 101, no. 2, pp. 109-10.

Moan, J, Porojnicu, A, Dahlback, A & Setlow, R 2007, 'Addressing the health benefits and risks, involving vitamin D or skin cancer, of increased sun exposure', *Proceedings of the national academy of sciences*, vol. 105, no. 2, pp. 668-73.

Moore, J, Palep, S, Saladi, R, Gao, D, Wang, Y, Phelps, R, Lebwohl, M & Wei, H 2004, 'Effects of ultraviolet B exposure on the expression of proliferating cell nuclear antigen in murine skin', *Photochemistry and Photobiology*, vol. 80, no. 3, pp. 587-95.

Mordan-McCombs, S, Brown, T, Wang, W, Gaupel, A, Welsh, J, Tenniswood, M 2010 Jul, 'Tumor progression in the LPB-Tag transgenic model of prostate cancer is altered by vitamin D receptor and serum testosterone status', *Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, vol. 121, no. 1-2, pp.368-71.

Mueller, M & Fusenig, N 2002, 'Tumour-stroma interactions directing phenotype and progression of epithelial skin tumor cells', *Differentiation*, vol. 70, no. 9-10, pp. 486-97.

Munetsuna, E, Kawanami, R, Nishikawa, M, Ikeda, S, Nakabayashi, S, Yasuda, K, Ohta, M, Kamakura, M, Ikushiro, S, Sakaki, T 2014 Feb 15, 'Anti-proliferative activity of 25-hydroxyvitamin D3 in human prostate cells', *Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology*, vol. 382, no. 2, pp. 960-70.

Murillo, G, Matusiak, D, Benya, R & Mehta, R 2007, 'Chemopreventive efficacy of 25-hydroxyvitamin D3 in colon cancer', *The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, vol. 103, no. 3–5, pp. 763-7.

Nakagawa, K, Kawaura, A, Kato, S, Takeda, E & Okano, T 2004, 'Metastatic growth of lung cancer cells is extremely reduced in Vitamin D receptor knockout mice', *The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, vol. 89–90, pp. 545-7.

Narvaez C & Welsh, J 2001, 'Role of mitochondria and caspases in vitamin D-mediated apoptosis of MCF-7 breast cancer cells', *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, vol. 276, no. 12, pp. 9101-7.

Naumov, V, Generozov, E, Solovyov, Y, Aliev, M & Kushlinsky, N 2012, 'Association of FGFR3 and MDM2 Gene Nucleotide Polymorphisms with Bone Tumours', *Bulletin of Experimental Biology and Medicine*, vol. 153, no. 6, pp. 870-4.

Nemazannikova N, Antonas K, Dass CR, 2014, 'Vitamin D: metabolism, molecular mechanisms, and mutations to malignancies', Mol Carcinog., vol. 53, no. 6, pp. 421-31

Ng, K, Wolpin, B, Meyerhardt, J, Wu, K, Chan, A, Hollis, B, Giovannucci, E, Stampfer, M, Willett, W & Fuchs, C 2009, 'Prospective study of predictors of vitamin D status and cancer incidence and mortality in men.', *British Journal of Cancer*, vol. 101, no. 6, pp. 916-23.

Nguyen, T 2004, 'Mechanisms of metastasis', Clinics in Dermatology, vol. 22, no. 3, pp. 209-16.

Nicol, C, Yoon, M, Ward, J, Yamashita, M, Fukamachi, K, Peters, J & Gonzalez, F 2004, 'PPARgamma influences susceptibility to DMBA-induced mammary, ovarian and skin carcinogenesis.', *Carcinogenesis*, vol. 25, no. 9, pp. 1747-55.

Nijhof, J, Mulder, A, Speksnijder, E, Hoogervorst, E, Mullenders, L & de Gruijl, F 2007, 'Growth stimulation of UV-induced DNA damage retaining epidermal basal cells gives rise to clusters of p53 overexpressing cells', *DNA Repair*, vol. 6, no. 11, pp. 1642-50.

Norman, A 2008, 'From vitamin D to hormone D: fundamentals of the vitamin D endocrine system essential for good health', *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, vol. 88, no. 2, pp. 491S-9S.

Norman, A, Bishop, J, Bula, C, Olivera, C, Mizwicki, M, Zanello, L, Ishida, H & Okamura, W 2002, 'Molecular tools for study of genomic and rapid signal transduction responses initiated by  $1\alpha$ ,25(OH)2-vitamin D3', *Steroids*, vol. 67, no. 6, pp. 457-66.

Norman, A, Mizwicki, M & Norman, D 2004, 'Steroid-hormone rapid actions, membrane receptors and a conformational ensemble model', *Nature Reviews of Drug Discovery*, vol. 3, no. 1, pp. 27-41.

Norris, D, Middleton, M, Whang, K, Schleicher, M, McGovern, T, Bennion, S, David-Bajar, K, Davis, D & Duke, RC 1997, 'Human keratinocytes maintain reversible anti-apoptotic defenses in vivo and in vitro.', *Apoptosis*, vol. 2, no. 2, pp. 136-48.

Noya, M, Suzuki, M, Yoshioka, M, Hashimoto, M, Murakami, M, Kawasaki, K, Takahashi, D & Urashima, M 2012, 'Circulating vitamin D levels, vitamin D binding protein gene polymorphisms, and severity of parkinson's disease', *Parkinsonism Related Disorders*, vol. 18, Supplement 2, pp. S12-S3.

Nürnberg, B & Reichrath, J 2009, 'Cutaneous vitamin D synthesis versus skin cancer development', *Dermatoendocrinology*, vol. 1, no. 5, pp. 253 - 61.

Obayashi, K, Kaburagi, S, Okano, Y & Masaki, H 2008, 'Crosstalk between keratinocytes and fibroblast on activation of UVB-induced MMP-1', *International Investigative Dermatology*, vol. 50, no. 1177, pp. e2-e285.

Oberyszyn, TM 2008, 'Non-melanoma skin cancer: Importance of gender, immunosuppressive status and vitamin D', *Cancer Letters*, vol. 261, no. 2, pp. 127-36.

Oda, Y, Sihlbom, C, Chalkley, R, Huang, L, Rachez, C, Chang, C, Burlingame, A, Freedman, L & Bikle, D 2004, 'Two distinct coactivators, DRIP/mediator and SRC/p160, are differentially involved in VDR transactivation during keratinocyte differentiation', *The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, vol. 89–90, pp. 273-6.

Oda, Y, Ishikawa, M, Hawker, N, Yun, Q & Bikle, D 2007, 'Differential role of two VDR coactivators, DRIP205 and SRC-3, in keratinocyte proliferation and differentiation', *The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, vol. 103, no. 3-5, pp. 776-80.

Oers, J 2002, 'Activation of the Fibroblast Growth Factor Receptor 3 in Bladder Cancer', *PhD Thesis*, University of Rotterdam.

Ohki, K, Kumamoto, H, Ichinohasama, R, Sato, T, Takahashi, N & Ooya, K 2004, 'PTC gene mutations and expression of SHH, PTC, SMO, and GLI-1 in odontogenic keratocysts', *International Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery*, vol. 33, no. 6, pp. 584-92.

Olds, W, McKinley, A, Moore, M & Kimlin, M 2008, 'In vitro model of vitamin D3 (Cholecalciferol) synthesis by UV radiation: Dose–response relationships', *Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology B: Biology*, vol. 93, no. 2, pp. 88-93.

Ondková, S, Macejova, D & Brtko, J 2006, 'Role of Dihydroxyvitamin D3 and Its Nuclear Receptor in Novel Directed Therapies for Cancer', *General Physiology and Biophys*ics, vol. 25, pp. 339-53.

Ooi, L, Zheng, Y, Zhou, H, Trivedi, T, Conigrave, A, Seibel, M & Dunstan, C 2010, 'Vitamin D deficiency promotes growth of MCF-7 human breast cancer in a rodent model of osteosclerotic bone metastasis', *Bone*, vol. 47, no. 4, pp. 795-803.

Orgaz-Molina, J, Buendía-Eisman, A, Arrabal-Polo, M, Ruiz, J & Arias-Santiago, S 2012, 'Deficiency of serum concentration of 25-hydroxyvitamin D in psoriatic patients: A case-control study', *Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology*, vol. 67, no. 5, pp. 931-8.

Ortonne, J, Humbert, P, Nicolas, J, Tsankov, N, Tonev, S, Janin, A, Czernielewski, J, Lahfa, M & Dubertret, L 2003, 'Intra-individual comparison of the cutaneous safety and efficacy of calcitriol 3 microg g(-1) ointment and calcipotriol 50 microg g(-1) ointment on chronic plaque psoriasis localized in facial, hairline, retroauricular or flexural areas', *British Journal of Dermatology*, vol. 148, no. 2, pp. 326-33.

Palmer, H, Anjos-Afonso, F, Carmeliet, G, Takeda, H & Watt F 2008, 'The Vitamin D Receptor Is a Wnt Effector that Controls Hair Follicle Differentiation and Specifies Tumour Type in Adult Epidermis', *PLoS ONE*, vol. 3 no. 1 e1483.

Pampalakis, G & Sotiropoulou, G 2007, 'Tissue kallikrein proteolytic cascade pathways in normal physiology and cancer', *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Reviews on Cancer*, vol. 1776, no. 1, pp. 22-31.

Pandith, A, Shah, Z & Siddiqi, M 2013, 'Oncogenic role of fibroblast growth factor receptor 3 in tumorigenesis of urinary bladder cancer', *Urologic Oncology: Seminars and Original Investigations*, vol. 31, no. 4, pp. 398-406.

Pardo, V, Boland, R & de Boland, A 2006, '1α,25(OH)2-Vitamin D3 stimulates intestinal cell p38 MAPK activity and increases c-Fos expression', *The International Journal of Biochemistry & Cell Biology*, vol. 38, no. 7, pp. 1181-90.

Bernard, P, Fleming, A, Lacombe, A, Harley, V & Vilain, E, 2009, 'Wnt4 inhibits  $\beta$ -catenin/TCF signalling by redirecting  $\beta$ -catenin to the cell membrane', Biology of the Cell, vol. 100, no. 3, pp.167–177.

Pastore, S, Mascia, F, Mariani, V & Girolomoni, G 2008, 'The Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor System in Skin Repair and Inflammation', *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*, vol. 128, no. 6, pp. 1365-74.

Peehl, D, Shinghal, R, Nonn, L, Seto, E, Krishnan, A, Brooks, J & Feldman, D 2004, 'Molecular activity of 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 in primary cultures of human prostatic epithelial cells revealed by cDNA microarray analysis', *The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, vol. 92, no. 3, pp. 131-41.

Penneys, N, Seigfried, E, Nahass, G & Vogler, C 1994, 'Expression of proliferating cell nuclear antigen in Spitz nevus', *Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology*, vol. 32, no. 6, pp. 964-697.

Pérez-López F, Chedraui, P & Haya, J 2009, 'Review article: vitamin D acquisition and breast cancer risk.', *Reproductive Sciences*, vol. 16, no. 1, pp. 7-19.

Peric, M, Lehmann, B, Vashina, G, Dombrowski, Y, Koglin, S, Meurer, M, Ruzicka, T & Schauber, J 2010, 'UV-B-triggered induction of vitamin D3 metabolism differentially affects antimicrobial peptide expression in keratinocytes', *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, vol. 125, no. 3, pp. 746-9.

Pettifor J & Prentice A, 2011, 'Chapter 60 - Vitamin D Deficiency and Nutritional Rickets in Children', in D Feldman, JW Pike & JS Adams (eds), *Vitamin D (Third Edition)*, Academic Press, San Diego, pp. 1107-28.

Pietrasa, K & Östmanb, A 2010, 'Hallmarks of cancer: Interactions with the tumor stroma', *Experimental Cell Research*, vol. 316, p. 1324 – 1331.

Pike, J, Meyer, M & Lee, S 2011, 'Chapter 7 - The Vitamin D Receptor: Biochemical, Molecular, Biological, and Genomic Era Investigations', in D Feldman, JW Pike & JS Adams (eds), *Vitamin D (Third Edition)*, Academic Press, San Diego, pp. 97-135.

Pike, J & Meyer, M 2012, 'The Vitamin D Receptor: New Paradigms for the Regulation of Gene Expression by 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3', *Rheumatic Disease Clinics of North America*, vol. 38, no. 1, pp. 13-27.

Powles, N, Marshall, H, Economou, A, Chiang, C, Murakami, A, Dickson, C, Krumlauf, R & Maconochie, M 2004, 'Regulatory analysis of the mouse Fgf3 gene: Control of embryonic expression patterns and dependence upon sonic hedgehog (Shh) signalling', *Developmental Dynamics*, vol. 230, no. 1, pp. 44-56.

Prosser, D, Guo, Y, Jia, Z & Jones, G 2006, 'Structural Motif-Based Homology Modeling of CYP27A1 and Site-Directed Mutational Analyses Affecting Vitamin D Hydroxylation', *Biophysical Journal*, vol. 90, no. 10, pp. 3389-409.

Puccinelli, T, Bertics, P & Masters, K 2010, 'Regulation of keratinocyte signalling and function via changes in epidermal growth factor presentation', *Acta Biomaterialia*, vol. 6, no. 9, pp. 3415-25.

Rahman, M, Lee, E & Bae, Y 2011, 'Two-dimensional immunoblot analysis of antigenic proteins of Spirometra plerocercoid recognized by human patient sera', *Parasitology International*, vol. 60, no. 2, pp. 139-43.

Ramirez, A, Wongtrakool, C, Welch, T, Steinmeyer, A, Zügel, U & Roman, J 2009, 'Vitamin D inhibition of pro-fibrotic effects of transforming growth factor [beta]1 in lung fibroblasts and epithelial cells', *The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, vol. 118, no. 3, pp. 142-50.

Ramsay, E, Anantha, M, Zastre, J, Meijs, M, Zonderhuis, J, Strutt, D, Webb, M, Waterhouse, D & Bally, M 2008, 'Irinophore C: A Liposome Formulation of Irinotecan with Substantially Improved Therapeutic Efficacy against a Panel of Human Xenograft Tumors', *Clinical Cancer Research*, vol. 14, no. 4, pp. 1208-17.

Ratnam, A, Bikle, D, Jhy Su, M, & Pillai, S 1996, 'Squamous carcinoma cell lines fail to respond to 1,25dihydroxyvitamin D despite normal levels of the vitamin D receptor', *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*, vol. 106, pp. 522-5.

Ratushny, V, Gober, M, Hick, R, Ridky, T & Seykora, J 2012, 'From keratinocyte to cancer: the pathogenesis and modeling of cutaneous squamous cell carcinoma', *Journal of Clinical Investigations*, vol. 122, no. 2, pp. 464-72.

Rehan, V, Torday, J, Peleg, S, Gennaro, L, Vouros, P, Padbury, J, Rao, D, & Satyanarayana, G 2002,'1 $\alpha$ ,25-Dihydroxy-3-epi-vitamin D3, a natural metabolite of 1 $\alpha$ ,25-dihydroxy vitamin D3: production and biological activity studies in pulmonary alveolar type II cells." Molecular Genetics and Metabolism, vol. 76, no.1, pp. 46-56.

Reichrath, J 2006, 'The challenge resulting from positive and negative effects of sunlight: How much solar UV exposure is appropriate to balance between risks of vitamin D deficiency and skin cancer?', *Progress in Biophysics and Molecular Biology*, vol. 92, no. 1, pp. 9-16.

Reichrath, J 2010, 'Dermatologic management, sun avoidance and vitamin D status in organ transplant recipients (OTR)', *Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology B: Biology*, vol. 101, no. 2, pp. 150-9.

Reichrath, J, Muller, S, Kerber, A, Baum, H & Bahmer, F 1997, 'Biologic effects of topical calcipotriol (MC 903) treatment in psoriatic skin', *Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology*, vol. 36, no. 1, pp. 19-28.

Reichrath, J, Kamradt, J, Hong Zhu, X, Fu Kong, X, Tilgen, W & Holick, M 1999, 'Analysis of 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 Receptors (VDR) in Basal Cell Carcinomas', *The American Journal of Pathology*, vol. 155, no. 2, pp. 583-9. Reichrath, S, Muller, CS, Gleissner, B, Pfreundschuh, M, Vogt, T & Reichrath, J 2010, 'Notch- and vitamin D signalling in 1,25(OH)2D3-resistant glioblastoma multiforme (GBM) cell lines', *The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, vol. 121, no. 1–2, pp. 420-4.

Robertson, J, Enoksson, M, Suomela, M, Zhivotovsky, B & Orrenius, S 2012, 'Caspase-2 acts upstream of mitochondria to promote cytochrome c release during etoposide-induced apoptosis', *Journal Biological Chemistry*, vol. 277, no. 33, pp. 29803-29809.

Roskoski, R 2014, 'The ErbB/HER family of protein-tyrosine kinases and cancer', *Pharmacological Research*, vol. 79, pp. 34-74.

Rosen, H, Reshef, A, Maeda, N, Lippoldt, A, Shpizen, S, Triger, L, Eggertsen, G, Björkhem, I & Leitersdorf, E 1998 Jun 12, 'Markedly reduced bile acid synthesis but maintained levels of cholesterol and vitamin D metabolites in mice with disrupted sterol 27-hydroxylase gene', *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, *vol.* 273, no. 24, pp. 14805-12.

Rossi, A, Capiati, D, Picotto, G, Benassati, S & Boland, R 2004, 'MAPK inhibition by 1α,25(OH)2–Vitamin D3 in breast cancer cells.: Evidence on the participation of the VDR and Src', *The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, vol. 89–90, pp. 287-90.

Rosso, A, Pansera, M, Zamoner, A, Zanatta, L, Bouraïma-Lelong, H, Carreau, S & Silva, F, 2012, '1α,25(OH)2-vitamin D3 stimulates rapid plasma membrane calcium influx via MAPK activation in immature rat Sertoli cells', *Biochimie*, vol. 94, no. 1, pp. 146-54.

Rowling, M, Kemmis, C, Taffany, D & Welsh, J 2006, 'Megalin-mediated endocytosis of vitamin D binding protein correlates with 25-hydroxycholecalciferol actions in human mammary cells', *Journal of Nutrition*, vol. 136, no. 11, pp. 2754-9.

Runkle, E, Zhang, H, Cai, Z, Zhu, Z, Karger, B, Wu, S, O'Rourke, D, Zhou, Z, Wang, Q & Greene, M, 2012, 'Reversion of the ErbB malignant phenotype and the DNA damage response', *Experimental and Molecular Pathology*, vol. 93, no. 3, pp. 324-33.

Saadane, A, Mast, N, Charvet CD, Omarova S, Zheng W, Huang S, Kern TS, Peachey NS, Pikuleva, IA 2014, 'Retinal and nonocular abnormalities in cyp27a1(-/-)cyp46a1(-/-) mice with dysfunctional metabolism of cholesterol', *American Journal of Pathology*, vol. 184, no. 9, pp. 2403-19.

Sahni, M, Ambrosetti, D, Mansukhani, A, Gertner, R, Levy, D & Basilico, C 1999, 'FGF signaling inhibits chondrocyte proliferation and regulates bone development through the STAT-1 pathway', *Genes & Development*, vol. 13, no. 11, pp. 1361-6.

Sanak, M, Kostyk, E, Bonaventure, J, Le Merrer, M & Pietrzyk, J 1997, 'Molecular Studies of Fibroblast Growth Factor-3 Receptor (Fgf3R) in 5 Infants With Diagnosis of Achondroplasia. 73', *Pediatric Research*, vol. 42, no. 3, p. 397

Santiskulvong, C, Sinnett-Smith, J & Rozengurt, E 2001, 'EGF receptor function is required in late G1 for cell cycle progression induced by bombesin and bradykinin', *American Journal Of Physiology-Cell Physiology*, vol. 281.

Sarkany, R 2011, 'Ultraviolet Radiation and the Skin', in ON Editor-in-Chief: Jerome (ed.), *Encyclopedia of Environmental Health*, Elsevier, Burlington, pp. 469-82.

Satake, K, Takagi, E, Ishii, A, Kato, Y, Imagawa, Y, Kimura, Y & Tsukuda, M 2003, 'Anti-tumour effect of vitamin A and D on head and neck squamous cell carcinoma', *Auris Nasus Larynx*, vol. 30, no. 4, pp. 403-12.

Savkur, R, Bramlett, K, Stayrook, K, Nagpal, S & Burris, T 2005, 'Coactivation of the human vitamin D receptor by the peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma coactivator-1 alpha', *Molecular Pharmacology*, vol. 68, no. 2, pp. 511-7.

Schauber, J & Gallo, R 2008, 'The vitamin D pathway: a new target for control of the skin's immune response?', *Experimental Dermatology*, vol. 17, no. 8, pp. 633-9.

Schrumpf, J, van Sterkenburg, M, Verhoosel, R, Zuyderduyn, S & Hiemstra, P 2012, 'IL-13 exposure enhances vitamin D-mediated expression of the human cathelicidin antimicrobial peptide-hCAP18/LL-37 in bronchial epithelial s', *Infection and Immunity.*, vol. 80, pp. 4485-94.

Schuster, I 2011, 'Cytochromes P450 are essential players in the vitamin D signalling system', *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Proteins and Proteomics*, vol. 1814, no. 1, pp. 186-99.

Schuster, I, Egger, H, Bikle, D, Herzig, G, Reddy, G, Stuetz, A, Stuetz, P & Vorisek, G 'Selective inhibition of vitamin D hydroxylases in human keratinocytes', 2001, *Steroids*, vol. 66, no. 3–5, pp. 409-22.

Schuuring, E 1995, 'The involvement of the chromosome 11q13 region in human malignancies: Cyclin D1 and EMS1 are two new candidate oncogenes-a review', *Gene*, vol. 159, no. 1, pp. 83-96.

Sebag, M, Henderson, J, Rhim, J & Kremer, R 1992 'Relative resistance to 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 in a keratinocyte model of tumour progressiono.', *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, vol. 267, no. 17, pp. 12162-7.

Segaert, S, Degreef, H & Bouillon, R 2000, 'Vitamin D Receptor Expression Is Linked to Cell Cycle Control in Normal Human Keratinocytes', *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, vol. 279, no. 1, pp. 89-94.

Seifert, M, Rech, M, Meineke, V, Tilgen, W & Reichrath, J 2004, 'Differential biological effects of 1,25dihydroxyVitamin D3 on melanoma cell lines in vitro', *The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, vol. 89–90, pp. 375-9.

Seo, S, Shim, W, Shin, D, Kim, Y & Sung, H 2011, 'Pulmonary Metastasis of Basal Cell Carcinoma', *Annals of Dermatology*, vol. 23, no. 2, p. 213-216.

Sertznig, P, Seifert, M, Tilgen, W & Reichrath, J 2010, 'Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor (PPAR) and vitamin D receptor (VDR) signalling pathways in melanoma cells: Promising new therapeutic targets?', *The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, vol. 121, no. 1–2, pp. 383-6.

Shah S, Islam M, Dakshanamurthy S, Rizvi I, Rao M, Herrell R, Zinser G, Valrance M, Aranda A, Moras D, Norman A, Welsh J, Byers S 2006 Mar 17, 'The molecular basis of vitamin D receptor and beta-catenin crossregulation', *Molecular Cell*, vol. 21, no. 6, pp.799-809.

Shannan, B, Seifert, M, Boothman, D, Tilgen, W & Reichrath, J 2007, 'Clusterin over-expression modulates proapoptotic and antiproliferative effects of 1,25(OH)2D3 in prostate cancer cells in vitro', *The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, vol. 103, no. 3–5, pp. 721-5.

Sharan, C, Halder, S, Thota, C, Jaleel, T, Nair, S & Al-Hendy, A 2011, 'Vitamin D inhibits proliferation of human uterine leiomyoma cells via catechol-O-methyltransferase', *Fertility and Sterility*, vol. 95, no. 1, pp. 247-53.

Shen, Z, Zhang, X, Tang, J, Kasiappan, R, Jinwal, U, Li, P, Hann, S, Nicosia, S, Wu, J, Zhang, X & Bai, W 2011, 'The coupling of epidermal growth factor receptor down regulation by 1alpha,25dihydroxyvitamin D3 to the hormone-induced cell cycle arrest at the G1-S checkpoint in ovarian cancer cells', *Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology*, vol. 338, no. 1–2, pp. 58-67.

Sibilia, M, Fleischmann, A, Behrens, A, Stingl, L, Carroll, J, Watt, FM, Schlessinger, J & Wagner, EF 2000, 'The EGF Receptor Provides an Essential Survival Signal for SOS-Dependent Skin Tumor Development', *Cell*, vol. 102, no. 2, pp. 211-20.

Sidoroff, A & Thaler, P 2010, 'Taking treatment decisions in non-melanoma skin cancer—The place for topical photodynamic therapy (PDT)', *Photodiagnosis and Photodynamic Therapy*, vol. 7, no. 1, pp. 24-32.

Sigmundsdottir, H, Pan, J, Debes, G, Alt, C, Habtezion, A, Soler, D & Butcher, E 2007, 'DCs metabolize sunlight-induced vitamin D3 to 'program' T cell attraction to the epidermal chemokine CCL27', *Nature Immunology*, vol. 8, no. 3, pp. 285-93

Simper, N, Jones, C, MacLennan, G, Montironi, R, Williamson, S, Osunkoya, A, Wang, M, Zhang, S, Grignon, D, Eble, J, Tran, T, Wang, L, Baldrige, L & Cheng, L 2015, 'Basal cell carcinoma of the prostate is an aggressive tumor with frequent loss of PTEN expression and overexpression of EGFR', *Human Pathology*, vol. 46, no. 6, pp. 805-12.

Sinclair, R 2013, *The Conversation*, http://theconversationo.com/skin-carcinomas-linked-to-increased-risk-of-other-cancers-24066.

Situm, M, Buljan, M, Bulat, V, Lugovic Mihic, L, Bolanca, Z, Simic, D 2008, 'The role of UV radiation in the development of basal cell carcinoma', *Collegium Antropologicum*, 32 Suppl 2: 167-170.

Smola, H, Thiekotter, G & Fusenig, N 1993, 'Mutual induction of growth factor gene expression by epidermal-dermal cell interactiono.', *Journal of Cellular Biology*, vol. 122, no. 2, pp. 417-29.

Smith E, Walworth N, Holick M 1986, 'Effect of 1 alpha,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 on the morphologic and biochemical differentiation of cultured human epidermal keratinocytes grown in serum-free conditions', *Journal of Investive Dermatology*, vol. 86, no. 6, pp. 709-14.

Smith, M, May H, Blair T, Anderson J, Muhlestein, J, Horne, B, Lappe, D, Day, J, Crandall, B, Weiss P, Osborn J & Bunch, T 2011, 'Vitamin D excess is significantly associated with risk of atrial fibrillation', *Circulation - Americal Heart Association*, vol. 124, A14699

Song, E, Gordon-Thomson, C, Cole, L, Stern, H, Halliday, G, Damian, D, Reeve, V & Mason, R 2013a, '1α,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 reduces several types of UV-induced DNA damage and contributes to photoprotection', *The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, vol. 136, pp. 131-8.

Song, Y, Hong, J, Liu, D, Lin, Q & Lai, G 2013b '1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 inhibits nuclear factor kappa B activation by stabilising inhibitor I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$  via mRNA stability and reduced phosphorylation in passively sensitized human airway smooth muscle cells', *Scandinavian Journal of Immunology*, vol. 77, no. 2, pp. 109-16.

Song L, Zhang X & Zhou Y 2011, 'A synergetic role of 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D(3) in 17β-estradial induced-proliferation and differentiation of osteoblasticMC3T3-E1 cells', *European Journal of Pharmacoogy.*, vol. 659, no. 2-3, pp. 273-80.

Speeckaert, M, Huang, G, Delanghe, J & Taes, Y 2006, 'Biological and clinical aspects of the vitamin D binding protein (Gc-globulin) and its polymorphism', *Clinica Chimica Acta Journal*, vol. 372, no. 1–2, pp. 33-42.

Spina, C, Ton, L, Yao, M, Maehr, H, Wolfe, M, Uskokovic, M, Adorini, L & Holick, M 2007, 'Selective vitamin D receptor modulators and their effects on colorectal tumour growth', *The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, vol. 103, no. 3-5, pp. 757-62.

Srinivasan, M, Parwani, A, Hershberger, P, Lenzner, D & Weissfeld, J 2011, 'Nuclear vitamin D receptor expression is associated with improved survival in non-small cell lung cancer', *The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, vol. 123, no. 1–2, pp. 30-6.

Stahl, W, Nicolai, S, Hanusch, M & Sies, H 1994, 'Vitamin D influences gap junctional communication in C3H/10T murine fibroblast cells', *FEBS Letters*, vol. 352, no. 1, pp. 1-3.

Staiano-Coico, L & Higgins, P 1992, 'Cell shape changes during transition of basal keratinocytes to mature enucleate-cornified envelopes: Modulation of terminal differentiation by fibronectin', *Experimental Cell Research*, vol. 201, no. 1, pp. 126-36.

Stamp, T, Walker, P, Perry, W & Jenkins, M, 1980, '5 Nutritional osteomalacia and late Rickets in Greater London, 1974–1979: Clinical and metabolic studies in 45 patients', *Clinics in Endocrinology and Metabolism*, vol. 9, no. 1, pp. 81-105.

Staples, M, Elwood, M, Burton, R, Williams, J, Marks, R & Giles, G 2006, 'Non-melanoma skin cancer in Australia: the 2002 national survey and trends since 1985', AMA, *Medical Journal of Australia*, vol. 184 no. 1, pp. 6-10.

Statistics, ABo 2012, 'Australian Bureau of Statistics'.

Stockfleth E & Kerl, H 2006 'Guidelines for the management of actinic keratoses.', *European Journal of Dermatology*, vol. 16, no. 6, pp. 599-606.

Suetani, R, Ho, K, Jindal, S, Manavis, J, Neilsen, P, Pishas, K, Rippy, E, Bochner, M, Kollias, J, Gill, P, Morris, H & Callen, D 2012, 'A comparison of vitamin D activity in paired non-malignant and malignant human breast tissues', *Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology*, vol. 362, no. 1–2, pp. 202-10.

Suibhne, T, Cox, G, Healy, M, O'Morain, C, O'Sullivan, M 2012 Mar, 'Vitamin D deficiency in Crohn's disease: prevalence, risk factors and supplement use in an outpatient setting', *Journal of Crohns and Colitis*, vol. 6, no. 2, pp. 182-8.

Sugiyama, T, Kusuhara, S, Chung, T, Yonekura, H, Azem, E & Hayakawa, T 2013, 'Effects of 25-hydroxy-cholecalciferol on the development of osteochondrosis in swine', *Animal Science Journal*, vol. 84, no. 4, pp. 341-9.

Sundaram, S, Beckman, M, Bajwa, A, Wei, J, Smith, K, Posner, G & Gewirtz, D 2006, 'QW-1624F2-2, a synthetic analogue of 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3, enhances the response to other deltanoids and suppresses the invasiveness of human metastatic breast tumor cells', *Molecular Cancer Therapeutics*, vol. 5, no. 11, pp. 2806-14.

Tan, ML, Shao, P, Friedhuber, A, van Moorst, M, Elahy, M, Indumathy, S, Dunstan, D, Wei, Y & Dass, C 2014, 'The potential role of free chitosan in bone trauma and bone cancer management', *Biomaterials*, vol. 35, no. 27, pp. 7828-38.

Tang, J, Parimi, N, Wu, A, Boscardin, W, Shikany, J, Chren, M, Cummings, S, Epstein, E & Bauer, D 2010, 'Inverse association between serum 25(OH) vitamin D levels and non-melanoma skin cancer in elderly men', *Cancer Causes Control*, vol. 21, no. 3.

Tang, J, Fu, T, Lau, C, Oh, D, Bikle, D & Asgari, M 2012, 'Vitamin D in cutaneous carcinogenesis: Part I', *Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology*, vol. 67, no. 5, pp. 803.e1-.e12.

Tangpricha, V & Grossmann, R 2010, 'Evaluation of vehicle substances on vitamin D bioavailability: A systematic review', *Molecular Nutrition & Food Research*, vol. 54, pp. 1055-61

Tangpricha, V, Flanagan, J, Whitlatch, L, Tseng, C, Chen, T, Holt, P, Lipkin, M & Holick, M 2001, '25hydroxyvitamin D-1[alpha]-hydroxylase in normal and malignant colon tissue', *The Lancet*, vol. 357, no. 9269, pp. 1673-4.

Tannour-Louet, M, Lewis, S, Louet, J, Stewart, J, Addai, J, Sahin, A, Vangapandu, H, Lewis, A, Dittmar, K, Pautler, R, Zhang, L, Smith, R & Lamb, D 2014, 'Increased expression of CYP24A1 correlates with advanced stages of prostate cancer and can cause resistance to vitamin D3-based therapies', *Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology Journal*, vol. 28, no. 1, pp. 364-72.

Teichert, A, Elalieh, H, Elias, P, Welsh, J & Bikle, D 2011, 'Overexpression of hedgehog signalling is associated with epidermal tumour formation in vitamin D receptor-null mice', *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*, vol. 131, no. 11, pp. 2289-97.

Thandrayen, K & Pettifor, J 2010, 'Maternal Vitamin D Status: Implications for the Development of Infantile Nutritional Rickets', *Endocrinology and Metabolism Clinics of North America*, vol. 39, no. 2, pp. 303-20.

Tian X & Holick M 1995, 'Catalyzed thermal isomerization between previtamin D3 and vitamin D3 via beta-cyclodextrin complexation', *Journal of Biological Chemistry.*, vol. 270, no. 15, pp. 8706-11.

Tieu, E, Li, W, Chen, J, Baldisseri, D, Slominski, A & Tuckey, RC 2012, 'Metabolism of cholesterol, vitamin D3 and 20-hydroxyvitamin D3 incorporated into phospholipid vesicles by human CYP27A1', *Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, vol. 129, no. 3-5, pp. 163-71.

Thompson, C & Beaudoin, G 2006, 'Hairless: A nuclear receptor corepressor essential for skin function', in T Reshma (ed.), *Advances in Developmental Biology*, Elsevier, vol. 16, pp. 357-87.

Tokar, E & Webber, M 2005a, 'Chemoprevention of Prostate Cancer by Cholecalciferol (Vitamin D3): 25hydroxylase (CYP27A1) in Human Prostate Epithelial Cells', *Clinical & Experimental Metastasis*, vol. 22, no. 3, pp. 265-73.

Tokar, E & Webber, M 2005b, 'Cholecalciferol (Vitamin D3) Inhibits Growth and Invasion by Upregulating Nuclear Receptors and 25-Hydroxylase (CYP27A1) in Human Prostate Cancer Cells', *Clinical* & *Experimental Metastasis*, vol. 22, no. 3, pp. 275-84.

Torsten E & Cockerell C, 2005, 'Actinic keratoses: Clinical diagnosis versus histopathologic assessment', *Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology*, Vol. 52, no.3 Supplement: P81.

Trémezaygues, L, Seifert, M, Vogt, T, Tilgen, W & Reichrath, J 2010, '1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 modulates effects of ionizing radiation (IR) on human keratinocytes: In vitro analysis of cell viability/proliferation, DNA-damage and -repair', *The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, vol. 121, no. 1-2, pp. 324-7.

Tse, A, Wan, C, Shen, X, Zhu, G, Cheung, H, Yang, M & Fong, W 2007a, '1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 induces biphasic NF-kappa B responses during HL-60 leukemia cells differentiation through protein induction and PI3K/Akt-dependent phosphorylation/degradation of kappaB', *Experimental Cell Research*, vol. 313, no. 8, pp. 1722-34.

Tse, A, Zhu, G, Wan, C, Shen, X, Yu, Z & Fong, W 2007b, '1alpha,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 inhibits transcriptional potential of nuclear factor kappa B in breast cancer cells', *Molecular Immunology*, vol. 47, no. 9, pp. 1728-38.

You X, Yu H, Cohen-Gould L, Cao B, Symons M, Vande Woude G & Knudsen, BS 2003, 'Regulation of migration of primary prostate epithelial cells by secreted factors from prostate stromal cells', *Experimental Cell Research*, vol. 288, no. 2, pp.246-56.

Uribe, P & Gonzalez, S 2011, 'Epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) and squamous cell carcinoma of the skin: Molecular bases for EGFR-targeted therapy', *Pathology - Research and Practice*, vol. 207, no. 6, pp. 337-42.

Valladares, A, Hernández, N, Gómez, F, Curiel-Quezada, E, Madrigal-Bujaidar, E, Vergara, M, Martínez, M & Arenas Aranda, D 2006, 'Genetic expression profiles and chromosomal alterations in sporadic breast cancer in Mexican women', *Cancer Genetics and Cytogenetics*, vol. 170, no. 2, pp. 147-51.

van der Pols, J, Russell, A, Bauer, U, Neale, R, Kimlin, M & Green, A 2013, 'Vitamin D status and skin cancer risk independent of time outdoors: 11-year prospective study in an Australian community', *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*, vol. 133, no. 3, pp. 637-41.

van Leeuwen, JPTM & Pols, HAP 2005, 'Vitamin D: Cancer and Differentiation', *in Vitamin D (2)*, Academic Press, Burlington, pp. 1571-97.

Vanoirbeek, E, Krishnan, A, Eelen, I, Verlinden, L, Bouillon, R, Feldman, D & Verstuyf, A 2011, 'The anti-cancer and anti-inflammatory actions of 1,25(OH)2D3', *Best Practice Research Clinical Endocrinology Metabolism*, vol. 25, no. 4, pp. 593-604.

Vantieghem, K, De Haes, P, Bouillon, R & Segaert, S 2006, 'Dermal fibroblasts pretreated with a sterol  $\Delta$ 7-reductase inhibitor produce 25-hydroxyvitamin D3 upon UVB irradiation', *Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology B: Biology*, vol. 85, no. 1, pp. 72-8.

Veness, M, 2006, 'Advanced non-melanoma skin cancers of the head and neck: an overview on management', *Cancer Forum*, vol. 30, no. 3.

Vieth, R 2006, 'Critique of the considerations for establishing the tolerable upper intake level for vitamin D: critical need for revision upwards', *Journal of Nutrition*, vol. 136, no. 4, pp. 1117-22.

Vinceti, M, Malagoli, C, Fiorentini, C, Longo, C, Crespi, C, Albertini, G, Ricci, C, Lanzoni, A, Reggiani, M, Virgili, A, Osti, F, Lombardi, M, Santini, M, Fanti, P, Dika, E, Sieri, S, Krogh, V, Seidenari, S & Pellacani, G. 2011, 'Inverse Association Between Dietary Vitamin D and Risk of Cutaneous Melanoma in a Northern Italy Population', *Nutrition and Cancer*, vol. 1, pp. 1-8.

Vitezova, A, Cartolano, N, Heeringa, J, Zillikens, M, Hofman, M, Franco, O, & Jong, J. 2015, 'Vitamin D and the Risk of Atrial Fibrillation - The Rotterdam Study', *PLoS One*. Vol.10, no.5, pp. e0125161

von Domarus, H & Stevens, P 1984, 'Metastatic basal cell carcinoma. Report of five cases and review of 170 cases in the literature', *Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology*, vol. 10, no. 6, pp. 1043-60.

Wagner, D, Trudel, D, Van der Kwast, T, Nonn, L, Giangreco, A, Li, D, Dias, A, Cardoza, M, Laszlo, S, Hersey, K, Klotz, L, Finelli, A, Fleshner, N & Vieth, R 2013, "Randomized clinical trial of vitamin D3 doses on prostatic vitamin D metabolite levels and Ki67 labeling in prostate cancer patients', *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, vol. 98, no. 4, pp.1498-507.

Wahler, J, So, J, Cheng, L, Maehr, H, Uskokovic, M & Suh, N 2015, "Vitamin D compounds reduce mammosphere formation and decrease expression of putative stem cell markers in breast cancer", *The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, vol. 148, no. 0, pp. 148-55.

Walsh, J, Clark, A, Day, T, Gillespie, M & Young, M 2010, "Use of α,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 treatment to stimulate immune infiltration into head and neck squamous cell carcinoma", *Human Immunology*, vol. 71, no. 7, pp. 659-665.

Wang, C, Wang, Y, Wang, M, Chen, J, Yu, N, Song, S, Kaminski, N & Zhang, W 2012, 'Signal Peptide and Denaturing Temperature are Critical Factors for Efficient Mammalian Expression and Immunoblotting of Cannabinoid Receptors', *Journal Huazhong University of Science and Technology Medical Sciences*, vol. 32, no. 2, pp. 299-302.

Wang, J, Zhao, Y, Kauss, M, Spindel, S & Lian, H 2009, 'Akt regulates vitamin D3-induced leukemia cell functional differentiation via Raf/MEK/ERK MAPK signalling', *European Journal of Cell Biology*, vol. 88, no. 2, pp. 103-15.

Wang, R, Dworak, L & Lacy, M 2001, 'A panel immunoblot using co-incubated monoclonal antibodies for identification of melanoma cells', *Journal of Immunological Methods*, vol. 249, no. 1–2, pp. 167-83.

Wang, X, Pesakhov, S, Weng, A, Kafka, M, Gocek, E, Nguyen, M, Harrison, J, Danilenko, M & Studzinski, GP 2013, 'ERK 5/MAPK pathway has a major role in  $1\alpha$ ,25-(OH)2 vitamin D3-induced terminal differentiation of myeloid leukemia cells', *The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, vol. 144, A:223-7

Webb, AR 2006, 'Who, what, where and when—influences on cutaneous vitamin D synthesis', *Progress in Biophysics and Molecular Biology*, vol. 92, no. 1, pp. 17-25.

Weisinger, K, Kayam, G, Missulawin-Drillman, T & Sela-Donenfeld, D 2010, 'Analysis of expression and function of FGF-MAPK signalling components in the hindbrain reveals a central role for FGF3 in the regulation of Krox20, mediated by Pea3', *Developmental Biology*, vol. 344, no. 2, pp. 881-95.

Welsh, J 2011, 'Vitamin D metabolism in mammary gland and breast cancer', *Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology*, vol. 347, no. 1–2, pp. 55-60.

White, P & Cooke, N 2000, 'The Multifunctional Properties and Characteristics of Vitamin D-binding Protein', *Trends in Endocrinology and Metabolism*, vol. 11, no. 8, pp. 320-7.

Whitfield, G, Remus, L, Jurutka, P, Zitzer, H, Oza, A, Dang, H, Haussler, C, Galligan, M, Thatcher, M, Dominguez, C & Haussler, M 2001, 'Functionally relevant polymorphisms in the human nuclear vitamin D receptor gene', *Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology*, vol. 177, no. 1-2, pp. 145-59.

Wilkinson, D, Bhatt, S & McMahon, A 1989, 'Expression pattern of the FGF-related proto-oncogene int-2 suggests multiple roles in fetal development', *Development*, vol. 105, no. 1, pp. 131-6.

Wong, S, Winbanks, C, Samuel, C & Hewitson, T 2010, 'Lectin histochemistry for light and electron microscopy', *Methods Molecular Biology*, 611:103-14.

Wong, G, Gupta, R, Dixon, K, Deo, S, Choong, S, Halliday, G, Bishop, J, Ishizuka, S, Norman, A, Posner, G & Mason, R 2004, '1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D and three low-calcemic analogs decrease UV-induced DNA damage via the rapid response pathway', *The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, vol. 89-90, pp. 567-70.

Wu, S, Xia, Y, Liu, X & Sun, J 2010, 'Vitamin D receptor deletion leads to reduced level of IκBα protein through protein translation, protein–protein interaction, and post-translational modification', *The International Journal of Biochemistry and Cell Biology*, vol. 42, no. 2, pp. 329-36.

Wu, S, Geilen, C, Tebbe, B & Orfanos, C 1996, '1a,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3; its role for homeostasis of keratinocytes', *The Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry*, vol. 7, no. 12, pp. 642-9.

Wu, W, Zhang, X & Zanello, L 2007, '1α,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 antiproliferative actions involve vitamin D receptor-mediated activation of MAPK pathways and AP-1/p21waf1 upregulation in human osteosarcoma', *Cancer Letters*, vol. 254, no. 1, pp. 75-86.

Xie, S, Pirianov, G & Colston, K 1999, 'Vitamin D analogues suppress IGF-I signalling and promote apoptosis in breast cancer cells', *European Journal of Cancer*, vol. 35, no. 12, pp. 1717-23.

Xie Z, Munson S, Huang N, Portale A, Miller W, Bikle D, 'The mechanism of 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D(3) autoregulation in keratinocytes', *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 2002, vol. 4, no. 277(40), pp :36987-90.

Yang, L, Ma, J, Zhang, X, Fan, Y & Wang, L 2012, 'Protective role of the vitamin D receptor', *Cellular Immunology*, vol. 279, no. 2, pp. 160-6.

Yadav, V, Zhang, X, Liu, J, Estrem, S, Li, S, Gong, X, Buchanan, S, Henry, J, Starling, J & Peng, S 2012, 'Reactivation of Mitogen-activated Protein Kinase (MAPK) Pathway by FGF Receptor 3 (FGFR3)/Ras Mediates Resistance to Vemurafenib in Human B-RAF V600E Mutant Melanoma\*', *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, vol. 287, pp. 28087-98.

Young, M, Schwartz, G, Wang, L, Jamieson, D, Whitlatch, L, Flanagan, J, Lokeshwar, B, Holick, M & Chen, T 2004, 'The prostate 25-hydroxyvitamin D-1 $\alpha$ -hydroxylase is not influenced by parathyroid hormone and calcium: implications for prostate cancer chemoprevention by vitamin D', *Carcinogenesis*, vol. 25, no. 6, pp. 967-71.

Yu, C, Fedoric, B, Anderson, P, Lopez, A & Grimbaldeston, M, 2011, 'Vitamin D3 signalling to mast cells: A new regulatory axis', *The International Journal of Biochemistry and Cell Biology*, vol. 43, no. 1, pp. 41-6.

Zalaudek, I, Giacomel, J, Schmid, K, Bondino, S, Rosendahl, C, Cavicchini, S, Tourlaki, A, Gasparini, S, Bourne, P, Keir, J, Kittler, H, Eibenschutz, L, Catricalà, C & Argenziano, G 2012, 'Dermatoscopy of facial actinic keratosis, intraepidermal carcinoma, and invasive squamous cell carcinoma: A progression model', *Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology*, vol. 66, no. 4, pp. 589-97.

Zehdner, D, Bland, R, Williams, M, Mcninch, R, Howie, A, Stewart P & Hewison, M 2000, 'Extrarenal Expression of 25-Hydroxyvitamin D3-1a-Hydroxylase', *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, vol. 86, no. 2.

Zeleniuch-Jacquotte, A, Gallicchio, L & Hartmuller, V 2010, 'Circulating 25-hydroxyvitamin D and risk of endometrial cancer: Cohort Consortium Vitamin D Pooling Project of Rarer Cancers', *American Journal of Epidemiology*, vol. 172, pp. 36-46.

Zenmyo, M, Komiya, S, Hamada, T, Hiraoka, K, Kato, S, Fujii, T, Yano, H, Irie, K & Nagata, K 2001, 'Transcriptional activation of p21 by vitamin D3 or vitamin K2 leads to differentiation of p53-deficient MG-63 osteosarcoma cells', *Human Pathology*, vol. 32, no. 4, pp. 410-6.

Zhang, A, Wang, Y, Xie, H & Zheng, S 2007, 'Calcitriol inhibits hepatocyte apoptosis in rat allograft by regulating apoptosis-associated genes', *International Immunopharmacology*, vol. 7, no. 8, pp. 1122-8.

Zhang, Q, Kanterewicz, B, Shoemaker, S, Hu, Q, Liu, S, Atwood, K & Hershberger, P 2013, 'Differential response to  $1\alpha$ ,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 ( $1\alpha$ ,25(OH)2D3) in non-small cell lung cancer cells with distinct oncogene mutations', *The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, vol. 136, pp. 264-70.

Zheng, Z, Chen, R & Prystowsky, J 1993, 'UVB radiation induces phosphorylation of the epidermal growth factor receptor, decreases EGF binding and blocks EGF induction of ornithine decarboxylase gene expression in SV40-transformed human keratinocytes', *Experimental Dermatology*, vol. 2, no. 6, pp. 257-65.

Zhou, Z, Xia, Y, Bandla, S, Zakharov, V, Wu, S, Peters, J, Godfrey, TE & Sun, J 2015, 'Vitamin D receptor is highly expressed in precancerous lesions and esophageal adenocarcinoma with significant sex difference', *Human Pathology*, vol. 45, no. 8, pp. 1744-51.

Zhou, L, Yao, L, Liang, Z, Zhou, W, You, L, Shao, Q, Huang, S, Guo, J & Zhao, Y 2015, 'Nuclear translocation of fibroblast growth factor receptor 3 and its significance in pancreatic cance r', International Journal of Clinical and Experimental Pathology, vol. 8, no. 11, pp. 14640-8.

Zhu J, DeLuca H 2012, 'Vitamin D 25-hydroxylase - Four decades of searching, are we there yet?', *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics, vol.* 523, no. 1, pp. 30-6.

#### APPENDIX A. CELL MIGRATION PROTOCOL

To determine the effects of calcidiol and calcitriol on SCC-4 cell migration abilities, scratch assays were conducted. SCC-4 cells were seeded into 24-well tissue culture plates at a density of  $5 \times 10^5$  cells per well. During the optimisation of SCC-4 cell density, the sporadic cell growth in monolayers with frequent cell detachment and the abundance of floating cells in the medium was observed. An example of colony formation by SCC-4 cells can be seen in Figure A.1.



#### Figure A.1. Cultured SCC-4 cell line growth patterns.

SCC-4 cells were grown in complete culture medium as described in the materials and methods section of Chapter 2 (section 2.2.4). Cells were frequently detached from the colony, causing excessive floating of cellular debris and dead cells. The initiated growth of the neighbouring colonies would have a patchy pattern, and complete confluency of SCC-4 cultures largely depends on an even cell distribution at the time of culture inoculation. Immediately after seeding, the cultures of SCC-4 cells were placed on a rotary platform (Solid State Control Multimix Platform; Ratek, Melbourne, Australia) for brief and gentle agitation, to ensure that the tissue culture flask or plate surface has an even distribution of cells, with subsequently even colony formation.

To ensure complete cell attachment, 5 x  $10^5$  SCC-4 cells per well were allowed to adhere over a 24 h period. Untreated SCC-4 cultures were used as a control in these experiments. After 24 h of cell settlement, each well was gently and slowly scratched with a 1000 µl pipette tip across the centre of the well. While scratching across the surface of the well, the pipette tip was held perpendicular to the bottom of the well, to ensure that the distance between the scratch edges is equal across the scratch length, and the scratch was always applied in one direction. After scratch application, each well containing SCC-4 cells was gently washed three times with 1x PBS (pH 7.4) to remove the detached cells.

The medium was replenished in the untreated control wells with fresh complete medium; in vehicle control wells with complete medium supplemented with ethanol at the appropriate concentrations; and in treatment wells with medium contained calcidiol or calcitriol at various concentrations. At the indicated time points (1 h, 4 h, 24 h, 48 h and 72 h) the cells were photographed using an inverted microscope (Labomed TCM) at 20x magnification using the same
microscope configurations at each time point. The gap distance in each well was quantitatively evaluated using Carl Zeiss AxioVision, LE 54 software (Carl Zeiss, Germany). To reduce variability in the results, each experiment was repeated three times

Table A.1 Effect of vitamin D metabolites on the migration abilities of SCC-4 cells)

Time	Untreated	Calcidiol	Corresponding	Calcidiol	Corresponding
( <b>h</b> )		250 nM	ethanol control	100,000 nM	ethanol control
1					200
24					
48					
72			· · · · ·		

A.1.a) Effect of calcidiol on SCC-4 cell migration

# P values to Figure 2.3 presented in Table 2.3 (main text):

1. Statistical significant p values for calcidiol treated SCC-4 cells compared to corresponding ethanol controls in SCC-4 cell migration at time points 24, 48 and 72 h is shown in Table 2.3:

# Table 2.3.1

	Time (h)		
Calcidiol dose (nM)	24	48	72
16	0.159	0.063	0.011
100	0.027	0.002	0.009
250	0.039	0.0019	0.003

2. Statistical comparison between time points in calcidiol treated cells at each dose p values in migration assay is shown in Table 2.4

# Table 2.3.2

	Time (h)		
Calcidiol dose (nM)	24	48	72
16	0.001987	0.012439	0.00071
100	0.005548	0.04871	0.044042
250	0.006511	0.024236	0.039279

3. Statistical comparison p values between doses in calcidiol treated cells at each time point in migration assay is shown in Table 2.5

### **Table 2.3.3**

	Time (h)		
Calcidiol dose (nM)	24	48	72
16/100	0.0113	0.0142	0.0635
16/250	0.0124	0.0426	0.0472

Time	Untreated	Calcitriol	Corresponding	Calcitriol	Corresponding
( <b>h</b> )		10 nM	ethanol control	100 nM	ethanol control
1					
24					
48				1 - 20, 20, 	
72					

A.1.b) Effect of calcitriol on SCC-4 cell migration

### **P** values to Figure 2.4 (main text):

1. Statistical significant p values for calcitriol treated SCC-4 cells compared to corresponding ethanol controls in SCC-4 cell migration is shown in Table 2.4.1:

Table	2.4	.1
	_	-

Calcitriol dose (nM)	Time (h)
	24
0.1	0.032
1	0.075
10	0.037

2. Statistical comparison between time points 1-24 h in calcitriol treated cells at each dose p values in migration assay is shown in Table 2.4.2

Table 2	2.4.2
---------	-------

	Time (h)
Calcitriol dose	
(nM)	P values between 1 and 24 h
0.1	0.003406
1	0.018443
10	0.01542

3. Statistical comparison p values between doses in calcitriol treated cells at time point 24 h in migration assay is shown in Table 2.4.3

# **Table 2.4.3**

	Time (h)
Calcitriol dose (nM)	24
0.1/10	0.00033
1/10	0.00002

Statistically significant stimulation by calcitriol treatment was noted in migration assay (Figure 2.4, main text)

#### **APPENDIX B. CELL PROLIFERATION PROTOCOL**

### **CellTiter-Blue Cell Viability detection**

The seeding density of SCC-4 cells for 96-well plates was optimised. Due to the sporadic and slow nature of SCC-4 cell growth and the extended incubation time with CellTiter-Blue Cell Viability active reagent required for generation of a fluorescent signal, it was decided to use 3 x  $10^4$  cells per well. SCC-4 cells at 3 x  $10^4$  cells/well were plated in 96-well plates for 24 h, followed by treatment with or without calcidiol (at 16 nM, 50 nM, 100 nM and 250 nM) or calcitriol (at 0.01 nM, 0.1 nM, 1.0 nM and 10 nM) for 1 hour (h), 4 h, 24 h, 48 h and 72h. To create working solutions, both vitamin D compounds were dissolved in 100% ethanol, as per the manufacturer's instructions. The SCC-4 cells were grown as a monolayer. Ethanol-treated (equivalent to the volume of vitamin D) SCC-4 cells were used as a vehicle control, and untreated cells were used as a negative control.

To measure the number of viable vitamin D (calcidiol and calcitriol) treated cells, the fluorescence-producing CellTiter-Blue reagent was used. SCC-4 cells were grown as per the materials and methods section described in Chapter 2. Due to different cell type metabolic rates, this assay requires a different amount of incubation time for fluorescent signal generation for each cell line/type. The CellTiter-Blue Cell Viability assay was used to determine cellular viability, which involves measurement of the reduction rates of resazurin (CellTiter-Blue Cell Viability active reagent) into resorufin. A fluorescent signal occurs only in viable cells with high metabolic capacity, whereas non-viable cells, lacking metabolic capacity, are not able to reduce the indicator dye resazurin to produce a fluorescent signal. The expected linear relationship between cell number and fluorescence intensity signal was not achieved in these experiments, due to the uniqueness of SCC-4 cell line growth. The linear range and lower limit of detection are dependent on the cell type and the ability to reduce resazurin, thus directly indicating cellular metabolic capacity. At the selected cell density, a linear relationship was not achievable due to the high cell density, which was required for adequate fluorescent signal generation within the optimal time frame of 4 h. The amount of fluorescence produced in cells after incubation with CellTiter-Blue Cell Viability Reagent was measured using a FLUOStar Galaxy microplate reader (BMG Labtech, Germany), using a fluorescence plate mode at 590 nm for excitation and 610 nm for emission. Three independent experiments were conducted in triplicates.

To optimise cell density, cells were counted using a coulter counter and seeded at between  $1 \times 10^4$  and  $5 \times 10^4$  cells/well. A seeding density of less than  $3 \times 10^4$  required at least 11 h of incubation with the CellTiter-Blue reagent for slight colour changes to be observed in the medium.

The 3 x  $10^4$  cells had quantifiable changes in medium colour after 4 h of incubation with the CellTiter-Blue reagent (see Figure A.10).

### **Optimisation of cell density for CellTiter-Blue assay**

For optimisation of cell density, SCC-4 cells were plated at a density of  $1 \times 10^{4}$ – $5 \times 10^{4}$  cells/well and incubated at 37 °C, in a humidified 5% CO<sub>2</sub> and 95% air atmosphere, in complete medium for 24 h in a 96-well plate. Due to the nature of SCC-4 growth and cell detachment from monolayers, some floating cellular debris or detached cells were observed, which could interfere with the fluorescence reading. To ensure the accuracy of fluorescent signals, cells were washed with 1x PBS (pH 7.4) three times to remove detached cells. 90 µl of complete medium was added to each well prior to addition of 10 µl CellTiter-Blue Reagent. After the addition of CellTiter-Blue directly to each well, SCC-4 cells were incubated for 4 h at 37 °C, to allow the cells to convert resazurin to resorufin.

After 4 h incubation with CellTiter-Blue Reagent, the fluorescent signal was measured using a FLUOstar Galaxy microplate reader (BMG Labtech, Germany), at the following wavelengths: excitation at 590 nm and emission at 610 nm. The gain setting was maintained at the same level at all time points.

Prior to conducting the experiments the cell density that would provide adequate optical density (OD) was determined. Due to sporadic and patchy growth patterns of SCC-4 cells it was essential to establish the seeding density for MTT assay. Cell number below 30,000 were not sufficient for obtaining optical density acceptable for this cell line (approximate OD = 0.1).





### Figure B.1. The optimisation of cell density in proliferation assays.

SCC-4 cells were plated in eight wells at a density of  $1 \times 10^4$ ,  $2 \times 10^4$ ,  $3 \times 10^4$  and  $5 \times 10^4$  in a black 96-well clear, flat bottom microplate. Assays using low SCC-4 cell numbers ( $1 \times 10^4$  and  $2 \times 10^4$ ) produced fluorescent signal only 11 h and 23 h post incubation with resasurin; whereas increasing the cell density to  $3 \times 10^4$  led to increased fluorescent detection and a decreased incubation period to 4 h, which showed the optimal fluorescent detection.

In the experimental setup, untreated SCC-4 cells were used as an untreated control. Each plate had an additional test compound control, consisting of only media with the vehicle or vitamin D metabolite without cells, which was used as an indication of the non-specific background and to determine if the readings required correction.



# Calcidiol (nM)

### Figure B.2.a. Effect of calcidiol on SCC-4 cell proliferation.

Absorbance (610 nm)

Cell proliferation was measured using CT Blue assay at the wavelength 610 nm. All results are representative of at least three independent experiments conducted in triplicate. Statistically data was considered significant when p values were below 0.05.

Table D 2 a Statistical significance of calcidial treated SCC 4 calls even the	manial of 177 h.	
Table B.2.a Statistical significance of calcidiol treated SCC-4 cells over the	period of 1-72 n	p values

Calcidiol	16 nM	50 nM	100 nM	250 nM
1 h	0.226	0.381	0.225	0.309
24 h	0.092	0.946	0.841	0.480
48 h	0.213	0.209	0.067	0.056
72 h	0.013	0.408	0.661	0.894



# Calcitriol, (nM)

**Figure B.2.b Effect of calcitriol on SCC-4 cell proliferation.** Cell proliferation was measured using CT Blue assay at the wavelength 610 nm. All results are representative of at least three independent experiments conducted in triplicate. Statistically data was considered significant when p values were below 0.05, which is shown in the table B.2.b.

Table B.2.b Statistical significance of calctriol treated SCC-4 cells over the period of 1-72 h p values

Calcitriol	0.01 nM	0.1 nM	1 nM	10 nM
1 h	0.002	0.010	0.332	0.154
24 h	0.797	0.151	0.417	0.645
48 h	0.023	0.025	0.236	0.110
72 h	0.033	0.060	0.812	0.777

# Supplementary materials to MTT assay:

Calcidiol	100 nM	1,000 nM	10,000 nM	100,000 nM	1,000,000 nM	10,000,000 nM
24 h	0.276	0.892	0.865	0.630	0.678	0.169
48 h	0.227	0.165	0.188	0.002	0.495	0.000531
72 h	0.792	0.462	0.073	0.011	0.005	0.019
96 h	0.253	0.182	0.625	0.144	0.247	0.854

Table 2.1 Statistical significance p values of calcidiol treated SCC-4 cells over 24 – 96 h

Table 2.2 Statistical	significance p	values of	calctriol treated	SCC-4 cells	over 24 – 96h
-----------------------	----------------	-----------	-------------------	-------------	---------------

Calcitriol	10 nM	100 nM	1,000 nM	10,000 nM
24 h	0.903	0.504	0.323	0.159
48 h	0.121	0.038	0.0001	0.017
72 h	0.001	0.001	0.006	0.009
96 h	0.061	0.898	0.003	0.036

#### **APPENDIX C. MORPHOLOGY AND GROWTH OF SCC-4 CULTURES**

# Colonogenic and morphological assessment of vitamin D treated SCC-4 cells. Light microscopy imaging and growth pattern of cell cultures

SCC-4 cells were seeded at concentration of 10,000 cells per well in 24 wells plates. SCC-4 cells were cultured in DMEM/F12 (1:1) medium supplemented with 10 % FBS and 1 % penicillin–streptomycin (Lu et.al., 2008). Cells were allowed to adhere for 24 h prior supplementing the treatment. The cell growth and colony formation was monitored, the images of the calcidiol and calcitriol treated SCC-4 were captured using phase contrast microscopy at high magnification (100X) at different time points (24 – 72 h). The experiment was conducted three times in triplicates. See Appendix C for the images of other doses and time points of representative experiment.

Using light microscope, images of migrating SCC-4 cells were captured at the time points of 1, 24, 48 and 72 h in the presence of calcidiol and calcitriol (Table 2.4). Captured images of representative SCC-4 treated cells with calcidiol (250 nM and 100,000 nM) and calcitriol (10 nM and 100 nM) and corresponding ethanol controls are shown (Table 2.5a). The media was changed at every time point.

Untreated cells show rapid wound closure, whereas 250 nM calcidiol exerts an inhibitory effect on the wound closure. At high calcidiol doses (100,000 nM) considerable cellular detachment with floatation was noted, which made the wounded area patchy in appearance with uneven cell distribution. This made acquisition of measurement at the higher dose 100,000 nM unattainable.

Calcitriol at 10 nM dose caused more rapid wound closure compared to untreated cells and corresponding ethanol control (Table 2.5b). High calcitriol dose (100 nM) caused detrimental effects compared to ethanol treated and untreated SCC-4 cells. Enormous cell detachment and floatation was also noted in the calcitriol treated wells, while unevenly distributed remaining patches of adherent cells were impossible to measure and compare with the previously obtained measurements at lower calcitriol doses.

Treatment of SCC-4 cells with high calcidiol and calcitriol doses resulted in aberrant cellular detachment and scattered colonies distribution. Further analysis of the cellular morphology and colony formation in response to the vitamin D (calcidiol and calcitriol) treatment was conducted.

### Changes in cellular morphology in response to calcidiol and calcitriol

The most extensively studied mechanism of vitamin D antineoplastic action is an induction of cellular differentiation and associated with its antiproliferative effects (Beer & Myrthue, 2004). It was noted that calcidiol and calcitriol treatment at various concentrations have an effect on cellular morphology and colony formation. Prior to demonstrating the effects of calcidiol and calcitriol, it is essential to show the untreated malignant keratinocyte at high magnification (100X) with definition of cellular appendages. Cellular pseudopodia release is apparent when cells seek a suitable space to launch. Images were captured using a phase contrast microscope (Figure 2.5). While most published papers do not show these features of malignant keratinocytes in images at higher resolution, it is important to emphasise that cellular pseudopodia release was not obvious as soon as media temperature (37  $^{0}$ C) was decreased.



#### Figure C.1. Malignant keratinocyte SCC-4 morphology.

The single keratinocyte movement was captured using 100X magnification. The keratinocyte pseudopodia release is obvious from the captured images. A) Cellular features were only observed via light microscopy while the culture media was maintained warm at temperature  $37 \,^{0}$  C. B) Cell adherence to the established colony, where cell is actively seeking for the space to launch. C) Cellular pseudopodia is involved in the process of adherence and formation of a stable extracellular matrix. Once cell culture media reached ambient temperature the pseudopodia were no longer detectable.

Light microscopy images demonstrate the effects of calcidiol and calcitriol treatment compared to its corresponding ethanol controls. The representative images captured after 24 h incubation: SCC-4 cells treated with calcidiol 100,000 nM and calcitriol 100 nM. The cellular morphological changes (such as absence of pseudopodia and extracellular matrix) were not noted in ethanol treated contols and in calcitriol treated SCC-4 cells (Figure 2.6.) The effect of other calcidiol and calcitriol doses are shown in Appendix C.

Treated cells exhibited sporadic and patchy cellular detachment in response to vitamin D (both, calcidiol and calcitriol) at higher doses. The detrimental effects of calcidiol on pseudopodia, destruction of extracellular matrix, inhibition of cell division and colony formation were observed. Cultured cell exposure to high doses of calcidiol and calcitriol resulted in alteration of cell morphology and colony formation. Further studies are needed to explain this observation.



Calcidiol (100,000 nM) 24 h





Calcitriol (100 nM)



Ethanol control to calcidiol

Ethanol control to calcitriol

# Figure C.2. Calcidiol (100,000 nM) and calcitriol (100 nM) treated SCC-4 cells colony formation and morphology.

Calcidiol treatment at high concentrations (shown dose of 100,000 nM) have an impact on SCC-4 cells pseudopodia and extra-cellular matrix (ECM), whereas calcitriol (at 100 nM dose) has inhibitory effect on SCC-4 without obvious inhibitory influence on pseudopodia or ECM formation. Furthermore, such changes were not noted in corresponding ethanol controls. Pseudopodia are shown with black arrors and ECM – with dashed arrors. Images were taken at 100X magnification, Bar scale 50 µm.

	Concentration		
Time	100 nM	100,000 nM	1,000,000 nM
0.5 h	•		
Ethanol control			3
24 h			
Ethanol control	9		
48 h			000
Ethanol control			
72 h		•	® ©
Ethanol control	0	(1.5A (0)	

Figure C.3. Calcidiol treated SCC-4 cells colony formation and morphology.

Calcidiol inhibits cell migration by destroying SCC-4 cells pseudopodia at high concentrations (1000 - 1,000,000 nM), whereas 100 nM dose has some inhibitory effects on pseudopodia, without an impact on extracellular matrix formation. Ethanol treatment at all doses have stimulatory effects on SCC-4 cell growth and elongated morphological changes, without apparent effects on colony formation.

		Concentration	
Time	10 nM	100 nM	1,000 nM
0.5 h			6
Ethanol control	0		
24 h	0		
Ethanol control			
48 h		e	
Ethanol control			
72 h			28 e
Ethanol control		(1) He (0)	0

### Figure C.4. Calcitriol treated SCC-4 cells colony formation and morphology.

Calcitriol treatment caused cell detachment and obvious cell destruction. Calcitriol destroys cellular pseudopodia at high concentrations (1,000 nM), whereas dose of 10 nM calcitiol exerts a minor effect on cellular filaments without obvious influence on extracellular matrix (ECM). Ethanol treatment at all doses have stimulatory effects on SCC-4 cell growth and elongated morphological changes, without apparent effects on pseudopodia.

# **APPENDIX D. STATISTICS**

Statistical comparison of p values to corresponding vehicle control in calcidiol or calcitriol treated SCC-4 cells and primary keratinocytes

# **CYP27A1**

		МК	PK calcidiol	
	MK calcidiol	calcitriol	(100,000	PK Calcitriol
Figure 3.2.a,b	(100,000 nM)	(100 nM)	nM)	(100nM)
p values	0.973609	0.974214	0.503115	0.707396

	MK calcidiol	PK calcidiol
Figure 3.2.c	(250 nM)	(250 nM)
p value	0.062858	0.021222

# **CYP27B1**

		МК		PK
	MK calcidiol	calcitriol	PK calcidiol	Calcitriol
Figure 3.3 a,b	(100,000 nM)	(100 nM)	(100,000 nM)	(100nM)
p values	0.789161	0.003483	0.568333	0.526132

	MK calcidiol	PK calcidiol
Figure 3.3c	(250 nM)	(250 nM)
p values	0.001411	0.042552

# CYP24A1

		МК		
	MK calcidiol	calcitriol	PK calcidiol	K Calcitriol
Figure 3.4 a,b	(100,000 nM)	(100 nM)	(100,000 nM)	(100nM)
p values	0.0122	0.0321	0.1065	0.1115

Figure 3.4c	MK calcidiol (250 nM)	PK calcidiol (250 nM)
p values	0.0925	0.0689

### VDR

		МК		
	MK calcidiol	calcitriol	PK calcidiol	K Calcitriol
Figure 3.5.a,b	(100,000 nM)	(100 nM)	(100,000 nM)	(100nM)
p values	0.0532	0.0619	0.6240	0.751957

Figure 3.5.c	MK calcidiol (250 nM)	PK calcidiol (250 nM)
p values	0.0174	0.2913

# EGFR

		МК		
	MK calcidiol	calcitriol	PK calcidiol	K Calcitriol
Figure 3.6.a,b	(100,000 nM)	(100 nM)	(100,000 nM)	(100nM)
p values	0.347198	0.424831	0.119314	0.289324

# FGFR3

		МК		
	MK calcidiol	calcitriol	PK calcidiol	PK Calcitriol
Figure 3.7.a,b	(100,000 nM)	(100 nM)	(100,000 nM)	(100nM)
p values	0.437708	0.800373	0.029903	0.12105

# PCNA

		МК		
	MK calcidiol	calcitriol	PK calcidiol	PK Calcitriol
Figure 3.8.a,b	(100,000 nM)	(100 nM)	(100,000 nM)	(100nM)
p values	0.652069	0.411188	0.976058	0.154789